Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCUTRE, INVESTMENT & INCLUSIVE
GROWTH)
REMOTE CONSULTATIVE MEETING
Meeting to be held remotely* on 22 July 2021
at 10.30am
There will be a pre-meeting for all board members at 10.15am.

MEMBERSHIP
Cllr J Bentley
Cllr N Buckley
Cllr Katie Dye
Cllr Bob Gettings
Cllr J Goddard
Cllr A Hussain
Cllr L Martin
Cllr M Shahzad
Cllr N Sharpe
Cllr J Taylor
Cllr P Truswell (Chair)
Cllr P Wadsworth

– Weetwood
– Alwoodley
– Killingbeck & Seacroft
– Morley North
– Roundhay
– Gipton & Harehills
– Roundhay
– Moortown
– Temple Newsam
– Horsforth
– Middleton Park
– Guiseley & Rawdon

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘To View
Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting.
The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.

210722 Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board
*This is being held as a remote ‘consultative’ meeting. While the meeting will be webcast live to enable public access, it
is not being held as a public meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rebecca Atherton
Tel: (0113) 37 88642

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary or other interests for the purposes of
Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 and
paragraphs 13-16 of the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

2

NOTES

5-8

To consider the notes from the consultative
meeting of the Infrastructure, Investment and
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board, which took place
on 24 June 2021.
3

CO-OPTED MEMBERS

9 - 12

To consider and discuss a report from the Head of
Democratic Services on the appointment of coopted members to the Scrutiny Board
(Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth).
4

CITY AND DISTRICT CENTRES

13 108

To receive an update from the Director of City
Development about work currently being undertaken
to better understand the potential future shape of our
city and local centres and the way in which they can
be supported.
5

EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS

109 116

To receive an update about the process of
refreshing the Talent & Skills Plan.
6

LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
To seek the views of the Infrastructure, Investment
and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board on the Local
Plan Update, following approval of consultation
material by Executive Board on 23 June 2021.

B

117 258

7

WORK PROGRAMME
To consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work
schedule for the 2021/22 municipal year, including
the appended draft Terms of Reference for the
Board’s proposed inquiry into Road Safety.

8

DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING
The next meeting of the Infrastructure, Investment
and inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board will take place
on 29 September 2021 at 10.30am. There will be a
pre-meet for all board members at 10.15am.

C

259 288

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCTURE, INVESTMENT AND INCLUSIVE
GROWTH) - CONSULTATIVE MEETING
THURSDAY, 24TH JUNE, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor P Truswell in the Chair
Councillors J Bentley, N Buckley, K Dye,
B Gettings, J Heselwood, L Martin,
M Shahzad, N Sharpe, J Taylor and
P Wadsworth

1

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.

2

Minutes
RECOMMENDED – That the draft minutes of the meeting held 7th April 2021
be noted.

3

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the
Board’s terms of reference for information.
RECOMMENDED – That the Board’s terms of reference be noted.

4

Performance Update
The Director of City Development submitted a report, which presents a
summary of 2020/21 performance data and provides an update on progress in
delivering the relevant priorities in the Best Council Plan.
The following were in attendance:
-

Councillor Helen Hayden, Executive Member for Infrastructure and
Climate
Martin Farrington, Director of City Development
Eve Roodhouse, Chief Officer, Culture & Economy
Martin Elliot, Head of Strategic Planning
Paul Foster, Transport Planning Manager
Tim Rollett, Intelligence and Policy Manager
Chris Shillito, Intelligence and Policy Officer
Martyn Long, Head of Employment and Skills

Officers in attendance presented the highlights relating to each of the Key
Performance Indicators as set out in the report.

Page 5

Members discussed a number of matters, including:















Number of new business start-ups. In response to a query, members
were advised that it is difficult to differentiate between nature of
individual start-ups, and in recognition of this, teams in partnership with
the University of Leeds are undertaking analysis focused on identifying
high potential start-ups. It was confirmed that this information will be
circulated to members when available.
Vacant positions within the hospitality sector. Members noted the
challenges the hospitality industry are experiencing in Leeds to recruit,
and were advised that this is often due to employers not utilising the
furlough scheme and previous employees moving to other sectors, as
well as employees who are EU citizens leaving the country as a result
of Brexit. Members were advised that work is ongoing with
organisations across Leeds to upskill and recruit through the
employment and skills service, and longer-term plans considered as
part of the Talent and Skills Plan refresh.
Quality of employment. Members queried whether data relating to
quality of employment in Leeds is available to inform upskilling
schemes, and were advised that the employment and skills service has
recently secured funding from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority
to develop a targeted programme to reskill people in at risk or poorly
paid jobs.
Outstanding capacity. In response to a query, members were advised
that the number of developments that have received consent to
proceed but have not yet done remains high at approximately 18,000,
and that details of the time periods for delay will be circulated following
the meeting.
Delivery of affordable housing. Members noted several challenges
associated with the delivery of affordable housing across Leeds, and
were advised that issues can be addressed through the Local Plan
Review, as well as the Board’s previous ‘Housing Mix’ inquiry tracking
item scheduled for later in the municipal year.
Percentage of working age Leeds’ residents with at least a Level 4
qualification. In response to a query, it was confirmed that the KPI for
Level 4 qualifications is not exclusive to residents who have received
their Level 4 qualification whilst living in Leeds.
Vision Zero Inquiry and KSI figures. It was suggested that the impact of
school streets initiative and active travel neighbourhoods programme
be included in the Board’s upcoming Vision Zero Inquiry.
Bus Patronage. Members suggested that the pre-pandemic target for
bus patronage in Leeds should be reviewed to reflect the changes in
travel behaviour due to government restrictions.

RECOMMENDED – That the contents of the report, along with Members
comments, be noted.
5

Connecting Leeds Consultation Update

Page 6

To consider the report of the Director of City Development that provides a
summary of the Connecting Leeds consultation results ahead of further
analysis and a full consultation report.
The following were in attendance:
-

Councillor Helen Hayden, Executive Member for Infrastructure and
Climate
Paul Foster, Transport Planning Manager
Finn Campbell, Team Leader, City Development

The Team Leader introduced the report, providing an update on the key
findings from the recent consultation, and the development of the new
Transport strategy and action plan.
Members discussed a number of matters, including:




Digital access. Members recognised the challenge of conducting
consultation exercises during a period of government restrictions in the
height of the pandemic, however raised concerns around digital access
for some groups, which is likely to have limited the representation of
the respondents. It was confirmed that the demographic breakdown of
respondents would be circulated to members following the meeting.
Additionally, members were advised that copies of the Strategy
alongside the questionnaire and a freepost return envelope which
could be requested by email or dedicated phone line.
Better connectivity beyond the city centre. In response to a query,
members were assured that better public transport availability between
wards and to local services and amenities will be a key priority of the
strategy and reflected within the action plan, including the development
of a ‘door to door hub service’.

RECOMMENDED – That the contents of the report, along with Members
comments, be noted.
6

Powered Two Wheeler Use of Bus Lanes
The Director of City Development submitted a report updating members on
the Scrutiny Board’s 2019 recommendation that a trial of motorcycle access to
bus lanes be established at a site in Leeds.
The following were in attendance:
-

Gillian MacLeod, Transport Services Development Manager
Vivian Elby, Trainee Transport Planning Technician

The Transport Services Development Manager introduced the report,
providing an update on the pilot scheme intended to be introduced on the A65
corridor in Kirkstall. Since the Board’s recommendation in September 2019,
the pilot scheme had received objections from Kirkstall ward members. In

Page 7

addition, members were advised that there have been some changes to
national guidance which limit the number of options for potential sites.
Members recognised and valued the views of local ward members in relation
to the A65 route identified but expressed concern regarding the delay in
launching a pilot scheme, and the further delays associated with other
potential sites.

7

RECOMMENDED – That a working group be arranged to consider in greater
detail the information, including updates in guidance, relating to the previously
identified A65 corridor site for the powered two-wheeler use of bus lanes pilot
scheme.
Sources of Work
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report on potential sources of
work for the Scrutiny Board.
RECOMMENDED – That the contents of the report be noted.

8

Work Programme
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report detailing the Scrutiny
Board’s work schedule for the 2021/22 municipal year.
RECOMMENDED – That the draft work schedule for 2021/22 be noted.

9

Date and Time of the Next Meeting
The next consultative meeting of the Environment, Housing and Communities
Scrutiny Board will be held at 10.30am on Thursday 22 July. There will be a
pre-meeting for all Board members at 10.15am.

Page 8

Agenda Item 3
Report author: Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 0113 378 8642

Co-opted Members
Date: 22 July 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


The Council’s Scrutiny arrangements are one of the key parts of the Council’s governance
arrangements. For a number of years, the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.



For those Scrutiny Boards where co-opted members have previously been appointed, such
arrangements have usually been reviewed on an annual basis at the beginning of a new
municipal year.



This report provides guidance to the Scrutiny Board about the appointment of co-opted
members. In addition to general provisions applicable to all Boards, there are also a number
of specific legislative arrangements for certain co-opted members. Such cases are set out in
the Council’s Constitution and are also summarised within this report.

Recommendations
In line with the options available and information outlined in this report, members are asked to
consider and discuss the appointment of co-opted members to the Scrutiny Board. The views
of this consultative meeting on co-opted members will be used to inform a decision that will be
taken at the next formal Board meeting.

Page 9

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. In the majority of cases the appointment of co-opted members is optional and is determined
by the relevant Scrutiny Board. The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules within the Council’s
Constitution outline the options available to Scrutiny Boards in relation to appointing coopted members.
2. In general terms, Scrutiny Boards can appoint:


Up to five non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that does not go beyond the
next Annual Meeting of Council ; and/or,



Up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the duration of
a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.

3. To assist the Scrutiny Board, this report sets out a number of key issues to consider when
seeking to appoint a co-opted member.
4. As well as general provisions for co-opted members, applicable to all Boards, Article 6 of the
Council’s Constitution reflects the specific legislative arrangements that relate to Education
representatives co-opted onto the Children and Families Scrutiny Board.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒No

1.

It is widely recognised that in some circumstances, co-opted members can significantly aid
the work of Scrutiny Boards and facilitate co-operation and, where appropriate, joint
working between Scrutiny Boards.

2.

The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules make it clear that co-option would normally only be
appropriate where the co-opted member has some specialist skill or knowledge, which
would be of assistance to the Scrutiny Board.

3.

In considering the appointment of co-opted members, Scrutiny Boards should be satisfied
that a co-opted member can use their specialist skill or knowledge to add value to the work
of the Scrutiny Board. However, co-opted members should not be viewed as a
replacement for professional advice from officers.

4.

Co-opted members should be considered as representatives of wider groups of people.
However, when seeking external input into the Scrutiny Board’s work, consideration should
always be given to other alternative approaches, such as the role of expert witnesses or
use of external research studies, to help achieve a balanced evidence base.

5.

When considering the appointment of a co-opted member for a term of office, Scrutiny
Boards should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise during the
course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide-ranging terms of reference. To
help overcome this, Scrutiny Boards may wish to focus on the provision available to
appoint up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the
duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.

Page 10

6.

The process for appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried out in
a manner which seeks to strengthen the work of the Scrutiny Board. In doing so, due
regard should also be given to any potential equality issues in line with the Council’s
Equality and Diversity Scheme.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
7.

The guidance surrounding co-opted members has previously been discussed by Scrutiny
Chairs and it was agreed that individual Scrutiny Boards would consider the appointment
of co-optees onto their respective boards.

What are the resource implications?
8.

Where applicable, any incidental expenses paid to co-optees will be met within existing
resources.

What are the legal implications?
9.

Where additional members are co-opted onto a Scrutiny Board, such members must
comply with the provisions set out in the Member’s Code of Conduct as detailed within the
Council’s Constitution.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
10.

When Scrutiny Boards are considering the appointment of a standing co-opted member for
a term of office, they should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise
during the course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms of
reference.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

11.

☒ Health and Wellbeing

The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking
Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives and it is widely recognised
that co-opted members can significantly aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.

Appendices
12.

None.

Background papers
13.

☒ Climate Emergency

None.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
=[]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]]

Report author: Fiona Bolam/Vanessa Smith
Tel: 0113 53 51882 / 0113 37 88808

The Future of City and Local Centres: Update on Policy
Research
Date: 22nd July 2021
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Scrutiny (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions








Covid-19 has changed the way we think about place and how we use our spaces, as well as
how we travel, work and shop. Before the pandemic we knew that the way we worked and
shopped was already changing, but the crisis has altered these further and work and leisure
patterns now appear to be accelerating previous trends.
This is posing huge questions for cities like Leeds. Because of this, we are undertaking a
number of pieces of work to consider what the future of our city and local centres may be.
This report outlines this work and what the next steps are as we bring together all of the findings
and what actions can be taken to ensure a positive and inclusive future for our centres.
Work has involved Leeds as a case study for the Core and Key Cities’ report on ‘The Future of
Urban Centres’; a project with ARUP as our partner on how our centres can adapt to the longterm transformational changes and challenges over the next 10 years; an online survey for
members of the public and businesses to enable them to tell us what they think about the
centres they use; collaborating with the Ahead Partnership, to ascertain the views of young
people are in relation to our centres; and liaison with Common Purpose about the findings of
their Leeds150 Legacy Programme. Additional work includes consultation and engagement with
stakeholders and partners across the city, as well as Elected Members and senior Council
officers. We will bring the totality of this work and recommendations to Executive Board in
September 2021.
More and more, the idea of place matters. The future of our centres is paramount to how we
recover from the Covid-19 crisis economically and socially in a truly inclusive way. This is
directly linked to our ambition to deliver Inclusive Growth across the city, whilst striving to be the
best city for health and wellbeing and tackle the Climate Emergency. Centres play a major role
in delivering quality of life and integrating Covid-19 economic recovery within our centres with
both health and wellbeing and climate action will ensure our economy and our places are
supported as much as possible.

Recommendations
a) The Scrutiny Board is requested to note and provide comments on the information provided in
this report which outlines work looking at the future of Leeds’ city and local centres; and
b) The Scrutiny Board is asked to determine what, if any, further Scrutiny activity is required in
relation to the work outlined in this report. If further action is requested by the Board, our next
steps will include these actions accordingly.
Page 13

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

This report is to inform Scrutiny Board members of the progress that has been made
regarding work looking into the future of Leeds’ city and local centres.

2

Covid-19 has changed the way we think about place and how we use our spaces, as well
as how we travel, work and shop. Before the coronavirus pandemic we knew that the way
we worked and shopped was already changing, but the crisis has altered these further and
work and leisure patterns now appear to be accelerating previous trends, such as working
from home. The pandemic is accelerating trends in our centres and posing huge questions
for cities like Leeds. Some sectors have seen five years of change occurring in less than six
months, with Covid-19 accelerating structural trends around digital transformation, remote
working and the shift from ‘bricks to clicks’ in Retail. Many businesses are now considering
how best to capitalise on these trends to support flexible working and reduce their office
space. Major city centre retail locations are also being impacted by a reduction in office
workers and shoppers; indeed, throughout the peak of the pandemic, in Leeds city centre
we have consistently seen footfall reduced by 66% or more. There have been some
positive opportunities for our district centres, however, by enabling some to capture more
spend locally; although they too will be challenged by the huge changes in the Retail
sector.

3

Although we can see the broad impacts on employment, travel behaviours and our local
economy, we still need to better understand how Covid-19 is impacting different places
across Leeds. Before we began this work, we did not know how much of this change is
structural and what is transitional. What we did know, and still do, however, is that cities
evolve and change and that Leeds needs to adapt so it can continue to thrive moving
forwards.

4

Our overall aim through all of the work outlined in this report is to understand how Leeds
city centre and Leeds’ local centres can adapt to the long-term transformational changes
and challenges, now and in the future. We want the work to inform a future direction of
travel for our centres that supports the city’s ambitions and policies around economic
competitiveness, skills, Inclusive Growth, Culture and the Climate Emergency. Brought
together, we believe all the different strands of our work will be able to provide some very
important insight into what the future may look like for our centres and what needs to be
done to support them to be as successful and inclusive as possible.
Overview of our work: what has been done, what is being done and what we know so far

5

The Core and Key Cities’ report on the future of urban centres - Earlier this year the Core
and Key Cities commissioned Metro Dynamics to undertake work looking at the future of
urban centres. Leeds was chosen as the case study for a Core City. The report, ‘The
Future of Urban Centres: An agenda for post-pandemic Inclusive City Renewal’, was
published in May 2021 and presented findings and recommendations from work carried out
from January to May 2021. It is framed as a headline offer to Government from the 36 Core
and Key Cities, who could deliver at least an additional £89bn a year into the economy if
productivity in the cities matched the national average, and who could take at least 3.3
million people out of poverty by bringing their cities up to national average for economic
output and deprivation levels (as a minimum ambition). The ask outlined in the report is for
Government to enter into an Inclusive Renewal Deal with cities, which includes some
investment but also freedoms and decentralisation.

6

The report concludes with a series of frameworks for recovery, setting out the kinds of
goals that will be important to Key and Core Cities, including across the labour market;
decarbonisation; connectivity; investment; innovation; and building resilient communities,
Page 14

amongst others. The recommendations are set out to cities and Government, based on the
frameworks and centred on making the Inclusive Renewal Deal a reality.
7

As Metro Dynamics developed their work and framework, they wanted to test how it would
apply in cities. Through a series of workshops with senior officers, Elected Members and
partners they applied the framework in Leeds and then Bournemouth, Christchurch and
Poole (the latter three presented together). Through the framework they explored places’
current programmes, priority areas and ambitions for the future of their cities post-Covid-19.
This showed how cities can apply the framework to their own circumstances.

8

The key findings of the report included:







9

Large urban centres have been most affected by the Covid-19 crisis and will be the
slowest to recover;
The Covid-19 crisis has disproportionately affected more deprived neighbourhoods;
City centres can be focal points for innovation and complex economic activity;
Increasing employment in exporting businesses will help close the productivity gap;
High streets must adapt to suit new purposes; and
There are enormous opportunities for cities in the transition to Net Zero.

The report stresses the importance of Inclusive Renewal, including the creation and support
of good work; driving innovation; building resilience; pivoting to Net Zero; catalysing city
liveability; and health improvement and wider public service reform.

10 Work looking at the long-term transformational changes, challenges and opportunities for
our centres– The Council appointed ARUP as our partner to work with us to help us
understand the long-term transformational changes, challenges and opportunities for our
city and local centres that are now in motion in Leeds. Through this work, we were looking
to explore responding to new ways of working; new ways of spending; how we can shape
and engage with our centres; and the role of the Council and how it can use its assets and
influence effectively to transition our centres to the ‘new reality’, maximise opportunities and
mitigate threats.
11 Work on this project has included research; bringing in international and national
knowledge; a workshop with a small number of stakeholders from across the city; and a
detailed session with Council officers. The stakeholders involved in the workshop included
(not exhaustively) representatives from the Leeds Business Improvement District; the West
and North Yorkshire Chamber of Commerce; cultural institutions such as Leeds Playhouse
and Opera North; Voluntary Action Leeds; Nexus Leeds; West Yorkshire Combined
Authority; and Morley Town Deal Board. The final content of the report is being finalised
imminently; however the conclusions that have been seen so far are broadly in line with the
three Council pillars of Inclusive Growth; Health and Wellbeing; and addressing the Climate
Emergency.
12 We can also provide some headline findings that have resulted from this work, including:







Changing work patterns pose a risk to the economic growth and business activity
created from knowledge-intensive industries working in close proximity that we have
seen in recent years in the city centre; however there are opportunities to maximise
benefits of remote work;
The role of centres will need to be less about Retail consumption;
There is significant opportunity for Culture and Leisure as part of future role of centres;
Successful centres are important to enabling Leeds to respond to climate change
challenges; and
The Council has an important role in urban management, leadership and enabling.
Page 15

13 Also presented through this work are potential areas for action that respond to the changes
we are seeing in our city and local centres and within each area are a number of actions
that could potentially be taken. We can share a number of these areas, including:






Curating a diverse mix of uses to attract people back to the city centre;
Capitalising on Culture and the creative industry assets;
Five-minute city, 90-minute region concept - connecting neighbourhoods with centres
and expanding the economic reach of the city centre;
From grey to green: bringing nature and new green spaces to centres; and
Leading and convening, creating partnerships and mobilising the people that can make
a difference.

14 We know we have opportunities and challenges and we are well-placed to build on our
strong partnerships to address these. There is an opportunity to work with communities to
create a new vision for centres and build broad-based coalitions for positive change.
Officers will be working over the summer to agree how to respond to the specific
recommendations from this work and we will including findings in the recommendations to
Executive Board in September 2021.
15 The Council public survey, our ‘city conversation’ - Earlier this year the Council launched an
online survey for members of the public and businesses to complete, to enable us to
capture their views and thoughts on the changes that are taking place in our city and local
centres. Through this, we heard about how often people visited their centres and why and,
importantly, how they expected this to change over the next three years. It also asked
questions about the changes people have had to make to how and where they work and
where they choose to spend their money. Launched on 12th February 2021 and closed on
26th March 2021 (therefore during a period of national lockdown), the survey received over
1,300 responses (including 1,048 people providing feedback relating to a specific local
centre) and thousands of individuals comments were recorded in response to questions.
For clarification, a drop-down list of local centres was provided for respondents to choose
which centre they would like to provide feedback on. This list was taken from the Core
Strategy: Leeds Local Plan (adopted November 2014, with amendments adopted
September 2019).
16 We have undertaken sample analysis of the results to give a confidence interval of +/- 5%
against the total results. This has given a clear indication of what the key headlines from
the survey results are, a number of which are shown below:










People will visit local centres more over the next 12 months;
People visit local centres for Retail, Hospitality and meeting friends – this is likely to
stay the same in the next three years (returning to pre-Covid-19 levels);
People will visit the city centre less than they did before. However, what we have
seen is footfall at c.80% of 2019 levels (before the return of office workers and major
events), with particular strength at weekends;
In the next three years people will visit less for work and more for Culture, Theatre
and Hospitality. They will visit broadly the same for Leisure, Retail and meeting
friends;
People are expecting to work more from home part of the time;
More people are spending online and some will continue to do so;
More people are spending in their local centres and the vast majority say they will
continue to do so;
If people used a car before, they say they will continue to do so;
Walking has increased and this could continue into the next 12 months, although to
a lesser extent than during the pandemic; and
Page 16



Bus usage has dropped and may not rise to pre-Covid-19 levels over the next three
years.

17 This survey provides some clear and useful indications of how people have changed - and
see themselves changing still - their ways of working, spending and travelling, as well as
the way they use their city and local centres. We are, however, aware that the results
provide information from a set period of time and because of this, we intend to continue
engagement on our overall work looking at the future of our centres. More detail on this is
provided later on in this report, but this will include with Elected Member, partners,
stakeholders and local communities.
18 Our work with the Ahead Partnership - We have begun work with the Ahead Partnership
(who are founded and headquartered in Leeds, although operate nationally, and who work
with business, public and community partners to deliver social value projects that overcome
inequality, promote opportunity and deliver positive change) to allow us to gain insight into
what young people think about their centres. This has involved posing a challenge to young
people to allow them to contribute their ideas and vision of the future in relation to centres.
Supported by targeted resources and tasks, young people are being asked to develop their
own concepts in a really creative way and then submit their proposals either individually or
in groups. A number of these will then be invited to present and explore their ideas in more
detail at a youth voice event later this year.
19 Common Purpose, Leeds150 - In 2043 it will be 150 years since Leeds was formally
granted city status. In June 2021, the Leeds150 Legacy Programme (which is sponsored by
the Council, Leeds Beckett University, Luminate Education Group and the audit, tax and
consulting firm RSM) convened a diverse group of leaders, aged 18-25, from across Leeds
to address the question “What will the legacy of our generation be?” Furthering this, the
challenge set to the young people involved was “How can we all work together to make
Leeds a cleaner, greener place for everyone by 2043?” The group was asked to articulate
what it is that they want for their futures and how the city looks and feels to them, meaning
that the focus of the challenge was on the future of the city in general rather than the year
2043 alone. The programme culminated in a fascinating session with the young people
presenting their ideas, including online platforms for sharing best practice and information;
green spaces within schools to educate and promote health and wellbeing; interactive
engagement with waste management; and a campaign to increase interconnected green
spaces in Leeds. A panel of representatives from a range of organisations and sectors
(including Leeds Beckett University, Leeds Community Foundation, IBM and the LEP
Board, Citu and RSM) provided input on each of the suggestions, making connections and
providing positive challenge on ideas. The thoughts raised during this programme will be
brought in to the wider totality of our centres work.
20 Consultation and engagement – This work has been discussed with Elected Members, the
Leeds Inclusive Growth Ambassadors and Council officers, including via the Inclusive
Growth Core Delivery Partnership (IGCDP) and Inclusive Growth Extended Delivery
Partnership (IGEDP). Stakeholder engagement was also a key element of our work with
ARUP. More detail on the consultation and engagement that has been completed and
which will be planned is provided later in this report.
Next steps
21 We want to ensure that we fully digest and understand all of the work looking at our city and
local centres. This will involve looking at the “so what” angle and considering what all of the
findings mean for Leeds and its centres. We will need to consider what actions could be
taken as a result of what we have found out, but also what can be done in reality –
therefore looking at both the opportunities and constraints presented and highlighted by this
work.
Page 17

22 We will complete the gathering of views of young people over the summer time and into the
autumn via our collaboration with the Ahead Partnership. Once responses have been
collated from young people, a number of them will be selected and invited to a panel
session in September 2021 for young people to discuss their views and proposals further. It
is anticipated that the challenge and its outcomes will be completed and known in October
2021.
23 An officer working group, which was established at the start of this work in autumn 2020,
has committed to continue working on the centres agenda, ensuring actions from across
the City Development directorate (and across the Council as a whole) are linked together.
This group will continue to meet as we look to investigate the findings of our work and what
it means for our city and local centres, as well as to identify potential actions and
interventions that could be taken by the Council and/or partners and stakeholders from
within the city.
24 We are also working closely with colleagues within the Council’s Communications team to
establish a Communications and Engagement Plan to assist us in driving this work forward
once further findings are known. Part of this work will confirm our commitment to ongoing
engagement with Elected Members, partners, stakeholders and local communities
throughout our overall centres work this year and into next, as required. For example, this
may include taking our findings to Community Committees in the future. We are also
considering the best mechanisms to feed back to everyone who submitted their views to
the public survey and we are committed to feeding back the findings of our work at a future
IGEDP event, including how we will take forward any realistic actions and interventions
identified. We will also consider the option of holding a second public survey/city
conversation, potentially in the spring of 2022, a year after the first survey was undertaken.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐Yes

☒No

25 Our city and local centres have a vital role in supporting the Leeds economy and can
provide key economic growth for the whole city. They are the location for many local
businesses and are focal points for communities, where people live, shop, work, socialise,
and access public and community services. The quality and vibrancy of centres matters
and their success hugely impacts on how people feel about their places and quality of life,
as well as upon the confidence of those looking to invest in the city. Because of this, the
future of our centres is paramount to how we recover from the Covid-19 crisis. As a result
of this suite of work, we will work towards identifying actions that can be taken to ensure
that the future direction of our centres supports the city’s ambitions around Inclusive
Growth, Health and Wellbeing and the Climate Emergency.
26 The Executive Member for Economy, Culture and Education has been briefed on our
centres work. All Elected Members were made aware of our public survey via the fortnightly
Economic Briefing of 19th February 2021 and Community Committees were involved in the
publicising of the public survey to members of the public in particular. Furthermore, this
report is being taken to Scrutiny Board to give Elected Members the opportunity to
scrutinise and debate the work that is being undertaken. The views of Scrutiny Board
members will be fed into the work that is ongoing over the coming months. As potential
opportunities, challenges, actions and interventions are identified moving forward, ward
members will be consulted appropriately.
Page 18

27 As part of the Communications and Engagement Plan that will be established, we will also
consider how we feedback the findings of our work to the city, including at a future IGEDP
event, as well as the possibility of taking findings (and potential actions and interventions)
to Community Committees. We will consider too the option of holding a second public
survey/city conversation, potentially in the spring of 2022, a year after the first survey was
undertaken.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
28 The future of our city and local centres work has been discussed and presented at both the
IGCDP (made up of Elected Members, Inclusive Growth Ambassadors and Council officers,
including the Chief Executive) and the IGEDP (which involves representatives from across
all sectors within the city and which sees c.120-170 attendees at each tri-annual event). At
the IGEDP on 24th November 2020, a panel discussion was held whereby the Partnership
heard from a range of panellists and their views on our centres. The panellists included
John Ebo (Head of City Centre Management at the Council, at the time); Mark Hollander
(Executive Director of Leeds2023); David Maddison (Chair of the Retail Top 12 Group in
Leeds and Centre Director at Trinity Leeds); and Camilla Siggaard Anderson (Design Lead
at ARUP). Attendees were also able to provide their views and thoughts and invited to
complete the public survey that was launched in February 2021.
29 As outlined in this report, the Council also launched a public survey in February-March
2021. Over 1,300 responses were received and sample analysis has been undertaken of
the results, giving us key headline information to use when we bring the totality of our work
together over the coming months.
30 Key stakeholder engagement was an important part of the work the Council undertook with
ARUP. This included facilitating a dedicated workshop with partners from across the city to
assess and evaluate key trends driving change in our centres and their associated
opportunities and challenges for centres. The stakeholders involved in the workshop
included (not exhaustively) representatives from the Leeds Business Improvement District;
the West and North Yorkshire Chamber of Commerce; cultural institutions such as Leeds
Playhouse and Opera North; Voluntary Action Leeds; Nexus Leeds; West Yorkshire
Combined Authority; and Morley Town Deal Board. A session was also held with senior
officers from the Council to gather key perspectives and insights.
31 Our collaboration with the Ahead Partnership and engagement with young people, and
consideration of the findings of the Leeds150 Legacy Programme undertaken by Common
Purpose, also highlights our commitment to ensuring we engage with a wide-range of
individuals as possible.
What are the resource implications?
32 There has been a large amount of work being undertaken (and is also programmed to be
undertaken) in the city centre in particular over the last year – for example Connecting
Leeds schemes (such as works on the Headrow and around the Corn Exchange), grey to
green projects (such as Cookridge Street public realm improvements and progression of
the City Park in the South Bank area of the city) and planned improvements and changes to
other areas, including City Square and Leeds Rail Station. Although the centres work
outlined in this report does not require any further direct financial resources, it will require
dedicated officer time to take forward the findings from it and any actions and interventions
that come from the work will also need to be considered for any financial implications, as
well as funding opportunities.

Page 19

What are the legal implications?
33 There are no significant legal issues relating to the recommendations in this report.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
34 The report has no specific risk management implications.
35 There is always a risk to the Leeds economy through both policies and external pressures.
The Council recognises that growing the economy has positive benefits to the city and that
our work looking at the future of our city and local centres is a crucial component of
delivering our Inclusive Growth Strategy ambitions.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

36 The Council’s three pillars provide a framework for our centres work. More and more, the
idea of place matters. Both our city and local centres have a major role in supporting the
Leeds economy and the success of centres has a major impact on how people feel about
their places and also upon the confidence of those looking to invest in the city. Because of
this, the future of our centres is paramount to how we recover from the Covid-19 crisis
economically and socially in a truly inclusive way. This is directly linked to our ambition to
deliver Inclusive Growth across the city, whilst striving to be the best city for Health and
Wellbeing and tackle the Climate Emergency. Centres play a major role in delivering quality
of life and integrating Covid-19 economic recovery within our centres with both Health and
Wellbeing and climate action will ensure our economy and our places are supported as
much as possible (for example, by adopting a health-led approach to interventions within
local centres or the city centre, such as to support physical activity and wellbeing, and by
introducing climate adaptation measures, such as more green space and more energy
efficient buildings).
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
37 N/A
b) How will success be measured?
38 We are yet to bring together the totality of this work and consider any potential actions that
could be taken in response to recommendations coming from the work. This will be done
and taken to Executive Board in September 2021 for their approval.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
39 We will continue bringing together all of the work outlined in this report over the coming
months. Over the summer and into the autumn time, we will: complete the consultation
challenge with young people alongside the Ahead Partnership; have further engagement
with Elected Members and senior Council officers; confirm a Communications and
Engagement Plan; and consolidate all of our findings to identify realistic opportunities,
actions and interventions that could be taken to support our centres recover and grow in an
inclusive way. Any actions identified will be taken forward accordingly with appropriate
engagement from Elected Members and officers.

Page 20

Appendices
1

The Metro Dynamics report, ‘The Future of Urban Centres: An agenda for post-pandemic
Inclusive City Renewal’.

2

A copy of our public survey/city conversation and list of our local centres, taken from the
Leeds Core Strategy.

3

The Ahead Partnership resource pack/challenge pack sent out to young people.

Background papers
4

N/A

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 23

The Key Cities
and Core Cities

The Future of
Urban Centres
An agenda for post-pandemic
Inclusive City Renewal
Metro Dynamics

Image: Core Cities. Belfast skyline

May 2021

About this report
Metro Dynamics has prepared this report for and alongside the Key Cities and Core
Cities networks.

This report presents findings and recommendations from work carried out from
January – May 2021. To inform the views presented here we have combined our
own economic analysis and additional research with extensive consultation across
the Key Cities and Core Cities networks, including with:

KEY CITIES
Bath & NES
Blackpool

Page 24

▪
▪
▪

Key Cities and Core Cities Policy Officers Roundtables
Core Cities Cabinet
Core Cities Chief Executives
Core Cities Policy Advisors Group
Key Cities Executive
Key Cities Full Group
Key Cities All Party Parliamentary Group
Spotlight sessions with one Core City (Leeds) and one Key City (Bournemouth,
Christchurch and Poole) on applying insights locally
The joint Key Cities and Core Cities steering group for the future of urban centres
Senior leaders in both Key Cities and Core Cities in targeted discussions
Business and others beyond the Key Cities and Core Cities networks.

We are grateful for partners’ engagement and contributions to this report.
The Key Cities and Core Cities are 36 different places and it is not possible to give
each place the attention it is due in a single report. However, this report is
supported by an online evidence base that provides detailed insight into the
impacts of Covid-19 on each city.

Image credit: Riverside Sunderland. Sunderland aerial view

Belfast
Birmingham

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

Bristol

Bradford

Cardiff

Carlisle
Coventry
Doncaster

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

CORE CITIES

Exeter

Gloucester
Hull
Kirklees
Lancaster

Lincoln
Medway
Newport
Norwich
Plymouth
Portsmouth
Preston
Salford
Southampton
Southend on Sea
Sunderland
Wolverhampton
Wrexham

Glasgow
Leeds
Liverpool
Manchester

Newcastle
Nottingham
Sheffield

3

Foreword
If Covid-19 has taught us anything, it is that going back to the way things were is
not an option. Only new, locally-led, solutions will work in a world changed
forever by the pandemic.

Key Cities and Core Cities are diverse places, home to 21 million people and generating
27% of UK economic output. Our places come in all different shapes, sizes and political
colours.

That is why we believe it is time for radical new thinking about the role of our Core
Cities and Key Cities and to argue for Government to implement policies that can
unlock their massive power and potential. This report is an important step on that
journey.

Between us we count cities from all four UK nations as members. What brings us together
is a belief in the future of cities and that by working together we can find solutions to
systemic problems like unemployment, poor health and inequality.

It is published at a time when our cities are beginning to re-build after the pandemic.
Tragically, thousands of our citizens have died and many will live with continued ill
health due to Covid-19 for some time.

Page 25

Many of our city centre retailers face an uncertain future, there are signs unemployment
is starting to increase and our transport networks may struggle to sustain themselves if
office workers do not return to city centres. Added to this we face a daily struggle
against a centralised UK state that has a built-in culture of ignoring the role of place.

We have been written off before. The 1918 Flu Pandemic saw commentators predict the
end of the city, but we recovered and the 20th and 21st centuries saw urban areas gain
importance and become drivers of national economies. We firmly believe cities are still the
future and we welcome this important report.

Cllr. Nick Forbes,
Chair of Core Cities UK, Leader of Newcastle City Council

But we also believe there are grounds for optimism. Firstly, in the spirit of our
communities and our public servants who came together during a great crisis to save
lives and make a difference whether it was delivering food parcels to vulnerable families
or checking in on older neighbours.
Secondly, we have already begun the process of thinking radically about the big issues
that are likely to face a post pandemic local state. Covid-19 accelerated many of the
trends we were already seeing across our city networks and as local leaders we are
best placed to respond.
If we want cities to drive recovery, we must listen directly to those who run and
represent those places, who are closest to the lived experiences of residents and aware
of the obstacles and opportunities for progress.
If you want to hear truly innovative thinking around the future of urban places talk to a
UK city leader.

Cllr. John Merry,

Chair of Key Cities, Deputy Leader of Salford City Council

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

4

The City Deal for Recovery and Levelling Up
Cities have been at the epicentre of the Covid-19 pandemic – experiencing the highest
cases, the most deaths and the biggest economic impact. But their role driving national
productivity and growth, and their interdependent relationship with towns means they
now hold the key to recovery and levelling up across the UK.
Recovery: £89bn - how much larger the national economy would be if productivity in the
Key Cities and Core Cities matched the national average.

As cities begin to rebuild and renew, we need a national dialogue about the future of local
government finance.
British cities now face two futures:
1)

Long-term Scarring that could drag the UK back to the 1980s, with a big increase in
unemployment, worsening health and economic inequalities and a revenue crisis,
heightened by a loss of business rates and commercial revenue. This would present a
vicious cycle of decline, where cities were unable to fill the gaps left by empty retail
and office space, further undermining their revenue base and making it harder to
attract new investment. In this scenario, failure to intervene to support renewal in cities
would hamper national productivity and growth, creating a widespread levelling down
effect.

2)

Inclusive Renewal with cities doing what they have always done best - renewal and
re-invention. This would see cities tackle the urgent crises of job losses, economic
inequality and the climate emergency; facilitate a new model for hybrid office working;
consolidate a retail offer that is more about experience; double down on their cultural
and creative strengths; and pivot towards future sources of inclusive growth driven by
innovation. In turn, the benefits of this renewal would extend to neighbouring towns
and see cities generate growth at scale to lead the national effort on recovery and
achieve levelling up.

Levelling up: 3.3 million - how many fewer people would be living in
deprived neighbourhoods if deprivation levels in the Key Cities and Core Cities matched
the UK average.

Page 26

This report was commissioned by the Key Cities and Core Cities Networks and is published at
a critical moment as the country starts to emerge from lockdown and plan for recovery. It
analyses the deep impact that Covid-19 has had on cities; assesses the vital economic role of
cities, including their connection with towns; and outlines the trends that could help cities
transition towards an inclusive renewal and ensure local places prosper post-pandemic.
It sets out an ambitious agenda for cities to work with local partners, with towns and with
Government to generate sustainable inclusive economic renewal. This place-based framework,
enabled by an Inclusive Renewal Deal with Government, is a bold offer from cities that can drive
national recovery and levelling up in places by helping re-orientate, re-purpose and re-balance
urban centres.
Where to now for cities?
As city centres re-open and the furlough scheme draws to a close, we will begin to see the full
extent of the social and economic harm left in the pandemic’s wake. As with previous shocks,
the pandemic has accelerated some trends already in flux whilst also generating its own specific
effects. The long-run effects of social distancing on cities, whose raison d'etre is social proximity,
are still unknown. Yet what feels more certain is that we have reached Peak Retail and Peak
Office much faster than expected. This alongside the wider impacts of the pandemic have added
to pressures on city-authority finances, which now face the twin challenges of increased
spending demand and reduced tax revenue.

The purpose of this report is to help cities avert the risk of long-term scarring and to support
them in building inclusive renewal.
Cities are central to recovery and levelling up
Recovery and levelling up are national priorities. To be achieved they must be delivered at place
level with our cities. That’s where jobs, businesses and innovation, along with poverty and health
inequality, are most concentrated. City recovery is critical to town recovery. The report proposes
that a core component of recovery strategy should be supporting the development of clusters of
supply chains in growth sectors that link cities and towns across wider economic corridors.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

5

The recovery and levelling up offer

A new framework for renewing urban centres

Cities can make a big offer on recovery and levelling up. This is a reflection of the size of their
economies, the concentration of deprivation in urban centres, and their potential to grow more
inclusively. Simply closing the gap between where cities are now and the national average will
make a huge contribution to recovery. This is the minimum that cities would want to achieve,
working with Government to drive urban renewal:

The report sets out how cities themselves will need to change to build inclusive renewal and
fulfil their side of the recovery and levelling up deal. Collaborative economic governance
should be at the heart of this, involving citizens, anchor institutions, businesses and investors
in shaping a new vision for their places. This will need to respond to the three great challenges
of net-zero, peak retail and peak office, through re-purposing vacant sites, re-imagining city
centres, rebalancing urban geographies and creating good jobs.

Recovery: £89bn - how much larger the national economy would be if productivity in the Key
Cities and Core Cities matched the national average.
Levelling up: 3.3 million - how many fewer people would live deprived neighbourhoods
if deprivation levels in the Key Cities and Core Cities matched the UK average.
An inclusive Urban Renewal Deal

Page 27

We propose an Inclusive Renewal Deal between cities and Government that will drive recovery
and levelling up. The deal is about Government giving cities the freedoms, flexibilities, powers
and investment, and revenue base, to enable them to make good on their offer to generate
additional economic activity and to deliver on levelling up. It includes:
•

Creating a series of new growth, and levelling up deals

•

Joint commitments on good jobs, employment support and skills

•

Investment in innovation, net-zero, green jobs, housing and regeneration

•

Health improvement and public service reform

•

New powers to drive future growth opportunities, including on data

The Inclusive Renewal Deal process will create local ownership of the Government’s levelling
up plan, and establish locally agreed milestones and metrics for sequencing levelling up over
the short, medium and long term. It will embed this within a joined-up and strategic place-led
approach to recovery. This is important as levelling up requires both early action, to
demonstrate immediate progress, as well as long term interventions to develop human capital
and change the economic trajectory of places.

Most cities are already developing plans for greener, smarter cities, with centres that support
more flexible hybrid working, a more consolidated and stronger core retail offer, and re-skilling
and job matching. Building on this, the report proposes a framework for renewing cities that
pulls together a series of renewal goals with cross-cutting interventions. The framework is
intended to help cities visualise the opportunities for renewal that lie at the heart of these
intersections.
Making this real through joint investment and delivery
A new vision and policy framework for cities can help to develop a range of projects and
interventions that can build renewal. But these then need to be funded and delivered.
The report proposes that cities will need to develop a mixture of approaches to funding and
investment based on investable propositions for major capital projects and outcome
agreements for public service and prevention compacts. The sources of investment should
include patient capital equity funds, revolving investment funds, impact investment and multiyear revenue agreements.
The principle of local partnership working should be embedded into both funding and delivery.
This should include new Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVS) to bring together public and private
sector partners with skin in the game on land, investment, borrowing and other assets to drive
investment and delivery of major transformative renewal projects. And all of this should be
enabled through an Inclusive Renewal Deal with Government that gives cities freedoms,
flexibilities and borrowing powers, together with further Green Book reform piloting.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

6

The Inclusive Renewal Deal
RENEWAL THEME CITY OFFER

GOVERNMENT ASK

City recovery, levelling up & Cities to work with residents, businesses, investor and anchors to develop recovery
Levelling Up and renewal plans, with a clear set of costed commitments.
renewal

Government to work with Cities on a new series of Recovery, Levelling Up and
Renewal Deals, that set out strategic place plans, with funding, and joint delivery
arrangements.
•

Good jobs, employment
support, and skills

Page 28
Investment in innovation,
Net Zero, green jobs,
housing and regeneration

Cities to develop detailed plans on job creation, employment support, and skills
matching for at-risk retail and other workers.

Cities to develop innovation districts, retrofit and affordable housing plans and
other investable projects and to develop with their partners Special Purpose
Vehicles (SPVs) to bring together Land, Investment, Borrowing and other assets and
explore investment models including dynamic impact investment and rolling
investment funds.

To link these opportunities to further funding for its Plan for Growth
priorities, including:
• Supporting investment in social housing retrofit
• Linking housing & regeneration funding and broadening Homes England's remit
to include regeneration
• Extending Council borrowing powers, further use of Tax Increment Financing
(TIF), exploring the use of municipal bonds
• Building on UDCs and Freeports with support for municipally-designed SPVs

Cities to partner with new NHS Integrated Care Systems to create local health

Multi-year funding agreements linked to outcome agreements that enable a shift to
prevention in spending and investment, as part of wider measures to create a
sustainable financing system for local government.

Cities to develop propositions for new powers and regulatory freedoms that can
enable them to speed up renewal and economic transition, including the power to
acts as “data authorities”.

The Devolution and Levelling Up White paper should support new powers for Cities
and outline a process for further devolution and city Deals that can enable cities to
lead renewal.

Health improvement and
improvement compacts aimed at improving post-Covid long term health outcomes,
wider public service reform focusing on prevention and workforce health.

New powers

•
•

DWP and City Framework agreements for employment support and skills and
job matching
Devolution and expansion of Kickstart, expansion of Enterprise Allowance,
integration of skills and FE reform through devolution to MCAs/cities working
with local business

THE FUTURE OF URBAN CENTRES
TABLE OF CONTENTS
1. Economic Profile of the Cities

8

Page 29

2. The Shock: Assessing the Impact of Covid-19

12

3. Towards Post-pandemic Renewal

25

4. A Framework for Inclusive Renewal

36

5. Applying the Framework

54

6. The Inclusive Renewal Deal

59

Appendix: Notes on data

63

Annex: Online Evidence Base
Image Credit: Preston City Council. Key Cities. The face of Preston is changing as it undergoes significant investment

CHAPTER ONE

Where to now for cities?
The fortunes of urban centres ebb and flow over time. From the rapid urbanisation of
cities during the industrial era, to the flight to the suburbs in the second half of the 20th
century, and the eventual renaissance of cities as modern day centres for social, civic
and commercial life, the UK’s cities have a long history of absorbing shocks and coming
out stronger.

Page 30

Yet the Covid-19 pandemic has claimed more than 125,000 lives across the UK, with
cases and deaths closely correlated with areas of urban deprivation. The economy
contracted by the most it has in 300 years, again with the effects concentrated in urban
centres. To maintain social distancing and bring the virus under control we have
transformed and curtailed our social and work lives, with city centres and meeting
places avoided in favour of homes and local parks. Interventions on scales presumed
unworkable just a few years ago were necessary to prevent mass unemployment, and
while the extent of long term economic scarring is uncertain, what is clear is that the
extraordinary disruption to urban life wreaked by the pandemic has once again brought
our cities to an inflection point.
As the Key Cities and Core Cities reach this inflection point two futures feel possible:
one of long-term scarring and a vicious cycle of decline; and another of inclusive
renewal and reinvention catalysed by innovation and investment in inclusive growth. We
have written this report to help cities and Government chart a course for the brighter of
these futures.
This report presents new evidence-based research on the impact of Covid-19 on the
Key Cities and Core Cities; a framework for developing practical ideas relevant to each
city that will help with the recovery and renewal of urban centres; and recommendations
for actions in cities and by Government as part of an Inclusive Renewal Deal.
Time and again cities have proved to be resilient to challenge. As political focus turns
from managing the crisis towards renewal, cities are the UK’s best bet for building back
better and levelling up at scale. The purpose of this report is to offer cities a way of
approaching the challenges and opportunities ahead.
Image: Albert Dock Liverpool festive lights

ECONOMIC PROFILE OF THE KEY CITIES AND CORE CITIES

9

Diverse places with shared priorities
The 36 Key Cities and Core Cities share common characteristics but ultimately
they are diverse places with distinct identities. In this report we generally present
the Key Cities and Core Cities as a collective, although we also provide a range
of case studies to illustrate what is happening on the ground across the Cities.
The report is supported by an online evidence base which gives detailed insight
into the impact of Covid-19 on each individual city. The online evidence base is
intended as a tool to aid local decision making.

Page 31

The different natures of the Cities is part of the reason why we propose a policy
framework which can be applied to different places, rather than a single
prescriptive ‘plan’ for all places to follow. When reading this report, and
especially when considering how to apply the policy framework, it is helpful to
have a conception of the different roles the Key Cities and Core Cities play.
The Cities can be categorised in a number of ways, but we think it makes most
sense to consider them in relation to their core characteristics, as we set out
below. Inevitably there are some overlaps between these.

•

Regional cities – The Core Cities are all regional cities but so are some Key
Cities. Regional cities tend to be financial, cultural and professional service
hubs.

•

Manufacturing Cities – A number of Key Cities are manufacturing cities,
with a higher than average number of manufacturing jobs, such as
Sunderland and Coventry.

•

Adjacent Metro Cities – some cities are part of major metro areas that
consist of several cities, Salford and Wolverhampton are good examples of
this.

Image: Key Cities. Bradford City Park – the focal point for energy, events and pride in the UK's youngest city

•

Port Cities – A mixture of Key Cities and Core Cities are major ports,
examples of which include Plymouth, Southampton, Sunderland,
Liverpool, Newcastle and Hull..

•

New Cities – several of the key cities are new cities, where a combination of
economic forces and local government re-organisation have created newly
emergent 21st Century cities, examples include Bournemouth, Christchurch
and Poole (BCP), Medway and Southend on Sea.

But whilst these distinctions are important there is even more that cities have in
common with each other. Some of their common characteristics include:
•

Scale – they are mostly larger than other urban areas, with a more
significant economy and larger population.

•

Economic impact – they tend to generate jobs and economic activity for a
wider area, including hosting large numbers of knowledge-intensive jobs,
with people commuting into cities to work.

•

Cultural and civic centres – Cities tend to have centres with major cultural
assets and anchor institutions that attract people into the area.

•

Knowledge Centres – Cities are knowledge intensive places, most of which
have universities, and which are likely to be characterised by greater
economic complexity than smaller urban areas.

•

Creative Centres – Cities are centres of creativity and innovation.

ECONOMIC PROFILE OF THE KEY CITIES AND CORE CITIES

10

The Key Cities and Core Cities
together
Glasgow

The 25 Key Cities and 11 Core Cities together represent 32% of the UK’s population (21.3m), 30%
of jobs (9.5m), 25% of businesses (678k) and 27% of output (£497bn).
Compared to London, the Key Cities and Core Cities together contain nearly three times as many
people and twice as many jobs, but output is one third smaller.

Newcastle upon Tyne

Page 32

There are a number of possible definitions of the geographies of the Key Cities and Core Cities. For
simplicity, this report defines the Key Cities according to their named local authority, and the Core
Cities according to their Combined Authority definitions when they exist, and by city region definition
elsewhere, as shown on the map to the right.

Sunderland
Carlisle
Belfast
Lancaster
Blackpool

Together, the Key Cities and Core Cities represent…

Bradford
Kirklees
Leeds

Preston
Liverpool

Population

Jobs

Businesses

Output

(2019)

(2019)

(2020)

(2018, GVA in £bn)

Wrexham

Doncaster
Salford Sheffield
Manchester

6.8m

494k
184k

5.8m

2.7m

£365bn
£132bn

Birmingham

Lincoln

Nottingham

Wolverhampton

15.5m

Hull

Coventry

Norwich

Newport
Gloucester
Cardiff

Exeter

Southend-on-Sea

Bath & NE Somerset
Bristol

Medway

Portsmouth
Southampton

Plymouth

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of ONS Population Estimates (2019), UK Business Counts (2020) and BRES (2019)

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

ECONOMIC PROFILE OF THE KEY CITIES AND CORE CITIES

City and nearby town
economies are strongly interconnected
Cities are crucial to the towns and hinterland areas which surround them, acting as focal
points for employment, business and civic life.
Cities provide jobs, particularly high-skilled ones, to residents in the towns and villages
around them. Nationally, 18% of workers living in towns commute to cities (nearly
800,000 people), and towns in hinterland areas around cities tend to have lower
unemployment than those in more isolated locations.

Page 33

This map shows commuting flows in England and Wales. Seven million people
commute within and to Key Cities and Core cities, making up 32% of total inflows in
Great Britain. These commuting flows are a good indicator of the effect cities have on
the regions around them, with their influence frequently extending beyond city region
limits and into surrounding areas.
We know that it is a good thing for towns to be near cities due to the high-skilled
employment opportunities they provide. This is a benefit that works both ways, with City
economies equally benefitting from the proximity of nearby towns. Barriers to achieving
the full potential of this economic complementarity include under developed supply
chain linkages, underinvested local transport connections, and under provision of skills
linked to local demand. However, we also know that towns in the hinterlands of
cities are more likely to prosper if that city is itself productive and successful:
Centre for Cities analysis suggests that the more productive a city is, the lower the
share of residents within nearby towns who are unemployed or in receipt of long-term
benefits.

The implication of this is that addressing the levelling up challenge in cities is a core
part of helping towns and surrounding areas to level up too.

Source: Centre for Cities: Talk of the Town (2018); Metro Dynamics analysis of 2011 census data

11

CHAPTER TWO

The shock: assessing the impact of Covid-19
Life in urban centres before the pandemic seems a distant memory, and indeed some aspects may remain that way, as Governments and cities respond to the
imperative to not just bounce back to old ways but to build back better.
A crisis on this scale presents opportunities, not least for reflection on what wasn’t working so well before 2020. The pandemic has exposed how much our cities,
despite their recent resurgence, contained damaging levels of deprivation and inequality. Statisticians have amassed even more evidence that levelling up the UK must
begin by targeting support at local areas of greatest need. But in the immediate term the Key Cities and Core Cities have a major challenge on their hands. The scale
of transformation can be hard to comprehend; Covid-19 has been the biggest disruption to life in urban centres since the second world war.

Page 34

The pandemic has both generated new effects and hugely accelerated existing trends. Some effects of the shock seem confirmed, such as that we have reached Peak
Retail and perhaps Peak Office. But other effects will take longer to play out and may be hard to discern at first, such as the permanency of any reconfiguration of
urban centre space.
We still do not know how the crisis will unfold, and the pandemic has tended to make a fool of any confident predictions for the future, but we do know that the
opportunities for renewal in the Key Cities and Core Cities are at least as big as the challenges they face. As our city centres start to re-open, and the furlough scheme
draws to a close, we will begin to see the full extent of the economic and social harm that has been left in its wake, but we will also see new opportunities. Renewal
must have two complementary objectives: increased productivity and more inclusive growth. To give a sense of the size of the prize on offer: if productivity in the Key
Cities and Core Cities matched the UK average, the national economy would be £89.4bn larger. If deprivation levels in the Key Cities and Core Cities
matched the UK average, 3.3 million fewer people would be living in deprived neighbourhoods.1
This section of our report assesses how the Key Cities and Core Cities have been impacted by the Covid-19 shock. It covers:
•

The health, labour market and economic impacts of the crisis

•

How the spatial patterns of activity in cities are changing

•

The effect of the crisis in exacerbating pre-existing inequalities and deprivation.

The Covid-19 crisis has evolved so quickly that information about its impacts is often out of date before it is even published. We have relied on the most up to date
figures and sources available to assess the impact of the crisis. The information in this report is based on data collected from February – April 2020 and is current at the
time of this report’s publication.
1 See

Appendix: Notes on data for calculation method

Image: Key Cities. City of Wolverhampton skyline.

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

13

Urban places have been at the centre of the
pandemic
The Cities are home to 32% of the UK’s population, yet 37% of total
Covid-19 cases: 1.6 million cases as of April 2021.

Covid-19 cases per 100,000 residents

Page 35

The top chart shows the progression of the virus across the Cities and UK
since the first cases were recorded on UK soil in early 2020. The first
wave of the pandemic was felt most keenly in Greater London. But, as the
crisis evolved case numbers increased rapidly in the Key Cities and Core
Cities, particularly as the second wave of the virus took off in September
2020. After peaking in January 2021, the virus began to abate throughout
the UK as extended national lockdowns and the early success of the
vaccination programme came into effect.
Cities have been especially affected by the pandemic. The bottom chart
plots the cumulative cases per 100,000 residents in a district. We see that
most of the Cities cluster towards the most severely affected end of the
range; a space they share with other dense urban areas which have been
severely impacted by the virus, including London boroughs.
Covid-19 cases per 100,000 residents (cumulative, March 2020 – March 2021)

Key City

Core City

Other UK authorities

Fewer cases
0

More cases
200 0

300 cases
per 100k

400 0

600 0

800 0

100 00

120 00

12,000 cases
per 100k

The virus spreads most easily in crowded places where distance between
people cannot be easily maintained and where ventilation is poor, hence
why people in cities the world over have borne the brunt of the
crisis. However, the health crisis is not an inevitable consequence of city
density but rather of overcrowded housing, higher levels of deprivation
and inequality. City residents on low incomes often have precarious and
hazardous occupations which are more likely to lead to exposure to the
virus, and are less able to afford to take leave from work to avoid
sickness. As evidence later in this report makes clear, rates of cases and
deaths are closely correlated with levels of deprivation in places.

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis Public Health England data by Alastair Grant, UEA, 2020.Government Coronavirus Dashboard

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

14

A fragile labour market recovery suggests
structurally higher unemployment could endure
The progression of the virus and efforts to contain it have resulted in extraordinary
disruptions to employment – particularly for those in low-wage, precarious jobs.
Nationally, unemployment rose from 4% to 5% in the 12 months to March 2021,
with 700,000 fewer people in employment across the UK than before the
pandemic. These numbers would have been far higher were it not for the furlough
scheme and other interventions.

Total Universal Credit claims (Jan 2021) New Universal Credit claims per 10,000 population

London,
17.1%

Key
City,
10.6%

16.9% of

Page 36

Core
City,
25.2%

Even before the pandemic the Key Cities and Core Cities had higher rates of
claims
Universal Credit claims than
the national average.1 But from March to May of
2020 the rate of new Universal Credit claimants spiked more acutely in the Key
Cities and Core Cities than in the rest of the UK, and by the beginning of 2021
one in ten people - 2.2 million people - across the Key Cities and Core Cities
were in receipt of Universal Credit, with the gap widening between claim rates
in the Cities and the rest of the UK.
At the same time, online job postings declined throughout the UK in the first half
of 2020 and
have been recovering gradually
since,
but again the rate of recovery
44.2%
of claims
38.9% of
claims
in the Cities has been slower than in the rest of the UK.
The pandemic’s impact on labour markets was blunted by take up of the CJRS
(Furlough) scheme. At the scheme’s peak 30% of workers in the Key Cities and
Core Cities were furloughed – 2.8 million workers. Furlough gradually tapered off
over 2020, although in February 2021 14% of workers in the Cities were still
furloughed, slightly below the national rate at 15%.

Rest of
the UK,
47.2%
Six million total Universal Credit claims, 2.2
million in the Key Cities and Core Cities

Online job postings per 10,000 people
150

In May 2020 the gap was
20 vacancies per 10,000
people

100

By December the gap had
increased to 27 vacancies
per 10,000 people

50

While the most acute phase of the crisis seems to have passed, a further rise in
unemployment is likely and it is possible that structurally higher unemployment
will endure in areas which are slower to recover.
Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of DWP and Adzuna data.

0
Mar-20
1 Universal

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

Oct-20

Credit claims are more a measure of financial hardship than unemployment

Nov-20

Dec-20

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

15

Despite lower health risks the virus has been a
major set back for cities’ young populations
Key Cities and Core Cities age demographics compared to UK

Female

Male
Aged 85+
Aged 80-84
Aged 75-79
Aged 70-74

Page 37

Aged 65-69
Aged 60-64
Aged 55-59

Are group

Aged 50-54
Aged 45-49
Aged 40-44
Aged 35-39
Aged 30-34
Aged 25-29
Aged 20-24
Aged 15-19
Aged 10-14
Aged 5-9
Age 0 - 4

10.0

5.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

The Key Cities and Core Cities have younger populations than the UK as a whole. Young people are
attracted by and contribute to the diverse labour markets and vibrant cultures that make cities such
powerful agents for growth. As a result, the sharp age inequalities exposed by Covid-19 are of
special importance for policymaking across the Cities. While younger people have had fewer health
risks, they have seen some of the more subjective impacts of lockdown – young people are more
likely to have been forced to stay at home in shared rental accommodation, a sometimes-deeply
uncomfortable situation for homeworking – and have also been at the sharp end of the labour market
impacts.

Analysis from the IFS suggests that employees aged under 25 are about 2.5 times more likely to
work in a sector subject to lockdowns. Meanwhile, the ONS reports that those under 25 account for
up to two thirds of all job losses since the start of the pandemic. Graduates entering the job market
during a deep recession can expect to see a permanent loss of lifetime earnings due to labour
market scarring, and may also carry mental burdens of lost confidence and lowered aspirations.
The crisis appears likely to crystallise a fault line of intergenerational wealth differences between
young people and older generations. Partly due to precarious labour market conditions and partly
due to having less wealth to begin with, young people have had less opportunity to capitalise on the
savings accumulations and property wealth increases that have taken place throughout the crisis.
The Bank of England has found that while retirees have substantially increased savings through the
crisis, low-income people have seen a net decrease due to economic hardship. Defying early
predictions, house prices have surged by around 8% year on year during the crisis, thanks in part to
government suspension of the Stamp Duty. Homeownership is increasingly concentrated among
older generations; a trend sharper within cities and exemplified by London. The beneficiaries of the
£950bn increase in household wealth over the last year overwhelmingly exclude the young.

% of total population

UK

Key and Core Cities

Source: House of Commons Analysis

Combined with blows to income and job creation, the risks in the Key Cities and Core Cities of an
unequal recovery sharply divided along generational lines are clear.

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

16

Large urban centres have been most affected
and are slowest to recover
Empty city centres are a defining symbol of the pandemic’s extraordinary
disruption. For months workers and shoppers have stayed away from city
centres, depriving retail businesses of vital footfall and forcing a rethink in
the future of urban centres as retail destinations.

Page 38

High street retail has been declining for a decade, besieged by changing
consumer preferences for online channels and out-of-town shopping
centres. The pandemic has accelerated the decline: the Centre for Retail
Research estimates that nationally some 16,000 businesses were closed
and 180,000 retail jobs were lost in 2020. Slow progress in containing the
virus means workers and shoppers have been cautious in returning to
urban centres and high streets, particularly in the larger Core Cities.
The map to the right shows movement to retail spaces in the week ending
March 1st 2021 compared to levels recorded in February / March 2020
across Key Cities and Core Cities.
It shows that movement for retail purposes remains significantly
below pre-crisis levels in all areas, but especially in large city
centres, which are still experiencing lower levels of retail activity than the
city region areas around them. This is particularly true for Newcastle,
Nottingham, Glasgow, Bristol, Cardiff and Manchester, which have
experienced a drop in movement to retail spaces of more than 60%
compared to pre-Covid-19 levels, whilst their surrounding city regions
have observed smaller declines.

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of google community mobility data

Leeds
Bradford

Kirklees

Doncaster
Salford

Manchester

Sheffield

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

17

Smaller urban centres have typically seen
smaller reductions in retail activity
Most smaller urban centres, including many of the Key Cities,
experienced a smaller reduction in retail activity compared to prepandemic levels than the larger urban centres. However, experiences
have not been uniform.

Page 39

Some Key Cities which historically have leveraged their distinct cultural
offerings to draw people into retail areas, such as Norwich and Bath and
North East Somerset, have seen steep falls in retail activity in excess of
60% below pre-pandemic levels (as of March 2021). Key Cities which
would typically attract shoppers from the non-urban areas around them,
such as Exeter and Plymouth, have seen similar declines.

Gloucester

Bristol

However, other Key Cities such as Gloucester and Newport (left inset)
have seen retail activity decline less and recover more quickly, albeit to
levels well-short of what existed prior to the pandemic. This is the case
also for other Key Cities that exist within larger urban conurbations,
including Salford, Bradford and Kirklees.

Newport

Cardiff

One factor contributing to this is that as commuting flows between cities
have reduced, workers from these cities who would typically commute into
large nearby centres for work (say from Newport to Cardiff) are instead
staying local and increasing their consumption of local services.

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of google community mobility data

Bath and NE Somerset

CASE STUDY: NORWICH AND SALFORD

Different paths to city centre recovery:
comparing experiences in Norwich and Salford
Comparing Norwich, which is a regional city, with Salford, a metropolitan
city, illustrates how cities’ characteristics have influenced their experience of
the crisis. These charts show movement into retail spaces compared to
baseline (Feb/Mar 2020) in the two Key Cities compared to the UK average.

Page 40

Norwich is a regional economic centre that serves a wider hinterland
population of one million. Over the first lockdown, movement into retail
spaces declined precipitously, with a low of -85% compared to pre-crisis
levels, and has largely remained below the UK average ever since. The rise
of homeworking helps explain this shortfall. Norwich is a regional city with a
large catchment of commuting workers who work in knowledge professions
that could adapt to homeworking, and having now made the adaption, may
not return to their city centre offices five days a week. In regional cities like
Norwich where high street retail partly depends on office commuters, a key
question is how to attract more local residents into the centre.
It is a different story in Salford. Footfall fell, but by less than the UK average
and it has typically been quicker to recover after each period of restrictions.
In part this is due to fewer jobs in Salford suiting homeworking, and lower
inflows of office commuters than in Norwich. Nevertheless, high street retail
in Salford will still bear deep scars from the pandemic. The challenge in
metropolitan cities like Salford is similar to cities like Norwich: namely how to
reimagine city centres to serve communities in new ways.

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of google community mobility data

Key Cities and Core Cities age demographics compared to UK

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

19

A permanent shift towards homeworking would
have profound implications
The pandemic may be causing the geographic distribution of economic activity to shift from city centres to suburbs.
Urban centres are 'hollowing out' as those workers who are able to work remotely (around three in ten UK workers)
have swapped their office desk for their kitchen table. As cities emerge from the pandemic a major uncertainty is
the extent to which homeworking becomes a permanent feature of city living, or whether urban centres will
revert to something resembling life before the pandemic. At the time of writing, the most likely scenario is one of
'hybrid working' with office workers, perhaps working 2 days a week in a central office location.

Page 41

This shift in economic activity across geographic space is referred to as the 'Zoomshock'. The Zoomshock, calculated
as the difference between the inflow of workers in a neighbourhood due to homeworking and the outflow of workers
due to homeworking, describes a pattern which is consistent throughout the UK: the relocation of work and workers
from offices in high density urban areas to comparatively low density residential neighbourhoods; a shift made
possible by digital infrastructure and the rapid reorganisation of office-based businesses to operate virtually.
The most significant implication of the Zoomshock may be what it means for the ‘locally consumed service’
businesses that exist in city centres and which, until now, have predominantly served local office workers: cafes and
bars, gyms, barbers, theatres and the like. By their nature these businesses only serve local consumers, and the
exodus of workers from city centres has deprived them of key clientele.
The Zoomshock has affected different neighbourhoods in different ways: while office-dense city centres have
experienced declines in output and employment as office workers stay home, the residential areas that workers now
spend more time in are seeing an increase in productive activities. This is good for locally consumed businesses
located in these suburbs – the most obvious evidence of this being long queues outside businesses in residential
areas while those in city centres remain closed. However, while the Zoomshock may be good news for those relatively
affluent suburbs that hold a higher share of professional workers working at home, it is likely to exacerbate
inequalities with other neighbourhoods that don’t have such a high share of professional office workers.
Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of De Fraja, Matheson, and Rockey (2021). Labour market and population data from ONS.

Urban centres
have seen a net
outflow of workers,
while suburbs and
non-urban areas
have seen an
increase in
workers

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

20

Most of the Key City and Core City urban
centres have seen net outflows of workers
The table to the right presents the inflows, outflows and net flows of workers from the
urban centres of the Key Cities and Core Cities, based on estimates of the effect of the
Zoomshock on each place. For the Core Cities this analysis defines the ‘urban centre’ as
the named local authority for that city.

Flows of workers in the Cities

Page 42

Across Core Cities in England and Wales there were outflows of 968,000 and inflows of
739,000, equating to a net outflow of 229,000 workers. All of the Core Cities experienced
large outflows of workers: an estimated 56,000 in Manchester alone. This is because the
Core Cities contain high densities of office-based workers capable of homeworking.
Across Key Cities there were outflows of 885,000 and inflows of 841,000, equating to a net
outflow of 44,000 workers. Most Key Cities saw fairly small net outflows of workers, with
some, notably Kirklees and Medway, actually seeing an increase of workers remaining
local, as workers stopped commuting to London (for Medway) and Leeds (for Kirklees).

Image: Medway. Medway Council

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of De Fraja, Matheson, and Rockey (2021). Labour market and population data from ONS.

Key City Core City

CASE STUDY: NOTTINGHAM

Changing city centres: a case study of the
Zoomshock in Nottingham
Research on Zoomshock, looking at the effect
of working from home on local economic
activity and mobility, illustrates the changes
that have taken place in city centres across
the country. Here we show the example of
Nottingham and Nottinghamshire.

Zoomshock in Nottinghamshire

1

2

The Nottingham city centre has
seen large net outflows of workers,
mostly into the surrounding
residential areas

Urban areas have lost workers
who can work remotely to
surrounding residential and nonurban areas

Page 43

Nottingham has seen pronounced inflows and
outflows of workers resulting in a large net
outflow of 26,000 workers from the city into
other parts of Nottinghamshire - particularly
into more residential areas as city workers
have worked from home.
In Nottingham as in the rest of the UK,
residents and workers in more deprived
areas are less able to work from home. In
Nottingham 37% of people have jobs they are
able to do from home, but in the most
deprived quartile of neighbourhoods just 28%
of residents can work from home, while 44%
of residents in the least deprived quartile of
neighbourhoods are able to work from home.

Zoomshock in Nottingham City

3
Newark on
Trent
Nottingham
Trent University

Debenhams,
Old Market
Square

University of
Nottingham

Nottingham
City

5
Less deprived areas (such as Wollaton) have seen a net
inflow of workers as homeworking has increased, creating
opportunities for locally consumed service businesses to
establish in the area and serve local demand

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of De Fraja, Matheson, and Rockey (2021). Labour market and population data from ONS.

Nottingham
Railway Station

4

Areas with universities, where
many employees can work
remotely, have seen large
outflows of workers

Debenhams on Old Market
Square, in an area which has
seen the largest outflow of
workers, will not reopen

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

22

The crisis has disproportionately affected more
deprived neighbourhoods
Compared to the rest of England, the Key Cities and Core Cities
contain more deprived neighbourhoods as a proportion of their total
neighbourhoods. One in three Key City and Core City neighbourhoods
are in the bottom fifth of England’s most deprived neighbourhoods,
compared to one in five neighbourhoods nationally.

Correlation between deprivation and Covid-19 cases (to March 2021)

England average

Cities with more deprived
neighbourhoods have seen
higher case loads

Page 44

In the Key Cities and Core Cities 7.6 million people live in
neighbourhoods which are in the 20% most deprived
neighbourhoods, out of a total of 13.4 million people living in
these neighbourhoods. This means more than half of people in the
most deprived neighbourhoods live in the Key Cities and Core Cities.
Of course, the Cities also contain some of the least-deprived
neighbourhoods, but these numbers indicate the sheer scale of the
levelling up challenge which exists in the Cities – a challenge the
pandemic has substantially exacerbated.
As this chart shows, there is a close correlation between pre-existing
deprivation in places and the case load of Covid-19 in the population.
The causes of this correlation are still being understood but crowded
accommodation, co-morbidities and precarious working conditions that
make it harder for people to self-isolate are among the likely factors.

Trend line

This information only tells part of the story, however. To fully grasp the
relationship between pre-existing deprivation and more severe Covid19 outcomes it helps to view a single place in detail, as we show next
for the cities of Birmingham, Wolverhampton and Coventry within the
West Midlands.
Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of English
the English
Index
Index
of Multiple
of Multiple
Deprivation
Deprivation
(IMD)
(IMD)
(2019),
(2019).
Public
Figures
Health
exclude
England
Key
data
Cities
by Alastair
and Core
Grant,
CitiesUEA,
in Wales,
2020.Government
Scotland andCoronavirus
Northern Ireland.
Dashboard

THE SHOCK: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF COVID-19

23

Helping the places hardest hit by the crisis
requires understanding impacts at a local level
Across cities and nationally, the severity of Covid-19’s impact on places and communities is closely correlated with pre-existing levels of deprivation in
neighbourhoods, as these three maps of the West Midlands Combined Authority region show. In this sense Covid-19 has exacerbated pre-existing inequalities and
added to the levelling up challenge within cities.
Deprivation in West Midlands Combined Authority (2019)

Universal Credit claims in WMCA (Mar 2021)

Covid-19 deaths in WMCA (March 2020 – March 2021)

Page 45
Low deprivation

High deprivation

Low concentration

High concentration

Low concentration

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) (2019), ONS (2021) Deaths due to Covid-19 by local area and DWP data.

High concentration

CASE STUDY: INTERNATIONAL

Rebuilding resilience in dense urban
communities; East Asia after SARS

Page 46

Future heath resilience depends in part on addressing overcrowding, a factor highlighted by
the experience of the heavily urbanised East Asian nations. Following the 2002-2003 SARS
crisis, East Asian countries like Taiwan and South Korea overhauled their pandemic
preparedness, establishing new crisis governance structures that worked across
government silos rather than vertically, and health data sharing. After SARS, the Taiwanese
government assigned responsibilities for pandemic control to 134 local medical institutes
and equipped them to carry out quarantines and local health support. This local designation
meant that responsibility for medical action was clear, and local medical institutes shared
constant dialogue with regional government. So far, Covid-19 has caused only nine deaths
in Taiwan.
Meanwhile they maintained support for dense urban living, and in the Covid-19 crisis,
generally fared well despite their dense and internationally integrated major cities. This is
because density is not a risk factor for pathogenic spread; overcrowding, the number of
residents to each bedroom, is the dominant factor. Sprawling but overcrowded metros like
Los Angeles, hard hit by sustained waves of Covid-19, attest to the importance of
addressing overcrowding for future urban resilience.
In Singapore, an initially successful Covid-19 containment operation in the dense city-state
saw authorities nearly lose control of the pandemic as disease ripped through overcrowded
migrant worker accommodation. The outbreak wasn’t contained until new rules addressing
overcrowding were brought in; correctly recognising overcrowding as a serious danger to
public health.

Photo Credit: Creative Commons, Deconvertini. Seoul, 2020

CHAPTER THREE

Towards post-pandemic renewal

Page 47

Urban centres have experienced the worst of the crisis, but they can
also be at the forefront of recovery and renewal. Across the UK, the
Centre for Cities estimates that cities are responsible for 62% of
output and 58% of output, and contain 80% of the levelling up
challenge.1 Looking beyond the immediate impacts of Covid-19 we
see that cities have a pivotal role to play in addressing the major
challenges facing the UK: levelling up deprived places, achieving net
zero, increasing national economic productivity and developing
enhanced models of governance and devolution. Although
temporarily overshadowed by the pandemic, the role of cities in
responding to these challenges is as important as ever; now they
must do so in a world the pandemic has transformed.
Cities now face two questions:
Where will future prosperity come from?
How should cites grow in a way which tackles the
inequalities highlighted and exacerbated by Covid-19?

Leaders in each Key City and Core City will have different answers
to these questions, though innovation and inclusive growth are
priorities for all. Recognising the differences between places, this
report offers a policy framework that each city can apply to their
specific circumstances to answer these questions. That framework is
laid out later in this report. Here, we offer some insight into how
cities can make use of their advantages to increase innovation,
reimagine city centres, lead the transition to net zero and address
widening deprivation.

1 The

Centre for Cities definition used here includes London and other cities
outside of the Key Cities and Core Cities groups

Image: Riverside Sunderland. St Mary’s Stage, Sunderland

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

26

City centres can be focal points for innovation
and complex economic activity
Economic Complexity of districts in Great Britain

Page 48

Increasing innovation in the Key Cities and Core Cities must be a central component
of any plan to increase economic prosperity. Knowledge is central to economic
development. With greater knowledge a place can be more productive and can create more
things of higher value. In modern economies this knowledge is too complex for any one
individual or business to possess. Instead, a complex web of relationships and networks
between businesses grows to enable the population to store a greater level of knowledge,
thereby becoming a more complex economy. Cities are ideal vehicles for this process of
knowledge creation and networking; indeed, cities’ ability to connect people and ideas in
ever larger clusters is one of their most important functions.

The economic complexity index (ECI) is a measure used to rank the industrial complexity of
a place, based on the sectoral strengths of that place and their levels of complexity (for
instance, financial services are more complex than raw materials extraction). The higher the
score on the ECI, the more complex a place’s economy is and the greater its potential for
high-value output and productivity gains, and therefore higher GVA per head. We have
carried out this analysis at the local authority level to determine complexity across cities.
The centres of Core Cities rank high in economic complexity - 8 out of 10 Core City
regions (with available data) have city centres in the top 10% most economically complex
places in the UK.
There is greater variance in economic complexity across Key Cities – Norwich scores
the highest in economic complexity across key cities, ranking 42nd (out of 371 authorities)
compared to the lowest in Kirklees ranking 338th.
The wider Core City regions are less complex – None of the surrounding areas around a
Core City centre (that are part of the city region) are within the top 10% most complex of
places. This is exemplified by Liverpool on the left hand map, where complex economic
activities are concentrated in the centre. Core City centres have a role in diffusing
knowledge accumulation across their wider regions.
Source: Metro Dynamics’ Economic Complexity Index

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

27

The Key Cities and Core Cities have significant
potential to increase innovation
The Key Cities and Core cities have the potential to be at the forefront of innovation in the
UK, and indeed they already contain some of the necessary ingredients:

Page 49

•

Physical assets – High Ultra fast fibre broadband levels of 65% across Key Cities and
Core Cities compared to 52.2% Great Britain average.

•

Economic assets – 75 higher education institutions and 158 business accelerators
(42% of the total).

•

Network assets – 3 of 5 Innovation Districts are in Key Cities and Core Cities.

However, despite these assets, innovative activity in most of the Key Cities and Core Cities
remains subdued at levels below the national average, exemplified by lower proportions of
employment in jobs in innovative fields compared to the national proportion of 5% (top
chart). Further, in the five years before the pandemic most Cities saw their proportion of
employment in innovative fields grow more slowly than the national average – and in nearly
half the cities the proportion of these jobs actually declined.

Jobs in innovative fields (2019) and 5 year growth rates

Dotted lines = UK average

Size of bubble =
total amount of
employment in city

GVA per head (£), 1998 – 2018

The end result of subdued innovation is slow growth in Gross Value Added per head, a
common measure of economic productivity (bottom chart). GVA per head in the Key Cities
and Core Cities has consistently trailed the UK average, with the gap gradually widening
over time. GVA per head in Key City and Core City regions is £22,600 and
£23,600 respectively, compared to the UK average of £27,500. If GVA per head in Key
Cities and Core Cities was equivalent to the national average it would add an
additional £89.4bn to the economy.1
The productivity gap between the Cities
and the UK has been widening

What can the Cities do to reverse this trend? Though there are no simple fixes, part of the
solution is taking action to support developing clusters of businesses in promising sectors.
Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of ONS Regional (Balanced) GVA and BRES.

1 See

Appendix: Notes on data for calculation method

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

28

Increasing employment in exporting
businesses will help close the productivity gap
% of jobs in exporting industries and GVA per job

Sunderland

Page 50
Dotted lines = UK average

Trend line

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of ONS Regional (Balanced) GVA and BRES; Centre for Cities 2018.

The chart on the left shows the positive correlation between the proportion of jobs
in a city in exporting businesses, and the GVA per job in that city. Exporting
industries are those in which businesses are able to sell beyond their local
markets, such as manufacturing, financial services and information technology.
Businesses in these industries tend to be more productive than those which
supply locally consumed services (such as cafes and gardeners), owing to their
superior ability to absorb new innovations, access economies of scale and reach
larger markets. Centre for Cities research establishes that in trying to increase
productivity, cities should focus on attracting and supporting these exporting
businesses, rather than directing efforts at the ‘long-tail’ of low productive
businesses that are often assumed responsible for sluggish productivity growth.
Most of the Cities contain fewer exporting jobs, and are less productive, than the
national average. So how should cities spur growth in exporting industries, and
thereby in productivity? The city which most exceeds the national average on
both these counts, Sunderland, suggests a way.

Sunderland has the highest productivity of all the Cities at £59,138 GVA per job
and the highest proportion of jobs in exporting industries (27.9% of total jobs in
Sunderland). This is no accident. Sunderland is home to a cluster of large,
productive advanced manufacturing businesses, including the largest Nissan
factory in Europe. Not everywhere can have a major car manufacturer, but
through interventions to support place-based clusters of exporting businesses
such as innovation districts and even joined up innovation corridors (such as the
corridor linking Newcastle and Blyth, connecting submarine engineering
expertise in Newcastle, wind turbine production in Dogger Bank, and the
BritishVolt lithium battery Gigafactory in Blyth), Cities are able to leverage their
comparative advantages to develop innovation clusters in diverse fields from
advanced manufacturing to life sciences.

CASE STUDY: NEWCASTLE

Building an innovation ecosystem at
Newcastle's Helix
With a determined focus on innovation, Newcastle aims to revive its economic
performance by transforming one of its former industrial sites into a centre of
collaborative, cross sector activity. The Newcastle Helix, built on the site of the
former Tyne Brewery located by St James’s Park football stadium at the edge of
the city centre, is a new innovation district in the heart of Newcastle, designed to
transform the district into a science and research hub.

Page 51

Developed by a partnership of the city council, Newcastle University and Legal &
General, Helix’s purpose is to bring together multiple disciplines in one district of
the city, allowing researchers and businesses to collaborate informally and
subsequently commercialise ideas. Businesses are provided with lab space and
research infrastructure, giving small businesses access to high-end facilities
where they can develop new ideas and test their business models. The project is
one of the largest urban regeneration schemes of its kind in the UK which will
eventually create more than 4,000 jobs, 500,000 sq. ft of office and research
space, and 450 new homes.

Helix is a deliberate attempt to use the strengths of Newcastle and the
surrounding region’s public sector to push innovation that benefits economic
growth but also delivers civic benefit. The North East is home to the UK’s largest
research active public health system, providing a research base from which
entrepreneurs and small businesses can build new commercial enterprises. The
site also houses the Lumen, the largest city centre office building with private
sector funding to be constructed in the last decade, three national innovation
centres, offices, lecturing facilities for the university, and residential buildings, all
based in large and green public squares.

Image: The National Innovation Centre, Newcastle Helix

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

30

High streets and city centres must adapt to suit
new purposes
The penetration of online retail into consumer habits is set to be a permanent feature of the
post-pandemic economy and urban centres and high streets must adapt. Although the shift
presents opportunities to redesign urban centres to suit new purposes, in the near term there
are significant challenges to face. KPMG estimates that high streets could lose between 20%
- 40% of their retail offerings to online retail, placing 30% - 40% of retail jobs on high streets
at risk. In some cities that could affect up to 5% of the local labour force.

Page 52

Of particular concern for larger urban centres is the loss of flagship stores, particularly
Debenhams, John Lewis and the Arcadia Group, which act as anchor tenants in urban
centres, attracting local trade and footfall and accounting for thousands of retail jobs. Even
as city centres bounce back in 2021 with the return of vaccinated workers and shoppers,
these empty assets will serve as a reminder of the scars high streets carry from the
pandemic.
But the impacts vary greatly across and within cities, based on the function of local high
streets. Areas with more convenience shopping, experiential services, food outlets and
essential services in amenable public spaces – particularly those located in suburban areas
where workers have spent more time - have generally done much better than city centres.
This offers a clue for how city centres may adapt in future, to be remodelled as centres of
experience, community life, and specialised retail not just places of mass consumption.
The pandemic presents opportunities to catalyse city liveability by exploring different
uses of city centre space: the reduction in commuter footfall and likely consequent fall in
commercial property values could make new uses of city space possible and open up
opportunities to reshape city centres.

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of ONS Retail Sales Index time series

Internet sales as a proportion of total retail sales, UK (%)
40

35

30

25

20

15

10

Online sales accounted for 20% of
total retail sales in February 2020.
By February 2021 they made up
35% of the total

5

0
2011
JAN

2012
JAN

2013
JAN

2014
JAN

2015
JAN

2016
JAN

2017
JAN

2018
JAN

2019
JAN

2020
JAN

2021
JAN

CASE STUDY: SOUTHAMPTON

New uses for high streets: Cultural resilience
in Southampton

Page 53

Southampton is establishing itself as a major cultural city, having
invested £58m in its city centre Cultural Quarter and with broad and
dynamic support for a bid to become UK City of Culture in 2025. During the
Covid-19 crisis, the city acted to maintain this cultural momentum,
delivering Southampton’s Mayflower 400 cultural programme with a mix
of socially distanced performances and installations, online premiers of new
artworks and exhibitions, which formed part of a city-wide and 2020 high
street reopening - maintaining the city as a centre of community life and
cultural experience.
Throughout the crisis, the Southampton Business Improvement District
worked with the local authority, artists, cultural, academic and business
partners to activate creative projects in the public realm. BENCH involved the
transformation of 16 benches on the pedestrianised high street by local
artists; busking gave musicians a high street stage and income when venues
were closed; artists delivered major on-street and bollard painting to aid the
recovery of hospitality and leisure businesses by creating a ‘go-to’ outdoor
dining destination; a 14-metre long mural celebrates Southampton’s
residents, environment and history at Westquay Shopping Centre; and
bespoke artist-designed vinyls feature in empty shop windows.
The city intends to build on this success during the recovery process and has
integrated culture as a key part of its local economic recovery strategy.

Photo: Southampton. Katie Latch (KLC Studios)

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

32

There are enormous opportunities for the
Cities in the UK’s transition to net zero
By 2030 the Local Government Association estimates the Key
Cities and Core Cities will be home to at least 220,000 jobs in
the low carbon economy, and by 2050 that figure could rise to
380,000. The opportunities and benefits to cities of leading
the UK’s transition to net zero are enormous: in cleaner air,
healthier people, new industries, redesigned urban spaces and
transport networks, and lower insurance premiums.

Forecast employment in low carbon sectors in 2030 and 2050 for the Key Cities and Core Cities
2030

2050

Low carbon services

32% of UK total

Page 54

Low emission vehicles

The transition will require significant investment. PwC estimates
that for the UK to meet its net zero target, an estimated £40bn of
investment per year is required over the next decade in low
carbon and digital infrastructure. Cities will have a major role to
play in envisioning greener futures, designing solutions and
galvanising private sector investment.

30% of UK total

Alternative fuels

42% of UK total

Energy efficiency

31% of UK total

30% of UK total

Low carbon heat

33% of UK total

Low carbon electricity

10,000

30,000

50,000
70,000
Total green jobs

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of LGA Green Jobs data.

90,000

110,000

The Key Cities and Core Cities are committed to the transition to
a low carbon economy, with both groups declaring a climate
emergency. Core Cities have called upon government to
establish an emergency task force partnership and help develop
a radical new UK Climate Strategy. The Core Cities are also
seeking to use an event at COP26, in Glasgow, as an
opportunity to foster longer term international collaboration and
dialogue between cities, nations, their relevant institutions and
representative networks, stimulating a debate, sharing practice
and capacity long beyond COP26.

CASE STUDY: INTERNATIONAL / MANCHESTER

Shaping cleaner and safer walkable cities in
Barcelona, Pontevedra and Manchester

Page 55

One way to tackle urban environmental challenges is to reduce the role
played by cars in city centres. In Barcelona, innovative attempts to tackle
air and noise pollution have culminated in the Superblock programme. In
a Superblock, nine city blocks are grouped together, and through traffic is
rerouted around the periphery, with parking underground for residents
and street levels raised so that all modes of mobility have equal access to
space. During the pandemic, Mayor Ada Colau announced an investment
of €38m to convert a large portion of the central Eixample district into a
“Super-Superblock”, covering 21 new green streets. Ultimately, the city
aims to free up 70% of its current road space for active travel.
In the city of Pontevedra in the Spanish region of Galicia, a long-term
pedestrianisation drive has delivered substantial environmental and
demographic benefits. Cars and on street parking are banned in the city
centre, ringed by a series of free underground parking. Traffic deaths
have fallen to zero since 2009, while CO2 emissions have dropped by
70%. With the urban risk of traffic accidents reduced, the city is seen as
an attractive destination for families, with town’s population of children
increasing by 8% since the start of pedestrianisation in 2000.
Meanwhile in the UK, cities have taken advantage of lockdown to
reshape city centres and strengthen mixed-use quarters. In Manchester,
the City Council pedestrianised sections of the Northern Quarter and
Deansgate, two popular mixed use city centre neighbourhoods. The City
Council now plans to invest £2.6m into active travel infrastructure, in a
permanently pedestrianised Northern Quarter.
Photo: Ancoats, Manchester. James Gilmour 2020

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

34

Widening deprivation must be reversed if
places are to level up
Covid-19 mortality rate by IMD decile, Institute for Fiscal Studies
Age-standardised mortality rates (per 100,000), males
900
800

The pandemic has widened the pre-existing inequalities between places and people in the
UK. We have seen that more deprived places have borne the brunt of the crisis, both in
terms of the impacts on health and work.
The link between health and deprivation is well-established. There is a ten year gulf in life
expectancy between the most and least deprived places in the UK. The pandemic has
provided a grim reminder of these disparities and has widened the gap between deprived
and non-deprived places: research by the Institute for fiscal Studies shows that the Covid-19
mortality rate in the most deprived areas was double that of the least-deprived.

700
600

Page 56

500
400
300
200

100
0
1
2
Most deprived

3

4

5

6

7

IMD decile
All causes

COVID-19

8

9
10
Least deprived

Non-COVID-19

Claimant count across Key Cities and Core Cities by deprivation group

The pandemic has widened income inequalities. Across Key Cities and Core Cities
7.6 million people live in neighborhoods which rank in the 20% most deprived – one in three
of all Key Cities and Core Cities residents. If rates of deprivation in the Cities matched
the UK average, there would be 3.3 million fewer people living in deprived
neighbourhoods.1 People in these deprived neighbourhoods make up the bulk of new
Universal Credit claims over the pandemic period, with 200,000 new claimants from March
2020 – February 2021 compared to 21,400 in the top 20% least deprived. Moreover, the
substantial gap in educational achievement between pupils in rich and poor households is
likely to grow in years to come, with pupils from disadvantaged areas observing the largest
reductions in learning from school closures.

500,000
250,000
0

Top 20% most deprived

Top 20% least deprived

Source: Institute for Fiscal Studies; Metro Dynamics analysis of ONS Claimant Count

The crisis is likely to leave scars on the people who have had to endure most of its burden. A
survey report from the Mental Health Foundation found that twice as many people who were
unemployed reported not coping well with the stress of the pandemic compared to those
employed, with the potential for long-term harm to mental health and wellbeing. With most
new unemployment claims coming from more deprived areas, this is likely to further
compound challenges and points to the urgent need for policy makers to focus on helping
those most impacted by the pandemic.
1 See

Appendix: Notes on data for calculation method

TOWARDS POST-PANDEMIC RENEWAL

Post-pandemic inclusive renewal is a necessity

Page 57

We are witnessing an accelerated evolution into the next life
of cities. As our urban centres open up and we shift our gaze
from the immediate crisis to its aftermath, the first step
towards renewing our urban centres after Covid-19 is to
recognise that a straight bounce back to how things were is
neither likely nor desirable. The existing levels of inequality,
including health inequality had already created the imperative
for levelling up. The pandemic has simply exposed these fault
lines in even more shocking and graphic terms, making the
link between health and wealth brutally clear.
Post-pandemic renewal and ‘building back better’ is a
necessity. Making the transition from managing Covid-19 to
inclusive recovery will require local, collaborative economic
leadership focused on rebuilding economic value and
restructuring labour markets, redesigning the use of spaces
and improving and managing public health. Cities and their
leaders are resourceful; they will find many distinct and novel
solutions to the challenges they face. To support the pursuit of
post-pandemic renewal we provide a policy framework of
goals for the post-Covid city, outlining methods to drive
innovation, build resilience, create and support good work,
pivot to net zero, and catalyse city liveability.

Image credit: Southend-on-Sea Borough Council. City Beach – a public realm regeneration in the central seafront attracting greater numbers of visitors for longer

35

CHAPTER FOUR

A framework for inclusive
renewal

Page 58

As Government looks beyond immediate Covid-19 support for health
services and direct support to individuals and businesses, HM Treasury's
Plan for Growth points to themes that Key Cities and Core Cities are
pursuing. On levelling up, the Plan states that 'our city regions are critical
for driving economic growth and prosperity', and sets out innovation, skills
and infrastructure as key themes for Building Back Better. Cities will have
a central role in innovating, boosting skills and training, and investing in
strong infrastructure.

Questions remain ahead of autumn's Spending Review: what will the
scope of the anticipated Levelling Up and Devolution White paper be for
cities? Will there be enabling structures for cities to invest with private
and impact investors in the upcoming national Net Zero, R&D Places and
Sector Plans? What could an expanded role for cities look like in postCovid employment, skills and transport policy?
The framework we set out in the following pages is a starting point to help
City Leaders think about the process of building a strategy for post-Covid
renewal. Every city should develop its own vision alongside investment
and delivery plans, around which partners collaborate and take collective
responsibility for delivering. We expect that in many cases this will result
in the creation of co-investment through Special Purpose Vehicles to
drive the investment or collaboration, and wider partnerships for levelling
up.

Image: Core Cities. Newcastle

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

37

A framework of goals
In this report we outline a proposed framework for the development of
our urban centres post-Covid. The intention of the framework is to be
used as a shared agenda for Key Cities and Core Cities on key areas for
the future, providing building blocks for an Inclusive Renewal Deal with
Government.

Page 59

This overarching framework presents a range of shared goals for Key
Cities and Core Cities around inclusive renewal for cities post-Covid.
These goals respond to specific impacts of Covid-19, larger urban centre
trends, and growth opportunities as explored earlier in this report. They
are centred on the components integral to future thriving cities: in people,
spaces and business.

The framework illustrates a direction of travel for cities and a platform to
share initiatives and learnings among Key Cities and Core Cities.
Individual cities can test specific interventions and different ways of
meeting shared goals that work for the people and businesses in their
communities.
This model provides an illustrative starting point and shows a way of
using the framework with some example interventions and how they
might serve to meet multiple goals.
The following pages show the framework applied in detail to five key
areas: driving innovation, building resilience, creating and supporting
good work, pivoting to net zero, and catalysing city liveability. The five
detailed frameworks link to the shared goals in this overarching
framework and Inclusive Renewal Deal, and develop an approach to
building new vehicles for change by working with partners, leveraging
local assets and investment with enablers from Government, and
pursuing specific interventions.

Quality
affordable
city centre
living

Repurposed
physical
assets and
public
space

Resilient co
mmunities

Community hubs
for diverse activity:
localised
healthcare, culture

Restructured

labour
market
New affordable city
centre homes built
with lower car
demand

The
Inclusive
Renewal
Deal

New
Special
Purpose
Vehicles to
allow
strategic
partnership
investment
in cities

Longer-term
local
investment

Boosted digital
infrastructure
and access for
businesses

Greener city

Better
connected
places

Stronger
relationships
between
institutions
and
businesses

Nurtured
innovation

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

38

Post-Covid city
goals

Driving innovation

Skilled
labour
market
Repurposed
public/office
space

Economic value is shifting spatially, as retail and services
continue to move online, and there are future growth
opportunities for cities to grasp. Innovation is central to
developing green technology, advanced manufacturing and life
sciences businesses and jobs in the UK
The right investment and the right place combine to drive
innovation.

Inputs and
Government
support

Page 60

Clustering of industries and sectors in places are a marker for
successful innovation, and cities can accelerate what may
already be happening. Cities can create innovation ecosystems
through research, higher education, business and investor
networks such as advanced manufacturing; innovation districts
for clustering businesses and institutions; and amplifying the
assets of place – attractive liveability, vision and leadership – to
make a success of innovation. (cf. Metro Dynamics research for
Bruntwood SciTech)

Coinvestment
– cities,
govt and
patient
capital

Developing the skills and talent pipelines in cities, working across
education providers and with employers, will supercharge the
impact of innovation investment.

Climate
emergency

Locating ‘free’
innovation zones in
city centres?

Developing
and
disseminating
talent and
ideas in cities

Coordinating
partners
around a city
vision

Local
leadership

Innovation
zones

Local
interventions

Growth
opportunities
in advanced
tech, life
sciences

City
innovation
investment
vehicle
(SPV)

Freedoms
for
business
incentives

Investment in cities needs focus and partnership. City leaders
can create a vision for investment in their place, support and
amplify clusters of businesses, sectors and industries developing
green technologies, advanced manufacturing, life sciences, and
create new Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs) of co-investment
with partners in local institutions, Government and private
investment. Public investment here should act as a multiplier to
leverage in additional private sector investment.

Responding to
city trends

Universities
vocational
skills
providers

Business
community

Investors

Partners

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

39

Driving innovation over time
City leadership working with
partners in business, research,
higher education and
investment to develop local
innovation clusters where
potential for new green and
technology businesses exists

Flexibilities for cities
to create ‘free’ zones
for innovation where
business rates and
other incentives
support rapid
acceleration for
businesses

Page 61

Recommended
action

Existing action

Budget 2021

Immediate
city action

Working with industry to
grow innovation and
supply chains through
Future Fund: equity
Eight new
anchor companies and
investment in innovative
freeports in districts – e.g. Newport
start up and scale up
England
Semi-Conductor Catapult,
businesses totalling
announced Sunderland International
£525m matched by
Advanced Manufacturing
private investors Review into London
Park, Rochdale
Advanced Machinery and
Stock Exchange
Productivity Institute
regulations

Tax reforms
recognising shift of
retail economic value
from high streets to
online to raise
investment for future
industries: online sales
taxes and local use of
data to redistribute
value spatially

Medium term
city and Govt
action

Building innovation district, place
ecosystem, and innovation
ecosystem and corridors through
investment, working with partners
and urban design, to spur
innovative activity – e.g. Belfast
innovation zone, Newcastle-Blyth
corridor incorporating wind turbine
technology, Britishvolt batteries,
and submarine engineering

Special purpose vehicle for
investment in growth sectors: cities lead
on building investment for growth of
business clusters in green and new
technology industries and sectors. Many
Mayoral Combined Authority areas have
Mayoral Development Corporation
powers that have not yet been exercised,
and city and business leaders can work
together to develop investment and
governance in a way that unleashes
local democratic capabilities through
blending core local grant with additional
competitive funding and TIF style
investments

Longer term
opportunities

Goals

Nurtured
innovation

Restructured

labour
market

Greener city

CASE STUDY: BELFAST

Bringing together innovation assets with
Smart Belfast
Belfast is a city of creators and inventors, where Smart Belfast harnesses the collective
innovation and energy of organisations and individuals across the city. Belfast today is one
of the fastest growing creative industry clusters in the UK, with other local specialisms
including cybersecurity, medical software and fintech. Smart Belfast supports the Belfast
agenda to develop the city and grow the economy, doing so via shared city challenges, an
engaged innovator community, building city assets, and robust delivery mechanisms.

Page 62

The Council collaborates with Belfast’s universities, businesses and citizens to innovate and
experiment with new technologies and data science to find solutions for the benefit of all
citizens. Smart Belfast will be vastly accelerated through the £1 billion Belfast Region City
Deal investment in research excellence, digital connectivity, skills and economic and
generation initiatives.
Projects range from an SME collaborative challenge for businesses working together on
active travel and transport innovation, to Immersion Lab bringing VR and AR into the
mainstream, to leading the world in developing zero emissions maritime technology. Smart
Belfast operates through a defined framework which seeks to foster greater collaborative
innovation between public, commercial, academic and community organisations. Amongst
its initiatives is also an emphasis on inclusion and community development; for instance with
the new Innovation District highlighting ‘inclusive innovation’ as its USP, leading on what it
means to be truly inclusive from the ground up.
Smart Belfast leads funding calls with investment from European agencies, UK Government,
the Northern Ireland Executive, and the City Council to boost business and private
investment in collaborative innovation projects. A partnership with the Future Cities Catapult
informed development of the framework and guiding principles.
Photo Credit: Smart City Belfast, About Smart Cities , 2021

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

41

Building resilience
City leaders and councils have seen first-hand the experience
and the impact of Covid-19 on communities. Many of the health,
economic and personal impacts on people of Covid-19 have
exacerbated long-entrenched challenges key to levelling up.

Page 63

Health inequalities have come to the fore – with exposure to
acute illness highest among key workers and disproportionately
affecting some communities. The extent of the long-term effects
from physical recovery, long-Covid, grief and mental health
challenges are as yet unknown.
What we do know is that building and strengthening resilience is
a key priority for City Leaders and local communities. The
health, personal and economic effects of Covid-19 are expected
to be with us throughout the coming few years, and cities can
lead on joined-up support for individuals and communities so
that the coordination of health and care is closer to communities
and can focus on access across neighbourhoods.
This calls for new local compacts to co-ordinate health
improvement. Building on new local Integrated Care
Partnerships, these could be based on NHS and City public
service agreements with local service leaders working together
to combine deep understanding of local communities and agree
outcomes over multiyear periods with the ability to pool budgets
in programmes that make sense for the place. They could link
human capital development with improved
health outcomes, enabled by up front investment in prevention
to tackle health inequalities.

Post-Covid city
goals
Inputs and
Government
support

Responding to
city trends
Resilient
communities

Devolved
power to
localise
holistic
services

Funding
flexibilities
for social
infra

Covid
health and
work
inequalities

Local approach to
funding post-Covid
recovery and resilience
building capabilities for
future devolved powers

Residents

Local health
and public
service
compact

Planning
access
around
community
needs

Employers

With foundational
economy to
support employee
wellbeing
Local
coordinating

Local
interventions

support for
services

Skills
providers

Embedding resilience
through prevention

Partners
Voluntary
and
community
sector

Health
services

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

42

Building resilience over time
Health data and technology: city
leaders, NHS and research
institutions work together with
medical device industry to trial and
test new personal and preventative
healthcare technology: e.g. wearable
devices monitoring wellbeing and
fitness data in the community and in
hospital

Page 64

Work with physical and
mental health services,
organisations supporting
people in debt and grief, and
education providers, to
develop an approach for
collaborative local services
to support physical and
Green Book
mental impacts of Covid and
revisions to
build preventative resilience recognise value of
investment in
social
infrastructure

Recommended
action

Budget 2021

Existing action

Extension of Covid
support – emergency
NHS funding to 2022,
furlough and UC uplift
to Sept 2021

Immediate
city action

Building strong collaborative
partnerships between
anchor institutions, with a
more rounded health focus
that aims to improve the
health, wealth and wellbeing
of communities – e.g.
Collaborative Newcastle

Sustainable local
government finance
with investment for
prevention

Medium term
city and Govt
action

A new compact between Councils,
ICSs and VCS to develop joint
approach to health improvement
and prevention to tackle health
inequalities Local public service
agreements based on multiyear
health and wellbeing deals on
outcomes (linked to principles of
Barber Review in Govt) and the
ability to coordinate and pool
budgets across services

Longer term
opportunities

Goals

Resilient
communities

Stronger
relationships
between
institutions
and
businesses

Longer-term
local
investment

CASE STUDY: NEWCASTLE

Strengthening local capacity through Health and
Care integration with Collaborative Newcastle

Page 65

Innovation in public service delivery can help to deliver future health resilience for
city populations, and strengthen local healthcare capacity. Collaborative
Newcastle is a local health and care integration partnership that brings together
Newcastle City Council, the city’s two university teaching hospitals, the Clinical
Commissioning Group, and local GP services. The Collaborative takes a holistic
and preventive approach to healthcare with the overarching aim of transforming
the health, wealth and wellbeing of the city’s residents by reducing inequality and
providing better opportunities for all.

The initiative aims to provide a joined-up system of health and social care that
focuses on individual needs for the right support, advice, care and treatment,
while creating new solutions, sharing knowledge and growing the local economy.
As part of the programme, they have established a co-located city centre based
health and social care centre encouraging staff to collaborate and with access to a
digital dashboard containing shared data updated and accessible in real time,
alongside Wellbeing Centres to prevent serious diseases through health
improvement programmes
Newcastle aims to improve health and wellbeing by recognising wider social,
economic and environmental factors. By partnering patients with a ‘link worker’ –
someone who supports an individual by understanding their specific issues and
challenges and connecting them with local sources of support – enables people to
take greater control of their own physical and mental health, by selecting and
accessing support that works best for them.

Photo Credit: Collaborative Newcastle, 2020

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

Creating and
supporting good
work

44

Post-Covid city
goals

Inputs and
Government
support

City leaders have already seen the immediate impact of job
losses and earnings reductions in their communities . With
the Government furlough scheme now extending through to
September 2021, the full extent of potential job losses and
precarity of work in the economy is also yet to be realised.

Page 66

A critical renewal priority for cities will be creating good jobs,
as well as supporting people to transition from at risk
employment sectors such as retail, into future growth sectors.
This will require working with the DWP, and businesses to
rapidly put in place large scale jobs, employment support,
skills matching and youth job guarantee programmes. At the
heart of this will be the objective of creating good work.
By good work, we mean with real living wage earnings,
decent and safe employment conditions, health and
wellbeing support at work, flexibility to work around caring
responsibilities, and opportunities for skills development and
progression.

Local
Stimulating good work needs to include the local education
system – linking localised careers advice and engagement interventions
with schools across cities with opportunities in local FE and
HE as well as ambitions for growth sectors. Partners in cities
– businesses, Councils, anchor institutions and Government
departments – will need to work together to stimulate good
work in their cities post-Covid.

Responding to city
trends
Resilient
communities

Devolved
power to
localise skills
and work
services

City leaders
connecting to young
people hit by Covid
to upskill and learn

Funding
flexibilities
for social
infra

Charter
good work
for
residents

Covid work
inequalities

Connecting
people with
good work and
progression
opportunities
as sectors
change
Local
coordinatin
g support
for services

Residents

Localised
skills and
good work
development
Employers

Responding
to future
skills needs

Skills
providers

Voluntary
and
community
sector

Growth
sector
clusters

Partners

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

45

Creating and supporting good work over time

Page 67
Recommended
action

Cities collate intelligence of
skills needs through
growth sector clusters, and
coordinate with HE and FE
partners and schools on
building local skills
supply
Employment
support –
particularly for
people affected by
Green Book
retail closures – with
revisions to
job guarantee linked
recognise value of
to training, skills
investment in
access and job
social
matching
infrastructure

Budget 2021

Existing action

Extension of Covid
support – furlough and
UC uplift, selfemployed support to
Sept 2021

UK Community
Renewal Fund pilots
and Levelling Up
Fund for job creation
and skills provision

Immediate
city action

Govt develops with cities pilot
A new compact between
revenue approaches for selfGovernment
and cities on
employed, after Covid
localised
skill
and
employment
schemes, to boost incomes,
that devolves powers and budgets
stimulate start-ups,
for skills and employment support
entrepreneur upskilling and
to deliver tailored local services.
creativity
Local public service
agreements based on multiyear
Sustainable local
deals on training, employment and
government
wellbeing outcomes (linked to
finance with
principles of Barber Review in
investment for a
Govt)
future strong labour
market

Medium term
city and Govt
action

City leadership working with
employers – including in local
supplier procurement lines – to
influence security, progression and
wellbeing at work – particularly in
the foundational economy – e.g.
Greater Manchester Good
Employment Charter

Goals

Good jobs
and skills

Job creation
&
employment
support

Longer term
opportunities
Partnership
with
business &
Govt on
delivery

Skills &
employment
system
aligned to
local need

CASE STUDY: MANCHESTER

Promoting good work in Greater Manchester
through the Good Work Charter
The Greater Manchester Combined Authority’s Good Employment Charter is a voluntary
membership and assessment scheme that actively promotes good employment standards
across the region. All Greater Manchester companies, regardless of size or sector, can sign
up to the Charter and are encouraged to improve employment practices to:

Page 68

•

provide secure working conditions, e.g. guaranteed regular hours and predictable shifts;

•

pay the Real Living Wage;

•

practise fair and flexible recruitment that embraces diversity and is socially
representative;

•

promote positive workplace health and wellbeing and adjustments,

•

enact flexible working practices on how long, when and where employees work; and

•

ensure employee engagement in the direction and success of their organisation.

Created in 2019 and launched by Mayor Andy Burnham, the Charter was developed
through a process of co-design by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA)
working with all Greater Manchester district councils, trade unions, and employers and
employees from all sectors. Beyond improving the lives of local people through improved
working opportunities, its aims extend to broader social and economic benefits including
encouraging a societal shift in the importance placed on the value and quality of work that is
available and the business case for good employment, which improve productivity and
contributes to a thriving economy. It is the first of its kind in the UK.

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

Pivoting to
net zero

47

Post-Covid city
goals

Inputs and
government
support

Averting a climate emergency and rapidly moving to net
zero carbon emissions are priorities for all cities. They
are central shared objectives for cities and Government
alike. And they are also major job and economic
opportunities, whether on energy production, green tech,
or reducing emissions such as form homes through
retrofit.

Page 69

Most cities have dedicated climate action plans, to which
there are many strands. Behaviour change and
investment are both needed to really pivot to net zero.
This will not be achieved without partnership in places.
The impact that this partnership can make on a city level
will radiate out into regions across the UK. City leaders
can collaborate with partners to unite around collective
local ambitions, in order to maximise individual, sector
and business level adaptation activity and investment.
A key priority will be developing investable plans. There
are growing opportunities for cities to lead in place-based
patient capital and impact investment, for net zero
projects supporting green jobs and supply chains, that
Local
create Environmental, Social and Governance benefits
interventions
(ESG), as well as long term investment return.

Greener
city

Govt
incentives
and scaling
support

Patient
capital
investment

Responding to city
trends

Resilient
communities

Leveraging private
patient capital
through city leaders
promoting local
investment projects

Climate
emergency

Decarbonised
city system
Skills
providers

Retrofits

Supporting
business
climate
adaptation

Impact investment and
skills training
from partners in
housing and business
physical climate
adaptation

Developers

Investors

Businesses

Partners

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

48

Pivoting to net zero over time
City leaders collaborating with
business community and skills
providers to build a city
prospectus for investment and
skills opportunity and need for
greening and decarbonising
construction, energy systems,
manufacturing and logistics
supply chains

National programmes
for stimulating at scale
investment and skills
development in retrofit,
climate adaptation, and
wind and hydrogen
power supply chains
Govt expand social
housing retrofit
funding and support
for businesses

Page 70
Recommended
action
Existing action

Public and private investment: serious
public investment to meet the climate
challenge – this means opportunities for
innovation, infrastructure, jobs, and
upskilling. A culture of co-investment
can ensure this is sustained and mission
driven with institutional support building
on the UK Infrastructure Bank. Investment
from Government and cities, as well as
revenue raising flexibilities, act as a
multiplier of private patient capital: e.g.
for business climate adaptation and
housing retrofit

Goals

Greener city

Retrofit

Budget 2021

Immediate
city action

Medium term
city and Govt
action

Longer term
opportunities
Green jobs
and green
supply chains

Supporting
Green Bonds for retail
decarbonisation
of
investors to fund green
energy
systems
and
industry projects
exploring municipal and
community led energy –
e.g. Bristol City Leap
Energy Partnership

Electrifying local
transport – e.g.
electrification of
black cabs and
buses programme in
London

Longer-term
local
investment

CASE STUDY: INTERNATIONAL / NOTTINGHAM

Prioritising green space in Berlin, London and
Nottingham

Page 71

Cities across the world are taking action to increase access to Green
Space, and the Covid-19 crisis has highlighted the importance of local
parks, trees and open space in urban environments. Green Space Factor,
a planning tool first pioneered in Berlin, has been adopted in cities like
Seattle, Hamburg and Malmo. Requiring developers to dedicate a share of
footprint to greenspace, and assigning points to various biodiversity
measures, is intended to increase green space in new developments.
Local authorities can work with developers and tweak weightings, allowing
flexibility and creativity in individual developments. Recently, London has
adopted elements of this approach under an Urban Greening Factor for
major developments, as part of the new London Plan, with the ultimate aim
to see 50% of urban environment into green space by 2050.
Within the Cities, Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust has submitted a proposal
for urban rewilding to the City Council on the site of the disused
Broadmarsh shopping centre in the city centre. The 2.5ha of space would
be transformed into wetlands, pocket woodlands and a wildflower
meadow. Potential plans are under consideration. In 2019 Nottingham City
Council set the target to become the UK’s first carbon neutral city.
According to the Wildlife Trust, the green development would secure 30%
of the city centre’s land for nature. As well as integrating greenery into the
city centre, the designs go further with a preservation approach through
rewilding, restoring biodiversity, and protecting wildlife.

Image: Urban Greening in Nottingham. PublicLab.org

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

Catalysing
city liveability

50

Post-Covid
city goals
Inputs and
Government
support

Flex in
rates,
borrowing,
data powers

Repurposed
public
space

Workers at
home

Responding to city
trends

Recovery from economic lockdowns will inspire new approaches
to neighbourhood building.
Ideas such as the 15-minute city promote a future in more
densified neighbourhoods where communities can easily and
sustainably access services and enjoy recreational time close to
home while creating opportunities for independent local retail,
hospitality and cultural businesses.

Page 72

Following the experience of Zoomshock: where during
lockdowns people have been spending all their time in their
neighbourhoods rather than workplace areas, people will be
more conscious of what they want from their neighbourhood.
How clean is the air? How is public space used? How is the
business community doing? Could health services be easier to
access? Would the school run be quicker on foot or bikes
without dense traffic?

Flexible
funding in
local
control

Citizen leadership, reviews of land use in cities and
neighbourhoods, and better use of data on air pollution and
mobility could make holistic neighbourhood building, planning
and supporting local businesses work better for more people
and be geared towards a cleaner, greener environment and
improved physical and mental wellbeing.

Community
development
& land
partnership

Densifying
and
community
amenities

Working together
to build 15 min
neighbourhoods

Supply and quality of affordable housing is a major factor in
people’s quality of life and prosperity as we recover from the
pandemic. Planning reforms should focus on ensuring quality
affordable homes in neighbourhoods with community led
development and regeneration.

Increased
walking
and
cycling

Enabling localised
physical
development
including for
affordable homes

Residents

Citizen voice in
future of
neighbourhoods

Public
realm and
greening

Local
interventions

Business
community

Pedestrian
and active
travel
Anchor
institutions

Property
and
housing
developers

Partners

A FRAMEWORK FOR INCLUSIVE RENEWAL

51

Catalysing city liveability over time

Page 73

Nature and liveability:
better understanding of air
pollution hotspots in cities
would enable leaders to
target places for action
that could quickly bring
down toxic air levels:
urgently minimising traffic
and enabling electric
vehicles and bus fleets
alongside greening

Recommended
action

Budget 2021

Existing action

Public realm improvements
to support businesses and
cultural attractions reopen
following lockdowns

Immediate
city action

New powers for local
authorities to become
data authorities with
the ability to collect
and use data for
targeted economic
development and
better transport and
planning

Investment
vehicle and
partnership
through planning
reforms to bring
together investors,
developers and
land holders to
create mixed use
affordable and
social housing in
development zones

Medium term
city and Govt
action

A new approach to city and
neighbourhood
development: citizen and
data led, to optimise the way
housing and neighbourhoods
are planned, people move
around the city and access
to services for citizens and
communities for local
businesses. The goal: a
clean environment that
promotes community
resilience and wellbeing

Goals
Repurposed
physical
assets and
public
space

Quality city
centre living

Longer term
opportunities
Better
connected
places

Cities can seek mechanisms
to invest in repurposing
vacant space – e.g.
Norwich Revolving Fund to
respond to newly vacant
units

Pedestrianisation and
low traffic
neighbourhoods – e.g.
Manchester, London
boroughs
Greening public
space and rewilding –
e.g. Nottingham,
Berlin

Greener city

CASE STUDY: SUNDERLAND

Revitalising and repopulating the urban core in
Sunderland Riverside

Page 74

Sunderland has long been an industrial hub of production, but the city is
one of the few UK cities that pivoted from a post-war heavy industrial
economy to a contemporary modern industrial economic base. The
decline of the shipbuilding industry was countered by an expansion of the
car manufacturing industry in the form of the Nissan plant, which helped
to mitigate the loss of manufacturing employment opportunities. The plant
remains nationally significant, and at the cutting edge of manufacturing
with Nissan investing in advanced manufacturing and automation.
While the Nissan plant remains an important driver for the national
economy, in recent years the council’s strategy has aimed to increase
activity within the city centre. The largest component of this strategy is
Riverside Sunderland, which will traverse the River Wear and incorporate
green space, car free residential zones and major new employment sites.
By densifying the city centre over the next decade – doubling the resident
population to 5000 - the Council intends to support the vibrancy, leisure
offer and evening economy of the currently lightly populated urban core.
Building on £100m investment from Legal and General the development
will become the workspace of 10,000 people

Image: Riverside Sunderland. Sunderland Bridges

CASE STUDY: INTERNATIONAL

Delivering inclusive local-led regeneration through
Tax Increment Financing in the United States
A number of cities in the US are using Tax Increment Financing (TIF) to stimulate
investment and development in designated regeneration areas. Their deployment
of TIF tends to be for broader purposes than the often narrower focus on
transport investment in the UK. In the US, Flexible financial instruments are used
for innovation and business incentives, as well as supporting community
infrastructure.

Page 75

The arrangement diverts a proportion of tax revenue – usually property, sales or
business taxes – generated in the designated area away from mainstream local
authority revenue and into new development in the area. The proportion of tax
revenue is set at the level of taxable value of properties in the regeneration area
at the start of the period. Revenue can be used to pay debt for development, and
the TIF arrangement is usually set over a period of 20-30 years.
TIF has been used to fund major development projects such as Hudson Yards in
New York, and a transit TIF established to improve and expand Chicago rail
lines. However, TIFS are also funding affordable housing and community
infrastructure – for example, 40% of Portland’s TIFs have funded new affordable
housing. In Cincinnati's Over-the-Rhine quarter, TIF districts draw revenues from
downtown growth into neighbourhood regeneration TIF funded projects in
regeneration zones help to boost construction and clustering of economic activity,
spurring job and collaboration opportunities in key strategic areas of cities.

Photo: Creative Commons, Ajay_Suresh, Flickr, 2019

CHAPTER FIVE

Applying the framework:
Leeds
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

Page 76

As we developed this work we wanted to test how it would apply in a
Key City and a Core City. Through a series of workshops with senior
officers, elected members and partners we applied the framework in
Leeds and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. The two places vary
in geography, economic history and characteristics, and leadership.
Through applying our framework, we explored the two places' current
programmes, priority areas, and ambitions for the future of their cities
post-Covid. This exercise helps to demonstrate how other Cities can
apply the framework to their own circumstances.

Image credit: Ben Harrison Photography. Key Cities. Doncaster

APPLYING THE FRAMEWORK

55

Applying the framework
in Leeds

Page 77

The health, economic and personal impact of Covid-19 on
communities in Leeds has further spurred existing community- Inputs and
based activity in health. Leeds has strong partnerships across Government
the Council and with the NHS, third sector and private sector
support
via an existing strategy focused on integration and
improving the health of the poorest the fastest. Aligned
approaches to developing community assets, promoting anchor
institutions and building an inclusive economy enabled a rapid
and focused response in communities that resulted in Leeds
setting up community hubs across the city supplemented by a
range of locally-led public health programmes.
Partnerships in Leeds take an integrated approach: the
Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Inclusive Growth
Strategy, Economic Recovery Framework, and net zero targets
focus on delivering interventions with co-benefits across several
interconnected priority areas – inclusive economic growth, the
climate emergency and health and wellbeing resilience.
Delivery for communities is strengthened by partnerships with
the voluntary and community sector: e.g. Leeds Community
Foundation, and West Yorkshire Resilience Forum.
With strong partnerships across the universities in Leeds, the
Council, local NHS providers as well as a long-established NHS
management base, Leeds is a leader in the region on health
research and innovation. Leeds Inclusive Anchors, Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Board and Leeds Academic Health
Partnership are testing new approaches to local health data,
tech and innovation for economic growth and to benefit
communities in Leeds and find new approaches to improving
public health and community care.

Post-Covid city goals

Improving
health &
wellbeing
Health
inequalities

Boosting
innovation

Inclusive, broad
approach that delivers
co-benefits

Embed
health in
policy &
investment
decisions

Climate
emergency

Health, care
and
innovation
leader in the
region

Increase
health R&D
spending

Universities

Integrated
health

Residents

partnerships

Climate &
air quality
measures

Local
interventions

Responding to city
trends

NHS
hospitals,
primary
care, HQ

Voluntary
and
community
sector

Partners

APPLYING THE FRAMEWORK

56

Applying the framework over time
City leaders’ strong partnership
working with communities has
been reinforced during the
pandemic. People power and
building community assets are
central in remodelling the
community offer – developing
Covid-19 support –
community anchors, promoting
emergency NHS
social value and better
funding extended to
understanding
how to mobilise
2022, labour market and
Council assets to drive a fairer
business support to
economy
autumn 2021

Page 78

Budget 2021

New UK
Infrastructure Bank
will be located in
Leeds, with initial
£12bn capitalisation
and £4bn earmarked to
lend to local authorities

Source: Leeds City Council

Leeds Council’s recovery
approach: Respond, Reset,
Renew and Build Resilience
focuses on building local
resilience through inclusive
growth, public service innovation
and improving local health,
boosting existing community
hubs with teams to support
health, wellbeing, care,
employment, housing and
financial advice

Government should include good
health as an outcome in recovery
policies and embed health and
wellbeing as a priority across
departments. Improving sustainable
local government and NHS finance
with ability for local budget pooling and
alignment, along with further Green
Book revisions, would support and
recognise the value of investment in
social infrastructure and preventative
services

Immediate
city action

Leeds Health and Wellbeing
Board is providing further
joined up tools during Covid19 through a Tackling Health
Inequalities Toolkit. For
health practitioners and
services, this toolkit supports
partners to address
embedded health inequalities
in Leeds communities to
target interventions

More devolved powers and
flexibilities for local services
through Leeds Council and
Integrated Care Partnership on
budgets, strategy and delivery of health
and community support, including
employability and skills, services in
deprived communities and school, to
deliver tailored local support. Local
public service agreements based on
multiyear health and wellbeing deals on
outcomes with Government would
increase the ability to coordinate and
pool budgets across services. This
would enable Leeds to meet long-term
ambitions to boost social mobility,
improving school attainment for pupils
eligible for free school meals and
narrowing skills gaps.

Health data and technology: city
leaders, NHS organisations and
researchers are working together to
develop health research in
community settings, and with the
medical device industry to trial and
test new personal and preventative
healthcare technologies out of
hospital: e.g. wearable devices
monitoring wellbeing and fitness
data in the community, with a
shifting focus from acute medicine
to public health and community
care

Medium term
city and Govt
action

Longer term
opportunities

Joined up action on climate
change: Leeds innovation district is
focusing on green technology, Reset
and Renew work aims for a cleaner
Leeds, and the Leeds Health Care
Climate Commitment all show
partners taking collective action with
communities to mitigate the impacts of
climate change through health,
housing, transport, economic growth,
and working with suppliers on local
and sustainable procurement

Bolstering public NHS funding
with private investment in
health research and
innovation through Leeds
Innovation District with city
leaders in collaboration with
investors, and flexibilities from
Government would further spur
growth in Leeds and the city as
a hub of innovation in
healthcare

APPLYING THE FRAMEWORK

57

Applying the
Enabling support
framework in
Bournemouth,
Christchurch and Poole

Page 79

As a new unitary authority, BCP is pursuing two key
approaches for boosting the local economy and
innovation. The ‘UK’s newest city region’ is transforming
investment in the area and embracing data driven
growth through the Smart Place programme. In addition
to local government reorganisation, transformation in
services and budget savings, these initiatives are key to
the BCP’s plans for the local economy:

• Smart Place aims to empower value-generating digital
solutions that improve people’s lives, enhance places
and drive prospects of businesses in BCP and across
the UK
• It includes a local 5G testbed managed by the local
authority, with a developing focus on industry use
cases in private enterprise
• BCP intends to reshape the local authority’s
relationship with data through a place-based
approach, working with innovative local businesses
through an R&D Consortium while building trust and
infrastructure through the Council brand
• To fund interventions, BCP is creating the local Futures
Fund, new co-investment streams, building on the
consolidation of local government assets and
leveraging further public and private investment into a
pot for the place

Co-benefits
Digital &
smart city
innovation

Investment
returning
revenue

Boscombe
Town Deal

Flexible
borrowing
in local
control

Health
inequalities
and ageing

Providing
advice and
support

Key
trends

Sustainable
regen

5G testbed

Building a
world-class
city region

R&D
Consortium

Tackling local
government’s
under-leveraging

Funding trial 5G
pilot and local
investment

Dorset
LEP

De-risking
investment

Interventions

Futures
Fund
investment
pot

Local
business,
esp. digital
& tech
Efficiency
savings from
Local
Government
Reorganisati
on

Fibre
Broadband
Infrastructu
re

Assets and inputs

Partners

APPLYING THE FRAMEWORK

58

Applying the framework over time
A £22m Town Deal with
Government, the Town
Investment Plan, is
regenerating a historic, denselypopulated economic town
centre, Boscombe. Building a
new mixed use urban
neighbourhood and investing in
walking and cycle infrastructure,
this model high street of the
future is central to boosting
BCP’s economy

Page 80
HM Treasury’s Plan for Growth
announced ambitions to “crowd-in”
private sector investment, through
the UK Infrastructure Bank; this
priority fits firmly with BCP’s ambition
to leverage local government
investment with match funding

Source: Bournemouth,
Christchurch and Poole Council

BCP Council has established a Futures
Fund: a £50m investment pot funded by
borrowing against future efficiency
savings. Designed to be spent on its own
capital and infrastructure projects, the
Futures Fund will be fully financed from
established local government borrowing
mechanisms. This creative model will give
the authority greater control to unlock new
ways to invest in the future

Budget 2021

Immediate
city action

BCP Council has set up a 5G testbed
network in the Lansdowne
Neighbourhood – already the overland
connectivity hub of the conurbation. The
first local authority to operate a local 5G
network, with local partners, there is
strong engagement and buy in from the
community. The trial has supported local
digital SMEs, who can conduct trials and
create apps, part of a local digital
marketplace operated by BCP Council,
reflecting changes on our high streets

BCP Recovery
Framework

Maximising the opportunities from the
Futures Fund, one option being
considered is the establishment of an
investment arm with an advisory board
comprised of local business and investors.
Operating over the long term as a special
purpose vehicle owned by the Council it
would borrow to invest in public assets. A
further review of local authority freedoms
and flexibilities with government to support
regeneration could boost this model

Medium term
city and Govt
action

By designating BCP Council as a
Local Data Authority, the
Government could enable the
city-region to tap into
infrastructure assets and localise
use of data, for the benefit of
public services and economic
growth. BCP Council is already
looking to apply this model to its
Smart Place programme

Respond

BCP Council’s approach will strengthen
relationships with local businesses and
growth sectors, while smart use of data will
inform economic development; cementing
BCP’s position as a world-class city
region

Longer term
opportunities

5G expansion could reshape
cities’ relationships with
digital infrastructure, if
market failures can be
addressed by revenuegenerating local infrastructure.
BCP Council’s investment in
fibre and 5G creates a
digitally-forward base for
business

Recover

BCP Council and its partners are working
to pioneer health and connected
ageing in a smart city. Bournemouth
University is partnering with a leading
private healthcare / hospital brand to
pioneer robotic assisted hip replacement
surgery; the result of effective
collaboration between local anchor
institutions and innovation in growth
sectors –health, care and life sciences –
that also support resilient communities
post-Covid

Reimagine

CHAPTER SIX
Page 81
Image: Key Cities. Hull: Turbine blade production (credit. Siemens Gamesa)

The Inclusive Renewal Deal

INCLUSIVE RENEWAL DEAL

60

The Inclusive Renewal Deal
RENEWAL THEME CITY OFFER

GOVERNMENT ASK

City recovery, levelling up & Cities to work with residents, businesses, investor and anchors to develop recovery
Levelling Up and renewal plans, with a clear set of costed commitments.
renewal

Government to work with Cities on a new series of Recovery, Levelling Up and
Renewal Deals, that set out strategic place plans, with funding, and joint delivery
arrangements.
•

Good jobs, employment
support, and skills

Page 82
Investment in innovation,
Net Zero, green jobs,
housing and regeneration

Cities to develop detailed plans on job creation, employment support, and skills
matching for at-risk retail and other workers.

Cities to develop innovation districts, retrofit and affordable housing plans and
other investable projects and to develop with their partners Special Purpose
Vehicles (SPVs) to bring together Land, Investment, Borrowing and other assets and
explore investment models including dynamic impact investment and rolling
investment funds.

To link these opportunities to further funding for its Plan for Growth
priorities, including:
• Supporting investment in social housing retrofit
• Linking housing & regeneration funding and broadening Homes England's remit
to include regeneration
• Extending Council borrowing powers, further use of Tax Increment Financing
(TIF), exploring the use of municipal bonds
• Building on UDCs and Freeports with support for municipally-designed SPVs

Cities to partner with new NHS Integrated Care Systems to create local health

Multi-year funding agreements linked to outcome agreements that enable a shift to
prevention in spending and investment, as part of wider measures to create a
sustainable financing system for local government.

Cities to develop propositions for new powers and regulatory freedoms that can
enable them to speed up renewal and economic transition, including the power to
acts as “data authorities”.

The Devolution and Levelling Up White paper should support new powers for Cities
and outline a process for further devolution and city Deals that can enable cities to
lead renewal.

Health improvement and
improvement compacts aimed at improving post-Covid long term health outcomes,
wider public service reform focusing on prevention and workforce health.

New powers

•
•

DWP and City Framework agreements for employment support and skills and
job matching
Devolution and expansion of Kickstart, expansion of Enterprise Allowance,
integration of skills and FE reform through devolution to MCAs/cities working
with local business

INCLUSIVE RENEWAL DEAL

61

What the Deal means for cities
Immediate city
action

Medium term city
action

Longer term
opportunities

City recovery

Innovation

Health improvement and public service reform

Cities to work with residents, businesses, investor and
anchors to develop recovery and renewal plans.

Cities building innovation districts within innovation
ecosystems: leading collaboration between business,
research and education institutions, and investors, to help
build and promote clusters of innovative and existing
sectors and industries adopting innovative approaches.

Cities to partner with new NHS Integrated Care Systems to
create local health improvement compacts aimed at
improving post-Covid long term health outcomes, focusing
on prevention and workforce health.

Good jobs, employment support and skills

Page 83

Cities to develop detailed plans on job creation,
employment support, and skills matching for at risk retail
and other workers.
Establishing collaborative economic partnerships
Key Cities and Core Cities should collaborate to test
ideas and interventions around shared ambitions and
share lessons among membership.
Cities should bring together partners in employment,
health, communities, business, institutions and investment
to create a vision around the future of place economies,
and jointly deliver on strategy.
City liveability
Cities are supporting high street reopening in
spring/summer 2021 with greening, pedestrianisation,
repurposing vacant units with cultural and independent
retail and hospitality pop ups.

Resilience and good work
Continue and expand joined up working across skills
and employability support services and links with
business to support individual and community outcomes in
physical and mental health, employment, skills and
finances. Develop local collaboration in context of health
service reforms and new funding e.g. UKSPF, and boost
local training with a jobs guarantee programme.

Innovation, pivoting to net zero and investment
Cities should build on existing levers, such as freeports, to
test innovative financing and incentive approaches for
business and investment with new trading arrangements.

Cities should work with local employers to promote good
work charters for decent and safe conditions, training and
pay, develop employability support and job matching.

Develop with partners a culture of co-investment to
build into Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs): utilise
current investment – e.g. Towns Fund, Levelling Up Fund –
and collaboration to invest as a place in post-Covid
development, stacking Government, local authority,
business and investor funding for shared co-benefits for
communities and businesses – e.g. retrofit of commercial
and housing.

City liveability

New powers

Work with communities and use planning levers to
bring together partners, boost quality affordable housing,
and enable neighbourhood design and development for
communities: green space, wellbeing, access to services,
and supporting independent local businesses.

Cities to develop propositions for new powers and
regulatory freedoms that can enable them to speed up
renewal and economic transition, including the power to act
as data authorities.

INCLUSIVE RENEWAL DEAL

62

What the Deal means for Government
Immediate
Government action

Medium term
Government action

Longer term
opportunities

Page 84

City recovery

Investment

New powers

Government should work with city leaders on recovery
priorities including rebuilding confidence in how people
use city centres, commitment to public transport revenue,
and emergency jobs programmes with localised DWP
agreements in cities.

Special purpose vehicles should be enabled by
Government for co-investment and flexibilities for ‘free’
innovation zones that can be implemented in city centres
for innovative business clusters: helping to spur innovation
for the future economy.

The Devolution and Levelling Up White paper should
support new powers for cities and outline a process for
further devolution and City Deals, enabling cities to lead
renewal, including integrating Skills and FE reform through
devolution to MCAs/Cities and local business.

Extend high street business rate and VAT relief to
counter impact of Covid and long term retail trends.

Government investment in the Green Industrial
Revolution should be flexibly deployed by cities across
the UK where city leaders collaborate to invest with private
investors and business: for economic growth and climate
adaptation, and investment and skills development to
scale retrofit and climate adaptation.

Health improvement and public service reform

Good jobs, employment support and skills
DWP and City Framework agreements, to create the
shared local capacity for emergency employment support,
skills and job matching, and Kick Start implementation,
together with rapid expansion of the Enterprise Allowance
schemes.
Investment
Further Green Book revisions should be made that build
on the focus on strategic rationale and enable prioritisation
of social infrastructure investment. To link these
opportunities to further funding for Plan for Growth
priorities, as well as extending borrowing powers, further
use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) and co-investment.

Building on Green Bonds, the UK Infrastructure Bank and
Future Funds to expand co-investment models for
municipally designed investable projects, combining
local core grant and additional funds with TIF style and
impact investment, and municipal bonds.
Reform to retailer taxes (from business rates to sales
tax) to recognise shift of economic value from the physical
high street to online with revenues linking back into city
revenues through allocation where business rates revenue
has been lost.

Government should develop plans for multiyear
sustainable local government finance with a recovery
boost that recognises impacts of lost business rates,
commercial return and council tax revenues due to Covid19.
Use upcoming health reforms and established local
Integrated Care Partnerships to agree a new compact of
multiyear local service agreements for devolved
health and social care service coordination based on
improved health outcomes with multiyear place-based
funding deals.
Deals between Government and cities with local
flexibilities for labour market and skills support funding
to deliver in the best way for local communities.

APPENDIX
Page 85

Appendix: Notes on data

Image: Key Cities. Salford Media City

NOTES ON DATA

64

Calculation methods
Methodology for calculating potential uplift in UK economic output if Key Cities
and Core Cities were as productive as the UK average

Methodology for calculating potential reduction in deprivation if the proportion of
deprived neighbourhoods in Key Cities and Core Cities matched the UK average

The methodology below sets out our process in constructing the estimate of additional output that
would be generated if productivity in Key Cities and Core Cities was equivalent to that of the
national average.

By ‘deprived areas’ we mean the top 20% most deprived neighbourhoods in the Index of Multiple
Deprivation for England (2019). Across England, one in five people live in these neighbourhoods.
But in the Key Cities and Core Cities 36% of residents - nearly two in five people – live in
neighbourhoods that are in the 20% most deprived across England. That is to say, deprived areas
are relatively concentrated in the Key Cities and Core Cities.

Page 86

We calculated the sum of output across Key Cities and Core Cities individually and divided them
by the sum of their respective populations. This provided us with a GVA per head estimate for both
Key Cities (£22,600) and Core Cities (£23,600). We followed a similar procedure to obtain the
national average for GVA per head (£27,500). These numbers are based on 2018 GVA figures, the
most recent available.
Following that, we took the difference between Key Cities /Core Cities GVA per head and the
national average. This supplied us with the additional output per worker required to match the
national average.
To obtain the total output gain, we multiplied separately the Key City difference by the Key City
population and the Core City difference by the Core City population. Summing the total output gain
of both Key and Core cities arrived us to our final estimate, which is that if GVA per head in the
Key Cities and Core Cities matched the national average it would add an additional £89.4bn per
year to the national economy.

7.6 million people in the Key and Core Cities live in the top 20% of deprived neighbourhoods out of a
combined population of 21.3 million. If the proportion of people living in deprived areas in the Key
Cities and Core Cities was in line with the rest of England – that is to say if one in five people lived in
neighbourhoods in the 20% most deprived places - 3.3 million fewer people in would be living in
deprived neighbourhoods.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation incorporates a number of indicators that measure deprivation
levels in a place. Places are compared with one another by relative measures, and therefore the
data provides an illustration of places rather than individuals.

This estimate also makes the assumption that deprivation levels in the Key Cities and Core Cities
outside England (Belfast, Cardiff, Glasgow, Newport, Wrexham) share broadly similar levels of
deprivation to the cities in England. Because the Index of Multiple Deprivation for England is not
directly comparable with data in the devolved nations, it is not possible to say this precisely, but
similar measures for the devolved nations point to similar levels of deprivation. This assumption has
been built into our calculations to make an estimate for Key and Core Cities across the UK.

DATA DASHBOARD

Key Cities and Core Cities online evidence base
Metro Dynamics prepared an online evidence base to complement this report and illustrate the impact of Covid-19 on individual cities. This is a sample page for Salford. The same
information has been reproduced for all the Key Cities and Core Cities. It can be accessed via Key Cities and Core Cities' websites.

65

Page 87

Page 88
Image: Key Cities. Norwich is vibrant, creative and a place for ideas.

Appendix 2

City and Local Centre Conversation
City and Local Centre Conversation
Introduction
We want to understand more about the changes and challenges that are now in motion
across Leeds which have resulted from a period of unprecedented change since the
Covid-19 pandemic began. To help us to do this, we would like to hear your views and
thoughts on the changes that are taking place in our city and local centres. We would also
like to hear about the changes you have made to how and where you work, how and
where you choose to spend your money and how you travel, as well as how you see
yourself working, living and travelling in Leeds in the future.
Instructions
It should take you about 10 minutes to answer all the questions. The last day that you can
respond is 26 March 2021.
If you need to speak to someone about this survey then please
email inclusive.growth.strategy@leeds.gov.uk.
Privacy notice (data protection)
This survey is completely anonymous. We do not ask or record anything that could be
used to identify you as an individual.
We use cookies to improve your experience of using our website. If you continue without
changing your cookie settings, we assume that you are happy with this usage.

2. About You
How old are you?
Under 18
18 - 29
30 - 44
45 - 64
65+
Prefer not to say

What is your the first part of your postcode? (eg. LS8 or LS10)

Page 89

What is your connection to Leeds? Tick all that apply.
I am a business in Leeds
I am a Leeds resident
I work in Leeds
I am a student in Leeds
None of the above

Do you want to tell us about the city centre, a local centre or both? *
The city centre
Just one local centre
The city and one local centre

3. Thinking about your local centre:
Please select which local centre you want to tell us about: *
Drop-down menu of centres provided
Since the Covid-19 pandemic began, have you used this local centre more, less or the
same as pre-Covid-19?
More
The same
Less

Thinking about the future, will you use your local centre more, less or the same as before
Covid-19?
More

The same

Less

Over the next 12 months
Over the next 2-3 years

Thinking about before Covid-19, now and in the future, what is/was your main reasons for
visiting the local centre?
Before Covid19
Work

Page 90

Now

Over the next Over the next
12 Months
2-3 years

Before Covid19

Now

Over the next Over the next
12 Months
2-3 years

Meeting friends
Leisure, cinema, exercise
Retail
Hospitality, bars, restaurants,
cafes
Night time economy
Culture, Theatre, music, library,
arts venues.
Study
Health
What would make the biggest difference to your local centre?

How do you see the future for your local centre?

4. Thinking about the city centre
Since the Covid-19 pandemic began, have you used the city centre more, less or the same
as pre-Covid-19?
More
The same
Less

Thinking about the future, will you use the city centre more, less or the same as before
Covid-19?
More

The same

Over the next 12 months
Over the next 2-3 years

Page 91

Less

Thinking about before Covid-19, now and in the future, what is/was your main reasons for
visiting the city centre?
Before Covid19

Now

Over the next Over the next
12 Months
2-3 years

Work
Meeting friends
Leisure, cinema, exercise
Retail
Hospitality, bars, restaurants,
cafes
Night time economy
Culture, theatre, music, library,
arts venues.
Study
Health

What would make the biggest difference to the city centre?

How do you see the future for the city centre?

5. City and local centre feedback
Thinking about both the city and local centres, what positive changes have you observed
since the Covid-19 pandemic began?

Page 92

What negative changes have you observed?

What do you think could be done to improve / build on the strengths of the city / local
centre?

6. New ways of working
Where did you mainly work from before Covid-19?
From home
From your usual work
A mix of both
Neither

If neither, please tell us why:
Retirement
In full time education
Furlough
Redundancy
Other (please specify):

Thinking about the next 12 months - if you are working do you expect to work over the
next year?
Yes
No
Not applicable
If no, please explain why:

Page 93

If you expect to work over the next 12 months where do you think you will work from?
From home
From a place of work
A mix of both
Neither
If you expect to work over the next 12 months what would make the biggest difference to
improving your working environment? Eg. better working from home conditions, better
broadband, more transport options, a local work café.

7. New ways of spending
Have you spent more or less online compared to pre-Covid-19?
More
The same
Less

Do you anticipate this continuing?
Yes
No
Don't know

Have you spent more money in your local centres compared to pre-Covid-19?
More
The same
Less

Page 94

Do you anticipate this continuing?
Yes
No
Don't know

8. New ways of travelling
Thinking about before Covid-19, now and in the future, what is/was your main mode of
transport?
Car/van Car/van
Taxi Motorcycle Bus
driver passenger

Train Bicycle Walk

Other

Before Covid-19
Now
Over the next 12
months
Over the next 2-3
years

Do you envisage the type of transport you use and how often you use it changing over the
next 1 to 3 years?
Yes
No
If yes, please tell us how you think it will change:

What is the main way that you usually travel for each of the following reasons? Please
select one only on each row.
Car/van Car/van
Taxi Motorcycle Bus
(driver) (passenger)
Work
Meeting friends
Leisure, cinema,
exercise
Retail
Hospitality, bars,
restaurants, cafes
Night time economy

Page 95

Train Bicycle Walk

Other

Car/van Car/van
Taxi Motorcycle Bus
(driver) (passenger)

Train Bicycle Walk

Other

Culture, theatre,
music, library, arts
venues
Study
Health
What would encourage you to visit the city centre more? Eg. More frequent bus services,
safe cycle storage, pedestrianised street, improved crossing facilities.

What would encourage you to visit your local centre more? Eg. More frequent bus
services, safe cycle storage, pedestrianised street, improved crossing facilities.

Thank you - That is all the questions we have for you.
Please now click the Finish button below to save and send your responses to us.

Page 96

Local centres used in city conversation survey –
as listed in the Leeds Core Strategy (adopted November 2014, with
amendments adopted September 2019).
Alwoodley King Lane
Armley
Beeston Hill Local Centre
Beeston Local Centre
Boston Spa
Bramhope
Bramley
Burley Lodge (Woodsley Road) Local Centre
Butcher Hill Local Centre
Chapel Allerton
Chapeltown (Pudsey) Local Centre
Chapeltown Road Local Centre
Collingham Local Centre
Cross Gates
Dewsbury Road
Drighlington Local Centre
East Ardsley Local Centre
Farsley
Garforth
Guiseley Oxford Road/Town Gate Town Centre
Guiseley, Otley Road
Halton
Harehills Corner
Harehills Lane
Hawksworth Estate Local Centre
Headingley
Holbeck Local Centre
Hollins Park (Easterley Road) Local Centre
Holt Park
Horsforth New Road Side
Horsforth Station Road
Horsforth, Town Street

Hunslet
Hyde Park Corner
Kippax
Kirkstall
Kirkstall Road Local Centre
Lincoln Green Local Centre
Lower Wortley (Granny Lane) Local Centre
Meanwood
Middleton Park Circus Local Centre
Middleton Ring Road
Montreal (Harrogate Road) Local Centre
Moor Allerton
Moortown Corner
Morley
Oakwood
Otley
Pudsey
Rawdon, Leeds Road
Richmond Hill
Rothwell
Royal Parks Local Centre
Seacroft
Slaid Hill Local Centre
Stanningley Botton Local Centre
Street Lane Local Centre
Tommy Wass (Dewsbury Road) Local Centre
Weetwood (Far Headingley) Local Centre
Wetherby
Yeadon

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

PROJECT PACK

FIND YOUR
CENTRE
Page
Photos curtesy of Leeds City Council,
Carl99
Milner Photography, and Pexels

FIND YOUR CENTRE
f

We’re asking you to “find your centre”
by showing us the city centre or your
local centre through your eyes. We want
to know what’s great about your centre,
what could be improved, and your
hopes for the future of it.
l

Some questions to help you
with ideas:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

What “counts” as the city centre for you?
What “counts” as your local centre?
What attracts you to the city centre or your
local centre? What would make the city
centre and local centres better for you?
What do you see as your space? What
spaces are there for young people?
What other spaces would you and other
young people want or need in your centre?
What barriers are there to your centre?
What do you want and need from
travelling? (for example: safer travel? Easier
walking and cycling?)
100 safer?
What could make yourPage
centre

WHO CAN TAKE PART?
Any young person aged 11 – 18
who lives in Leeds.

WHAT CAN I WIN?
A shortlist of winning entrants will be selected by Leeds
City Council and invited to an exclusive youth voice
event.
This is where you’ll be able to express your views on
the future of Leeds’ local and city centres. Members of
Leeds City Council will be there to listen to what you
have to say and include your ideas in their strategy for
the future of Leeds.

HOW DO I ENTER?
Submit your entries to
findyourcentre@aheadpartnership.org.uk by September
17th 2021.
All entries will be considered closely by Leeds City
Council.
Please complete the entry form (the final page of this
booklet) and submit this with your entry. Under 16s will
need to a parent or guardian to sign their form.
Page 101

WHERE DO I FIND MY CENTRE?
Finding your centre is all about exploring the
“centre” of your community, what it means to
you and others, and how you’d like to see it
grow in future.
You could focus on Leeds City Centre, or use
our A – Z directory for inspo:
Alwoodley King Lane

Halton

Armley
Harehills Corner
Beeston Hill Local Centre Harehills Lane
Beeston Local Centre
Boston Spa
Bramhope
Bramley
Burley Lodge (Woodsley
Road) Local Centre
Butcher Hill Local Centre
Chapel Allerton

Local Centre
Moor Allerton
Moortown Corner

Hawksworth Estate Local Morley
Centre
Oakwood
Headingley
Otley
Holbeck Local Centre
Pudsey
Hollins Park (Easterley
Rawdon, Leeds Road
Road) Local Centre
Richmond Hill
Holt Park
Horsforth New Road Side Rothwell
Royal Parks Local Centre
Horsforth Station Road

Chapeltown (Pudsey) Local
Seacroft
Centre
Horsforth, Town Street
Slaid Hill Local Centre
Chapeltown Road Local
Hunslet
Centre
Stanningley Botton Local
Hyde Park Corner
Centre
Collingham Local Centre
Kippax
Street Lane Local Centre
Cross Gates
Kirkstall
Tommy Wass (Dewsbury
Dewsbury Road
Kirkstall Road Local Centre Road) Local Centre
Drighlington Local Centre
Lincoln Green Local Centre Weetwood (Far
East Ardsley Local Centre
Headingley) Local Centre
Lower Wortley (Granny
Farsley
Lane) Local Centre
Wetherby
Garforth

Meanwood

Guiseley Oxford
Road/Town Gate Town
Centre
Guiseley, Otley Road

Middleton Park Circus
Local Centre
Middleton Ring Road
Montreal (Harrogate Road)
Page 102

Yeadon

WHY TAKE PART?

Covid-19 changed everything, including how we travel, study
and shop. Lots of us now rely on technology and are less likely
to visit places in person. Our centres are being impacted by a
reduction in office workers and shoppers; Leeds City Centre
has seen a 66% reduction in visitors, and our local centres will
also be affected by the shift to online shopping. Though many
are also benefiting from an increased desire to support
smaller local businesses.
This poses big questions for cities like ours. We want to
understand how places across Leeds are changing, and put
you at the centre of the conversation about what’s next.
This project is part of a big conversation we’re starting, to
explore the future of Leeds over the next 10 years. We’ve
launched an online survey where members of the public and
businesses can tell us what they think about the centres they
use. But our centres are yours too, and we want you to help
shape their future – making our centres great places to live,
work and visit.
Page 103

HOW DO I FIND MY CENTRE?
Your entry will be unique to you, so we’re
giving you an open invitation to respond
creatively.
Here’s a few examples of what that could
involve:

Photos

Artwork

Interviews

Videos

Podcast

Music & Poetry

As long as your entry shows or tells us
something about your centre, what it means
to you, and your hopes for its future – count
us in!
For more ideas, have a look at the next two
pages, where we’ve been having a go at
finding our centres.

Page 104

ANNA, LEEDS CITY CENTRE

My centre is Leeds City Centre, and I wanted to focus on open,
green spaces for people to enjoy the outdoors. Living and
working in the city during the Covid-19 pandemic really
showed me the importance of outdoor spaces that are
calming and open.
When I first started visiting the city centre more than 8 years
ago, I didn’t see as much green as I wanted to and there was
so much traffic. Now I’m seeing more spaces where people
are the focus, not cars. To find my centre, I photographed a
new one that’s one of my favourites – more of this please!

Page 105

LOLA,
ARMLEY TOWN STREET
LOLA,
ARMLEY
My centre is focused on Town Street. Armley was once a thriving mill
town that boomed through the Industrial Revolution, with Town
Street its commercial centre. Today it is suffering with issues of
antisocial behaviour and littering.
One great thing about Town Street is that it has so many independent
businesses owned by migrant families. I love that Armley is a
welcoming place for people to start businesses, but I wish all of the
units were full and that the streets were looked after. There are
volunteers like Armley in Bloom that keep the planters full of flowers
in the summer, but the pavements need more cleaning and
enforcement so people don’t drop litter.
One of the other things that makes Town Street special is that it has
common land on it. This is called Armley Moor and it is a big open
meadow for people to enjoy. It is owned by the people of Armley and
one of the neighbours keeps her horse, Fudge, on there. He is very
friendly and I think people enjoy seeing him in such a public place.
I decided to make a poll on Armley Good Stuff, a Facebook page
where over 5,000 people in my community share positive stories and
things they love about our community. They agreed with me that
Town Street is the thing they want to see most improved. The top
things they said they wanted were 1. a clean and safe Town Street and
2. Town Street to be full of small businesses.

Page 106

TERMS OF ENTRY

Please read this section carefully. By completing the entry form
on the next page and submitting your entry to
findyourcentre@aheadpartnership.org.uk you agree to the terms
laid out on this page.
How we store your data:
Your data (this includes any images, videos, artwork, or text you
submit as part of your entry, as well as the information you
provide through your entry form, and the email address you use
to submit these items) will be stored according to our privacy
policy, which you can find here
https://www.aheadpartnership.org.uk/privacy-policy/studentprivacy-policy/
How we use your entry:
Leeds City Council will review all entries, and they will be used to
inform decision making about the future of Leeds’ centres. Your
entry may also be featured in promotional material and shared
between Leeds City Council and Ahead Partnership.
Page 107

ENTRY FORM
Name:
Age:
Name of school or college:
Up to 150 words about your entry, to help us understand your
centre:

PARENT/ GUARDIAN CONSENT
This section must be completed by the parent or guardian of
anyone under 16. If this section is not completed, we can not
keep your entry and you will need to re-submit with parent or
guardian consent.
Name of Parent/ Guardian:
Parent/ Guardian email :
Signature:
Date of signature:
By completing this form, and submitting your entry to findyourcentre@aheadpartnership.org.uk
Page 108
you have agreed to the terms of entry on the previous page – please read them carefully.

Agenda Item 5
Report author: Martyn Long
Tel: 07712 214341

Future Talent Plan
Date: 22 July 2021
Report of: The Director of City Development
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report is intended to highlight the council’s work in starting the process of refreshing the
Talent & Skills Plan. Our current plan was published in 2017 and needs to be brought up to
date as we respond to national and regional policy changes as well as the city’s post covid
economic recovery, and changing labour market trends.



The primary aim of this project is to deliver a new Employment and Skills plan that supports
the council’s Inclusive Growth Strategy through addressing unemployment; improving the
resilience of those in work; and supporting people and businesses to thrive as we recover
from Covid-19. The project will form an important part of our work to ‘Reset and Renew’ as
set out in the city’s Economic Recovery Framework, published in October 2020, ensuring we
understand the challenges and opportunities that we face in recovery and developing a clear
focus and direction for the programmes and partnerships that will address them.



The new plan will promote the links between more secure work and better employment
opportunities and healthy, safe and sustainable communities, as set out by the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy; and contribute to the council’s Climate Emergency agenda, for example
through promoting the importance of the green economy.



The new Future Talent Plan will focus on supporting the skills of people who are of working
age, paying particular attention to younger people, given the disproportionate impact of the
coronavirus pandemic on young people. The project will link in with and run in tandem to
other strategy development in the city, particularly the 14-19 Strategy. The scope of the
project will also recognise people’s varied experiences of work and the breadth of the skills
agenda, for instance, targeting older people, as well as ensuring we develop appropriate
systems to enable social progress and career progression for all residents.



The plan is intended to be presented to Executive Board and published in early 2022. This
report will set out the context for updating the Talent and Skills Plan, and the implementation
approach and timescales that are being proposed to deliver this work. This project will
inform the refresh of the overarching Inclusive Growth Strategy which is likely to take place
next year.
Page 109

Recommendations
a) Members are asked to note the approach being taken to develop our Future Talent Plan and
agree any specific Scrutiny actions that may be appropriate.
b) Members will be asked to provide regular input and feedback at different stages of the
project to shape its development.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.1

Since the existing Talent & Skills Plan was published in 2017, the global; national and regional
context has changed significantly. A new approach is required to bring our plan in line with
these labour market trends and policy changes and ensure our skills system is at the forefront
of our economic recovery and future growth.
National context

1.2

The global coronavirus pandemic has changed the patterns of the world of work and impacted
labour markets around the world. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD) has predicted that the UK economy will be among the hardest hit by
the coronavirus crisis, stating that by the end of 2021, it will be more than 6% smaller than
before the pandemic. According to research by EUROCITIES, city economies have been
disproportionately affected, with the disappearance of many traditional jobs and the
accelerated emergence of new sectors, resulting in a strong socio-economic impact at the
local level. Cities have been at the forefront of mitigating the negative effects of Covid-19 on
local labour markets and preventing massive job losses.

1.3

Covid-19 has accelerated underlying trends in the economy, for instance around the
widespread demand for digital skills and tools; and the transformation of retail. There has been
a growth in inequalities, with the Good Things Foundation previously stating that 37% of
people in Britain did not feel prepared for the economic downturn due to digital and financial
exclusion. Other issues such as the race to net zero are also creating challenges and
opportunities. Some sectors have been impacted by coronavirus harder than others, with
nearly 180,000 Retail jobs lost in the UK in 2020 which is up by almost a quarter on the
previous year according to the Centre for Retail Research (CRR). CRR found that last year
was the worst for the High Street in more than 25 years, as the coronavirus crisis accelerated
the trend towards online shopping, and they have warned that there will be more pain for the
sector in 2021 as retailers face a cash-flow crisis and rent payments.

1.4

Additionally, some groups have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic. According
to recent national data, the young people’s employment rate saw a large decline in 2020
compared with 2019. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation’s annual report on poverty from 2020
highlights that many individuals and communities already experiencing poverty have borne
the brunt of Covid-19, including part-time workers; low-paid workers; workers in sectors with
higher rates of in-work poverty; BAME households; and lone parents, who are mostly women.

1.5

The national Employment and Skills policy landscape has altered substantially since the
publication of the existing Talent & Skills Plan. In September 2020, the Future-Ready Skills
Commission, which works to create an improved skills system for the UK, published their final
report outlining their ‘Blueprint’ for a devolved skills system which focuses on people;
businesses and local economies. In early 2021, the Skills for Jobs White Paper was published,
outlining a series of reforms such as the government’s Lifetime Skills Guarantee. The draft
Skills and Post-16 Education Bill was published in May 2021 and sets out a number of reforms
to further education including the introduction of employer led Local Skills Improvement Plans.
Page 110

Regional context
1.6

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority Local Skills Report 2021 highlights how Covid-19
has interacted with certain trends in the regional labour market. The pandemic may intensify
existing labour market trends, such as job openings for care workers, building on longer-term
growth in employment for this occupational area. It might not have an impact on other jobs,
with employment in the Culture; Media and Sport sectors likely to recover.

1.7

Skills shortages have pre-dated Covid-19 and WYCA predicts that they will persist. Skills
shortages affecting higher skilled roles such as nurses, engineers and digital professionals
could act as a constraint on economic recovery. However, this trend has been dampened
down by Covid-19, which has affected lower-skilled occupations which are associated with
higher labour turnover and skills gaps.

1.8

Since the publication of the Talent & Skills Plan in 2017, the devolution deal for West Yorkshire
has been enacted into law. Extra powers secured through devolution for the region include
the devolved Adult Education Budget, which WYCA will take responsibility for from August
2021 and should allow greater flexibility in the programmes we can offer in Leeds.

Local context
1.9

As a city, Leeds is Britain’s second busiest for legal work and the third for financial services.
Our Digital sector is growing faster than anywhere in the UK and, according to the 2020 Tech
Nation report, now employs 30,000 people, an increase of 67% since 2015 and has been
particularly resilient. Leeds has a strong knowledge-rich employment base linked to the city’s
universities and teaching hospitals which are major innovation assets and the city performs
well in terms of business start-ups, with strong growth in medical technologies, telecoms and
creative industries. Boosting productivity remains a challenge and although the city produces
many highly skilled jobs, employment and output growth has seen a rise in ‘lower productivity’
sectors such as consumer-services and this continues to impact on growth and productivity.

1.10

There are significant opportunities in emerging Green sectors. Recent modelling from the
Local Government Association shows Leeds will become a hotspot for new green jobs,
generating the highest estimated number of jobs in the low-carbon and renewable energy
sector of all the English Core Cities, with the city expected to see almost 34,000 jobs by 2050.
The modelling is based on industry insight from a series of expert interviews and a literature
review (see appendix, 10.1). The report also said there would be 150,000 green jobs in
Yorkshire and 420,000 in the North of England. Green jobs will be essential to the UK recovery
and this strategy will need to fully reflect our carbon reduction ambition for the city.

1.11

Leeds entered lockdown from a period of strength, but like all cities it has been hit hard by the
pandemic over the last 15 months. COVID-19 has had an unprecedented impact on the
economy locally, seeing the number of Universal credit claimants in the city more than double
between March 2020 and May 2021. Although the total number of employees on furlough in
Leeds has started to come down as restrictions ease, in April 2021, 37,200 employees were
still on furlough with the impact on universal credit figures likely to be felt in the July data
release.

1.12

While Universal Credit claims have doubled across all wards, we are seeing rising inequalities
– lower earners are three times as likely to have lost their job or been furloughed as high
earners and are more than twice as likely to do jobs exposing them to health risks. 15% of
workers in sectors which were shut down because of coronavirus are from a BAME
background, compared to 12% of all workers. 57% are women, compared to a workforce
average of 48%, and over 50% are under 35 years old.
Page 111

1.13

We are mindful that different areas of the economy have been disproportionately affected,
and there is a risk that some businesses and sectors will bounce back more quickly than
others. The digital sector has proven resilient whilst others that have been badly effected such
as hospitality continue to struggle. Local data from over the various stages of restrictions has
shown that the service sector has acted as a drag on growth, with the largest contributor to
this fall being Accommodation and Food service activities, followed by Wholesale and Retail
trade. On the other hand, manufacturing remained fairly constant and Construction has seen
a growth. The pandemic is accelerating trends and posing huge questions for cities like Leeds.
Some sectors have seen five years of change occurring in less than six months, with Covid19 accelerating structural trends around digital transformation, remote working and the shift
from ‘bricks to clicks’ in retail.

1.14

There has also been a disproportionate impact on freelancers, home-based businesses,
businesses with a dependency on face-to-face contact, and the self-employed, some of whom
were ineligible for government support.

1.15

There is also a growing divide in skills across the city. While a record number of residents in
Leeds are now qualified at Level 4 or above (46.9%), almost a quarter (24.8%) do not have a
level 2 qualification, meaning many are stuck in low paid, insecure jobs with poor progression
opportunities. This has seen a sharp increase in levels of in work poverty in Leeds. In May
2021 there were 75010 people claiming universal credit in the city including those who are in
work, an increase of 112% since March 2020. In the same period, unemployed claimants has
increased by 99%, highlighting a widening issue of low pay and in work poverty.

1.16

There is also a growing challenge in the city to ensure that new entrants to the labour market
have access to good, well paid jobs, particularly as the traditional entry level starter roles have
tended to be in sectors which are less likely to recover.

1.17

As a City, we need to ensure that we work with employers and providers across the
employment and skills ecosystem to ensure we maximise opportunities for Leeds residents to
access new jobs in growth sectors, tackle low pay and develop opportunities for people to
progress. Leeds is an enterprising city with a broad-based economy, an ideal location for
innovative and productive companies to start up and grow. We are strengthening our
international links to encourage more trade and investment, with a focus on Health, Creative
and Digital sectors, as well as university links.

1.18

There is also a challenge around how we access and use data as a city to ensure we are able
to make evidence based decisions on future employment and skills programmes. For
example, we know that the number of Leeds residents with a level 4 qualification has
increased significantly in recent years, but there is very little data to demonstrate whether that
is the result of residents increasing their skills, or higher skilled people from outside Leeds
accessing jobs as the city attracts significant investment. Part of the future talent work will
seek to address this by working with partners across the city to unlock and access the data
we need to enable a responsive and more agile approach.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

2.1

☐Yes

☒No

This Future Talent project is intended to ensure that the Employment and Skills eco-system
in Leeds is flexible and responsive to national, regional and local challenges. It will help shape
and influence the creation of jobs and skills programmes to ensure residents of Leeds are
Page 112

able to take advantage of current and future opportunities, to reduce unemployment; improve
the resilience of those in work and support people and businesses to thrive as we recover
from Covid-19 and address future challenges.
2.2

The Future Talent Plan will consider the lifespan of the working person, identifying and
attempting to reduce the intersecting challenges people in Leeds face regarding achieving
their employment goals and progression opportunities. Therefore, we will engage with a wide
range of stakeholders in developing the new plan, with a focus on diversity and inclusivity,
capturing a range of voices including younger and older people; mid-career; adult learners;
those in low income and insecure jobs; as well as people on middle and higher incomes.

2.3

There will also be collaboration with businesses and employers across the city, to better
understand and subsequently support aspirations in terms of workforce skills and the creation
of good jobs. We will engage with education and skills providers and other relevant
organisations in the city, to identify the collective response required to improve talent and skills
now and in the future.

2.4

We will also engage through our well-established Leeds Inclusive Anchors Network,
comprising of the largest employers in Leeds which combined employ over 56,000 people.
The Anchors are committed to supporting recovery and sharing learning and best practice
across the city and will play an important role in helping us shape the future talent plan.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3.1

The primary aim of this project is to deliver a plan that will be owned and updated by
stakeholders in the city. In order to ensure that this happens successfully, a comprehensive
stakeholder and communications engagement plan is currently being developed to run for the
whole project.

3.2

A partner, Clever Together, has been appointed to deliver extensive engagement and
analysis, launching a digital platform which will go beyond a basic survey and allow for debate
and discussion. The consultation will take place from September 2021 and will be focused
both on asking people, providers and businesses what they think about talent and skills in
Leeds both now and in the future, as well as ensuring their buy in to deliver a cohesive city
wide skills plan.

3.3

As restrictions allow, we will balance a range of online and face to face engagement activities
across the city to ensure we capture as broad a range of views as possible.

3.4

The consultation will engage with stakeholders from across the city, including Elected
Members; skills providers; business representative groups and businesses directly; public and
third sector organisations; as well as service users.

3.5

Consultation will also take place with officers from across the council, enabling them to
contribute to the work. We will also engage with our Inclusive Growth Delivery Partnerships;
Inclusive Anchors Network; as well as with WYCA and the new Mayor of West Yorkshire.

What are the resource implications?
4.1

There are no specific resource implications relating to the recommendations set out in this
report.

4.2

There is a commitment of up to £40k to enable the development, delivery and analysis of our
digital engagement and consultation platform which is currently being developed with our
partner, Clever Together. This contract was awarded following a competitive tender through
the Employment and Skills Dynamic Procurement System.
Page 113

What are the legal implications?
5.1 There are no significant legal implications attached to this programme of work.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
6.1

There are no major risks anticipated with this project. A potential risk is a lack of engagement
with the platform, or the sample not being representative. However stakeholder mapping
which considers diversity of ‘voice’ and inclusion is being considered from an early stage, and
the council will undertake a wide reaching engagement to encourage participation with the
digital platform.

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

7.1

The primary aim of this project is to deliver a new Employment and Skills plan that supports
the council’s Inclusive Growth Strategy through addressing unemployment; improving the
resilience of those in work; and supporting people and businesses to thrive as we recover
from Covid-19.

7.2

The new plan will also recognise the importance of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy in
promoting the links between more secure work and better employment opportunities and
healthy, safe and sustainable communities.

7.3

It will also contribute to the council’s Climate Emergency agenda, for example through
exploring the opportunities associated with the green economy and green jobs.

Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
8.1

The option to award the contract to Clever Together was subject to a competitive tender
through the Employment and Skills Dynamic Procurement System where all other options
were considered.
b) How will success be measured?

8.2

The Future Talent Plan will be clear and action-focused, including different time horizons,
timelines for review and progress updates.

8.3

It will link into the Leeds Social Progress Index, our chosen strategic measure for progress on
delivering inclusive growth which is currently being developed.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?

8.4

A steering group, chaired by Cllr Jonathan Pryor and made up of representatives from the
Chamber of Commerce; Leeds City College; Leeds Beckett University; a Head Teacher and
a Digital City Ambassador has been established, and will meet three times over the course of
the project. Their first meeting will take place in July 2021.
Implementation will take place in 3 phases:

8.5

Research - Ongoing, an internal desk-based review of research to shape the planning of the
new strategy is being undertaken by the team. The review will be ongoing through 2021, in
order to maintain an up-to-date understanding of emerging data and policy. Global, regional
and local data and intelligence will be collated and analysed, as well as changes in national
Page 114

and regional policy. This will help to inform greater understanding of the labour market and
policy landscape, and what the future opportunities might be.
8.6

A piece of work will be commissioned around better understanding labour market data, with
the potential for facilitating a data workshop with the ODI to enhance the research undertaken
for the project.

8.7

The review will also include the researching of and benchmarking against best practice and
work of key organisations, such as Core Cities, EUROCITIES and the Inclusive Growth
Network.
Stakeholder Engagement

8.8

Stakeholder mapping has already begun, where key stakeholders have been identified and
the level of communication with each stakeholder has been planned.

8.9

A digital engagement and consultation platform is currently being developed with our
commissioned partner, Clever Together and is planned to launch week commencing 6th
September 2021. The consultation will run for four weeks.

9.0

Following this, Clever Together will undertake consultation analysis.
Development of final plan

9.1

It is proposed that the Future Talent Plan will be brought to Executive Board in early 2022,
and once adopted, published and launched in Spring 2022.

Appendices
10.1

Local green jobs - accelerating a sustainable economic recovery, Local Government
Association. June 2020. Research can be found here.

Background papers
11.1

None

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Report author: Adam Harvatt

Tel: 0113 378 7648

Report of Director of City Development
Report to Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board
Date: 22nd July 2021
Subject: Leeds Local Plan Update – Request for Representations from the
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board as part of the
Public Consultation on the Scope of the Plan
Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): ALL

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1.

Main Issues.


The Local Plan for Leeds comprises a number of Development Plan
Documents (DPDs), including a Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plans and
Natural Resources and Waste Plan, which together form full statutory
planning policy coverage for development within the Leeds Metropolitan
District. Government advises that plans are kept up to date and reviewed
to see if they need to be updated every five years and whilst these DPDs
already contain policies to help deal with climate change they were made
before the Council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency.



Informed by declarations made at Full Council, a review of policies, and
detailed discussions with Development Plan Panel it is proposed that the
objective of the LPU should be the introduction of new and enhancement of
existing planning policies to help address the climate emergency. This
includes policies on carbon reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure, placemaking and sustainable infrastructure.



The first statutory step in plan-making is to consult on this scope and invite
views as to whether it is the right focus and what the direction of travel of

Page 117

specific policy areas might be. To aid consultation, 6 papers have been
prepared, with an introductory scope and summary paper, accompanied by
5 detailed topic papers. In addition, to assist discussion and help consultees
engage with the Council’s initial proposed direction of travel on some topics,
options are discussed for potential future policies.

2.



This consultation period (19th July – 13th September) provides an
opportunity to hear the specific views of a wide variety of stakeholders with
key roles to play in planning for the climate emergency e.g. from people
young and older about the types of places they want to live, play and move
about in, the ways that places can help deliver health benefits and more
accessibility to green space; from groups keen to help protect biodiversity
and trees; from developers who will be required to build to better standards
and layout places that are attractive and resilient and investors who can
capitalise on innovative and attractive places to live and work.



Following approval of the consultation material for the Local Plan Update
Scoping Consultation by Executive Board on the 23 rd June 2021, Members
of the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board are
provided with the consultation documents and requested to provide their
comments on the Plan as part of Regulation 18 of the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

Best Council Plan Implications


There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. At this early stage
of preparation, the contents of the Local Plan Update are not known,
however, it is considered that the LPU could contribute positively to the
Council’s key strategies, as follows:
Climate Emergency – by managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: increasing the energy efficiency of buildings, the design of places,
the location of development, accessibility to public transport, renewable
energy supply and storage;
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility to green infrastructure and
services;
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between
homes and jobs, the location of development, green infrastructure and
connectivity.

3.

Recommendation
Following the approval of the consultation documentation by Executive Board
on the 23rd June 2021 the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth
Scrutiny Board is requested to:
(i)

Note the contents of the report;

Page 118

(ii)

Provide formal comments as part of the Local Plan Update Regulation
18 consultation as contained within Appendix 1 and Appendix 2.

Page 119

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform the Infrastructure, Investment and
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board of the proposed scope for the Local Plan
Update, namely a focus on new or revised planning policy to help further
address the climate emergency. On this basis, Members of the Infrastructure,
Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board are provided with the
consultation documents and requested to provide their comments on the Plan
as part of Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Leeds Local Plan sets the land use and spatial planning framework for how
Leeds will develop. The current Leeds Local Plan is a set of five Development
Plan Documents (DPDs) mainly covering the period between 2012 and 2028,
but with some policies covering up to 2033. The Local Plan and 17
Neighbourhood Plans together form the statutory Development Plan, which is
used, alongside the National Planning Policy Framework, to help direct
decisions on planning applications in Leeds.

2.2

The Core Strategy DPD sets the overall strategic framework for development
in Leeds and is underpinned by other DPDs covering Natural Resources and
Waste and site allocations as well as saved policies in the Unitary Development
Plan. A number of years have passed since the Core Strategy (CS) was
adopted in 2014. It was subject to an update in 2019, which was selective and
focussed largely on housing, leaving much of the remainder untouched. The
Natural Resources and Waste DPD was adopted in 2013.

2.3

The LPA has a statutory duty to review policies every five years to determine
whether they require updating. Within the context of national planning guidance,
evidence and local priorities, it is crucial therefore that the Local Plan is kept up
to date and subject to regular review and update, to ensure it remains fit for
purpose in providing certainty for communities and investors.

2.4

Following the declaration of the Climate Emergency in March 2019, in
September 2019 Council approved that: “To reflect the Council’s declaration of
Climate Emergency … Council commits to including measures to address the
Climate Emergency in subsequent Core Strategy Reviews. This should include
a strategic plan to deliver more trees in the city, a greater emphasis on how
new housing developments are accessed i.e. not solely by the private car and
a clear commitment to review Spatial Policy 12 of the Core Strategy relating to
growth at Leeds Bradford Airport, as a matter of urgency, and notes that the
Council has already committed to bringing a timetable to Development Plan
Panel this Autumn”.

2.5

Through Development Plan Panel (DPP) consideration and under delegated
decision by the Chief Planning Officer, all policies across the Local Plan were
reviewed in July 2020 (postponed from March 2020). The policies identified as
in need of updating are wide in scope. As a result DPP considered that, to
reflect Council priorities and resources available, the Local Plan Update should
focus initially on policies for the Climate Emergency in Leeds in addition to
responding to the Council’s resolution made in July 2019 outlined above. Other
matters e.g. around employment land, minerals and waste and local and town

Page 120

centres would be updated by future DPDs. This approach of partial review was
used for the Core Strategy Selective Review and enables a more focussed and
manageable plan-making process to be undertaken at greater speed.
2.6

Throughout 2020 DPP have considered in more detail the possible scope of an
update to the Local Plan, known as the Local Plan Update (LPU). The views
expressed by the Panel (including at a dedicated climate change policy
workshop) made clear that the priority for the LPU is to consolidate and move
beyond existing local planning policies to help address climate change and
increase resilience to its impacts, through the establishment of new policies and
guidance within the Leeds Local Plan, which helps address the climate
emergency declaration to achieve net zero emissions by 2030. Having set the
broad scope of the LPU on 3rd November 2020 Members of DPP considered
potential policy approaches on topics related to carbon reduction and
renewable energy, green infrastructure and place-making. Issues relating to
flood risk, sustainable infrastructure and strategic place-making were
considered in January 2021. DPP endorsed the detailed consultation material
on the 18th May 2021, subject to minor revised wording to help clarify matters
relating to the Child Friendly City, blue infrastructure, solar farms and the wider
community benefits of place-making. These themes and topics have also been
considered and influenced by the Climate Emergency Advisory Committees
(CEAC) for Planning, Building and Energy and Food and Biodiversity with the
former advocating for more energy efficient homes and the latter group keen to
see alignment with the Council’s emerging policies on local food production.

2.7

The first regulatory milestone in the preparation of a Development Plan
Document such as the LPU, is an initial stage of public consultation (‘Regulation
18’ consultation). The purpose of this stage is to ascertain views on what
matters the LPU will need to consider and address i.e. its scope in order to
achieve its identified objective. The regulations specify that, as part of the plan
preparation process, we must invite representations on what the Local Plan
ought to contain. Whilst being mindful of the need not to pre-judge the outcome
of that consultation, it is considered that it would be helpful to respondents and
speed up the process if the Council’s general preferred scope of policies (with
initial options for what they could contain) was used as a means of generating
responses to the Plan at this early stage. This would help shorten the timescale
for preparation, focus comments and in due course help clarify the tests of
soundness that are required by national policy.

2.8

The consultation material (appendix 1 and appendix 2) was approved for
consultation by Executive Board on the 23rd June 2021. As part of the approval
Executive Board was requested to:
(iii)

2.9

Refer the consultation documentation (Appendix 1 and 2) to the
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board for
consultation in accordance with the requirements of the Budget and
Policy Framework;

This reflects the procedures set out within the Budget and Policy Framework
Procedure Rules, which state that the relevant Scrutiny Board will have the
Regulation 18 consultation material referred to them for their consideration. The
Scrutiny Board is invited to report to the Executive on the outcome of its
deliberations and this will be used to amend the material for future stages of
plan making (as set out in paragraph 3.27).

Page 121

2.10 The remits of Leeds City Council’s scrutiny boards, as approved in May 2021,
are set out in Annex 2 of Article 6 within the Council’s Constitution. In this
instance the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board is
the appropriate board for formal consutlation.
2.11 It is important to note that whilst this current consultation focusses on planning
issues related to the climate emergency, it is recognised that there are other
elements of the Local Plan that may require updating. The further updated
‘Local Plan Update (2)’ will be scoped later in 2021 and early 2022 in
consultation with Development Plan Panel and may include matters such as:
the housing requirement and allocations (for beyond 2028), affordable housing
(inc. First Homes), employment land requirements and allocations (for beyond
2028), town and local centres, requirements for and allocations for Gypsies and
Travellers and Travelling Show persons (for beyond 2028), minerals and waste.
These matters will be considered in relation to up to date Government
Guidance, appropriate plan period and existing and emerging local evidence. It
is estimated that public consultation on these elements of the Local Plan Update
(2) will begin mid-2022.
3.

Main Issues
The material for the LPU scoping consultation is set out in Appendix 1 and
Appendix 2. What follows below is a consideration of the main issues in relation
to that statutory consultation.
Background to the Objective of the Local Plan Update

3.1

Leeds City Council has declared a climate emergency and has set an ambition
for Leeds to work towards carbon neutrality by 2030. This is a massive task,
needing a sustained effort from not just the Council, who aim to lead by
example, but for other agencies, businesses and residents of Leeds to take this
huge step.

3.2

To achieve our ambitions by 2030 and beyond, a rapid period of transition is
necessary, along with big step changes. The Council aspires to achieve these
because the evidence shows that they are needed now.

3.3

In parallel to considering the climate emergency, the Council has also focused
on the ecological crisis that is being faced, with a loss of 70% of insects over
the last thirty years across Europe. The Council has also sought to align the
resilience that Leeds needs to adapt to climate change with its policies for
health and well-being and inclusive growth as they are inter-related. A need for
resilient places has also been heightened during the past year by the global
pandemic, its localised impacts on communities in “lock down” and its impacts
on the economy.

3.4

The land use planning system plays a critical role in mitigating and adapting to
climate change. Specifically, it can shape places in ways that contribute to
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, it can minimise vulnerability and
improve resilience; encourage the more prudent use of existing resources and
support the move towards renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure.
Planning Policy Context

Page 122

3.5

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) sets national guidance
for planning. Section 14 (¶148 – 154), stresses that the planning system should
support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. In particular
Planning should, “…help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical
reductions in greenhouses gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve
resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion
of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and
associated infrastructure”.

3.6

It is noted that the Government is committed to updating the NPPF as part of
its wider Planning White Paper reforms. The Council’s response to the White
Paper (considered by Development Plan Panel and CEAC Panel Members)
alerted the Government to the need for stronger national policies on climate
change in order to plan for zero carbon in advance of the Government’s target
of 2050 and cautioned against setting nationally prescribed development
management policies which may impact on the ability of the Council to have
stronger local ambitions for tackling climate change.

3.7

The Government has begun the process of consulting on amendments to the
NPPF with an initial consultation (released on 30th January 2021) focussed
mainly on changes which improve the quality of design and beauty, but it is
expected that as the Council’s LPU progresses further NPPF changes will be
made.

3.8

In addition to the statutory requirement to take the NPPF into account in the
preparation of Local Plans and in decision taking, there are wider statutory
duties on local planning authorities to include policies in their Local Plans
designed to tackle climate change and its impacts, including:


Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 - Planning must secure that the
development and use of land contributes to the mitigation of and adaptation
to climate change;



Planning Act 2008)- A duty that Plans have climate change targets and
policies;



Planning & Energy Act 2008 - Powers to require some low-carbon energy
generation from new development;



Climate Change Act 2008 - Establishes the importance of planning in
securing legally binding targets.

The Climate Emergency in Leeds
3.9

The Climate Emergency affects Leeds in a number of ways, some of which are
specific to the nature and character of Leeds. Leeds has to be ready to deal
with a changing climate (and the associated mitigation and adaption necessary)
in the following ways:


Adapt to a changing climate by preparing for heat waves and their impacts.
It is recognised that as a large urban area Leeds will experience an increase
in temperature fluctuations. The health impacts of heatwaves can be
significant, particularly for vulnerable people, when excess deaths can
occur. Therefore it is crucial that we make places ready for extremes of

Page 123

temperature to ensure they are resilient. In Leeds the urban heat island
effect will affect those who are most vulnerable within Leeds, including
elderly, those with respiratory conditions and those in built up high density
areas.


Plan for flood risk. Leeds is also well aware of the issues that flooding brings
e.g. the damage caused by Storm Eva in 2015, will increase as the global
and local climate changes.



Heatwaves also have impacts on infrastructure and water resources which
will need to be used more wisely in development and in agriculture.



Temperature changes won’t just affect people and there will be a need to
plan for better biodiversity and resilient local habitats for our species.



Climate change won’t just affect the urban area, but also the countryside
around our city and our major settlements. This will see a changing role for
local food production, tree and woodland planting and opportunities for
renewable energy.

3.10 A Climate Conversation was launched in 2019 as a result of the declaration of
the Climate Emergency and nearly 8,000 people responded to the Council with
the overwhelming majority agreeing with the scientific consensus that the
climate is changing due to human activity, that they are worried about it and
that tackling the climate emergency, becoming a carbon-neutral city and
protecting wildlife diversity should be priorities for the Council.
3.11 The majority of responses also considered that more should be done around
the following issues


transport, especially suggestions for a mass transit system;



minimising waste and encouraging recycling;



build ‘greener’ developments, e.g. requiring stricter energy efficiency
standards, the installation of renewables;



make it harder to develop on green field sites;



plant more trees.

3.12 In addition, the Leeds Climate Change Citizen’s Jury was put together in 2019,
who made recommendations to the Council on how best to tackle the climate
emergency. Their 12 recommendations included taking action to reduce use of
private cars, increase the energy efficiency of housing and creating more green
spaces in Leeds.
3.13 Taken together, these issues have helped set the objective and scope of the
LPU and are addressed through the sections on sustainable infrastructure,
whole life carbon and place-making, carbon reduction, and green infrastructure
topics.
3.14 It is important to note that Leeds has a Local Plan with existing policies aimed
at addressing climate change. These policies range from a spatial strategy
which encourages growth in sustainable locations, to detailed policies on

Page 124

carbon reduction, green infrastructure, flood risk, biodiversity, flood risk, heat
networks, electric vehicles, renewable energy generation, air quality and tree
replacement. However, these policies largely pre-date the declaration of the
Climate Emergency and the aspiration to achieve net zero carbon emissions by
2030. In order to ensure that the existing suite of policies is heightened and
maximised work has been undertaken throughout 2019 and 2020 on
developing training and awareness raising especially on the subject of master
planning and place making so that Council decisions are as aligned with the
Climate Emergency as they can be using existing policies. This work also forms
the basis for Member training on planning, climate change and sustainable
development for the coming year.
The Proposed Scope of the Plan
3.15 As set out in paragraph 2.4 Full Council has resolved that the scope of the
Local Plan Update should be focussed on measures to improve and enhance
the planning policy framework to help address the climate emergency. This
objective has also be informed and endorsed by Development Plan Panel.
3.16 Since the declaration of the Climate Emergency work has progressed on
focussing on improving the delivery outcomes of existing policies that the
Council has, so as to (a) understand what new policies are needed, and (b)
ensure that all new development is doing its best to meet the Climate
Emergency now.
3.17 As a result, it is felt that there are many policy areas that would benefit from
further consideration through the Local Plan Update. The scoping consultation
is an opportunity for the Council to share its direction of travel on new and
updated policies with the public, businesses and consultation bodies.
3.18 As part of this consultation, therefore, we are clearly setting out that the
proposed subject of this Local Plan Update will be a focus on carbon reduction,
flood risk, green infrastructure, place-making and sustainable infrastructure in
order to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change and ensure the
delivery of sustainable development within Leeds.
3.19 It is proposed that this will take the form of new and updated policies within the
Core Strategy and may result in consequential changes to the Natural
Resources and Waste Local Plan (2013) and the saved Unitary Development
Plan (2006).
3.20 Taking these considerations together, and working in consultation with
Development Plan Panel, 5 broad topic areas have emerged, with multiple
policy areas sitting underneath. These are set out below:
Topic Area

Policy Areas Covered

Carbon Reduction

 Whole life carbon costs for
buildings
 Reducing carbon emissions from
buildings
 Sustainable construction
 Resilience to Heat
 Renewable energy generation

Page 125

 Heat networks
 Energy storage
Flood Risk

 Flood risk
 Functional floodplain
 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Green Infrastructure









Place-making

 Strategic Place-making (incl. 20Minute Neighbourhoods)
 Local Place-making

Sustainable Infrastructure







Strategic Green Infrastructure
Tree Planting
Tree Replacement
Biodiversity
Nature Conservation
Green space
Space for local food growing

High Speed 2
Leeds City Station
Mass Transit
Leeds Bradford Airport
Digital Infrastructure

3.21 As a whole they set a scope and a draft direction of travel, which helps address
the following 5 headline objectives:
(1) Carbon reduction: For new development, Leeds will seek to minimise
energy demand and meet all demands for heat and power without
increasing carbon emissions, to allow Leeds to meet its climate emergency
commitment of zero carbon by 2030. This is supported by topics
concerning:


Ensuring that the level of embodied carbon in a development is
considered and monitored from construction to demolition;



reducing Carbon Emissions from Buildings for example, by exploring
whether all development could be built to a zero carbon standard;



ensuring Sustainable Construction for example, through setting clear
standards;



Renewable Energy and heat generation and storage infrastructure for
example, through consideration of mechanisms to increase the
generation and storage of low carbon and renewable heat and power
both through stand-alone generation and within new developments.

(2) Flood Risk: Leeds will ensure that new developments are located and
designed to avoid, reduce and mitigate flood risk, increase biodiversity and

Page 126

reduce the carbon footprint of risk reduction schemes through natural flood
solutions. This is supported by topics concerning:


ensuring that the Council’s policies are supported by up to date evidence
on flood risk;



avoiding development in flood risk areas and managing the functional
flood plain;



reducing the speed of surface water run off through more sustainable
and natural drainage systems for example, through standards and limits
to the paving over of front gardens.

(3) Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity: Leeds will create new Green
Infrastructure (GI) (including Green Space and Natural Environment)
through the planning process, and identify, improve, protect and extend
existing GI to address the challenges of climate change and create a
healthy city. This is supported by topics concerning:


ensuring a strong, clear and consistent approach to the delivery of new
green infrastructure as well as the enhancement and protection of
existing GI alongside a better understanding of the roles and benefits of
individual GI attributes e.g. for play, for well-being, biodiversity (through
hedgerow plating), opportunities for local food growing and more
attractive routes to encourage less car use; ensuring stronger protection
for trees for example, through new land for trees, tree retention and
replacement which considers the carbon sequestration value of trees, in
addition to amenity and alongside other considerations;



ensuring that local wildlife sites and nature conservation designations
are effective at protecting species and habitats and that new
development delivers appropriate levels of net gain for biodiversity;

(4) Place-making: Leeds will work in the public interest, prioritising the safety
and well-being of people within a framework of long-term sustainable
development by allowing development that promotes safe, healthy and
resilient places, reflects the issues associated with inclusive growth and an
environment which leaves a positive legacy for all people. This is supported
by topics concerning:


ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps adapt
to the impacts of climate change and balances development needs with
environmental constraints for example, through policies on 20-minute
neighbourhoods;



ensuring high quality design of places for example, through good
practice, standards and design guides that helps ensure better quality,
form and layout;



As part of policies that promote place-making the Council is mindful of
having policies that contribute positively to the Councils’ climate change
ambitions, including increasing active travel and reducing private car
use. Linked to this will be matters related to car parking standards which

Page 127

can be managed through supplementary guidance which align with the
Council’s wider transport strategies.
(5) Sustainable Infrastructure: Leeds will ensure the delivery of an accessible
and integrated transport system which focuses on public transport and
active travel, is worthy of its role at the heart of the Leeds City Region, and
supports communities and inclusive growth. This is supported by topics
concerning:


preparing for and maximising the benefits that the national High Speed
2 rail infrastructure project may bring to the City, if built, for example
through shaping the development of Leeds Station, integrating the HS2
line into our city and seeking opportunities for new green and public
spaces to be created alongside HS2, as well as ensuring high levels of
permeability;



preparing for any mass transit system that is provided in Leeds so that it
can align with wider spatial priorities and deliver wider benefits;



managing the future development of Leeds Bradford Airport and access
to it in a sustainable manner;



supporting reliable, high-speed data at work, home and whilst on the
move, so that Leeds is a modern, resilient and efficient economy which
can support increased remote working;



ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps
reduce the need to travel by private car and positively promotes active
travel for example, through policies on 20-minute neighbourhoods and
place-making.

3.22 These topics have been created following engagement across the Council and
seeks to deliver a consistent vision as already expressed through documents
such as the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy and the White Rose
Forest Strategy.
3.23 Consultation material has been created for each of the topic areas (appendix
2), with a summary document as an introduction to the whole consultation
material (appendix 1). It is not the intent at this stage to present detailed
policies. Rather, this first consultation stage is being used to explain the scope
of the document and to seek views on the direction of travel.
3.24 As set out above, the consultation will not prescribe what the LPU should
conclude on a particular matter as, at this initial stage in the process,
consultation will help to clarify the scope, seek support for particular options
and continue to develop an evidence base to justify the Council’s preferred
options in due course. The work that has informed this consultation material
therefore does not seek to prejudge consultation on the scope of the LPU,
rather it serves to help inform it.
3.25 With regard to Leeds Bradford Airport, it is recognised that Leeds Bradford
Airport have recently submitted a planning application for a new terminal
building and associated flight regimes, which the Council moved to approve in
principle on the 11th February 2021. This application was assessed against

Page 128

existing Local Plan policy and other material considerations. The Secretary of
State has the right to ‘call-in’ this application, although at the present time this
right has not been exercised. However, this Local Plan Update process is a
separate planning process to the planning application, and will guide the long
term future of the airport not the current planning application. Consequently the
focus of the consultation will be on the future of the Airport post-completion of
the development already outlined.
Timescales
3.26 The public consultation will take place for 8 weeks from the 19 th July – 13th
September 2021.
3.27 Following this initial scoping consultation, officers will work through responses
to help develop a draft set of policies to be consulted on in Spring 2022. Subject
to the results of these consultations it is estimated that the Plan will be
submitted to the Government for Examination in Public in Winter 2022/23.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The initial proposed scope of the LPU has been shaped with reference to the
Council’s Climate Conversation and engagement with cross Council services
to ensure alignment with strategies such as the Leeds Transport Strategy.
4.1.2 Initial discussion has also taken place with the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority (WYCA). WYCA have ambitions for the sub-region as a whole to be
net-zero carbon by 2038 and to have made significant progress by 2030. The
ambitions within this LPU align with that and there is support for joint work at a
city region level on tackling the climate emergency through planning. This will
be through aligning with and helping to shape a Zero Emissions Investment
Framework (ZEIF) which was a commitment in the West Yorkshire Devolution
Deal and the Leeds City Region Energy Strategy & Delivery Plan.
4.1.3 Development Plan Panel have been closely involved in the production of the
Local Plan Update. The Panel met on the 18 th May 2021 and endorsed the
consultation material for Executive Board’s approval, subject to minor revised
wording to help clarify matters relating to the Child Friendly City, blue
infrastructure, solar farms and the wider community benefits of place-making.
4.1.4 Executive Board approved the consultation material for consultation on the 23 rd
June 2021. The consultation will run from the 19th July – 13th September 2021.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been
undertaken in considering the equality impact of the Executive Board’s decision
to approve the consultation material and due regard was given. Equality has
been a key consideration of the scoping work so far, with each topic area
considering the equalities impacts of the Plan. The Local Plan Update is at an
early stage and consultation will allow an early opportunity to seek comments
and to engage the community before policy formulation is commenced. Further
due regard to equality will be undertaken throughout the process at appropriate
stages.

Page 129

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. At this early stage of
preparation, the contents of the Local Plan Update are not known, however, it
is considered that the LPU could contribute positively to the Council’s key
strategies, as follows:
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility to green infrastructure and
services;
Climate Emergency – by managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: increasing the energy efficiency of buildings, the design of places,
the location of development, accessibility to public transport, renewable
energy supply and storage
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between
homes and jobs, the location of development, green infrastructure and
connectivity.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 There are no resource implications of this report.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There are no legal implications in requesting representations of the
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The proposed direction of travel and initial options that are subject to
consultation have not been assessed for their viability. Following public
consultation, officers will collate the evidence and views presented by
consultees, in order to create detailed policy approaches. Those approaches
and alternative options will be subject to detailed viability assessments, in order
to inform future versions of the Plan. As such, the service will need to
commission a technical evidence base in regard to feasibility, deliverability and
viability, which is expected to be funded through existing budgets.
4.6.2 It is also recognised that there are risks to pursuing a Local Plan Update
focussed on the climate agenda. Changes to the planning system as proposed
within the Government’s White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’ may result in
national Development Management policies (as expressed through a revised
NPPF) not giving local authorities flexibility to set their own policies on the
matters proposed to be in scope for the Local Plan Update. In addition,
proposed changes to the building regulations may result in local authorities
having no scope to prescribe carbon emission rates from new development. It
is also possible that the Government will change how Local Plans are consulted
on and the stages of consultation and preparation required. Should this happen,
this may require the Council to revise documentation and return to earlier
stages of consultation, depending on when the changes are introduced. At
present however, LPA’s are being encourage to continue progressing with their
Local Plans.

Page 130

5.

Conclusions

5.1

This report requests the formal views of the Infrastructure, Investment and
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board as part of the Council’s consultation on the
Local Plan Update Scoping consultation.

6.

Recommendation
Following the approval of the consultation documentation by Executive Board
on the 23rd June 2021 the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth
Scrutiny Board is requested to:
(i)

Note the contents of the report;

(ii)

Provide formal comments as part of the Local Plan Update Scoping
(Regulation 18) consultation as contained within Appendix 1 and
Appendix 2.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8.

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Local Plan Update Scoping Consultation material – ‘Introduction,
Scope and Summary’ Paper
Appendix 2: Local Plan Update Scoping Consultation material – Detailed Topic
Papers

8.2

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless
they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published
works.
1

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1:
INTRODUCTION AND
SUMMARY

1

Page 133

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT

INTRODUCTION, SCOPE AND SUMMARY TO THE LOCAL
PLAN UPDATE SCOPING CONSULTATION

2

Page 134

1

What is the purpose of this consultation?

1.1

Leeds City Council is updating its planning policies, which will form part of the
statutory Local Plan. The focus is on the role of planning in helping the Council
deliver its climate emergency commitments. The Council is seeking views on
which parts of the existing Local Plan to update and what they should contain.

1.2

This update will make changes to the existing Local Plan. The Local Plan sets
out development principles for our area and are used to determine planning
applications.

1.3

There are four formal stages to producing or updating a Local Plan:
 Scoping – the current stage where we seek views from stakeholders about the
ideas, options and direction of travel of a Plan
 Pre-submission – the next stage where we carefully consider the comments
you’ve sent us and use these to draft policy wording which is intended to guide
development in Leeds – we’ll be consulting on these detailed policies towards
the end of year
 Submission – taking into account all the comments we have received, and
making sure that our final draft policies are sound and legal prior to submitting to
the Secretary of State for independent examination by a planning inspector
 Adoption – where, following independent examination (and any proposed
modification), the Council receives an Inspector’s Report and can formally adopt
the policies as part of the statutory Local Plan

1.4

At this stage we need your views on:
 what the Local Plan Update should contain and this ‘Scoping Report’ explains
the range of what may be addressed, including the role of the update, the
Council’s initial thoughts on the content and how it relates to the wider Local
Plan;
 the direction of travel of the policies – are they the right choices, are they
ambitious enough, relevant to Leeds and will they deliver the type of
development that you think the City needs and help make the places you would
want to live in?

1.5

This scoping report and the detailed topic papers that sit underneath it provide
information on a range of issues we think should be considered through the
Local Plan Update. Throughout the documentation, questions are asked,
highlighting where we need your views and opinions.

3

Page 135

2

What is the Proposed Scope of the Plan?

2.1

The priority for the Local Plan Update is to update and improve existing policies
and make new ones to address climate change, and the climate emergency
declaration to achieve net zero emissions by 2030.

2.2

In addition, closely related topics such as green infrastructure, flood risk, placemaking and sustainable infrastructure are also included within the proposed
scope of the Plan. These are explained in more detail below.

3

Why is the Local Plan Update focussing on the Climate
Emergency?

3.1

Leeds City Council declared a climate emergency in March 2019 with an
ambition to work towards carbon neutrality by 2030. This is a massive task,
needing a sustained effort from not just the Council, who aim to lead by
example, but for other agencies, businesses and residents of Leeds.

3.2

Leeds has a Local Plan with existing policies aimed at addressing climate
change. These policies range from a spatial strategy which encourages
growth in sustainable locations, to detailed policies on carbon reduction, green
infrastructure, flood risk, biodiversity, flood risk, heat networks, electric vehicles,
renewable energy generation, air quality and tree replacement. However, these
policies were made before the declaration of the Climate Emergency and the
aspiration to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030.

3.3

To achieve our ambitions by 2030 and beyond, a rapid period of transition is
necessary, along with big changes.

Why Leeds declared a Climate Emergency
3.4

The Council aspires to be carbon neutral by 2030 because the evidence
supports that, as follows:
 the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change warned that the
opportunity to limit world temperatures to under 1.5 °C and avoid the worst
climate change impacts will vanish in the next decade
 the UK government updated the Climate Change Act, committing to, by law,
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at least 100% of 1990 levels (net zero) by
2050, in response to the Committee on Climate Change
 to reach this target the government has set legally-binding ‘carbon budgets’ in 5year periods i.e. the amount of greenhouse gases the UK is permitted to emit for
each 5-year period

4

Page 136

 the Committee has found that the government’s policies and plans are not
enough to meet carbon budgets and that the policy gap has widened
 Yorkshire and Humber’s share of the ‘carbon budget’ to 2050 on a per capita
basis is estimated at circa 250 mega-tonnes. If we continue business as usual
the budget will have been used up within the next 5 years
 climate-related events are continuing to occur in frequency and severity both
globally and locally e.g. frequency of storms, such as Storm Eva and the floods
caused over Christmas 2015

3.5

Many local authorities across Yorkshire and Humber and the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority1 have now declared climate emergencies with a
commitment to carbon neutrality. There are varying dates for achieving carbon
neutrality locally, but all commitments are ahead of the government 2050
target. We know this is a challenge, but not trying to achieve zero carbon by
2030 would be worse than doing nothing because:
 we need to plan for the long term to make sure that we are ready for the impacts
of Climate Change - the Council’s Local Plan looks ahead 16 years
 we need to help influence and inform Government on the steps that are
necessary for low carbon cities
 Leeds already has a significant level of development in the pipeline (including
almost 40,000 homes) to deliver, which will last beyond 2050 and if not built to
higher standards may serve to exacerbate the challenge in the future.

3.6

1

According to a carbon roadmap report by Leeds Climate Commission, Leeds
could become a carbon neutral city by 2050 – and potentially by 2030. The
report demonstrates that it is technically, and to a large extent, economically
possible for Leeds to become a carbon neutral city and to meet ambitious
carbon reduction targets in line with the global targets set out by the United
Nations. The roadmap makes clear that no single innovation will resolve the
climate crisis or put Leeds on the right path to zero carbon but that a
combination of activities are essential. This means that no-one can afford to
not play their part or to leave it to someone else to make the efforts. The report
sets out that there are economically viable measures that can be delivered
now.

Definition

5

Page 137

Leeds Climate Conversation
3.7

A Climate Conversation was launched in 2019 as a result of the declaration of
the Climate Emergency and nearly 8,000 people responded to the Council with
the overwhelming majority agreeing with the scientific consensus that the
climate is changing due to human activity, that they are worried about it and
that tackling the climate emergency, becoming a carbon-neutral city and
protecting wildlife diversity should be priorities for the Council.

3.8

The majority of responses also considered that more should be done around
the following issues:
 transport, especially suggestions for a mass transit system;
 building ‘greener’ developments, e.g. requiring stricter energy efficiency
standards, the installation of renewables;
 making it harder to develop on green field sites;
 planting more trees.

The Role of Planning
3.9

There is a legal duty2 to ensure that climate change mitigation and adaptation
is a core objective of a local authorities’ planning policy.
 Climate change mitigation is about reducing the impact of human activity on the
climate, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions, such as carbon
(CO2) which are produced in the construction industry, when we travel by cars
and when we power and heat buildings
 Climate change adaptation is about adjusting to the impacts of climate change,
to lessen harm e.g. increased flooding protection and adapting to hotter weather.

3.10 Planning policies help determine planning applications for development that
can:
 shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse
gas emissions, e.g. by reducing the need to travel by car
 minimise vulnerability and improve resilience e.g. by avoiding places that
flood and dealing with water
 encourage more prudent use of existing resources e.g. by making homes
more efficient

2

under section 19(1A) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004

6

Page 138



support the move towards renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure e.g. by setting where wind farms and solar farms can be located

3.11 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) is national guidance for
planning and all local authorities have to consider policies within it. Section 14
(¶148 – 154), stresses that the planning system should support the transition to
a low carbon future in a changing climate. In addition to the statutory
requirement to take the NPPF into account in the preparation of Local Plans
and in decision taking, there are wider statutory duties on local planning
authorities to include policies in their Local Plans designed to tackle climate
change and its impacts, including:
 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 - Planning must secure that
the development and use of land contributes to the mitigation of and
adaptation to climate change;
 Planning Act 2008 - A duty that Plans have climate change targets and
policies;
 Planning & Energy Act 2008 - Powers to require some low-carbon energy
generation from new development;
 Climate Change Act 2008 - Establishes the importance of planning in
securing legally binding targets.

How the Climate Emergency Affects Leeds
3.12 The Climate Emergency affects Leeds in a number of ways from the inner city
and the City Centre to the outer areas, some of which are specific to the nature
and character of Leeds. Leeds has to be ready to deal with and adapt to a
changing climate in the following ways:
 Preparing for heat waves and their impacts. It is recognised that as a
large urban area Leeds will experience an increase in temperature
fluctuations. The health impacts of heatwaves can be significant,
particularly for vulnerable people, when excess deaths can occur.
Therefore it is crucial that we make places ready for extremes of
temperature to ensure they are resilient. In Leeds the urban heat island
effect will affect those who are most vulnerable, including the elderly,
those with respiratory conditions and those in built up high density areas.
 Planning for flood risk. Leeds is also well aware of the issues that
flooding brings e.g. the damage caused by Storm Eva in 2015, will
increase as the global and local climate changes.
 Protecting our infrastructure which will need to be built to higher
specifications.

7

Page 139

 Protecting our water resources which will need to be used more wisely
in development and in activities such as agriculture.
 Supporting nature Temperature changes won’t just affect people and
there will be a need to plan for better biodiversity and resilient local
habitats for our species.

4

What is the Plan likely to contain?

4.1

At this stage we are proposing topic areas and have prepared 5 topic papers to
provide ideas for how planning policies could change in the future to take
account of the climate emergency. At this early stage, we’d like your views on
these topics and the ideas contained within each topic area. The topic areas
are as follows:
Topic Area

Policy Areas Covered

Carbon Reduction

 Whole life carbon costs for
buildings
 Reducing carbon emissions from
buildings
 Sustainable construction
 Resilience to Heat
 Renewable energy generation
 Heat networks
 Energy storage

Flood Risk

 Flood risk
 Functional floodplain
 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Green Infrastructure








Place-making

 Strategic Place-making (incl. 20Minute Neighbourhoods)
 Local Place-making

Sustainable Infrastructure







8

Page 140

Strategic Green Infrastructure
Trees
Green space
Biodiversity
Nature Conservation
Local Food Production

High Speed 2
Leeds City Station
Mass Transit
Leeds Bradford Airport
Digital Infrastructure

Question: Do you agree that to meet the objective of the Local Plan Update the
scope should focus on the Climate Emergency, including the topics of carbon
reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure, place-making and sustainable
infrastructure?

5

Consultation

5.1

We are at an early stage of plan making and your ideas and opinions are
crucial in shaping this Plan. In these documents we set out the background to
lots of issues and some possible ideas for how planning policy could be used to
help address the Council’s aspirations for net zero carbon emissions by 2030.
There is still lots more work for us to do and your thoughts and ideas on the
direction of travel set out in this consultation will help steer and guide that work.
This is your Local Plan and your views and ideas are important to us.

5.2

It is important to reflect that there are limits to what planning policy can do.
Planning policy can only steer development that requires planning permission.
We also need to be able to demonstrate that new policies are deliverable. In
other words, if we set standards we need to have evidence that shows that they
can be complied with. Where there are important limits to what planning can
do, we have tried to set that out in the topic papers.

5.3

Whilst the topic papers are designed to apply across all of Leeds, we’re also
keen to know your local challenges and ideas. Are there specific climate
change issues in your neighbourhood? Do you have any particular local
evidence to support your views that you’d like to share with us?

5.4

We’d also welcome your general thoughts on whether the direction of travel we
set out is ambitious enough, or whether you think it is unrealistic. Do you have
any other comments that you would like to make?

6

A Summary of the Topic Areas

6.1

The section below provides the ‘key messages’ from the 5 topic areas,
designed as a helpful summary. For further details please see the 5 topic
papers.

9

Page 141

Topic Paper 1: Carbon Reduction
Vision: To minimise energy demand and meet all heat and power requirements
without increasing carbon emissions, to allow Leeds to meet its climate emergency
goal of zero carbon by 2030.
Background
The current Local Plan has numerous policies that help reduce carbon emissions
across Leeds and we have seen significant reductions in carbon emissions in Leeds
since 2005. However these policies were set before the Climate Emergency
declaration and are not aimed at meeting a net zero carbon aspiration by 2030. As
such, we’d like to explore ideas for how we might go further than the existing suite of
policies
Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Emissions
Whole life cycle carbon emissions or ‘embodied carbon’ refers to the carbon emissions
resulting from the construction and use of a building over its entire life, including the
carbon that is emitted from the operation of a building once it is complete and its end
of life demolition and disposal.
We’re exploring ideas for bringing in new policies that could require developments to
measure their whole life-cycle carbon emissions before being granted planning
permission.
Question: Do you think that planning policy should seek to reduce the embodied
carbon emissions across the whole life cycle of a development?
Question: Do you have any further thoughts on whole life-cycle carbon
reduction, such as how quickly it should be used to require zero carbon
development, or whether all developments should be required to carry out
assessments?
Operational Energy Reduction
We expect our buildings not to waste energy by being built to be as energy efficient
as possible. This also helps to reduce household fuel bills (and support initiatives for
‘affordable warmth’), improve business competitiveness, create jobs in the energy
service sectors and provide resilience in our energy supply. Cost implications are
much lower when energy efficiency measures are included in a new building than
when they are retrofitted and it would be a waste of resources to construct buildings
now that will require retrofitting in the future.
We’re keen to explore policy options that will deliver zero carbon developments, in a
way that is feasible, realistic and viable. This could include requiring all development
to be zero carbon from the outset, or a gradual increase of energy efficiency over
time. We’re also keen to explore ways that renewable and low carbon energy can be
delivered on site as part of new developments.
Question: Do you think we should require new development to achieve a zero
carbon energy performance standard for the operational use of the buildings?
10

Page 142

Question: Should developments still be required to include on-site renewable
energy as well as meeting energy efficiency standards? If so, what proportion
of the energy needs of the development should be met by renewable energy?
Sustainable Construction
Sustainable construction concerns the assessment of how environmentally
responsible and energy efficient a construction project is. A number of standards
exist, with perhaps the most well-known being BREEAM. The standards cover areas
such as energy, health and wellbeing, materials, transport, water, waste, pollution
and ecology.
The benefit of standards such as BREEAM Residential is that they give an overall
assurance of the sustainability of a development (not just energy) and the developer
is required to obtain an independent assessment to verify that the standard has been
achieved.
Question: Do you think that Leeds should set a standard for sustainable
construction of new residential development?
Question: If so, do you think we should use one of the established sustainable
construction rating systems such as BREEAM Residential or create our own
set of standards?
Resilience to Heat
Currently it is estimated that 2,000 people a year die from over-heating in England and
Wales. This figure is expected to increase to 7,000 by 2050 as a result of climate
change. Given the importance of adapting to the impacts of climate change we feel it
is important that the Local Plan considers how new developments could be made more
resilient to the impacts of heat.
These options could include requiring developers to use the ‘cooling hierarchy’ to
avoid buildings being at risk of over-heating. This might involve the use of passive
design to minimise unwanted heat gain and manage heat – for example by using
building orientation and natural shading. It could also incorporate the use of natural
cooling by allowing outside air to ventilate and cool a building without the use of a
powered system, for example through windows that can open and ventilation.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan should contain a policy designed
to increase resilience to the impacts of heat?
Question: How do you think Leeds could ensure that homes are more resilient
to overheating?
Renewable Energy Generation
As part of the Local Plan Update we are considering possible options for renewable
energy generation in Leeds. There is no requirement for Local Authorities to set targets
for renewable energy generation, and with national efforts to decarbonise the
electricity grid, it may be considered that such an approach would be unnecessary. In
such a scenario it may still be beneficial to set policies for how applications for
11

Page 143

renewable energy would be assessed against. Alternatively, by setting targets, we
could also identify suitable areas in the district for different types of renewable energy.
The Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan currently includes a criteria based policy
that we use for assessing wind farm applications but a similar policy may also be
beneficial for other large scale energy generating facilities which have similar issues
to those of wind farms. The wind farm policy could therefore be expanded to cover
solar farms and energy storage.
Question: Do you consider that Leeds should set targets for different types of
local renewable energy generation?
Question: Do you have any views about where facilities for local renewable
energy generation, such as wind and solar farms, should be located?
Heat Network
Leeds City Council and its partners Vital Energi are constructing a heat network, via
underground pipes, around Leeds City Centre which re-uses the heat produced from
the Recycling the Energy Recovery Facility (RERF) to supply a low carbon form of
heat in the urban area to local homes and businesses. When complete, the network
will connect nearly 2,000 homes and businesses to provide low carbon heat and hot
water, equating to a saving of 11,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year.
Given the success of the heat network it may be considered unnecessary to update
existing policies. Alternatively, it might be beneficial to supplement the existing heat
networks policy with a detailed Supplementary Planning Document to match up heat
networks with potential customers.
Question: Would you like to see more connections made to the heat network or
are there other more effective ways to reduce emissions?
Energy Storage
Renewable energy can sometimes result in energy being produced when it is not
needed and therefore can be lost. Energy storage can help reduce this loss by storing
this energy for future use. Whilst storage can take a number of different forms, the
most commonly used for electricity is the chemical battery
Areas suitable for energy storage need to be within good proximity to the grid at
locations where the substation has capacity for the connection. Proximity to a power
generation source is also useful. Industrial areas offer good potential especially if
sites have poor accessibility so as to reduce the impact on the more accessible sites
in the employment land supply.
Given that there are currently no policies within the Local Plan on this topic we
believe that a new local policy would be beneficial. This could include a target to
establish how much energy storage is needed in the district and identify suitable
areas. Or alternatively, it could identify suitable areas for energy storage without
setting a target.

12

Page 144

Question: Do you think that a new policy is required to guide the location of
energy storage proposals, including electricity and hydrogen?
Question: Do you think that a target should be set for the amount of energy
storage in Leeds?

13

Page 145

Topic 2: Flood Risk
Background
The Council has rigorous processes in place to ensure that development avoids
flood risk where ever possible and that development is only approved when there is
adequate mitigation in place. In cities which have developed historically on the
floodplain, it is important to consider other factors alongside flood risk, specifically
the need to focus investment in sustainable locations, close to services. The Council
has a strategy for managing flood risk in the form of the Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment (SFRA). This defines the levels of flood risk throughout the whole
district and gives detailed advice on how to manage it. The SFRA is currently being
updated and we think now is the right time to consider updating our existing suite of
flood risk policies, particularly as we know that the frequency of flooding events in
Leeds is increasing.
Avoiding Development in Flood Risk Areas
We have a robust set of policies related to avoiding development in flood risk areas
in Leeds. The Local Plan Update provides an opportunity to bring all the flood risk
policies together and review their effectiveness in the light of climate change, and an
updated SFRA (due summer 2021).
As part of the Local Plan Update we want to consider whether policies could be
improved to reduce the risk of flooding, and increase our resilience to flooding
events.
There is an important balance to be struck between flood risk and other sustainability
benefits, such as the need for regeneration, the efficient use of brownfield land and
access to services. If policy tests are made tighter to further reduce the number of
permissions for ‘more vulnerable’ development in flood risk areas this could result in
people living further away from services and facilities that they need. This would then
result in longer journeys and add to emission of greenhouse gases and other
pollutant gases.
Question: Do you agree that our policy approach to development in flood risk
areas should be within the scope of the Local Plan Update?
Question: Have we got the balance right between locating homes close to the
services and facilities that people need whilst avoiding high flood risk areas?
Functional Floodplain
The functional floodplain is the land where water has to flow or be stored in times of
flood with a 1 in 20 annual probability of flooding. Most of the functional floodplain is
open land and undeveloped. . Leeds is fortunate that much of the River Aire, as it
flows through the urban area, will have the benefit of the Leeds Flood Alleviation
Scheme and therefore significant parts of the urban area that would have otherwise
flooded with a 1 in 20 year probability, will be protected.
For those urban areas that have a 1 in 20 probability of flood risk but don’t have the
benefit of a flood alleviation scheme the redevelopment potential will continue to be
14

Page 146

limited due to the high flood risk probability. The SFRA will explore the extent of
these areas and the impact of climate change. The Local Plan Update may consider
the policy options for limiting development in those locations.
Question: Do you think that the Local Plan Update should consider limitations
on urban expansion in unprotected areas with a very high probability (1 in 20)
of flooding?
Surface Water Flooding and Sustainable Draining
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are designed to control surface water run off
close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as possible. One of their
uses is to reduce the causes and impacts of surface water flooding (sometimes
referred to as flash flooding). The current Local Plan already encourages the use of
SuDS but given the many benefits of using SuDS against traditional systems, we
believe the Local Plan Update should consider how the existing policy could be
strengthened to make the use of SuDS a firmer requirement for new development,
particularly given the benefits in addressing climate change resilience, biodiversity,
and health and wellbeing objectives.
One potential option we are considering is the mapping of infiltration rates to identify
the areas that are most suitable for SuDS and this would support delivery of SuDS in
those locations. Another way to help manage surface water flooding is to identify the
‘source’ locations where heavy rainfall can lead to flooding at a downstream
‘receptor’ location. Additional measures to reduce the speed of surface water run off
at the source location, such as tree planting, can avoid the need for mitigation
downstream.
Question: Do you agree with our suggested approach to increasing the use of
sustainable drainage systems in new development?
Question: Do you think identifying and implementing additional measures at
source locations would be an appropriate approach to managing surface water
run off?
Resilience
Flooding has a negative impact on the lives of everyone affected by it. Given the
forecasted increases in rainfall we want to consider what we can do to make sure
that new development is resilient. There has been a rise in purpose built
accommodation for people who are especially vulnerable, such as elderly and
disabled. These people may be less able to cope with the impacts of flooding and
the effects can be devastating for them.
We currently do this by requiring a flood risk assessment FRA to be submitted to
accompany planning applications which sets out mitigation measures to make sure
the development will be safe for its lifetime and without making flood risk worse
elsewhere for all affected people. We wish to explore whether the Local plan could
provide a clearer steer on how developments can be made resilient for all users.
Question: Should the Local Plan set new standards for flood resilient housing?
15

Page 147

Question: Should the Local Plan consider where accommodation for more
vulnerable people is located?
Permitted Development Rights and Porous Paving
The paving over of front gardens can result in increased flood risk caused by surface
water runoff which is unable to drain naturally if impermeable materials are used.
Additionally, the loss of vegetation can contribute to increased air pollution in urban
areas and can affect the character and appearance of traditional streetscapes.
Permitted development rights are set by the Government and set out types of
development that do not require planning consent. Permitted development rights
allow for the provision of a new or replacement hard surface (such as a driveway)
within the curtilage of the grounds of different buildings, such as houses, offices and
industrial buildings.
We’re keen to explore what approaches we could take to ensure that where
landscaping and gardens provide a valuable function in helping manage flood risk,
they are not subsequently lost through permitted development rights.
Question: Should the Local Plan Update consider what approaches could be
taken to limit permitted development rights for new developments to ensure
open areas that are needed for flood risk management are retained?
Question: Whilst not subject of a grant of planning permission should the
Council consider how to control paving over front gardens and loss of soft
and natural landscaping in existing development, for example through
enhanced guidance for householders?

16

Page 148

Topic 3: Green Infrastructure
Background
Protecting, enhancing and increasing green infrastructure (GI) plays an important
role in delivering the Council’s strategies to improve the health and wellbeing of its
citizens and to address the climate change emergency as well as creating high
quality, attractive places for people to live, work and relax in. Through this Local Plan
Update we are aiming to adopt and improve policies that will help development adapt
and mitigate against the impacts of climate change by creating a better more
sustainable environment.
Strategic Green Infrastructure
The current Local Plan already contains a broad suite of policies aimed at protected
and enhancing Green Infrastructure. However, they are located across a range of
different documents and policies. We would like to explore how we might bring this
together to form a single strategic policy that would set a clear definition of GI, set
out a clear network of uses and provide increased emphasis on improving existing
GI and delivering high quality GI through new developments. We are particularly
keen to embrace concepts such as ecosystems services and natural capital and
apply them to Leeds.
Question: Do you agree that enhanced policy for the protection, improvement
and enhancement of GI should be included in the Local Plan Update?
Question: If so, do you have any thoughts or ideas about what you’d like to
see included in such a policy?
Question: Do you think the Green Space protection Policy (G6) should be
extended to all Green Infrastructure?
Trees
Through the White Rose Forest Project the Council is committing to doubling its tree
cover by 2050. Trees have multiple benefits for the environment and our mental
health. In particular, with regards to the climate emergency, they store carbon
dioxide and extract it from the air we breathe.
Whilst the planning system can only provide limited protection for existing trees, we
are keen to explore options for how that protection could be enhanced. Equally,
planning policies could be used to increase tree planting. Current policies require the
replacement of lost trees through development on a 3 new trees for every 1 lost
ratio. However, with mature trees, this often doesn’t reflect the amount of carbon
storage lost. In order to better recognise the role trees have in storing carbon,
options for future policy could include increasing this tree replacement ratio to reflect
the level of carbon stored within trees to be lost.
Question: How could planning policy be used to increase tree coverage across
Leeds?
Green Space
17

Page 149

Policy for the delivery of new green space outside of Leeds City Centre was recently
updated in 2019 and it is not considered necessary to revise this. However, we’re
concerned that our existing policies are not providing enough usable greenspace
within the City Centre. The City Centre is one of the most sustainable locations for
growth across all of Leeds and we want to ensure that current and future residents
have good access to green space, particularly in light of the effect Covid-19
restrictions placed on residents within the area.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider new
policies to enhance green space provision within the City Centre?
Question: If yes, how should policies best achieve this?
Nature Conservation
There is widespread recognition of the importance to protect and enhance the
natural environment, to ensure biodiversity is fully considered in decisions affecting
the use and development of land and to seek opportunities to improve the network of
habitats and green infrastructure to increase biodiversity. Sites are identified and
formally designated to give protection to habitats, flora and fauna which are
important locally, regionally, nationally and internationally.
In Leeds there are a number of such sites which are protected against development
and activities that would harm the sites under national and international legislation,
as well as local policy. In recognition of the importance of land that does not meet
the criteria for formal designation, the Council has identified a broader network of
habitats within the Local Plan.
It is considered that existing Local Plan policy on designating local wildlife sites and
nature conservation designations is effective at protecting species and habitats and if
revised would only require minor changes. This changes could consider updating
outdated terms, references and documents; emphasising monitoring and updating
policy; and considering whether existing maps could be updated more easily.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider enhanced
policy for nature conservation designated sites and species. If so, what would
you like to see a revised policy contain?
Biodiversity
Worldwide we are seeing dramatic losses in the amount and variety of natural life on
Earth. Leeds’ current Local Plan already reflects this loss by requiring new
developments to deliver a net gain for biodiversity. However, we are keen to explore
whether this policy should go further by setting higher standards for the amount of
net gain that should be delivered on new development sites.
Question: Do you agree that the Council should revise its policies on
biodiversity net gain? If so, what would you like updated policies to contain?
Local Food Production

18

Page 150

Local food production is an important part of Green Infrastructure because it helps
deliver many of the benefits of GI (e.g. for biodiversity and well-being). It is also an
important part of cutting carbon in its own right because the travel and processing
associated with food generates lots of carbon emissions.
Whilst there is already considerable enthusiasm and commitment to grow food
locally the planning system can help remove barriers, such has lack of access to
suitable land and through its wider Green Infrastructure policies.
It is proposed that at this initial stage the Plan needs to set a positive framework for
local food growing and provide more detail on how this can be achieved within a
revised approach to protecting, managing and providing new Green Infrastructure
and local place-making policy approaches being advocated elsewhere in this Local
Plan Update.
Question: Do you agree that the Council should include policies to positively
promote local food production?
Question: Do you think all new housing should deliver such opportunities or
do you think they should be more strategically focussed?
Question: What else do you think the planning system can do to encourage
local food growing?

19

Page 151

Topic 4: Place-making
Background
We want to minimise carbon emissions by guiding new development to locations that
offer the best opportunity for active travel, for use of public transport and for minimal
use of private motor vehicles. To do this we need to capitalize upon a local
community’s assets, inspiration and potential and create high quality, sustainable
and resilient places that people want to live, work and play in and promote people’s
health, happiness and well-being.
Strategic Place-making
All development plans produced in Leeds, as part of the Local Plan to-date, have
sought to provide a framework for sustainable and healthy communities, having
regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the environment. This is
achieved through a strategic and spatial approach and a suite of policies relating to
the overall scale and distribution of development, location, layout and fabric of
places.
The impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on people’s access to services and facilities,
coupled with the threat of climate change have placed greater emphasis on a
concept known as the ‘20-Minute Neighbourhood’. The purpose of the concept is
to ensure that residents have quick access to essential facilities and services via
walking, cycling or public transport. This, in turn helps support strong communities
and local economies, recognising that easy and safe walking and cycle access to
services/facilities is good for health, and that physical activity and less reliance on
the private car reduces air pollution and carbon emissions. This approach to local
growth and place making around service centres and hubs is gathering support
across the world and is an easily understood way of planning for the way places
change.
For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered that
spatial growth, in line with the emerging Leeds Transport Strategy, should continue
to follow a pattern of concentration particularly around the City and town centres and
with less development in relatively unsustainable locations, and promote walkable
neighbourhoods. In this context, we think now is the right time to consider whether
existing policy needs updating to reflect how best to apply the 20-minute
neighbourhood concept to Leeds’ Local Plan.

Question: Does Leeds need a local policy definition of sustainability?
Question: What does a ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ mean to you? Do you agree
that Leeds should aim to create 20 minute neighbourhoods?
Question: How might planning policy support living in a City where you do not
need to own a car?

20

Page 152

Question: Should Leeds introduce a presumption against car dependent
development - aiming to encourage independent mobility, by bike, wheelchair,
public transport or on foot for all users?
High Quality, Resilient and Healthy Places
There is also much research on the relationship between planning and good design
and health benefits (Healthy by Design, NHS England, 2018) that share the benefits
of addressing climate change (mitigation and adaption) through improvements to the
layout and form of buildings and spaces and better use of resources that has clear
health benefits.
Leeds’ current Local Plan has sought to provide a framework for sustainable and
healthy communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. All development proposals are subject to a suite of specific and more
detailed place making policies on the layout and fabric of places (covering design,
housing, employment, natural environment, green space/public open spaces,
transport) to achieve a layout, design and fabric efficiency which both mitigates
climate change and addresses impacts, such as flooding.
However, existing design policy P10 of the Core Strategy lacks explicit reference to
climate change, health and well-being. It also lacks clear signposting to other
technical policies which are directly related to good design. There may also be the
opportunity to introduce Sustainable Development Checklists to ensure that health
and wellbeing and climate emergency measures are fully addressed in all
development proposals.
Question: How would you priorities these users of residential streets, in order
of importance? Busses, Cars, Cyclists, Pedestrians (including wheelchair
users).
Question: Do you agree that more emphasis should be placed on climate
change and health and wellbeing matters in future design policies and
guidance? If so, how would you like to see this happen?

21

Page 153

Topic 5: Sustainable Infrastructure
This topic covers a range of different types of infrastructure which all have a role to
play in supporting sustainable development and responding to the climate emergency.
This includes transport infrastructure, considering the proposed High Speed 2 and
West Yorkshire Mass Transit schemes, as well as the growth of Leeds City Station
and managing development at Leeds Bradford Airport. It also considers digital
infrastructure, and access to reliable and high speed data networks.
High Speed 2 and Leeds Station
It is important to stress that the principle and detailed routes of HS2 will not be
decided by planning policy. However, where possible, we want to use the planning
system to ensure that the potential social, environmental and economic benefits of
HS2 for Leeds, and the areas and communities around the line, are capitalised on,
and that any potential adverse impacts are avoided wherever possible, and
minimised or mitigated where not.
As such we are considering the creation of new policy to help us consider proposals
for the development of Leeds Station and HS2. In the future, we could also look to
prepare further guidance that supports the integration of HS2 into the urban fabric of
Leeds. This could provide more detailed information about the opportunities,
aspirations and expectations for development in particular areas / specific plots
under and around the line, and how they relate to the regeneration and development
plans for the wider area.
A new policy could provide support for the growth of the station (already the busiest
in the north of England) in accordance with design principles; identify the types of
uses that would be appropriate alongside (or under) different parts of the new HS2
line; emphasise the importance of new public spaces and connections with the city’s
existing green space network; maximise the potential contribution to addressing
climate change; emphasising the importance of supporting and enhancing
pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes and permeability; encourage temporary
greening measures or cultural, community and commercial uses of land during
periods when land is not required for construction.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include a new
policy on Leeds Station and HS2?
Question: If so, what are you views on the suggestion that this policy could
focus on Leeds Station, development opportunities, integration with the Green
Space network, climate change, pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes and
temporary uses?
Mass Transit
As reflected in Leeds’ draft Transport Strategy, it is acknowledged that for the scale
of growth forecast in Leeds over the next 10-15 years there is insufficient urban
transport capacity to enable urban communities in the Leeds City Region to access
employment opportunities. Alongside facilitating additional capacity, there is a need

22

Page 154

to respond to the Climate Emergency declaration and reduce transport related
emissions across the city.
Whilst Mass Transit is not a planning initiative it is considered important that up to
date local policy is in place to ensure that Mass Transit can be delivered effectively,
and that other associated benefits, such as integration with the green space network,
future developments, and pedestrian and cycle routes are factored in.
The Local Plan Update could contain a policy that sets out strategic support for the
scheme, and that also seeks to ensure that important aspects such as biodiversity,
greenspace, active travel and Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are integrated
into the scheme. There is also the potential for the Local Plan Update to protect the
detailed route of Mass Transit from other uses, which if built on or next to the line
could impede its delivery.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include policy on
Mass Transit? If so, what elements of the scheme would you like to see new
planning policy focus on?
Leeds Bradford Airport
As a regional airport, LBA provides a significant role to the Leeds City Region and
the City as it forms part of the strategic infrastructure and a major economic driver for
the Leeds City Region. The Council’s current policy encourages a well-connected
and accessible airport by sustainable forms of transport and surface access
improvements to support the growth of the airport are one of the City’s existing
spatial priorities.
Air travel is a major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions, both through flights and
travel to and from the airport.
The Leeds Local Plan already contains a policy (SP12 of the Core Strategy) on the
airport which is supportive of growth to enable the airport to fulfil its local and regional
role, provided that a series of criteria would be met. These criteria address a need for
major public transport infrastructure, surface access improvements and a strategy to
guide this, environmental assessment and mitigation and management of local issues.
At this early stage of the Local Plan Update we are seeking views from stakeholders
on whether policies relating to the airport should be within the scope of the Local Plan
Update and what issues an updated policy might address.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should contain new or
updated policies for Leeds Bradford Airport? If so, do you have any views on
what new or updated policies should contain?
Question: National policy refers to the importance of achieving sustainable
development in environmental, economic and social terms. Should changes be
made to airport policies within the Local Plan Update to improve the balance
between these three aspects of sustainability?
Digital Connectivity

23

Page 155

The Council has an ambition to deliver wider digital connectivity benefits for the city as
a whole with an ambition to have the best connectivity in the UK for all across the
district, to be able to access gigabit capable services. Access to reliable, high-speed
connectivity will allow people to work from home more easily and will give homes fast
and reliable connections. The Covid-19 Pandemic has in particular highlighted the
essential need for digital infrastructure, with increasing reliance on remote working,
remote communication to include home schooling, online shopping and other services.
Digital Connectivity in terms of gigabit connection is now seen as essential
infrastructure to facilitate the services and facilities which are now an integral part of
our lives.
It is considered that there are benefits to introducing new policy for digital connectivity
to focus on providing digital connectivity for new sites and new developments only.
A new policy could provide a policy hook to ensure that developers are incentivised to
provide gigabit capable new housing. The benefits of this would be that; (i) we are
providing housing which is meeting the needs of our modern lives, (ii) new housing is
designed and built with good gigabit connectivity from the outset, (iii) new housing is
not retrofitted later with digital connectivity provision, (iv) to future proof new housing,
(v) to ensure that digital infrastructure is sympathetically designed as part of site
development as essential infrastructure, (iv) to reduce digital poverty, this would
ensure that digital connectivity is provided for all.
Question: Do you agree that digital connectivity is essential infrastructure for
new housing in Leeds?
Question: Do you agree that a policy should be introduced on digital
connectivity?
Question: Should the policy focus on residential development only or
commercial development too?
Question: Should a digital connectivity strategy be a requirement for all
planning applications?

24

Page 156

7

What will the Local Plan Update look like?

7.1

If adopted the Local Plan Update will replace policies within the existing Leeds
Core Strategy, Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan and saved policies of
the Unitary Development Plan by either deleting or superseding them. Upon
adoption it will therefore be necessary to update the existing Local Plan
documents and the Local Plan Update will be a document which makes
amendments to other Local Plan Documents.

7.2

The Local Plan Update will be prepared in accordance with national guidance
as set out in the NPPF and at its next step, once the precise scope and
direction of policies has been informed by this consultation, will include:
 A preferred approach which sets out detailed policies informed by this
consultation
 A Sustainability Appraisal Report, which will assess the social,
environmental and economic effects of the DPD to ensure that any
decisions made support the principles of sustainable development. The
Sustainability Appraisal will build upon the assessment already completed
for the wider Local Plan and assess reasonable alternatives to the
Council’s preferred approach
 A Habitats Regulation Assessment, which will assess the impact of the
DPD on the integrity of sites of European nature conservation importance
 An evidence base to show that the policies are justified and will be
effective. At present the ideas and options presented as part of this
consultation have not been tested for their viability. Once we’ve captured
views through this consultation we’ll then be able to refine these into more
detailed policies, test their viability and consult on them.
 A monitoring framework to set out how we will ensure that the policies are
achieving their stated aims

7.3

A series of topic papers supplement this introductory paper which explore the
issues in more detail and pose consultation questions.

25

Page 157

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2:
TOPIC PAPERS

Page 159

Page 160

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION TOPIC PAPER
CARBON REDUCTION
BACKGROUND TO THE TOPIC
‘Right now, we are facing a man‐made disaster of
global scale. Our greatest threat in thousands of
years. Climate change.’ David Attenborough 2018
OBJECTIVE: Minimise energy demand and meet all demands for heat and
power without increasing carbon emissions to allow Leeds to meet its climate
emergency commitment of zero carbon by 2030.
Leeds City Council is committed to taking significant action to mitigate and adapt to
the impacts of Climate Change. There is a legal duty under section 19(1A) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to ensure that climate change mitigation
and adaptation is a core objective of a local authorities’ planning policy.
Climate change is also a key concern of Leeds residents. As part of The Big Leeds
Climate Conversation, a survey of Leeds’ residents found that 94.8% are worried
about the effects of climate change on future generations and 96.7% think that public
sector organisations have a responsibility to reduce their own carbon footprint and
make it easier for individuals to make more environmentally-friendly choices1.
Section 182 of the Planning Act 2008 puts a legal duty on local authorities to include
policies on climate change mitigation and adaptation in Development Plan Documents.
Additionally para 148 of the NPPF requires the planning system to help to:
‘Shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve
resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the
conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon
energy and associated infrastructure.’
It is therefore essential for this legal and policy requirement to be addressed in the
Local Plan.
The Local Plan currently has several policies that help reduce and mitigate against the
impacts of climate change. However, these policies were written and adopted prior to
the Council declaring its Climate Emergency. Therefore it is essential to update and

1

http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s198402/Climate%20Emergency%20Report%20Annex%202%201
91219.pdf

Page 161

add new policies, using up to date evidence, to help Leeds meet its zero carbon goal
by 2030.
Existing policies have made positive impacts on carbon reduction but they may not go
far enough. The table below shows the trend of CO2 reductions across the whole of
Leeds since 2005, the year when Local Authority data was first published by the
Government. Figures are recalculated annually and are published 2 years in arrears.
The latest data published in 2020 is therefore from 2005 – 2018.
Carbon Dioxide emissions reduction in Leeds District by major emitter

Year

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Absolute
CO2
Per
Absolute
CO2
Industry Domestic
emissions
capita %
%
reduction
%
%
(m
reduction reduction
(m
reduction reduction
tonnes)
tonnes)
4.951
4.933
4.778
4.709
4.253
4.431
4.015
4.248
4.112
3.630
3.401
3.242
3.085
3.088

0.0
0.5
4.0
5.7
15.1
12.0
20.6
16.8
19.8
29.6
34.7
38.4
41.7
41.9

0.0
0.4
3.5
4.9
14.1
10.5
18.9
14.2
17.0
26.7
31.3
34.5
37.7
37.6

0.0
0.019
0.174
0.242
0.699
0.521
0.937
0.703
0.840
1.321
1.550
1.710
1.867
1.863

0.0
-1.3
3.2
4.2
16.7
12.3
21.7
14.6
17.8
30.3
39.6
44.8
48.7
48.2

0.0
1.3
5.3
5.6
14.4
8.4
19.5
13.5
16.5
29.5
31.5
35.2
38.6
39.0

Road
Transport
%
reduction
0.0
1.9
1.2
4.9
8.9
10.8
12.8
14.6
16.1
15.2
15.5
14.2
15.6
15.5

We would like to hear your views on suggestions for planning policy intervention as
detailed in the following section.

Page 162

POLICY TOPIC AREAS
WHOLE LIFE-CYCLE CARBON EMISSIONS
Background
Whole life cycle carbon emissions or ‘embodied carbon’ refers to the carbon emissions
resulting from the construction and use of a building over its entire life, including the
carbon that is emitted from the operation of a building once it is complete and its end
of life demolition and disposal.
The net zero carbon construction of a building can be achieved through the use of low
carbon products and materials (and their transportation) and the use of carbon offsets
or net export of on-site renewable energy to off-set carbon. As the product supply
chain includes less and less carbon over time and in response to demand, so less
carbon off-setting will be needed.
The net zero carbon operation of a building can be achieved through reducing energy
demand through a high level of energy efficiency and by powering the development
from on-site and/or off-site renewable energy sources, with any remaining carbon
balance offset.
Whole life net zero carbon includes the following elements:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Construction products and processes
Operation of the building
Maintenance, repair, refurbishment and water use
Demolition, waste, disposal
Carbon savings from material re-use.

The UK Green Business Council (UKGBC) has produced the following summary
diagram which identifies the ten key requirements for net zero operational carbon
buildings:
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/UKGBC-Net-Zero-OperationalCarbon-One-Pager.pdf
Current Policy Position
Our current planning policy approach is focussed on reducing operational energy use
but we don’t at present ask for any reduction of the embodied carbon which is emitted
through construction materials and the processes used to create them and transport
them and the maintenance of buildings, repair and replacement as well as dismantling,
demolition and eventual material disposal.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
We want to influence the following elements of whole life cycle net zero carbon:
1. Reduce construction impacts – through a whole life carbon assessment

Page 163

2. Reduce operational energy use – through improvements in the energy
efficiency of buildings
3. Increase renewable energy supply – through the identification of suitable areas
for renewable energy generation in the district
4. Off-set any remaining carbon – through a carbon off-setting methodology
In order to fully capture a development’s carbon impact across the whole of its life,
planning applicants would need to calculate the whole life emissions and demonstrate
how they can be minimized. This approach would lead to a significant reduction in
carbon emissions and support the circular economy (where materials are retained in
use at their highest value for as long as possible and are then re-used or recycled,
leaving a minimum of residual waste).
Proposed Policy Options
We’d like to explore options for how we can integrate policies related to whole lifecycle carbon emissions, with some of the initial options raised below.
Option 1: Require a whole life-cycle carbon assessment to be submitted in support of
all major planning applications to demonstrate how carbon emissions during
construction and operation of the development could be reduced to achieve zero
carbon across the whole carbon life cycle of the development
Option 2: Require assessments to be submitted until 2026 but after that date require
development to meet a set of benchmarks to achieve zero carbon across the whole
carbon life cycle of the development. This would stagger the requirement for
development to meet whole life cycle zero carbon so as to give the industry time to
prepare for the change.
For both options consideration needs to be given to what the application size threshold
should be to trigger a whole life cycle carbon assessment so it avoids placing an undue
burden on smaller developers.
The UK Green Building Council has provided guidance2 for those who are looking to
measure the whole life cycle emissions of a development. The Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) have also published a professional statement on
conducting whole life carbon assessment for the built environment3. London’s draft
local plan includes a policy (Policy SI 2) that sets out a requirement for developments
to calculate and reduce WLC emissions and they are currently consulting on their
Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments guidance4 note for the implementation of this
policy.
Are you a developer or builder that has tried this approach? Was it straightforward?
Do you think that including this as a requirement will encourage carbon use to be

2

https://www.ukgbc.org/sites/default/files/UK‐GBC%20EC%20Developing%20Client%20Brief.pdf
https://www.rics.org/globalassets/rics‐website/media/news/whole‐life‐carbon‐assessment‐for‐the‐‐built‐
environment‐november‐2017.pdf
4
https://www.london.gov.uk/what‐we‐do/planning/implementing‐london‐plan/london‐plan‐guidance‐and‐
spgs/whole‐life‐cycle‐carbon‐assessments‐guidance‐consultation‐draft#Stub‐301723
3

Page 164

considered at the earliest stages of design and layout so as to deliver carbon benefits
in a viable manner?
Consultation Questions
1. Do you think that planning policy should seek to reduce the embodied
carbon emissions across the whole life cycle of a development?
2. Do you have any further thoughts on whole life-cycle carbon reduction,
such as how quickly it should be used to require zero carbon development, or
whether all developments should be required to carry out assessments?

Page 165

OPERATIONAL ENERGY CARBON REDUCTION
Background
The Committee on Climate Change recommendations state net zero is only credible
if policy to reduce emissions ramps up significantly. The UKGBC have identified that
to achieve the Government commitment of zero carbon by 2050, the UK must halve
its emissions by 2030. This means that all new development needs to be built to be
net zero carbon long before that date.
We expect buildings not to waste energy by being built to be as energy efficient as
possible. This also helps to reduce household fuel bills (and support initiatives for
‘affordable warmth’), improve business competitiveness, create jobs in the energy
service sectors and provide resilience in our energy supply. Cost implications are
much lower when energy efficiency measures are included in a new building than
when they are retrofitted and it would be a waste of resources to construct buildings
now that will require retrofitting in the future. Planning is limited in the role it can play
in helping to retrofit existing properties to become more energy efficient. Whilst
planning can promote the reuse of land and existing Council owned properties can be
retrofitted through Council initiatives and funding, requiring the retrofitting of private
properties is generally beyond the scope of planning policies.
Section 1 of the Planning and Energy Act 2008 gives local planning authorities the
power to set energy efficiency performance standards that exceed those required in
Building Regulations. Whilst this power will be amended by Section 43 of the
Deregulation Act 2015, the Government has confirmed that it has no current plans to
commence Section 43 of the Act. The March 2019 update to National Planning Policy
Guidance states:
In their development plan policies, local planning authorities:
•Can set energy performance standards for new housing or the
adaptation of buildings to provide dwellings, that are higher than the
building regulations, but only up to the equivalent of Level 4 of the
Code for Sustainable Homes.
•Are not restricted or limited in setting energy performance standards
above the building regulations for non-housing developments.’
However, with the Government signalling that radical changes are to be made to the
Planning system, through the White Paper and subsequent revisions to the NPPF and
NPPG, it is considered appropriate to consider the Council’s response to the carbon
efficiency of buildings now. There is no similar restriction in national policy on seeking
energy needs of the development to be met by renewable or low carbon energy, such
as solar panels or air source heat pumps
Current Policy Position
The Council currently has a planning policy that goes further than national building
regulations. Core Strategy Policy EN1 requires major development to be 20% more
energy efficient than the Building Regulations standard and requires 10% of the

Page 166

energy needs of the development to come from renewable or low carbon energy
sources. The objective is also met by Core Strategy Policy EN2 which requires major
commercial development to be built to the BREEAM Excellent standard (which
includes mandatory energy standards).
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
The current policy EN1 has helped contribute to significant increases in the energy
efficiency of new developments. However, the requirements of that policy will not
deliver the Council’s climate emergency commitment to make the city carbon neutral
by 2030. As such it is appropriate to look at options for achieving zero carbon in new
development (including improvements in energy efficiency) as well as increasing the
proportion of energy needs that are met by renewable or low carbon energy.
Policy EN1 has the potential to achieve even greater energy savings and this would
help residents who are in fuel poverty by reducing the amount of energy they have to
use to heat their homes and increase energy security by reducing reliance on fossil
fuels that are imported from outside the UK.
Within Leeds there are some great examples of innovative approaches to carbon
reduction. Greenhouse is a development of 166 flats, work spaces, on site gym, café
and other amenities which won the RIBA White Rose Award for Sustainability in 2010.
The scheme has high levels of insulation, a ground source heat pump, solar panels,
roof mounted wind turbines, water recycling systems and sustainable construction
materials. Further information on this development can be found within the Council’s
Building for Tomorrow Today Supplementary Planning Document.

Greenhouse, South Leeds

Page 167

LILAC is a housing community of 20 eco-build households constructed from
prefabricated cells of timber and straw all of which are super insulated. Solar water
heaters and mechanical ventilation heat recovery units ensure a stable indoor air
temperature. Through communal management and a strong community ethic, a LILAC
household is projected to have a carbon footprint which is 65% less than a normal
household. More can be found within their environmental and social impacts report
published in 20205.

Lilac, Bramley, West Leeds

Proposed Policy Options
We’re keen to explore policy options that will deliver zero carbon developments, in a
way that is feasible, realistic and viable. Options for the replacement of Policy EN1
could include the following:
Option 3. Require all development to be built so that carbon emissions associated
with the building’s operational energy are zero or negative
OR
Option 4. Gradually increase improvements in energy efficiency beyond the current
20% improvement combined with renewable energy use to achieve zero carbon
emissions in new development by 2030. This option would need consideration of what
the appropriate increases should be.
5

Lilac‐Impact‐Final‐Draft‐Compressed‐200dpi.pdf

Page 168

OR
Option 5. Require the energy needs of the development to come exclusively from
renewable or low carbon energy sources, either on-site (such as air and ground source
heat pumps) or off-site (such as from a solar or wind farm).
Option 5 without energy efficiency measures does not help to meet the objective to
reduce energy demand but it avoids potential policy conflicts regarding the cap on
energy performance standards in the NPPG associated with Option 4. It may also help
to drive the provision of renewable energy in the district and therefore reduce reliance
on fossil fuels. It may provide a cheaper way for developers to achieve zero carbon in
operational energy but it restricts the freedom of the occupier to choose their energy
provider. The Council proposes to identify suitable areas in the district for renewable
and low carbon energy generation, and supporting infrastructure (see Option 9 below).
Option 3 gives the developer the flexibility to choose the most appropriate solution for
them to achieve zero carbon on operational energy which may be through a
combination of energy efficiency measures and renewable energy generation.
AND
Option 6. Use carbon off-setting to address any residual carbon reductions needed to
achieve zero carbon through a financial contribution to be spent on energy efficiency
improvements, renewable energy generation projects, tree planting or carbon capture.
Developers would still need to do everything they can to achieve zero carbon in the
first instance but this option might be helpful to off-set any remaining carbon.
These options are not an exhaustive list and some of them could be used together.
Consultation Questions
3. Do you think we should require new development to achieve a zero carbon
energy performance standard for the operational use of the buildings?
4. Should developments still be required to include on-site renewable energy as
well as meeting energy efficiency standards? If so, what proportion of the
energy needs of the development should be met by renewable energy?

Page 169

SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION
Background
Sustainable construction concerns the assessment of how environmentally
responsible and energy efficient a construction project is. A number of standards
exist, with perhaps the most well-known being BREEAM (Building Research
Establishment Environmental Assessment Method).
BREEAM sets standards for the following factors:










Energy: building operational energy and CO2 emissions
Management: management policy, commissioning, site management and
procurement
Health and Wellbeing: indoor and external issues (noise, light, air, quality,
etc.)
Materials: environmental impacts of building materials
Transport: transport-related CO2 and location-related factors
Water: building consumption and efficiency
Waste: construction and operational waste management
Pollution: water and air pollution
Land Use & Ecology: site and building footprint and ecological value and
conservation.

All of these factors influence the overall performance of a development and in many
cases they reflect the standards that are in other adopted policies, so meeting
BREEAM helps the developer address a number of planning policy priorities. Good
design standards and adequate ventilation is necessary in combating the effects of an
increase in temperature without reliance on high energy alternatives such as air
conditioning units and personal fans.
The benefit of standards such as BREEAM Residential is that they give an overall
assurance of the sustainability of a development (not just energy) and the developer
is required to obtain an independent assessment to verify that the standard has been
achieved.
Current Policy Position
Leeds wants all development to be built to a high standard across a whole range of
sustainability measures. To achieve this we adopted Policy EN2 in our Core Strategy
to require specific construction standard ratings to be achieved and adopted the
Building for Tomorrow Today— Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) to help developers design and construct sustainable
developments within Leeds. For major residential development it was required to be
built to Level 6 of the Code for Sustainable Homes and major commercial development
to be built to BREEAM excellent standard.
However, in 2015 the Government abolished the Code for Sustainable Homes and
consequently the Council amended Policy EN2 accordingly through the Core Strategy
Review. The revised policy still asks for BREEAM Excellent for non-residential

Page 170

development but for residential development it only asks for a water consumption
standard (in line with the Government’s Technical Standards).
This has led to development such as The Greenhouse where low water consumption
measures, photovoltaic panels and a communal heat and power system are visible
reminders of the more modern and sustainable approach to construction and design.

Greenhouse, South Leeds

Rational for an Enhanced Policy Framework
As set out above, our current policies for sustainable construction have been limited
by changes to national guidance and are not as ambitious as was originally intended.
Whilst we have not been able to set policy to encourage all development to achieve
these standards where we are able (e.g. through our own development) we have
sought to go further.
The Council uses The Leeds Standard for its own council house building programme.
This standard prioritises high quality design, space standards and energy efficiency
standards in new build council homes. Regarding energy efficiency, the standard
encourages a fabric first approach and energy efficient hot water and heating systems.
Based on assessment, Leeds Standard dwellings shall produce an average 0.9 tonnes
of carbon dioxide every year (the average household causes circa 6 tonnes per year).

Page 171

Energy efficiency is a key component of most sustainable construction standards but
the options proposed now for development to achieve zero carbon across the whole
life cycle of a development need to improve even more. One way of helping to achieve
this is through measuring of the improvement through accreditation by a sustainable
construction rating method – which provides a standard against all of the different
sustainable construction factors. Consideration should be given as to whether we
want to introduce another method to measure sustainability for residential
development to replace the Code for Sustainable Homes, such as the BREEAM
Residential (known as the Home Quality Mark).
In practice the Council already sets high standards for development of its own council
housing developments. We are suggesting in this consultation that all development
meet these higher standards.
Proposed Policy Options
We’re looking to explore policy options for how higher environmental standards of
construction could be integrated into planning policy. These options could include:
Option 7: Require residential development to achieve a specific sustainable
construction rating / standard eg BREEAM Residential (Home Quality Mark).
Option 8: Create our own set of standards across a range of sustainable construction
measures equivalent to Code for Sustainable Homes Level 6.
Consultation Questions
6. Do you think that Leeds should set a standard for sustainable construction
of new residential development?
7. If so, do you think we should use one of the established sustainable
construction rating systems such as BREEAM Residential or create our own set
of standards?

Page 172

RESILIENCE TO HEAT
Background
By 2070 the average summer day could be between 1.4 and 5.1 degrees warmer
leading to significant impact on people’s health and wellbeing due to overheating. Heat
stress occurs at temperatures of over 35 degrees centigrade with an impact on
productivity and effects on sleep that can lead to illness and it can even lead to death,
particularly in people over 65. Currently it is estimated that there are 2,000 heat-related
deaths in England and Wales, every year. This figure is expected to increase to 7,000
by 2050 as a result of climate change6.
The NPPF tells us to ‘avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from
climate change. When new development is brought forward in areas which are
vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable
adaptation measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure.’
(para.150 a).
Permitted development rights allow conversion of office development to residential.
There is often little consideration of overheating when those changes of use take
place. In September 2015 there were rooms in such developments that reached
temperatures of 47 degrees centigrade.
Current Policy Position
There are no policies within the Local plan that specifically consider the overheating
of homes and buildings however it is considered in the Building Regulations.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
Given the importance of adapting to the impacts of climate change we feel it is
important that the Local Plan considers how new developments could be made more
resilient to the impacts of heat.
Proposed Policy Options
We’re keen to explore new policy options that could increase the resilience of homes
and buildings to the effects of over-heating. These options could include requiring
developers to use the ‘cooling hierarchy’ to avoid buildings being at risk of overheating. This might involve the use of passive design to minimise unwanted heat gain
and manage heat – for example by using building orientation and natural shading. It
could also incorporate the use of natural cooling by allowing outside air to ventilate
and cool a building without the use of a powered system, for example through windows
that can open and ventilation. Alternatively, air conditioning could be included in the
mix of solutions. However, given the energy intensive nature of air conditioning
systems it may be that the use of such systems could be a last resort when a
satisfactory level of cooling cannot be achieved naturally.

6

https://www.theccc.org.uk/uk‐climate‐change‐risk‐assessment‐2017/ccra‐chapters/people‐and‐the‐built‐
environment/

Page 173

Consultation Questions
7. Do you agree that the Local Plan should contain a policy designed to increase
resilience to the impacts of heat?
8. How do you think Leeds could ensure that homes are more resilient to
overheating?

Page 174

RENEWABLE ENERGY GENERATION
Background
National policy recognises the role of the planning system to ‘support renewable and
low carbon energy and associated infrastructure’ (para 148). Consideration needs to
be given as to what is the best way for Leeds to do that.
Current Policy Position
Core Strategy Policy EN3 encourages investment in renewable energy and low carbon
infrastructure and the NRWLP (Table 5.1) sets minimum targets for installed and grid
connected energy for each type with an overall target of 81MW by 2021. Leeds has
already granted consent for a total of 77.90 MW, mostly from the Hook Moor Wind
Farm at Micklefield and the Council’s Energy Recovery Facility at Cross Green. 26MW
of the total will be provided by a private Energy Recovery Facility at Skelton Grange
Road. There have been no planning applications for wind energy development in
Leeds since 2015. This follows the Government’s 2015 changes to planning policy
relating to onshore wind development, combined with the withdrawal of subsidies for
renewable energy generation.

Hook Moor Wind Farm, Micklefield
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
The Government’s 2015 changes have meant that our existing Local Plan maps
showing the wind resource across Leeds will not be a sufficient basis for the
consenting of wind farm applications. Consequently, if Leeds is to give any further
consents for wind turbines the wind speed map in the Core Strategy will need to be
replaced with a map showing areas with potential for wind energy development, which
would then be shown on the Policies Map. A similar approach could be taken for solar
farms. This approach would ensure that Leeds was maximising opportunities for local

Page 175

renewable energy generation and reduce reliance on fossil fuels ahead of the
Government’s plans for decarbonisation of the grid by 2050.
Consideration should be given as to whether local renewable generation is the right
option for Leeds as projects such as the wind farm at Hornsea provide far more
renewable energy than could ever be generated locally. However local renewable
energy generation helps Leeds to be more energy secure, it avoids the inefficiencies
associated with loss of energy during its transmission (which is greater the further it
has to go), it creates local jobs and it can provide opportunities for community benefits.
Furthermore local renewable energy generation, such as solar farms, may provide
opportunities for new developments to be directly powered by them and therefore
achieve zero carbon in their operational energy use.
Defining an area where there are opportunities for renewable energy generation helps
to guide energy providers to the most appropriate locations and reduces speculative
applications. It will help the Council to meet its climate emergency commitment by
providing local sources of zero carbon energy which can be used to power industry,
homes and business in the district and will be a helpful step towards providing spatial
guidance for any central government decarbonisation agenda.
Proposed Policy Options
As part of the Local Plan Update we are considering possible options for renewable
energy generation in Leeds, such as from wind and solar farms. There is no
requirement for Local Authorities to set targets for renewable energy generation, and
with national efforts to decarbonise the electricity grid, it may be considered that such
an approach would be unnecessary. In such a scenario it may still be beneficial to set
policies for how applications for renewable energy would be assessed. Alternatively,
by setting targets, we could also identify suitable areas in the district for different types
of renewable energy.
The NRWLP currently includes a criteria based policy that we use for assessing wind
farm applications but a similar policy may also be beneficial for other large scale
energy generating facilities which have similar issues to those of wind farms. The wind
farm policy could therefore be expanded to cover solar farms and energy storage.
Consultation Questions
9. Do you consider that Leeds should set targets for different types of local
renewable energy generation?
10. Do you have any views about where facilities for local renewable energy
generation, such as wind and solar farms, should be located?

Page 176

HEAT NETWORKS
Background
Leeds City Council and its partners Vital Energi are constructing a heat network, via
underground pipes, around Leeds City Centre which re-uses the heat produced from
the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF) to supply a low carbon form of
heat in the urban area to local homes and businesses. When complete, the network
will connect nearly 2,000 homes and businesses providing low carbon heat and hot
water, equating to a saving of 11,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year.
Current Policy Position
Core Strategy Policy EN4 asks for developments to connect into the heat network
where possible and, in areas that are too far away from the heat network, to create a
new district heat network serving the development. In all cases development should
be designed to be ready to connect to a future heat network. This policy has been
successful and is addressed by developers. The current network is shown on the map
in Appendix 1. The Local Development Order for the district heating network is
currently being reviewed and will be formally consulted on later in 2021.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
However, in most cases the outcome is that developments are designed so as to be
ready for connection to a future heat network, rather than being connected to the
existing network or a new network. We want to further encourage the use of heat
networks by identifying the opportunities for new development to connect in a Heat
Networks Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to which Policy EN4 would be
the ‘parent’ policy. This would bring planning policy on heat networks together in one
place.
Proposed Policy Options
Given the relative success of the heat network it may be considered unnecessary to
update existing policies. Alternatively, it might be beneficial to supplement the existing
heat networks policy with a detailed SPD to help match up heat networks with potential
customers.
Consultation Questions
11. Would you like to see more connections made to the heat network or are
there other more effective ways to reduce emissions?

Page 177

ENERGY STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION
Background
Electricity storage means a generating station, or any part of a generating station that
generates electricity from stored energy. These are often large, industrial looking
buildings that would need to be carefully sited to avoid amenity issues for neighbouring
uses. Stored energy is energy that is converted from electricity, and then stored for
the purpose of its future reconversion into electricity. This covers a wide range of
electricity storage technologies. It can support the use of low carbon technologies,
reduce the overall costs of operating the system and help avoid or defer costly
reinforcements to the networks.
Renewable energy can sometimes result in energy being produced when it is not
needed and therefore can be lost. Energy storage can help reduce this loss by storing
this energy for future use. Whilst storage can take a number of different forms, the
most commonly used for electricity is the chemical battery. Storage has the following
benefits:
•

Storage of renewable energy for use later when it’s needed

•

Provide backup power when blackouts occur

•

Provide voltage stabilisations or other grid balancing services.

Electricity storage is already being deployed across Great Britain and there is currently
around 3GW of storage on the system, the vast majority of which is pumped hydro
(BEIS, 2019). National Grid’s Future Energy Scenarios (FES) predict that between 1229GW of electricity storage could be deployed by 2050. It is very likely that Leeds will
need to provide some energy storage within the district, particularly to help manage
the supply that is generated from renewable energy generating facilities which might
not be constantly producing at times of need.
Areas suitable for energy storage need to be within good proximity to the grid at
locations where the sub station has capacity for the connection. Proximity to a power
generation source is also useful. Industrial areas offer good potential especially if sites
have poor accessibility so as to reduce the impact on the more accessible sites in the
employment land supply. The Northern Powergrid map of sub stations in the district
can be viewed from this link:
https://www.northernpowergrid.com/generation-availability-map
HYDROGEN
In addition to electrical energy storage, the storage and distribution of hydrogen can
play a key role in enabling the UK economy to achieve net zero. It can provide a source
of energy for domestic heating, heavy transport, aviation and industrial processes. In
order for hydrogen to fulfil this role, it would require Britain’s gas network companies
to transition from natural gas to hydrogen. A plan that would allow this can be found in

Page 178

Britain’s Hydrogen Network Plan7. This plan identifies the role that planning should
perform in order for this transition to occur:
The planning system will need to be able to accommodate a large volume of
applications for hydrogen production, storage, pipeline and other facilities.
In order for applications to be determined quickly and efficiently, one option is for the
Council to identify areas or list criteria where hydrogen infrastructure is appropriate
such as in areas of existing industry or near major transport hubs.
Current Policy Position
There is currently no guidance in the Local Plan against which to consider planning
applications for energy storage. The Government has committed to providing some
planning guidance on this issue but it is not yet available.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
Given that there are currently no policies within the Local Plan on this topic we believe
that a new local policy would be beneficial. This could include a target to establish how
much energy storage is needed in the district. This will mean that once the target is
met, applications in the green belt will no longer be able to demonstrate very special
circumstances to justify approval for what is inappropriate development in the green
belt.
The Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVLAAP) acknowledges the growing need
for energy storage and identifies that some of the industrial parts of the Aire Valley
may offer potential locations given the nature of sites and locations available within
industrial areas such as Cross Green and Stourton, particularly sites which are
otherwise difficult to develop for employment or other uses. There may be other similar
industrial areas in the district that offer a suitable location for such infrastructure.
Energy storage proposals will need to be subject to other planning considerations such
as visual amenity and impact on adjoining uses and the landscape setting.
Proposed Policy Options
Whilst there is no requirement to set policies on energy storage and distribution, it may
be considered beneficial to introduce one. This policy could set a target for energy
storage and identify suitable areas for it, including hydrogen. Or alternatively, it could
identify suitable areas for energy storage (including hydrogen) without setting a target.
Consultation Questions:
12. Do you think that a new policy is required to guide the location of energy
storage proposals, including electricity and hydrogen?
13. Do you think that a target should be set for the amount of energy storage in
Leeds?

7

https://www.energynetworks.org/industry‐hub/resource‐library/britains‐hydrogen‐network‐plan.pdf

Page 179

APPENDIX 1: Map of District Heating Network (source Local Development Order 2017)

Page 180

Page 181

1

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION TOPIC PAPER
FLOOD RISK

This topic paper sets out to raise awareness and stimulate discussion about
how flooding is considered in planning decisions, what policies the Council
currently has to control development in areas at risk of flooding and what the
recent Flood Alleviation Scheme means for specific parts of the City. It
clarifies that the Council is in the process of updating its facts and figures
about flood risk, which will help tell us how to manage land at risk. It also
looks at how policies might be improved in the face of a changing climate and
how flood risk from rivers and from rain can be better managed in new
developments, including through what’s known as Sustainable Drainage
Systems.
INTRODUCTION TO THE TOPIC
As part of a changing climate MET Office statistics show that winters in the UK have
got 12% wetter over the last 60 years and they predict that rainfall is likely to rise by
a further 20% by 2070 with an increase in rainfall intensity leading to 20% more flash
flooding.
Local rainfall data shows that since July 2019 Leeds has generally been
experiencing higher rainfall than the East and North East England average.
Flood risk from rivers and flash floods is clearly a key part of the climate emergency
agenda and we propose looking at whether our existing policies are strong enough
to protect people and development from flooding and also to make sure that more
development does not increase the risk.
The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning authorities to avoid
locating development in flood risk areas, however it acknowledges that this is not
always possible. In Leeds, which has grown historically along the Rivers Aire and
Wharfe, it is important to consider other factors alongside flood risk, specifically the
development needs of the City Centre and other town centres and the need to focus
investment and regenerate parts of the City. This helps direct investment into places
that need it and also to reduce pressure for release of Green Belt land. The planning
system therefore has to balance competing conflicts in enabling investment whilst
having regard to the effects of climate change.
National guidance also says that where development is necessary, planning
authorities should be sure that it will be safe, without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
In Leeds the Council has rigorous processes in place to ensure that development
avoids flood risk where ever possible and that development is only approved when
there is adequate mitigation in place. Some of our flood risk information comes from
the Environment Agency but the Council also has a more detailed strategy for
managing flood risk in the form of the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. This defines
2

Page 182

the levels of flood risk throughout the whole district and gives detailed advice on how
to manage it.
With the climate emergency it is important to consider whether the existing approach
is still the best one and whether any development should be allowed in high risk
flood areas or whether they can be defended or better designed and laid out. The
predicted increases in rainfall could create problems for Leeds and potentially could
lead to more people suffering the devastating impacts of flooding. The Boxing Day
floods of 2015 resulted in the highest river levels ever recorded on both the River
Wharfe and the River Aire notably more than a metre higher than the ‘Great Flood of
Leeds’ 1866.

Boxing Day 2015 flooding at Kirkstall
What is flood risk?
Flood risk in the UK is divided into different zones according to the probability of
flooding. These flood zones are set by the Environment Agency and do not take
account of any defences and they don’t include the possible impacts of climate
change. The map in Appendix 1 gives an indication of the extent of each of these
flood zones in the Leeds District, however this information will be updated shortly in
the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Update. The flood zones are as
follows:
Zone 1 Low Probability

Land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of
river flooding.

Zone 2 Medium
Probability

Land having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual
probability of river flooding;

Zone 3a High Probability

Land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of
river flooding;
3

Page 183

Zone 3b The Functional
Floodplain

Land where water has to flow or be stored in times of
flood. Usually with a 1 in 20 probability of river flooding

FLOODING IN LEEDS
The frequency of flooding events in Leeds has increased in recent years. Winter
months have seen excessive rainfall over an extended period of time causing the
rivers to exceed their capacity. Summer months have seen an increase in prolonged
dry periods where the ground becomes baked and impenetrable followed by short
intense downpours which run off quickly leading to surface water flooding.
The bar chart below shows the number of incidents reported to the Council where
internal flooding of property took place or there was an imminent threat of internal
flooding. This is perhaps the most destructive type of flooding but flooding that
affects roads and other forms of transport can also be devastating to people’s lives.
The distribution of these incidents across the district can be seen on the map in
Appendix 2.

Number of flood incidents
(internal flooding or imminent threat of internal flooding)
1400
1200

1266

1000
800
600
400

452

200
2

1

2

16

8

264

27

19

13

4

82

44

81 129

35

177 249 15

0

The bar chart shows that there has been an increase in incidents over the last ten
years. The large number in 2015 was due to Storm Eva and the storms that took
place throughout December which meant that the rivers and water table were
already high when Storm Eva took place. Storm Eva led to a 1 in 1,000 annual
probability flood risk event on Boxing Day 2015. The number of properties across
Leeds that were flooded or affected by the flooding from Storm Eva is shown in the
table below:
Flooded

4

Page 184

Affected

Total

Residential

2300

411

2711

‐

Houses

247

144

391

‐

Flats

2053

267

2320

Commercial

541

137

678

3

7

551

3396

Other (churches,
sports clubs)
Total

allotments, 4
2845

DEALING WITH FLOODING
Some flooding can be dealt with through defending land. Leeds is constructing a
flood alleviation scheme for the River Aire from Woodlesford up to Newlay Bridge.
The first section is already constructed and operational, known as FAS 1. The
section from the Railway Station to the Knostrop weirs has a standard of protection
of 1 in 100 annual probability of river flooding including a climate change allowance
to 2039, whilst the section at Woodlesford has a 1 in 200 level of protection. The
second section (FAS 2) includes measures that will have the effect of upgrading the
FAS 1 to a 1 in 200 standard of protection and includes a climate change allowance
up to 2039. The second section (FAS 2) includes measures that will have the effect
of upgrading the FAS 1 to a 1 in 100 standard of protection. FAS 2 is also looking to
identify ‘sacrificial’ land that is designed to flood which will further help us to make
space for flood water. The Council are also implementing flood alleviation schemes
on the River Wharfe at Otley, on the Wyke Beck and Wortley Beck. Neither national
nor local funding exists to provide defences for all the urban areas at risk across the
district.

FAS 1: Knostrop Weir footbridge
5

Page 185

New development is required to provide mitigation to reduce the frequency of
flooding for example ensuring buildings are built to flood resilient standards and that
sustainable drainage systems are incorporated where ever possible.
LEEDS SFRA
Leeds Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was completed in 2007 and
provides a comprehensive overview of the river and drainage systems across the
district and associated flood risks. Since the SFRA was completed there have been
significant changes, such as the FAS schemes that means it needs to be updated.
The updated version will be used to inform the policies in the Local Plan Update and
should be available by early Summer this year. The updated SFRA will provide
further technical advice on dealing with the flood risk issues listed below. Until it is
available we have sought to scope what the issues are without providing a detailed
range of policy options at this stage.

6

Page 186

POLICY TOPIC AREAS
AVOIDING DEVELOPMENT IN FLOOD RISK AREAS
Background
To minimise new development in areas of flood risk and in line with current
government guidance we use the ‘sequential test’ to avoid development in flood risk
areas as far as possible when allocating sites in the Local Plan and for planning
applications for sites that are not allocated in the development plan. The sequential
test ensures that areas at little or no risk of flooding from any source are developed
in preference to areas at higher risk. The aim is to keep development out of medium
and high flood risk areas (Flood Zones 2 and 3) and other areas affected by other
sources of flooding where possible. Only where there are no reasonably available
sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2 should the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3a be
considered, taking into account the flood risk vulnerability of the proposed land use.
If the site is proposed for a ‘more vulnerable’ use such as residential and is in a high
flood risk zone (zone 3a), it may also have to pass an Exceptions Test, which shows
that the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh the flood risk and the development will be safe for its lifetime taking
account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and,
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.
Current Policy Position
This approach forms the basis of flood risk policy in our current policies in the
Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP). Policies are currently split
across different Development Plan Documents with the overarching policy approach
in Core Strategy EN5 and a more detailed suite of policies in the Water section of the
NRWLP. There is detailed guidance on sustainable drainage in SPG22 Sustainable
Drainage. The water consumption policy is in Policy EN2 (ii) of the Core Strategy but
there are also policies on water quality and water efficiency in the NRWLP.
Policy Water 4 was adopted in 2013 and has proved to be sufficiently robust as the
basis for rejecting applications for inappropriate development in flood risk areas and
only giving permission when all the relevant tests have been passed. However,
because significant parts of the urban area include land in flood zones 2 and 3 (as
shown on Map 1), some development takes place in flood risk areas. Where
applications in the urban area have passed the “Exceptions Test” by demonstrating
wider sustainability benefits that outweigh the risk (for example, the need for
regeneration, efficient use of brownfield land or to ensure our centres remain viable),
approvals for planning permission are granted when there is adequate mitigation in
place. This includes ensuring buildings are built to flood resilient standards and that
sustainable drainage systems are incorporated where ever possible. Developers are
also encouraged to lay out development so that open uses are located in the most
risky parts of the site and the built development avoids those areas. For sites with
flood risk issues or any site which is over 1 hectare in size a Flood Risk Assessment
(FRA) is required to be submitted with the planning application. The FRA is
7

Page 187

assessed by colleagues in the Council’s Flood Risk Management team who advise
whether the development will be safe.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
The Local Plan Update provides an opportunity to bring all the flood risk policies
together and review their effectiveness in the light of climate change.
Possible Policy Options
As part of the Local Plan Update we want to consider whether policies could be
improved to reduce the risk of flooding, and increase our resilience to flooding
events.
There is an important balance to be struck between flood risk and other sustainability
benefits, such as the need for regeneration, the efficient use of brownfield land and
access to services. If policy tests are made tighter to further reduce the number of
permissions for ‘more vulnerable’ development in flood risk areas this could result in
people living further away from services and facilities that they need. This would then
result in longer journeys and add to emission of greenhouse gases and other
pollutant gases.
Consultation Questions
1. Do you agree that our policy approach to development in flood risk
areas should be within the scope of the Local Plan Update?
2. Have we got the balance right between locating homes close to the
services and facilities that people need whilst avoiding high flood risk
areas?

8

Page 188

FUNCTIONAL FLOODPLAIN
Background
The functional floodplain is the land where water has to flow or be stored in times of
flood with a 1 in 20 annual probability of flooding. The extent of the functional
floodplain is defined by the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, which was prepared in
2007, and will shortly be updated. Most of the functional floodplain is open land and
undeveloped.
Current Policy Position
The NPPF tells us we should manage flood risk by ‘safeguarding land from
development that is required, or likely to be required, for current or future flood
management’ (Para. 157 b) ). Our current policy in the NRWLP is to safeguard land
for flood storage (zone 3b) as shown in the SFRA. In those areas only water
compatible uses and essential infrastructure is permitted. Leeds is fortunate that
much of the River Aire, as it flows through the urban area, will have the benefit of the
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme and therefore significant parts of the urban area that
would have otherwise flooded with a 1 in 20 year probability will be protected. The
SFRA will look at reclassifying those areas so that they are not defined as having a
flood storage function.
For those urban areas that have a 1 in 20 probability of flood risk but don’t have the
benefit of a flood alleviation scheme the redevelopment potential will continue to be
limited due to the high flood risk probability. The SFRA will explore the extent of
these areas and the impact of climate change. The Local Plan Update may consider
the policy options for limiting development in those locations. This is only likely to
affect those areas that have a very high level of flood risk and are not protected by a
flood alleviation scheme
Consultation Question
3. Do you think that the Local Plan Update should consider limitations on
urban expansion in unprotected areas with a very high probability (1 in
20) of flooding?

9

Page 189

SURFACE WATER FLOODING AND SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE
Background
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are designed to control surface water run off
close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as possible. One of their
uses is to reduce the causes and impacts of surface water flooding (sometimes
referred to as flash flooding). SuDS include a number of different practices or
mechanisms designed to drain or soak up surface water in a more sustainable
approach to the conventional practice of draining water run-off through a pipe into a
sewer. Practical examples include soakaways (draining water through permeable
surfaces into the ground) and ponds (draining water into a surface water body). This
water network is sometimes referred to as ‘blue infrastructure’.

Drainage swale
SuDS capture rainfall, allowing as much as possible to evaporate or soak into the
ground close to where it fell, then moving the rest to the nearest watercourse to be
released at the same rate and volumes as prior to development. They improve water
quality by reducing pollutants, such as metals and hydrocarbons from roads and car
parks. Water entering a local watercourse is therefore cleaner and does not harm
wildlife habitats. SuDS can provide a valuable amenity asset for local residents and
create new habitats for wildlife. Any problems with the system are quicker and easier
to identify than with a conventional underground pipe system and are generally
cheaper and more straightforward to rectify. SuDS can also provide passive cooling
which helps to mitigate the effect of temperature rise due to climate change.
Current Policy Position
The NPPF says that major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage
systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate (para 164 c)).
This is the approach taken in NRWLP Policy Water 7 and echoed in Section 12 of
the Sustainable Construction SPD which seek SuDS ‘wherever possible’. The NPPG
gives further guidance on what “inappropriate” means:
‘The decision on whether a sustainable drainage system would be inappropriate in
relation to a particular development proposal is a matter of judgement for the local
10

Page 190

planning authority. In making this judgement the local planning authority will seek
advice from the relevant flood risk management bodies, principally the lead local
flood authority, including on what sort of sustainable drainage system they would
consider to be reasonably practicable.’
The judgement of what is reasonably practicable should be by reference to the
technical standards published by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs and take into account design and construction costs.
The NPPG goes on to set out that expecting compliance with the technical standards
is “unlikely to be reasonably practicable if more expensive than complying with
building regulations”. Similarly, a particular discharge route would not normally be
reasonably practicable when an alternative would cost less to design and construct.
This means that, at present, we cannot ask for sustainable drainage if the developer
can show that a traditional system will be cheaper.
Current policy in the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) provides
protection for water quality when development takes place close to sensitive water
bodies such as lakes and rivers (NRWLP Policy Water 2).
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
Given the many benefits of using SuDS against traditional systems, we believe the
Local Plan Update should consider how the existing policy could be strengthened to
make the use of SuDS a firmer requirement for new development, particularly given
the benefits in addressing climate change resilience, biodiversity, health and
wellbeing objectives and ambitions to improve the blue infrastructure.
Possible Policy Options
In order to strengthen the requirement to deliver SuDS we’re considering a number
of potential policy approaches. These are not exhaustive and we would welcome any
alternative ideas you may have.
One potential option we are considering is the mapping of infiltration rates to identify
the areas that are most suitable for SuDS and this would support delivery of SuDS in
those locations. Policy should also ensure that the proposed minimum standards of
operation are appropriate and that there are clear arrangements in place for ongoing
maintenance.
Another way to help manage surface water flooding is to identify the ‘source’
locations where heavy rainfall can lead to flooding downstream. Additional measures
to reduce the speed of surface water run off at the source location, such as tree
planting, can avoid the need for mitigation downstream. We are working with the
University of Leeds to identify source locations and it may be appropriate for the
Local Plan Update to provide a policy to ask for additional measures in those areas.
Consultation Questions
4. Do you agree that surface water flooding and use of SuDS should be
within the scope of the Local Plan Update?
11

Page 191

5. Do you agree with our suggested approach to increasing the use of
sustainable drainage systems in new development?
6. Do you think identifying and implementing additional measures at
source locations would be an appropriate approach to managing
surface water run off?

12

Page 192

RESILIENCE
Background
Flooding has a negative impact on the lives of everyone affected by it. Given the
forecasted increases in rainfall we want to consider what we can do to make sure
that new development is resilient. There has been a rise in purpose built
accommodation for people who are especially vulnerable, such as elderly and
disabled. These people may be less able to cope with the impacts of flooding and
the effects can be devastating for them.
Current Policy Position
The NPPF tells us to ensure that development is appropriately flood resistant and
resilient and safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part
of an agreed emergency plan (para. 163). We do this by requiring a flood risk
assessment (FRA) to be submitted to accompany the application which informs the
developer of mitigation measures to make sure the development will be safe for its
lifetime and without making flood risk worse elsewhere for all affected people. The
FRA also has to take account of climate change projections for the future intensity of
rainfall. National policy categorizes all residential development as ‘more vulnerable’
and not appropriate in high flood risk areas unless it has passed the sequential test
(described above) but this does not recognise that some groups of people are even
more vulnerable than others.
Possible policy options
Guidance is available on building flood resilient development, such as the ADEPT
guidance ‘How to consider emergency plans for flooding as part of the planning
process’ but there may be an opportunity to provide a clearer policy steer in the
Local Plan. This could include a consideration of policy regarding safe access and
escape routes and whether there should be any limitations on accommodation for
more vulnerable groups in high flood risk areas.
Consultation Questions
7. Should the Local Plan set new standards for flood resilient housing?
8. Should the Local Plan consider where accommodation for more
vulnerable people is located?

13

Page 193

PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AND POROUS PAVING
Background
The paving over of front gardens can result in increased flood risk caused by surface
water runoff which is unable to drain naturally if impermeable materials are used.
Additionally, the loss of vegetation can contribute to increased air pollution in urban
areas and can affect the character and appearance of traditional streetscapes. The
intensification of built development through the use of permitted development rights
(eg to build extensions and garages) and the impact of climate change further
compounds the problem.
Current Policy Position
As stated above, the Council has existing policies related to sustainable drainage
systems. However, they do not apply where planning permission is not required.
Permitted development rights are set by the Government and set out types of
development that do not require planning consent.
Some permitted development rights allow the building of extensions, garages and
other structures that reduce the extent of the area available for natural drainage and
holding water.
Other permitted development rights allow for the provision of a new or replacement
hard surface (such as a driveway) within the curtilage of the grounds of different
buildings, such as houses, offices and industrial buildings. These permitted
development rights are limited to ensure that permeable materials are used.
Possible Policy Options
We’re keen to explore what approaches we could take to ensure that where
landscaping and gardens provide a valuable function in helping manage flood risk,
they are not subsequently lost through permitted development rights that allow the
householder to build extensions, garages or other structures that reduce the extent
of the area available for absorption.
One of the options may be to provide further guidance to householders on using
porous materials when they are planning to convert front gardens to parking space.
Consultation Questions
9. Should the Local Plan Update consider what approaches could be taken
to limit permitted development rights for new developments to ensure
open areas that are needed for flood risk management are retained?
10. Whilst not subject of a grant of planning permission should the Council
consider how to control paving over front gardens and loss of soft and
natural landscaping in existing development, for example through
enhanced guidance for householders?

14

Page 194

Page 195

1

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
INTRODUCTION TO THE TOPIC
What is Green Infrastructure?
The purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable development, which is
about meeting current needs without harming the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that
planning authorities should ensure that development meets economic, social and
environmental objectives.
The environmental objective is defined by the NPPF1 as:
“to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment; including making effective use of land, helping to improve
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and
mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon
economy.”

This paper looks at the role of the Leeds Local Plan in supporting Green Infrastructure,
which forms a fundamental part of the natural environment and contributes to more
sustainable development.
Green Infrastructure (GI) is defined by National Planning Policy Framework as
“A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local
communities.”2

This network includes parks, green spaces, gardens, woodlands, street trees, hedges,
green walls and green roofs. Each element of GI is an important asset for local
communities, providing places to play and enjoy and together they make attractive
places to live and invest in.
They are also natural climate change assets, because GI:

1
2



reduces greenhouse gas emissions, such as carbon dioxide, associated
with new development e.g. by capturing carbon



benefits public health by removing and reducing air pollution



if well managed and protected, captures and stores carbon dioxide from
the atmosphere (sequestration)



improves the resilience of places, thereby helping communities adapt to
increases in flooding and heat

NPPF Paragraph – Paragraph 8c
NPPF ‐ Glossary

2

Page 196



helps use scarce resources e.g. water more efficiently



helps provide strong ecosystems and habitats for plants and animals to
reduce biodiversity loss and help species adapt to changes in the climate

The NPPF recognises that GI has a value and recommends assessing the wider
benefits of the natural environment / GI using two approaches:


natural capital – a way of thinking about the natural environment as an
asset



eco-systems services - the benefits and interaction nature (the natural
capital) to people and the environment

In order to achieve net gains in sustainable development, it is therefore important to
plan for Green Infrastructure in a way that:
 clearly sets out its underpinning importance to sustainable development in
Leeds


maximises its natural climate change role



places a value on its management, creation and loss

GI often works hand in hand with “blue infrastructure” such as rivers, streams, canals,
lakes and other water bodies; both blue and green infrastructure are multi-functional.
For instance a well-designed pond can be a sustainable water management system
for drainage of a new housing estate, a natural habitat for species, a means of soaking
up carbon (as well as water), a leisure destination and improve people’s well-being.
On a wider scale, a well-designed, integrated environment can connect individual
green areas and assets to create green routes and corridors, creating pleasant
environments to encourage cycling and walking over large distances. Indeed it is
possible to walk from Leeds City Centre to Windermere via the Dales Way Link to
Ilkley and then the Dales Way to the Lake District. Greening especially the urban
environment can also be a catalyst for investment and economic growth and GI is also
usually cheaper than traditional “grey” infrastructure3, and creates sustainable jobs.
This is often known as using nature-based solutions instead of man-made constructed
solutions.
GI serves many purposes. For instance a small group of trees (copse) has various
Natural Capital functions:





3

biodiversity through both the species of trees, the habitat provided and the soils
carbon capture (also known as sequestration)
water storage
If a forest path is then developed through the copse it potentially adds the
functions/services of health, leisure and education. These are the ‘ecosystem

See the Sustainable Urban Drainage section of the Flood Risk Topic Paper.

3

Page 197

services’ the ‘natural capital’ provides. In essence GI is multi-functional and
should never be seen in isolation.
Our relationship with GI has to be understood in this context; that one asset or ‘capital’
serves different purposes. From a planning point of view it is important that we
understand this. For instance recent research supports the mental health benefits of
Green Space4 but predicates this on our ability to ‘connect’ with it. This means that
Green Space design as well as quantity is important, as is its accessibility to a range
of users.
The pandemic, climate change and the desire to see a healthier society are all key
drivers that reinforce the importance of the natural environment to be available to
everybody at a neighbourhood level and for those with limited mobility at the street
and individual home level.
Elsewhere in the Local Plan Update there are topic papers which also consider
interlinked issues around better place-making and 20-minute neighbourhoods. GI
plays a key role in these planning areas.
What do our policies currently say?
Protecting, enhancing and extending the network of green infrastructure has been a
fundamental element of the Leeds Local Plan for many years. Indeed green
infrastructure forms part of the overall Core Strategy Spatial Vision (bullet 9) and
managing environmental resources makes up 5 of the 24 Core Strategy objectives.
Furthermore, there are many existing policies that fulfil this function which provide an
invaluable and much needed statutory basis to require protection, enhancement and
extension of the natural environment.
The Local Plan currently contains policies which establish key strategic GI and
ambitions to improve the gaps between key corridors.

4

University of Derby – Professor Miles Richardson ‐ https://findingnature.org.uk/2020/04/08/a‐new‐
relationship‐with‐nature/

4

Page 198

This sets the framework for GI management and also more detailed plans e.g. the Aire
Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (2017) which sets a GI network for a discreet area of
the City experiencing transformational growth.

5

Page 199

However, we are not seeing a consistently high standard of GI considerations across
all developments. This is partly because national planning policy has been heavily
focussed on boosting the supply of housing for the past 10 years with penalties on
local authorities that do not have an adequate supply of housing. Thanks to the
adoption of the Site Allocations Plan in 2019 Leeds now has a five year land supply
and can strengthen its focus on housing quality.
We want to avoid green spaces that are sterile and mono-functional such as this:

Instead we want GI to be at the heart of new development as a key underpinning asset
like this:

This helps recognise the multiple benefits and roles green infrastructure can provide,
such as at Killingback Meadows where the planting of 8,000 trees and the delivery of
new ponds and seasonal wetlands will help reduce flooding and provide natural
habitats, as part of the Killingbeck Meadows Flood Alleviation Scheme.
National Changes
Whilst detailed Government planning guidance on GI is limited, it is clear that at a
legislative and departmental level the direction of Government policy has shifted
6

Page 200

recently and creates a more positive context for improved GI policies.
A Natural Capital Committee (NCC) was an independent committee which advised the
government on natural capital, including ecosystems, species, freshwaters, soils,
minerals, the air and oceans, as well as natural processes and functions. It led to a
number of changes which support a strong direction of travel on embedding GI into
planning policy at the local level as follows:


a 25 year Environment Plan (2018) which sets the Government’s goals for
improving the environment, within a generation, and leaving it in a better
state than we found it



an Environment Bill (initially laid before parliament in 2019) setting out how
the Government plans to deliver its commitment to protect and improve the
natural environment in the UK in light of evidence and public concern around
biodiversity and habitat loss, climate change and environmental risks to
public health



guidance (2020) for policy and decision makers to help them to include
contemporary approaches to Green Infrastructure and the value of these into
policy (including changes to HM Government Green Book guidance on how
appraisals are done)

The main issues pertinent to the Local Plan Update are:


setting targets for improving the natural environment and people’s enjoyment
of it and a duty to meet and report on the targets set



a new system for biodiversity and nature protection including a register of
biodiversity gain sites(land which is subject to a conservation covenant or
planning obligation and which is to be managed for the purpose of habitat
enhancement)and establishing a system of biodiversity credits-enabling
developers to 'purchase' credits in biodiversity gain sites



measuring net gain and eco-systems services at the development level

Vision:
Through this Local Plan Update we are aiming to adopt and improve policies that will
help development adapt and mitigate against the impacts of climate change by
creating a better more sustainable environment. With regard to Green Infrastructure
our Vision is as follows:

7

Page 201

Leeds will create new Green Infrastructure (GI) (including Green Space and
Natural Environment) through the planning process, and identify, improve,
protect and extend existing GI to address the challenges of climate change and
create a healthy city.

This topic paper sets out the sorts of areas to be considered in taking this proposed
vision forward and asks a number of questions to find out what you think.

8

Page 202

POLICY TOPIC AREAS
IDENTIFICATION, PROTECTION, ENHANCEMENT AND EXTENSION OF GREEN
INFRASTRUCTURE
Background
The value and importance of open land is widely recognised for a number of reasons
such as giving us opportunities to visit and enjoy nature, providing homes to wildlife
and being the landscape context for where we live. The restrictions due to Covid-19
have brought into focus the importance of accessible land and nature close to our
doorsteps and this, along with the important role open land and the natural
environment has in addressing the climate emergency, only increases the need to
continue to protect, enhance and extend the existing network of green infrastructure
within Leeds.
Policy Aims





To clearly identify existing land which merits protection and state robust
reasons why protection is necessary
To provide statutory protection for all identified green infrastructure through
formal designation and a policy presumption against the loss of GI
To seek improvements and high quality enhancements
To seek the extension of the green infrastructure network through the
identification and protection of additional open land.

Existing Policies and rationale for potential change
Whilst the Local Plan contains an effective suite of policies relating to GI, these
policies are spread across a variety of Local Plan documents. This can be confusing
and they could benefit from being strengthened and consolidated. The Local Plan
Update can set a clear, strong, high level framework and contain more detailed
polices with robust and justified requirements, directions and targets which will
ensure protection and facilitate improvements and extensions. Any policies should
recognise the different values of land, whether it be for agriculture, recreation, wildlife
habitats or the visual beauty of the landscape.
Within this broader framework sit other more specific issues which are considered
later in this document, such as trees, areas protected for nature conservation and
biodiversity.
Identification and Designation
Currently the designation of land as green space is dealt with through Policy GS1 in
the Site Allocations Plan which identifies areas that function as green space; whilst
Core Strategy Policy G6 gives them protection from development. Whilst green
space is an element of wider green infrastructure, it is proposed that there is a need
to widen out policy protection for a greater range of GI categories.
9

Page 203

Protection
Green infrastructure is currently identified in the Core Strategy but there is no
presumption against development. The climate emergency, well-being links and
pandemic have increased its importance and necessitated a rethink of the
mechanisms and levels of protection and situations under which it may be developed
in whole or in part. A “presumption in favour of retaining green infrastructure” could
offer increased protection for GI, however this must be balanced against the needs
for wider sustainable development, whereby some development could be
appropriate. Therefore there needs to be ways in which development can be
accepted, subject to detailed and compelling reasons and the remediation of any
detrimental effects. It is especially important to extend the recognition and protection
into more highly built up areas where open space is at a premium.
Extension of network
Maximising the amount of GI to make the most of its benefits to the climate
emergency and our wellbeing and promoting and seeking additional GI where
possible can be achieved through planning policy. Some areas may be specifically
identified and earmarked for future strategic GI. We can also maximise opportunities
as and when they arise through; development, infrastructure projects, landscaping
schemes, biodiversity improvements, greening features on buildings, land
management and projects to improve the provision of open spaces such as the
White Rose Forest and the Council’s Woodland Creation Scheme. There would also
be benefits to new policy measures to protect any new areas created so that they
were not vulnerable to future development.
Quality and Enhancement
It is important that areas of GI are of good quality to provide beneficial habitats for
nature, opportunities for carbon sequestration and attractive, accessible locations for
outdoor activities. Not all GI provided through development is of a high quality and
there is a continued need for policy and practice to seek quality spaces.
Proposed Policy Options
Currently the key policies are Core Strategy Policies SP13 and G1 which identify
land which is considered Strategic Green Infrastructure. Policy G1 then takes the
defined areas and applies ‘controls’ to development within them. It is felt that the
Policy SP13 in conjunction with Policy G1 would benefit from enhancement,
especially in the context of the Climate Emergency and Covid-19.
One option would be to have an over-arching strategic policy (an updated Policy
SP13) and then have a number of more detailed policies sitting underneath which
give more information, requirements and guidance relating to specific matters. A
further supplementary planning document would provide more guidance and useful
information as well as examples of good practice.

10

Page 204

Key elements could be:


set a more holistic, strategic direction and provide consideration of all
green infrastructure.



set a clear definition of “Green Infrastructure”,



provide a framework for the delivery of new green infrastructure as well as
the enhancement and protection of existing GI.



set a presumption against the loss of any GI.



revise Policy G1 to set out how the green infrastructure network could be
protected, enhanced and expanded and what priorities may emerge more
locally



prioritise connecting strategic GI assets within the City and with
neighbouring authorities



create new green infrastructure



designate wild belts, on land that has little development value but does
not currently benefit from green infrastructure designation or protection.



set a framework for the delivery of localised pockets of GI through green
roofs, green walls, roof gardens and hedges that would help mitigate the
urban heat island effect in built up urban areas and provide additional
greenspace in high density areas.



provide a supplementary guidance document containing additional details,
advice, support, examples of good practice etc. so as to assist developers
and land managers on specific issues such as species, habitat creation,
balance between nature and human activities on GI assets.

Questions for consultation
1. Do you agree that enhanced policy for the protection, improvement and
enhancement of GI should be included in the Local Plan Update?
2. If so, what would you like to see included in such a policy?
3. Do you think the Green Space protection Policy (G6) should be extended to
all Green Infrastructure?

11

Page 205

TREES
Background
At around 13% forest cover in 2015, the UK is one of the least densely forested
countries in Europe (Table 9.1, Figure 9.1). This compares with 38% for the EU as a
whole and 31% worldwide.5
Trees provide many benefits to our environment. They store carbon emissions and
take pollutants out of the air, provide shelter and shade and valuable habitats, soften
the built environment and bring colour and texture , provide opportunities for us to
reconnect with nature and help to support our physical and mental wellbeing which
has been brought into particular focus by the restrictions due to Covid-19.

Figure 1 ‐ Source Forestry Commission

Trees extract and store damaging carbon from the air by what is called carbon
sequestration (Fig 1)6. As trees photosynthesise and grow they absorb carbon dioxide
that would otherwise rise up and trap heat in the atmosphere and contribute to global
warming. In turn they release large quantities of oxygen. It is therefore vitally
important that we protect existing trees and plants as they are an extremely valuable
natural way of reducing carbon dioxide in the atmosphere. Indeed a large, mature tree
could store in the region of 3.5 tons of carbon. Areas of woodland provide the highest
concentrations of trees and carbon storage however a study undertaken by the
University of Leeds concludes that 1% of regions CO2 emissions is taken up by trees
outside woodlands, such as those in urban areas.
The Council is a key partner in the White Rose Forest Project to develop a community
5
6

Forest Cover: International Comparisons
Forestry Statistics 2018 ‐ Chapter 4: UK Forests and Climate Change

12

Page 206

forest for North and West Yorkshire (part of the wider Northern Forest). This is a
partnership between local authorities, landowners, businesses and communities to
increase tree cover across the region and improve the natural environment. The
project will plant millions of trees in urban centres and countryside that will help
manage flood risk, combat climate change, create jobs and provide happier and
healthier places. The overall White Rose Forest Plan is expected to be launched in
August 2021 whilst Leeds City Council’s White Rose Forest Strategy has been
endorsed by Executive Board and is nearing completion. This Strategy aims to
significantly increase the existing 17% tree canopy cover across the District to 33% by
2050 in partnership with business, residents, institutions, communities, landowners
and farmers, building on the substantial work that the Council already carries out
around the planting and management of trees as well as encouraging planting and
protection of trees though the planning process. Leeds City Council has committed to
planting 5.8 million trees over the next 25 years as part of the city’s contribution to the
UK net-zero targets.
Policy Aims





To establish a “presumption in favour of retaining existing trees” within the
existing legal framework
To establish a comprehensive, detailed replacement planting regime which
takes into account age, size, species, carbon storage capacity etc of trees
to be lost and planted to ensure no loss of sequestration levels.
To encourage additional planting and give a strong local statutory
foundation for current and future tree planting projects and programmes.

Existing policies and rationale for potential change
There are currently two key policies in the Local Plan that deal with trees:



Core Strategy Policy G2
Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan Policy LAND2

These are considered to be effective policies, however they were written before the
declaration of the climate emergency and therefore they may need to be adapted
and strengthened to respond to the current environmental crisis. Recent research
from the University of Leeds suggests the 3 to 1 ratio of tree replacement in LAND 2
is inadequate in terms of replacing the carbon sequestration value of mature trees
lost and other factors such as tree type, girth, age etc. need to be factored in. This is
coupled with new pressures and a strengthening of national agendas with regard to
trees that suggest Policy G2 could be made more robust. There are fundamentally
two aspects which need to be addressed.
Protection
Firstly, we need to consider how best to protect the trees we already have, from
large areas of woodland to individual trees. The Council can serve a Tree
Preservation Order on particularly visually important trees but these are only
13

Page 207

appropriate in certain circumstances and they have limited scope to protect in
recognition of trees’ biodiversity or carbon sequestration importance. Under
separate legislation, trees in conservation areas are protected as are those which
are within a statutory designated site or are used by a protected species such as
bats. This means most trees are not legally protected and other methods of
protection such as the planning system must therefore be fully utilised. The control
of development through the application of planning policies and the use of conditions
and legal agreements attached to planning permissions provide tangible and robust
methods to protect trees through, for example, ensuring buildings are far enough
away to protect roots and canopy.
It must be remembered that in some cases the removal of existing trees may be
acceptable, when balanced against other wider benefits, particularly wider
improvements to Green Infrastructure.
Planting More
Secondly, we should consider how the planning system can facilitate the planting of
more trees, over and above requiring landscaping schemes. The Local Plan could
provide a strong framework for planting programmes to work within and potentially
designate specific sites for future planting. We must be mindful that there are other
demands on land and in more rural areas, where there is the scope for larger scale
planting, the desire to plant trees must be balanced with the requirements of
agriculture and food production.
Trees can also be planted as part of a development scheme. They should be an
integral part of open space and, indeed, the layout and design of any housing
development. They can be planted on land that has other functions, such as
sustainable draining facilities, play spaces, verges, gardens etc. and therefore
ensure these spaces are multi-functional and multi-beneficial. We need to be
creative and push the boundaries in how this can be achieved. Tree policies are part
of this but we also need imaginative design and solutions to practical issues e.g.
drainage, transport infrastructure etc. Careful planting and comprehensive, ongoing
maintenance and management is key to trees growing, flourishing and reaching their
full potential in terms of visual quality, carbon sequestration and biodiversity gain.
Proposed Policy Options
Options for future policies could include:




Strengthening policy to establish a presumption in favour of tree retention,
whilst recognising where exceptions may be necessary, such as the
delivery of outstanding improvements to wider Green Infrastructure and
biodiversity.
Strengthening tree replacement requirements to fully recognise the role of
trees in carbon storage and the need to compensate for any loss of carbon
storage through tree removal. This could require applicants to audit the
current carbon sequestration contribution made by trees on site, with a
14

Page 208




requirement to improve that sequestration level through increased and
appropriate tree planting.
Allowing developments to make off-site contributions to identified tree
planting areas where it is not possible to plant trees on sites
Identifying new land for tree planting and protect it from alternative uses,
where possible.

Alternatively, options may include:




Continuing to pursue non-planning solutions to the delivery of increased
tree planting across the District, working with major landowners and other
partners.
Retaining the existing policy approach of replacing lost trees on a for 3:1
ratio basis.

Questions for consultation
4. How could planning policy be used to increase tree coverage across
Leeds?

15

Page 209

Green Space
Background
One of the key elements of Green Infrastructure within Leeds is “green space”. This
is open space which primarily has a recreational function, whether that be, for
example, outdoor sport, allotments or for more informal recreation. The importance
and value of these sites more broadly has been discussed earlier in this document in
relation to access to green space, opportunities for recreation and the enjoyment of
the natural environment and the positive effects these have on physical and mental
health. The current green space sites are formally designated through Policy GS1 in
the Site Allocations Plan (2019) and are shown on the Policies Map and in the Site
Allocations Plan documentation.
Green space is considered as a distinct element of green infrastructure in the Leeds
Local Plan and therefore has its own suite of policies. These polices give clear
requirements for new provision, including amounts per dwelling (Policies G4 and G5)
and protection of existing (Policy G6).
Policy Aims




To ensure new green space is delivered to meet current and future need
To give existing green space strong protection against loss due to
development
To improve existing green space

Existing Policies and rationale for potential change
Green Space Provision
Green space provision outside the City Centre (Policy G4) was recently revised
through the Core Strategy Selective Review (2019) therefore it is considered that
although the Policy is working well, further changes may be appropriate to
strengthen it further to deliver better, high quality Green Space. . However, we would
like to consider our approach to the delivery of green space within the City Centre in
Policy G5 to ensure that we’re getting the balance right between high density
developments in sustainable city centre locations and making sure that those
residents have good access to usable greenspace.
The Council is committed to supporting the delivery of improved green space in the
City Centre, as evidenced through the Our Spaces Strategy which was launched in
March 2020. Within the Strategy it was acknowledged that Leeds City Centre
includes a relatively low quantity and quality of green spaces in relation to its size.
There is also a lack of nature and limited biodiversity corridors in and between the
city centre and the surrounding communities and little provision for children’s play,
physical activity, relaxation and habitat diversity. In response to this, the Strategy
sets key principles designed to ensure that Leeds will be a substantially greener and

16

Page 210

better connected city that is more accessible to more people, creates an
environment to thrive and is recognisable as a unique place to be.
Recently approved proposals at
Aire Park on the Leeds South
Bank and at the Corn Exchange
and the completion of new
green space at Sovereign
Square help us deliver on that
vision. Moving forward, we’re
keen to explore what role
planning policy could play in
supporting the aspirations to
increase the quantity and quality
of green space in the City
Centre.
At present, City Centre developments on land less than 0.5 hectares are not required
to provide green space on site and given the high densities of development, this can
result in large developments not delivering green space. However, this must be
balanced against requirements to utilise land efficiently, and high density residential
development reflects the need to maximise good use of land. Nevertheless, given
the Climate emergency and the local needs exacerbated by Covid-19, it is now seen
as timely to revisit this approach to see if it needs changing to reflect different
circumstances.
Where appropriate, developments can make payments to the Council instead of
providing new Green Space which are used to provide green space elsewhere.
However, the mechanism for calculating this payment means that developments
inside the City Centre contribute less than outside the City Centre. It is proposed to
revisit this and assess whether the calculation should be adjusted.
Commercial developments in the City Centre above 0.5 Ha are expected to provide
Green/Open Space whilst such development outside the City Centre are not. It is
therefore proposed to reassess this aspect of the Policy.
Green Space Protection
As with the broader Green Infrastructure, one of the principle concerns is with the
protection of Green Space, which is currently expressed through policy G6 of the
Core Strategy.
When green space is not maintained it can fall into poor condition which can affect
its usability and make it vulnerable to loss, particularly through development. In
some cases it may be appropriate to redevelop sites but in most cases improving
existing green space should be the preferred approach. The need for the Green
Space is not reduced because of its current condition. Through the Plan we are

17

Page 211

considering whether to revise our approach to the protection of Green Space to see
if this can be improved.
Proposed Policy Options
For City Centre green space, future policy options could include:




Reviewing the site size threshold for the provision of green space
Reviewing the methodology for the calculation of sums in lieu of new green
space on site
Considering the principle of commercial sites providing green space in the
City Centre.

For wider greenspace protection and improvement consideration could be given to
whether protection could be enhanced and whether it could be extended to include
all green and blue infrastructure, such as trees, natural green space specific to
biodiversity aims, new green space etc.
Questions for consultation
5. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider new policies to
enhance green space provision within the City Centre?
6. If yes, how should policies best achieve this?

18

Page 212

Nature Conservation
Background
There is widespread recognition of the importance to protect and enhance the
natural environment and ensure habitats and biodiversity are fully considered in
planning decisions and opportunities to improve the network of habitats and green
infrastructure are utilised.
Indeed the Lawton Report “Making Space for Nature” (Sept 2010)7 reviewed
England’s wildlife sites and the connections between them and concluded that
wildlife sites are generally too small and too isolated, leading to declines in species
and a loss of natural services we depend on. The report recommends that
designated wildlife sites are better protected and managed, non-designated wildlife
sites are better protected, ecological restoration zones are established and we need
a creative approach to water-quality, inland flooding, coastal erosion and carbon
storage that will help deliver a more effective ecological network. Sites are identified
and formally designated to give protection to habitats, flora and fauna which are
important locally, regionally, nationally and internationally. Many organisations and
agencies are involved in the recognition, protection and enhancement of wildlife
habitats and geologically important sites.
In Leeds there are a number of such sites which are protected against development
and activities that would harm the sites under national and international legislation
and Policy G8 in the Core Strategy. In recognition of the importance of land that
does not meet the criteria for formal designation, the Council has identified a broader
network of habitats (statutorily and non-statutorily designated) through the Leeds
Habitat Network which is shown on Map 18 and referred to in Policy G9 in the Core
Strategy. It is important that the Leeds Habitat Network is publicly available,
however maps within Local Plans remain static, representing a snapshot in time, and
become out of date as the network changes over time.
Policy Aims


Provide robust and comprehensive protection of sites and species
recognised for their wildlife and geological significance.



Clarify existing policies and provide rationale for potential change

It is considered that existing Core Strategy policy G8 on nature conservation
designations and species is effective at protecting habitats and species and if
revised, would only require minor changes.

7

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http://archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodi
versity/documents/201009space‐for‐nature.pdf

19

Page 213

Proposed Policy Options
Future policy options could include:




Updating outdated terms (including the categories of protected sites),
references and documents so the policy is more relevant and applicable.
Adding more explicit provision for monitoring, review and updating in the
policy
Reviewing Map 18 and considering how updated versions can be made
more easily available.
Questions for consultation
7. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider a revised
policy for the protection of nature conservation designated sites and
species? If so, what would you like to see a revised policy contain?

20

Page 214

Biodiversity
Background
Biodiversity is the term used to describe the amazing variety of life on Earth. The
National Trust described biodiversity as ‘Big Nature!’8 Biodiversity has a huge role in
helping us live healthy and happy lives; it provides us with food, raw materials,
medical discoveries and what are called ecosystem services. There are also many
and varied benefits provided by the natural environment and from healthy
ecosystems such as natural pollination of crops, clean air, a supply of oxygen, clean
water, extreme weather mitigation and human mental and physical well-being,
recreation and even tourism.
The Earth’s biodiversity is in decline due to human activities such as deforestation,
land-use change, agricultural intensification, over-consumption of natural resources,
pollution and climate change. A report9 from the Intergovernmental Science-Policy
Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) in 2019 stated that nature
is declining globally at rates unprecedented in human history and the rate of species
extinctions is accelerating. The report contains some hard-hitting statistics including:








75% of global environments (excluding marine) have been “severely
altered” to date by human actions
There has been a 47%: reduction in global indicators of the range, scope
and condition of ecosystems against their estimated natural baselines, with
many continuing to decline by at least 4% per decade.
More than 85% of wetlands present in 1700 had been lost by 2000.
Wetland loss is currently happening three times faster, in percentage terms,
than forest loss.
Up to 1 million species are threatened with extinction, many within decades
More than 500,000 (+/-9%) of the world’s estimated 5.9 million terrestrial
species have insufficient habitat for long term survival without habitat
restoration

The IPBES report brings sharply into focus the global scale of the destruction of the
natural environment and the catastrophic effects this is and will increasingly continue
to have on our lives. Biodiversity and climate change are inextricably linked through
the intrinsic balance of nature and ecosystems therefore a significant change in
biodiversity will inevitably have an effect on climate.
Whilst we haven’t seen large scale destruction of rainforests in Leeds, we are seeing
incremental loss of our indigenous natural environment through habitat destruction
and a resulting loss in biodiversity. It is therefore important that we protect the
variety of life locally but also reverse the trend of losing biodiversity and achieve
improvements through “biodiversity net gain”.

8
9

https://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/features/what‐is‐biodiversity
https://ipbes.net/global‐assessment

21

Page 215

The Environment Bill (see para 1.2 above) contains a target of a minimum 10% net
gain which, subject to any revisions as the Bill progresses through parliament, is
expected to become law in 2021. Developments will then be legally required to
deliver a 10% gain for biodiversity. Defra’s Biodiversity Metric is the nationally
recognised tool to measure and quantify biodiversity on sites and will be used to
assess initial biodiversity, guide measure to deliver an improvement and assess the
resulting biodiversity to ensure adequate gain is achieved.
There is scope for biodiversity improvements to be delivered on different sites to
where development is located and details of these will be embedded in Conservation
Covenants (agreements with landowners to deliver the enhancement and
management for a minimum of 30 years). The Council will have a duty to show
where on-site and off-site Net Gain is being delivered and ensure this is achieving
the required biodiversity gains and contributing to the Government’s Nature
Recovery Network. Furthermore, it will need to produce a Local Nature Recovery
Strategy (LNRS) which will consist of a “Habitat Map” (Leeds Habitat Network Map)
and “Statement of Biodiversity Priorities”.
Policy Aims




To strengthen the requirement for improvements in biodiversity and set a
required percentage level of gain
To clarify the use of recognised methods to assess and determine levels
of biodiversity
To provide a robust policy basis for the delivery of schemes, projects and
programmes that will improve biodiversity.

Existing policies and rationale for potential change
The Council has required developments to deliver a gain for biodiversity since 2014
through Core Strategy Policy G9 and first identified the Leeds Habitat Network on
Map 18 – see nature conservation section. Policy G9 is a valuable policy and
establishes the need for development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity. However,
the declaration of the climate emergency, the contents of the Environment Bill (see
para 1.2 above), the Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan and the greater focus
on nature close to where we live due to Covid-19 has emphasised its importance
and required us to consider whether we need to be more ambitious and explicit in
the levels of biodiversity gain required through development.
Possible Approach
Whilst the elements of the Environment Bill are not legally binding yet, the Council
welcomes the introduction of a clear mandatory requirement of at least 10%
biodiversity gain on development sites and is looking to introduce specific
quantifiable requirements in policy. We must be mindful that any figure will have to
be fully justified by robust data and evidence to show it is appropriate, proportionate
and deliverable.
22

Page 216

There also needs to be a system in place to ensure improvements to biodiversity are
actually delivered on the ground in the right place, whether that is on development
sites or elsewhere where ecological opportunities and benefits can be maximised.
Planning policies need to provide a “hook” of key requirements and criteria and set
out clearly how biodiversity issues should be considered during the determination of
a planning application, supplemented by guidance. A Strategic Local Nature
Recovery Strategy for West Yorkshire could be a key mechanism for effective and
successful improvements if there was a link between the planning process and
delivering biodiversity off development sites. We will continue to think how best we
can do this though your ideas and suggestions would be most welcome.
Whilst biodiversity net gain is an extremely valuable mechanism to improve
biodiversity, planning policy and guidance can use many other ways to reverse the
loss of natural habitats and biodiversity such as protecting regionally, nationally and
internationally important habitats is covered previously. But we’d like to consider
revised policy for those important areas which don’t meet the criteria for special
protection. Using a % net gain on sites which already have a low level of biodiversity
will not result in noticeable improvements therefore we’d like your views on how the
protection and improvement of the range of habitats, flora and fauna can be at the
heart of development proposals through a focus on nature and ecological
considerations in scheme layout, design and details, including infrastructure and the
use of “green” products and technology.
Further consideration should also be given to our approach to biodiversity off-setting.
Biodiversity off-setting is a system whereby if one area of natural space is lost to
development, another area is created or restored for wildlife with the aim for an
overall biodiversity gain. This means economic activity can occur and the
environment can continue to flourish.
Proposed Policy Options
Policy options for biodiversity could include


going beyond the provisions for biodiversity net gain within the Environment
Bill and setting more ambitious targets for net gain.

Alternatively the authority could choose to retain its existing approach, either based
on the benefits of the existing policy approach or the expected provisions of the new
Environment Bill.
Questions for Consultation
8. Do you agree that the Council should revise its policy on biodiversity and
biodiversity net gain? If so, what would you like updated policies to
contain?

23

Page 217

Local Food Production
Background
Local food production is an important part of Green Infrastructure because it helps
deliver many of the benefits of GI (e.g. for biodiversity and well-being). It is also an
important part of cutting carbon in its own right because the travel and processing
associated with food generates lots of carbon emissions. Indeed food is one of the
biggest contributors to our individual carbon footprint. It is for this reason that the
Leeds Climate Commission have concluded that growing food locally and reducing
food waste are important steps in becoming a zero carbon city. Food growing can
be on a commercial scale i.e. through farming, and on a local community scale, such
as allotments.
From a commercial perspective the Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan10
notes that the UK needs to optimise sustainable national food production for both the
climate agenda and also to respond to Brexit and make the UK more self-sufficient.
They note that this can be done through improved land management and that “Agritech developments can significantly improve farm performance, in terms of both
profits and the environment.” They note that this can be achieved through more
intensive horticulture, such as polytunnels in the countryside.
Researchers from the University of Leeds recommend that Leeds can also make
better use of brownfield sites for vertical farms (agri-tech farms which use modern
techniques to grow food indoors).
From a community perspective throughout the Big Leeds Climate Conversation
local food production was a prime consideration. Growing food was the 5th most
popular pro-environmental behaviour change that respondents would make, but say
that barriers prevent them11.
Researchers from the University of Leeds recommend identifying and making better
use of urban green space including parks, housing, ex-allotment sites and allowing
better use of and meanwhile uses (which means temporarily using proposed
development sites to grow food; possibly in containers).
The Town and Country Planning Association12 specifically advocates more
community food growing. They define community food growing as “the cultivation of
land by groups based on residential estates, faith premises, places of employment,
schools or within neighbourhoods.” There is a history of this within Leeds with
10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/
25‐year‐environment‐plan.pdf
11

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s198402/Climate%20Emergency%20Report%20Annex%202%201
91219.pdf (see page 29)
12
https://www.sustainweb.org/news/apr14_planning_sustainable_cities/

24

Page 218

places like Meanwood Valley Urban Farm – a larger community farm which also
employs paid workers and organisations such as Feed Leeds, (a local version of the
national Incredible Edible project) involved with sustainable local food.
Policy Aims
Whilst there is already considerable enthusiasm and commitment to grow food
locally the planning system can help remove barriers, such has lack of access to
suitable land and through its wider Green Infrastructure policies. The proposed
policy aim for local food growing are as follows:
As a key part of the multi-faceted Green Infrastructure in Leeds and
recognising its role in the Climate Emergency, the Local Plan
encourages local / community food growing, so as to ensure that those
who wish to grow food locally have the opportunity to do so within
walking distance of their home.
From a commercial perspective it is important to be positive about commercial food
growing so that investors know that Leeds will welcome innovation and development
of the food growing sector.
Existing policies and rationale for potential change
The current Local Plan policies set the framework for Green Infrastructure and notes
in para 2.38 of the Core Strategy that:
“An integral component also of the District’s Green Infrastructure and green
space and in contributing to public health, are the networks of allotment
gardens across the City. These are important facilities in providing for local
food production (close to communities) and in contributing to local amenity
and distinctiveness.”
However, a focus purely on allotments for growing food is considered to be too
narrow, given the wider opportunities that are available and in line with a more
detailed approach on Green Infrastructure policies need to be more explicit and
recognise that food growing can occur on land other than allotments.
In terms of commercial agri-tech food growing opportunities the current Local Plan
identifies over 400 ha of land for general employment, which would allow for vertical
farming on allocated employment land and on other brownfield urban land which was
not allocated for other purposes. But it is important to note that commercial agri-tech
food growing may also be acceptable in the countryside too. The NPPF requires
that “Planning policies and decisions should enable… inter alia… the development
and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses13” and it also
allows buildings for agriculture in the Green Belt14.

13
14

NPPF para 83
NPPF para 145

25

Page 219

Possible Approach
It is proposed that at this initial stage the Plan needs to set a positive framework for
local food growing and provide more detail on how this can be achieved within a
revised approach to protecting, managing and providing new Green Infrastructure
and local place-making policy approaches being advocated elsewhere in this Local
Plan Update. The Local Plan update could therefore provide policies that:







protect existing community food growing spaces
support the provision of new community food growing spaces in or near
existing housing estates
encourage the temporary use of vacant sites and land awaiting development
require the incorporation of community food growing space in new residential
developments as part of Green Infrastructure delivery
require all development to incorporate measures that will contribute to on-site
sustainable food production as part of Green Infrastructure delivery
include community food growing in open space assessments and strategies in
their own right, distinct from consideration of allotments

Aside from strategic support for local food growing it is considered that there are
fewer opportunities to amend or set detailed policies for commercial food growing at
this stage of the Local Plan Update and that the current policies are not restrictive.
However, it is considered that when employment land policies and employment
allocations are updated in the future, the agri-tech food sector should be specifically
considered, potentially through the allocation of specific sites for this purpose. To do
this now, would also necessitate a wider look at all employment sectors as to ensure
that all sectors were considered in the round. This would not align with a focussed
scope of the Local Plan Update for the climate emergency.
Questions for Consultation
9. Do you agree that the Council should include policies to positively
promote local food production?
10. Do you think all new housing should deliver such opportunities or do you
think they should be more strategically focussed?
11. What else do you think the planning system can do to encourage local
food growing?

26

Page 220

Page 221

1

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION TOPIC PAPER
PLACE MAKING

BACKGROUND TO THE TOPIC
This topic area seeks to explore the policies that guide sustainable patterns of
development in Leeds by engaging with concepts such as the 20 minute
neighbourhood as well as focus on creating high quality and resilient buildings and
spaces designed for carbon reduction and the promotion of people’s health,
happiness and well-being.
This paper looks at both strategic place-making (spatial patterns of growth, location
of development) as well as place making in reference to detailed design
considerations at a site, development and building level:
i. Spatial criteria – strategic infrastructure;
reusing land; safe and accessible,
walkable neighbourhoods, resource
efficiency in land-use, reducing
emissions, minimising flood risk,
improving local services and job
opportunities, accessible and safe
routes of travel by sustainable transport,
mixed-use development, mixed
communities, social cohesion,
regeneration, urban design, safe public
spaces, green spaces, digitally
connected.
ii. Place/Site/building criteria – Minimise
waste (create space for composting)
(rationalise and innovate waste
collection), reduce pollution, sustainable
construction, sustainable drainage, energy efficiency, conserve & enhance
biodiversity, smart infrastructure and connectivity, safe walkable and accessible to all
communities and neighbourhoods, green and blue infrastructure (including hedges,
community gardens, green walls/roofs, SuDS & ponds and grey water usage), solar
gain and tree planting for urban cooling and carbon capture.
Taking these aspects together we propose the following objective:
Objective: to minimise carbon emissions by guiding new development to
locations that offer the best opportunity for active travel, for use of public
transport and for minimal use of private motor vehicles and to capitalize upon
a local community’s assets, inspiration and potential and create high quality,
2

Page 222

sustainable and resilient places that people want to live, work and play in and
promote people’s health, happiness and well-being.

3

Page 223

Policy Topic Areas
Strategic Place-making
Background
The intention of the Local Plan Update is to adopt new planning policy that takes
Leeds toward carbon neutrality by 2030. For place-making this means guiding new
development to locations that offer the best opportunity for active travel (by foot or
cycle) and by public transport so that travel by car is greatly reduced. Seeking the
“best opportunity” expresses the desire to optimise carbon reduction through control
of the location of new development, use of appropriate density, efficient use of land
and the creation of cohesive neighbourhoods.
It has long been considered that the most sustainable urban form is one of
concentration of uses, particularly around centres so that people can be closer to
work and other services and make use of public transport. Place making at the
strategic level is about creating places that support people to live, work and enjoy the
environment (incorporating both urban and natural aspects). Done well, place
making minimises the environmental footprint of development; it brings
environmental, economic and social elements of planning together and allows
communities to flourish.
The purpose of the planning system (as expressed through the National Planning
Policy Framework – NPPF) is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development. The NPPF sets out three objectives that broadly contribute to the
wider factors that influence sustainable and healthy places:
a) An economic objective to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in
the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and
improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of
infrastructure;
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to
meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a welldesigned and safe built environment, with accessible services and open
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’
health, social and cultural well-being; and
c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of
land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate
change, including moving to a low carbon economy.
Furthermore, the NPPF specifically sets out that planning policies and decisions
should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which promote social
4

Page 224

interaction, safe and accessible spaces and promote healthy lifestyles. It also
acknowledges that planning policies and decisions play a key role in the provision of
social, recreational and cultural services that meet community needs and support the
delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all
sections of the community.
All development plans produced in Leeds, as part of the Local Plan, have sought to
provide a framework for sustainable and healthy communities, having regard to
quality of life and to protect and enhance the environment. This is achieved through
a strategic and spatial approach and a suite of policies relating to the overall scale
and distribution of development, location, layout and fabric of places. Primarily,
(through the Core Strategy (CS)) the greatest levels of development are directed to
the existing main urban area (including the City Centre) and major settlements to
minimise travel by private car, as sustainable locations which currently provide the
greatest amount of services and facilities.
Impact of Covid-19
The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on both people and the economy, changing
the way people work, travel and shop. It’s shown a rise in the number of people
cycling and resulted in cleaner air and quieter streets. However, it’s also shown
widening inequality for those who have easy access and connection to green space
and nature and access to shops and services, and those who are disconnected from
these important facilities. The homes and neighbourhoods where people live and
work have a profound influence on mental and physical health and wellbeing, and
this has become more widely appreciated during the COVID-19 global pandemic.
The physical, economic and social characteristics of housing, places and
communities have an important influence over people’s physical and mental health
and wellbeing, and inequalities in these are related to inequalities in health. Preexisting characteristics of communities shape their resilience to the social and
economic impacts of COVID-19 containment measures. The pandemic has
generated contradictory views that people need larger homes, space and greater
distances to stay safe, and less reliance on centrally located offices given the ability
of office workers to now work from home. The lockdown restrictions have reminded
us all that place making is more important than ever in creating better spaces for
everybody and that our neighbourhoods need to be designed to support people’s
health and wellbeing. This means making walking and cycling easy; providing
affordable and safe housing, easy and safe access to green spaces and creating
opportunities for neighbours to meet.

5

Page 225

Twenty minute Neighbourhoods
The 20-minute neighbourhood concept
has become a focus for a new vision of
locational growth. The purpose of the
concept is to ensure that neighbourhoods
support strong communities and local
economies, recognising that easy and
safe walking and cycle access to services
and facilities is good for health, and that
physical activity and less reliance on the
private car reduces air pollution. This
approach to local growth and place
making around service centres and hubs
is gathering support across the world and
is an easily understood way of planning
for the way places change.
Image curtesy of TCPA, March 2021

The concept of locating development in sustainable locations is nothing new in Leeds
and the accessibility standards set out the Core Strategy go a long way in setting out
the criteria for sustainable development. The concept is further explored in the
recently published consultation document Leeds Local Transport Strategy which sets
out the Council’s ambition for Leeds to be a city where you don’t need to own a car,
where everyone has access to affordable zero carbon transport options.
Whilst beyond the role of Planning, it is important to note the Government’s role in
actively pursuing funding opportunities, including the recently launched Active Travel
Fund which presents real opportunity to create a lasting change to how people move
around towns and cities by enabling and installing infrastructure that supports safe
cycling and walking with the aim to create safe, healthy spaces where communities
can connect - where walking and cycling is the easiest, most attractive option of
movement.
For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered that
spatial growth needs to continue to follow a pattern of concentration - particularly
around the City and town centres, but with a reflection on the impacts of Covid-19
which highlighted the continued need to promote safe, walkable and accessible for
all communities and neighbourhoods.
Role of towns and local centres
The city centre provides high levels of accessibility. It is the centre of the public
transport network and within and in adjoining neighbourhoods a high density
population that offers opportunities for people to walk or cycle to work and in terms of
city centre employment, Leeds has a thriving legal, media and financial services
sector with a large amount of office floor space. Whilst the role of the City Centre
6

Page 226

may evolve, feedback from local businesses suggests that it will still have a crucial
role to play in the provision of office space, allowing for home working with more
flexibility for “collaboration space”.
Leeds also has 60 town and local centres designated in the Local Plan. These serve
as hubs for local residents to access local shops and services. They can form the
base for rolling out the concept of walkable neighbourhoods, whereby residents can
access all the facilities that they need within a short walk of 15-20 minutes.
The role of Green and Blue Infrastructure
The importance of integrating the natural environment with the urban environment is
a key part of creating successful places, not only in ensuring that places of wildlife
and nature conservation value are protected but that new development creates new
opportunities to deliver enhanced or new green infrastructure ensuring that the
benefits of green and blue infrastructure are integral to healthy spaces. There is
growing evidence on the positive psychological and well-being role created where
there is a relationship between people and nature. This “nature connectedness” has
a strong influence in terms of behaviours around pro-environmentalism and
addressing climate change.
The benefits for biodiversity are also benefits for people and for place and this cycle
of relationships is further explored in the Green Infrastructure topic of this Local Plan
Update.
Current Policy
The current Leeds Local Plan has sought to provide a framework for sustainable and
healthy communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. This is achieved through a strategic and spatial approach and a suite
of policies relating to the overall scale and distribution of development, location,
layout and fabric of places.
Core Strategy policy is structured around a Settlement Hierarchy of City Centre,
Main Urban Area, Major Settlements and Smaller Settlements; through this, new
development is channelled toward the urban areas, to avoid travel by private car, as
sustainable locations because these places have access to a range of services via
public transport and walking. Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy is the principal policy
which guides development toward previously developed land, town centre uses to
centres and economic development towards identified and suitable locations. It also
expects regard to be given to the character of place and the role of infrastructure
including waterways, and protection of European environmental designations.
The existing Site Allocations Plan already provides for a range of housing and
employment allocations and these “in principle” locations for development will not be
amended through the Local Plan Update. However, Policy H2 sets locational criteria
7

Page 227

for non-allocated (i.e. windfall) housing sites. It expects new development to be of a
scale appropriate to the capacity of local infrastructure and is to be read alongside
Policy T2 which sets accessibility requirements for new development with particular
standards set out in Table 1 of Appendix 3 of the Core Strategy. Additional criteria
are applicable to green field sites concerning their intrinsic environmental value.
For new employment uses, Policy EC1 sets out preferential locational criteria to
guide the making of allocations for general employment land. These follow Policy
SP1 in giving priority to urban areas of the settlement hierarchy, to regeneration
areas, to existing employment areas and to complement housing in major urban
extensions. Policy EC2 sets out locations for offices, which focusses on the City
Centre and town centres, in accordance with national policy recognising office as a
town centre use.
Rational for an Enhanced Policy Framework
For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered that
spatial growth, in line with the emerging Leeds Transport Strategy, should continue
to follow a pattern of concentration particularly around the City and town centres and
with less development in relatively unsustainable locations, and promote walkable
neighbourhoods. It is also considered that this should apply to the location of
general employment in appropriate locations. In this context, consideration needs to
be given to how best to successfully integrate the 20-minute neighbourhood concept
into the Leeds Local Plan and to guide the determination of planning applications
The role of the Local Plan Update is to consider how the Council’s ambition for
Leeds to be a city where you don’t need to own a car, where everyone has access to
affordable zero carbon transport options can be addressed and supported through
planning policy.
There is also an opportunity to ensure that the key principles of sustainable
development and strategic place making, supporting the Climate Emergency targets
and ambitions aligned with health and well-being and inclusive growth are further
highlighted, front and centre in the Local Plan.
Future Policy Options
Focused on strategic place making the focus of the consultation is to consider a
policy framework which either alters policies SP1 and H2, or introduces a new
strategic policy on this topic. It is not considered necessary to alter policies relating
to the making of allocations (SP6, SP7, SP10, H7, EC1 and EC2). It is considered
that the review of these policies would be best to take place when new allocations
are required.

8

Page 228

Consultation Questions
Does Leeds need a local policy definition of sustainability?
What does a ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ mean to you? Do you agree that
Leeds should aim to create 20 minute neighbourhoods?
How might planning policy support living in a City where you do not need to
own a car?
Should Leeds introduce a presumption against car dependent development aiming to encourage independent mobility, by bike, wheelchair, public
transport or on foot for all users?

9

Page 229

HIGH QUALITY, RESILIENT AND HEALTHY PLACES
Background
The vision for Leeds is to have a strong policy framework that ensures planning
policy and decisions achieve healthy, inclusive, safe, resilient and adaptable places
(spaces and buildings); that Leeds is designed to achieve a better and more
sustainable future for all, reflecting the 17 interlinked Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs).
The evidence needed on a policy for high quality and sustainable places is
qualitative however the many reports on climate mitigation and adaption return to
quality of place being central to achieving well designed places that respond to the
impacts of climate change through mitigation (reducing greenhouse gas emissions
and minimising embodied energy) and adaptation (such as rising temperatures and
increased risk of flooding).
The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) published
the National Design Guide – Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and
successful places in October 2019. This makes clear that creating high quality
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve. The guide illustrates how well-designed places that are beautiful,
enduring and successful can be achieved in practice.
In August 2020 the Government published a White Paper Consultation on Planning
Reform which introduces discussions on a radical transformation of the planning
system including recognition that “there is not enough focus on design, and little
incentive for high quality new homes and places: There is insufficient incentive within
the process to bring forward proposals that are beautiful and which will enhance the
environment, health, and character of local areas”. It further identifies that the
planning system needs a new focus on design and sustainability, with a greater
focus on ‘place making’ and ‘creation of beautiful places’.
The MHCLG have followed this with publishing (29th January 2021) their consultation
on changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The text has been
revised to implement policy changes in response to the Building Better, Building
Beautiful Commission “Living with Beauty” report1. The consultation is also seeking
views on the draft National Model Design Code, which provides detailed guidance on
the production of design codes, guides and policies to promote successful design.
The government believes “that design codes are important because they provide a
framework for creating healthy, environmentally responsive, sustainable and
distinctive places, with a consistent and high-quality standard of design. This can
1

Living with beauty: Report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission – an Independent report on
how to promote and increase the use of high-quality design for new build homes and neighbourhoods.
Published 30 January 2020 (MHCLG)

10

Page 230

provide greater certainty for communities about the design of development and bring
conversations about design to the start of the planning process, rather than the end”.
There is also much research on the relationship between planning and good design
and health benefits (Healthy by Design, NHS England, 2018) that share the benefits
of addressing climate change (mitigation and adaption) through improvements to the
layout and form of buildings and spaces and better use of resources that has clear
physiological and psychological health benefits. This is reflected locally in the Leeds
2014 Director of Public Health Report “Planning a Healthy City: housing growth in
Leeds” which considered the detailed ways that Leeds could plan a healthy city
around housing growth reflecting on the need to connect the public health benefits of
good urban design and planning to people, place and the planning process.

Following the 2014 Planning a Healthy City report, an internal officer group of cross
departmental interests have established a Planning and Design for Health and
Wellbeing and Climate Change group looking at influencing the built environment
and has drawn together the key principles diagram above. These three principles
promote:
11

Page 231





Active neighbourhoods – promoting cycling and walking, reducing car usage
and improving children’s opportunities for independent mobility.
Better air quality and green space – using green and blue infrastructure to
provide opportunities for outdoor recreation and promote mental wellbeing.
Cohesive communities – encouraging co-located services and high quality
neighbourhood spaces to encourage social interaction and combat isolation.

With regard to the Council’s Children’s and Young People’s
Plan (2018-2023) and the vision for Leeds to be the best city in
the UK and the best city for children and young people to grow
up in (Leeds to be a child friendly city), there is much urban
design and health research2 that recognises the relationship and influences
between urban design and quality of spaces and streets on the physical,
social and cognitive development of children. It is important to consider the
design of places and spaces (such as greening streets, creating natural
play areas, providing flexible spaces and safe routes) with a focused need
to provide for family and children. Designing successful places and spaces
for children means creating spaces and places that are liveable and
inclusive and fully benefit all ages and abilities.
Leeds Local Plan has sought to provide a framework for sustainable and healthy
communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. As covered in the first part of this paper, this is achieved through a
strategic and spatial approach and policies relating to the overall scale, distribution
and location of development. Further, as will be covered in this second part of the
paper, all development proposals are subject to a suite of specific and more detailed
place making policies on the layout and fabric of places (covering design, housing,
employment, natural environment, green space/public open spaces, transport) to
achieve a layout, design and fabric efficiency which both mitigates climate change
and addresses impacts, such as flooding but also has clear physiological and
psychological benefits on health and well-being.
To that end, planning for sustainable place making is embedded within Leeds Local
Plan as part of an integrated approach. The detailed design principles of place
making reflects the origins between health and planning in the ‘Housing and Town
Planning Act of 1909’ (and subsequent re-writes) when urban planning was being
advanced to mitigate the consequences of the industrial age to provide healthy living
spaces and environments. In this context, well designed places have layouts, forms
and mix of uses that:
2

‘Cities Alive: Designing for Urban Childhoods’ published December 2017 (Arups) and ‘Housing Design for
Community Life’ published November 2016 (ZCD Architects)

12

Page 232









reduce the requirements on resources (land, energy and water) - assisting in
increasing the ability for Co2 absorption, sustaining natural ecosystems and
minimising flood risk and potential for flooding and reducing overheating and
pollution;
take advantage of typography and layout - achieving passive solar gain,
retaining and planting new trees for shade and urban heating and carbon
capture and other biodiversity opportunities such as hedgerows, green
walls/roofs and ponds and access to healthy food/food sustainability.
are fit for purpose and are adaptable - providing and linking to sustainable
transport, walking and cycling and promotion of safe walkable and accessible
for all developments and 15/20-minute neighbourhoods where daily needs are
met locally – critical not only for a low carbon and healthy future but also for
resilient places in light of the pandemic.
Design out crime (open, well lit, observable places) as this has a positive
impact on mental health and wellbeing.

Case study: Climate Innovation District - Designed by CITU Design, a sustainable property developer
committed to tackling climate change by creating better places to live, work and play. Homes are timber
framed, manufactured on site, and zero carbon. The location in a riverside setting enables a focus on
biodiversity and green sustainable travel.

Place making integrates all of these policy strands but this paper focuses only on
design and quality. For more detail on the other topics of this Local Plan Update
please refer to the other background documents on Carbon Reduction, Flood Risk,
Green Infrastructure and Sustainable Infrastructure.
Current Policy
Leeds’ current Core Strategy Policy P10 and Saved UDP policy GP5 set out the
requirements of all development to consider normal development management
considerations and design principles. These are well established and well used
13

Page 233

policies and are supplemented by detailed design guidance in the Neighbourhoods
for Living and Building for Today Tomorrow Sustainable Construction Supplementary
Planning guides.
The reasoning for Policy P10 is set out in the supporting text of the Core Strategy at
paragraph 5.3.41 and is worth repeating here:
“Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development and essential in
creating places in which current and future generations can enjoy a high
quality of life which is fulfilling and healthy. Good design goes beyond
aesthetic considerations and should address the connections between people
and places and the integration of new development into the built environment.
Design can also assist in tackling the most cross cutting issues of sustainable
development such as climate change, car dependence, community cohesion
and health and wellbeing. The vast majority of people who live and work in the
Leeds City Region do so in an urban environment. Their quality of life
depends heavily upon the quality of their environment. In order to continue its
economic success in a sustainable manner, and in order to achieve its aim of
being the Best City in the UK by 2030, Leeds must build upon and retain the
high quality of its built, historic and natural environment”.
In line with the NPPF the determination of planning applications needs to be
considered against the Development Plan and all development control
considerations. As such Saved Policy GP5 (UDP, 2006) sets out a high level and
general policy against which all development is to be assessed. This provides the
relevant policy hooks to other parts of the Local plan on matters such as acceptable
provision of vehicular access, surface and foul water sewer disposal, car parking,
greenspace, landscape and detailed design considerations.
The Core Strategy further sets out detailed policies as to the mix, type (older peoples
accommodation; Gypsy and Traveller accommodation) density, affordability and
space standards of new homes, alongside greenspace and green and blue
infrastructure, connectivity and accessibility which when read together help to inform
and shape ‘place making’.
Rational for an enhanced Policy Framework
Policy P10 whilst embedding strong place making principles lacks strategic weight
and there are clear opportunities to strengthen and heighten the signposting to other
technical implementation policies that have a clear cross-over (i.e. green space;
green infrastructure (green and blue); accessibility; space standards, energy and
resources). Current policy also lacks explicit referencing to health and well-being and
climate emergency.
It is not proposed that this Local Plan Update considers the current Core Strategy
Policies on mix, type (older people’s accommodation; Gypsy and Traveller
accommodation) density, affordability and space standards of new homes. However
please refer to the separate topic papers on Carbon Reduction, Flood Risk, Green

14

Page 234

Infrastructure and Sustainable Infrastructure which all integrate into good ‘place
making’.
Future Policy Options
Local Plan Update options include rewriting policy P10 to provide the relevant
signposting to other (existing and proposed) Leeds Local Plan technical
implementation policies and provide heighted references to “health and well-being”,
“climate change”, “high quality place making” and “sustainable active travel”. The
alternative is the introduction of a new strategic policy to provide a stronger hook for
design and place making upfront in the Local Plan, whilst also championing the
importance of 20-minute neighbourhoods, linked with the opportunity to relook at
Policy SP1 and H2 and T2 under Strategic Place-making. There is also the
opportunity to integrate Saved Policy GP5, thus helping to simplify the Local Plan
and the number of policies.
The Local Plan Update provides the opportunity to ensure that the principles of place
making are front and centre in the Local Plan and underpin all the thematic/technical
policies.
Consultation Questions
Question: How would you priorities these users of residential streets, in order
of importance? Busses, Cars, Cyclists, Pedestrians (including wheelchair
users).
Question: Do you agree that more emphasis should be placed on climate
change and health and wellbeing matters in future design policies and
guidance? If so, how would you like to see this happen?

15

Page 235

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 237

1

Sustainable Infrastructure Topic Paper
Introduction to the Topic
This topic paper covers a specific range of different types of infrastructure which all
have a role to play in supporting sustainable development and responding to the
climate emergency. This includes transport infrastructure, considering the proposed
High Speed 2 and West Yorkshire Mass Transit schemes, as well as the growth of
Leeds City Station and Leeds Bradford Airport. It also considers digital infrastructure,
and access to reliable and high speed data networks. Whilst there are other types of
infrastructure including health and education, these are not proposed to form a part of
this LPU because they are not directly provided by the Council or housebuilders, are
for the market to deliver or they are covered by existing policy.
For each topic, general background is provided, and the current policy position is
outlined. The reasons that we are considering enhancing the planning framework
relating to these types of infrastructure, and what a policy could potentially address, is
then identified. This includes:


Leeds Station and HS2: preparing for and maximising the benefits that the
national High Speed 2 rail infrastructure project may bring to the City should it
be built. This includes shaping the development of Leeds Station, integrating
the HS2 line into our city and seeking opportunities for new green and public
spaces to be created alongside HS2;



Mass Transit: preparing for any mass transit system that is provided in Leeds
so that it can align with wider spatial priorities and deliver wider benefits;



Leeds Bradford Airport: managing the development of Leeds Bradford Airport
and access to it in a sustainable manner;



Digital Connectivity: supporting reliable, high-speed data at work, home and
whilst on the move, so that Leeds is a modern, resilient and efficient economy
which can support increased remote working;

Consultation questions for each topic are then set out. These aim to gain insight into
the views of residents, businesses and other interested parties about the proposals
and what future planning policy should do or say.
As we are at an early stage in the plan making process, the level of detail provided on
each topic varies. This reflects that some of the infrastructure schemes that the
policies proposed to respond to – such as High Speed 2 and the growth and
development of Leeds Station – have been in preparation for a number of years, and
so more detailed information about the proposals (and the potential role of planning
policy) is known. Other proposals – such as for Mass Transit – are at a much earlier
stage of development, and specific details are still being worked on.
It is important to recognise that some of the schemes that the topics in this paper
respond to are being advanced by organisations other than Leeds City Council. For
example High Speed 2 is being driven forward by central government, and the Mass
Transit scheme is led by West Yorkshire Combined Authority. This consultation is not
about getting views on the principle of these schemes in themselves, but about how
they should be addressed or responded through new or revised planning policies.
2

Page 238

Leeds Station and HS2
Background
The railway network is hugely important for Leeds’ economy and the decarbonising of
transport. Over the next two decades Leeds Station, which is already the busiest in
the north of England, is expected to see passenger numbers double as more people
choose to travel by more sustainable modes of transport. We will also see substantial
investment being made into our railway infrastructure, with the High Speed 2 (HS2)
and Northern Powerhouse Rail schemes having the potential to transform our intercity
connections.
The Planning System will have an important role to play in supporting this change by
helping to guide and manage the implications that it has for buildings and the use of
land, so that the benefits are maximised and any potential adverse impacts are limited.
This paper sets out some initial
ideas about how we might
introduce a new planning policy
for Leeds that responds to this. It
focusses particularly on the
redevelopment of Leeds Station
and on the implications that HS2
would have for the use of land
under and around the line, as this
is where we think that there is a
particular need to enhance and
strengthen the planning policy
framework.
There is currently some uncertainty about which combination of rail network
improvements the Government will prioritise for funding, including which aspects of
Northern Powerhouse Rail will be taken forward and whether the HS2 network will
reach Leeds. However, despite this, we believe that it is important for us to consider
the implications that the different options may have in terms of land use and planning
policy requirements now. This is to make sure that we are on the ‘front-foot’ when
these decisions are made by Government, and can quickly respond by getting the
necessary policies into place as part of the Local Plan update. This will mean that we
are in the best position to maximise the benefits that investment in the rail network and
station presents for Leeds, and to minimise any potential adverse impacts that it could
have.

What is proposed at Leeds Station?
To accommodate the predicted doubling of passenger numbers at Leeds Station
significant investment and development is going to be required. This will be phased
over a number of years to ensure that the station can continue to function throughout
the construction work. To make sure that all of the different phases of development
3

Page 239

work together to respond to all the various opportunities and challenges that the
redevelopment presents, a Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan (LISM) has been
prepared1. This outlines proposals for a £500m development that will create a new
station campus. It aims to improve the experience of everyone using the station by
increasing pedestrian capacity, supporting the regeneration of the South Bank, and
incorporating the High Speed Two (HS2), Transpennine Upgrade (TRU) and Northern
Powerhouse Rail (NPR) improvements. It will also create opportunities for significant
new commercial and residential development in the centre of Leeds.
In October 2020 planning permission was granted2 for various improvements and
alterations to the station. This enables the creation of a fully accessible multi-modal
transport hub, with free flowing pedestrian movement out of the station to the city
centre and wider city areas. It involves various improvements to the arrival space to
the front of the station, which reduces the flow of vehicular traffic, improves
connectivity and creates a safer and more welcoming environment for pedestrians and
cyclists using the station and adjacent streets. It also includes the creation of a new
purpose built taxi shelter, and environmental enhancements to the area under the
Neville Street Bridge and along Dark Neville Street to make these places feel safer
and more attractive for users.
Further applications are expected to come forward in the future, to enable the delivery
of additional improvements to the station and to increase its capacity.

What is HS2 and how will it be granted consent?

1

https://southbankleeds.co.uk/assets/documents/2017.11.03‐Leeds‐Integrated‐Station‐Masterplan‐LR‐v6‐
DS.pdf
2
Application reference no. 20/02048/FU

4

Page 240

High Speed 2 (HS2) is a new high speed rail line proposed by the Government to link
London to Leeds, Birmingham and Manchester. It will serve over 25 stations,
connecting around 30 million people. By enabling fast trains to travel on their own
dedicated tracks, it will free up space on the existing lines for increased commuter and
freight services. In doing so HS2 aims to support the transition to a net zero carbon
economy, by providing greater opportunities for people to travel by lower carbon forms
of transport.
It is proposed that the HS2 line will be delivered in three phases:




Phase 1: linking London to Birmingham
Phase 2a: linking Birmingham to Crewe
Phase 2b: split into two legs, with the western leg connecting Crewe to
Manchester and the eastern leg connecting Birmingham to Leeds.

The new HS2 lines will connect with the existing rail network, enabling HS2 services
to run onwards on existing lines, and will also be integrated with other rail
investments including Northern Powerhouse Rail and Midlands Engine Rail.

Figure 1 – HS2 route map
Within Leeds, it is proposed3 that the HS2 rail line will enter the district from the South
close to M62 J31, with the line of the route splitting to the south east of Oulton. The
Leeds spur will enter a tunnel under Woodlesford, before continuing on a viaduct
through Stourton and Hunslet and arriving into a new, integrated train station which is
connected to the existing station by a common concourse. The mainline continues
north between Woodlesford and Swillington, including a 2km viaduct over the River
Aire, and then to the north of Garforth before continuing on to Church Fenton. A rolling
stock depot (RSD) is proposed in the Temple Green area (part of the Leeds Enterprise
Zone), immediately adjoining the western side of the M1.

3

This is based on the route plans published as part of the consultation on the Working Draft Environmental
Statement in October 2018, read alongside the revisions made as part of the Design Refinement Consultation
in July 2019 and the update to the safeguarding area boundary published in July 2020.

5

Page 241

Progress on the eastern leg of Phase 2b (which is the part of the line that will travel to
Leeds) is currently paused pending the publication, by the Government, of an
Integrated Rail Plan for the North and the Midlands. This is expected to be published
in 2021.
HS2 is being driven forward by central government. To do this, the Government has
established HS2 Ltd, a non-departmental public body, who are responsible for
overseeing the development and operation of HS2. HS2 Ltd are funded by the
Secretary of State for Transport and are sponsored by the Department for Transport
(DfT). They are responsible for deciding the route of the line, preparing all the evidence
base studies and assessments underpinning the proposals, seeking the necessary
approvals for the scheme and then managing its construction and operation.
Due to the scale of the HS2 project, and the range of statutory powers and
authorisations that a project of its size and complexity requires, the Government
intends to grant planning permission (and the other necessary approvals) for the
construction and operation of HS2 through hybrid Bills. A hybrid Bill is set of proposals
for introducing new laws, or changing exiting ones, that address both public and
private matters. They are generally used to secure powers to construct and operate
major infrastructure projects of national importance, for example the Channel Tunnel
Rail Link and Crossrail.
The route and form of the HS2 route, the measures to be taken to minimise or offset
any adverse impacts associated with the construction or operation of the line, and the
location, boundaries and heights of the new HS2 part of Leeds Station will all agreed
through the hybrid Bill. Through the hybrid Bill, HS2 Ltd will also be given powers to;







operate and maintain HS2 and its associated works;
compulsorily acquire interests in the land required;
affect or change rights of way, including stopping up or diverting highways and
waterways (permanently or temporarily);
modify infrastructure belonging to other organisations (like utility companies);
carry out work on listed buildings and demolish buildings in Conservation Areas;
and
carry out protective works to buildings and third-party infrastructure.

The planning consent provided by the hybrid Bill is, broadly speaking, similar to an
outline planning permission. Leeds City Council will not have any authority over
determining the above matters.
What role does Leeds City Council have in planning HS2?
As outlined above, HS2 is being led by HS2 Ltd and will be decided on by central
government through the hybrid Bill process. Over the last few years we have been
actively engaging with DfT and HS2 Ltd to try and secure a scheme design which
minimises impacts on our communities, businesses and the environment, and

6

Page 242

maximises the economic and regeneration opportunities it presents for us. This has
included;





Responding to the HS2 Phase 2 route announcement in 2013 and securing
subsequent changes to the design, including an integrated station design and
a tunnel rather than viaduct design through Woodlesford,
Responding to HS2’s consultation on the Working Draft Environmental
Statement for HS2 (WDES) in December 2018;
Responding to the DfT’s consultation on the design refinement in September
2019, which revised the plans to propose a viaduct based scheme between
Woodlesford and Leeds Station.

As part of this, we have sought a number of changes to the HS2 plans, which we hope
will be addressed through the final proposals for the line that will be set out in the
hybrid Bill.
In the event that HS2 does not make all of the changes or requests we ask when the
Bill when it is submitted to Government, there will be a further opportunity for us (and
any other interested residents or stakeholders) to respond to a public consultation on
the Environment Statement supporting the Bill. We (and other interested parties) will
also be able to petition and seek amendments to be made as the Bill makes its way
through Parliament. This gives us the opportunity to make the case to the Select
Committee responsible for considering the Bill about why we consider amendments
are necessary.
The consent granted by the hybrid Bill is, broadly speaking, similar to an outline
planning permission. As part of the Bill, Local Planning Authorities can opt to become
a ‘Qualifying Authority’ which has limited powers to approve detailed matters related
to the scheme. It is expected that we (Leeds City Council) would opt to become a
Qualifying Authority.
The issues that we would be able to consider when determining applications for
detailed elements of the scheme would be likely to include whether the works ought
to be modified to preserve the local environment or local amenity, prevent prejudicial
effects on the free flow of traffic, or preserve a site or archaeological or historic interest
or nature conservation value. It is important to note, however, that refusals can only
be justified where the development could reasonably be carried out within the
boundary of the scheme as set out in the Hybrid Bill.
The Council will also have direct responsibility for managing non-HS2 development
under and around the HS2 line (before, during and after construction of HS2). These
applications will be considered through the ‘usual’ planning application process
overseen by Leeds City Council, with HS2 Ltd being consulted on the application
where appropriate.

Vision

7

Page 243

We want to support the role of Leeds Station as key part of the City Centre. We want
to see it redeveloped to make the most of the potential it holds to enhance the
experience of those using the station, incorporating the new HS2 line and Northern
Powerhouse Rail upgrades and supporting the expected growth in the number of
passengers choosing to use more sustainable forms of transport. We want to see the
station form a ‘world class’ and welcoming entrance to our City, which improves
connectivity north-south and east-west across the city centre, and complements the
offer of the rest of the City Centre and the South Bank. We want the energy efficiency
of the station to be maximised, in line with our overarching objective to address the
climate emergency.
We want to ensure that the potential social, environmental and economic benefits of
HS2 for Leeds, and the areas and communities around the line, are capitalised on,
and that any potential adverse impacts are avoided wherever possible, and minimised
or mitigated where not. We want to use the planning system to help support this where
possible, recognising that consent for the HS2 line itself would be granted through the
hybrid Bill process.
We know that to enable the construction of the HS2 line, land along and surrounding
the proposed route would be acquired by HS2 Ltd and cleared. Once the construction
phase is complete, this land would no longer be required by HS2 Ltd. We also know
that the HS2 line is proposed to travel along a viaduct between Woodlesford and Leeds
City Centre. We want to ensure that, when the HS2 line is in operation, best use is
made of the land under and surrounding the line. In some areas, this could see the
land reverting to its previous use, but in others (particularly in the urban area between
Stourton and the City Centre) it could include re-designating it as development land,
as land for public space and recreation, for landscaping and ecological enhancements,
to provide pedestrian, cycling and vehicular connections, or for uses associated with
the operation of the railways. We want all of these uses to integrate well into the
surrounding area, supporting regeneration and connecting to, complementing and
enhancing our existing green infrastructure and transport networks.
The development of the HS2 line may affect sites which are allocated for development,
or which are currently in use by businesses. We want to ensure that the creation of
the HS2 line does not adversely affect the ability of Leeds to meet our city-wide needs
for employment land, and ensure that provision is made to meet changing needs and
displacement impacts.
We have an aspiration for a pedestrian and cycle link to be created along the full length
of the HS2 line, though we recognise that in some locations this may be technically
challenging. We also want to ensure that the development associated with HS2 and
Leeds Station minimises any risk of flooding, with sustainable urban drainage systems
that reduce run off and improve water quality to any receiving water courses or sewers.
In addition, we would like heritage assets along the HS2 corridor to be protected and
enhanced, and for opportunities for their sustainable use and re-use to be taken.
We know that the construction of HS2 would be likely to take around 10 years. As not
all of the land within the construction boundary is likely to be used consistently
throughout this period, we would like to see temporary ‘meanwhile’ uses take place.
8

Page 244

This could include a range of temporary greening measures, cultural, community or
commercial uses occur around the line, which help to keep the area attractive and
vibrant during the construction phase.

Current Policy Position
Leeds Station is mentioned on multiple occasions within existing policy documents
(including the Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plan and Aire Valley Leeds AAP). The
important role of the station as a regional transport hub is recognised and supported.
However, there is no specific policy to guide the future development of the station.
HS2 is referenced in the Core Strategy, SAP and Aire Valley Leeds AAP. The
indicative route is shown on the Core Strategy Key Diagram, and support to the
scheme in principle is given by Spatial Policy 12(i). Through the preparation of the
AAP and SAP efforts were made to ensure that policies, allocations and designations
do not conflict with the safeguarded area of HS2. However, timing of all of these
documents meant that plans for HS2 were not sufficiently advanced to enable it to be
considered in detail. The South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework SPD does
contain some guidance relating to the HS2 element of Leeds Station and the
integration of the line into the city, but this only covers the South Bank area and does
not have full weight as policy.

Rationale for Enhanced Policy Framework

9

Page 245

Leeds Station
The existing references to Leeds Station in our Local Plan documents do not
specifically recognise or reflect the extent and scale of change that is now proposed
at the station to increase its capacity, incorporate rail infrastructure improvements and
enhance the user experience. They also do not recognise the potential for significant
new commercial floorspace to be created as part of these works. Furthermore, the
redevelopment
and
expansion
of
the
station will be phased
over a number of
years. This will make it
particularly important
for all schemes for
development in and
around the station
work
together
to
achieve the overall
ambitions
for
the
transformed
Integrated
Station.
Whilst the South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework SPD does include some
masterplanning principles for the Integrated Station, these do not have full weight as
policy. Enhancing the policy framework for the station would help support the delivery
of our vision and maximise the potential benefits associated with the redevelopment
of the station for the City, and the wider sub-region.
HS2
The hybrid Bill for HS2 will be focussed on the construction and operation of the railway
infrastructure, and the measures to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts. It will
not include the development of any residual land following construction, or integration
into surrounding areas outside of the red line boundary. This leaves a gap which could
make the delivery of our vision more challenging, particularly in the urban area where
the line and viaduct will have many implications for buildings and the use of land.
It is considered that the potential benefits of strengthening the planning policy
framework relating to HS2 are twofold:
1) It would ensure that the Council is the best position to manage the
consequential development / land use implications that result from HS2 through
the planning process. This will ensure that proposals, particularly in the urban
areas where HS2 will open up new brownfield development opportunities
and/or the potential for changes in land use, relate well to wider regeneration
plans and support key council strategies and priorities. It also provides the
opportunity to secure appropriate mitigation for the scheme (which may go
beyond that currently proposed by HS2 Ltd). This will help to maximise the
10

Page 246

potential benefits associated with HS2, and minimise any potential adverse
impacts.
2) It would provide a clear statement of the aspirations and expectations of Leeds
City Council in relation to the detailed design and construction of HS2, with
particular regard to its integration into the City. Whilst planning policy
documents will not hold the same statutory weight in the hybrid Bill process as
they do in the planning application process, they nonetheless would be a
relevant consideration that could be signposted to in responding to any future
consultations on HS2 and/or the petitioning process to support the Council’s
case.

Proposed policy options
At this stage, we are looking at creating a new Core Strategy policy, which creates a
high level framework for considering proposals that are relevant to the development
of the station and HS2. The specific implications that HS2 it has for particular sites
(including the need for any new or revised allocations) would be addressed in due
course, through the review processes for the AVLAAP and SAP. The phasing of this
work reflects that it is likely to be a number of years before any sites affected by the
HS2 line would become available for (re)development, and so allocations are not a
necessity at the current point
in time. This will also
minimise the potential for
abortive work if changes are
made to the HS2 scheme.
In the future, we could also
look to prepare further
guidance that supports the
integration of HS2 into the
urban fabric of Leeds. This
could provide more detailed
information
about
the
opportunities,
aspirations
and expectations for development in particular areas / specific plots under and around
the line, and how they relate to the regeneration and development plans for the wider
area.
There are a number of options about what a strategic policy on Leeds Station and HS2
could address. This includes;
1) Leeds Station – it could provide support for the growth and development of the
station. As part of this, it could give formal weight to the design principles that
have been devised to guide its development and ensure the redevelopment of
the existing station, and the new HS2 station, come together to form a single
11

Page 247

integrated station. It could highlight the importance of improving access through
the station to enhance connectivity and permeability, including through the
provision of a second southern entrance. It could also indicate how much new
floorspace might be likely to be developed at the station, the uses that would
be appropriate, and the importance of this complementing the offer of the wider
City Centre and South Bank.
2) Development opportunities – it could identify the types of uses that would be
appropriate alongside (or under) different parts of the new HS2 line, recognising
that uses suitable around the Station may be likely to differ those which are
appropriate in Hunslet or in Stourton. It could also highlight the importance of
taking opportunities to protect and enhance heritage assets along the rail
corridor through their sustainable re-use and ensuring that surrounding
development is sensitive to their presence.
3) Integration with the Green Space network – it could emphasise the
importance of any new public spaces created alongside or underneath the HS2
line complementing and connecting into the city’s existing green space network.
There may be an opportunity for a new public park to be developed in Stourton,
which incorporates the drainage and flood alleviation infrastructure that will be
needed for the proposed HS2 Rolling Stock Depot, and this could be given
specific support through the policy. The policy could also provide specific
support for the expansion for Rothwell Country Park and Water Haigh
Woodland Park, which we know would be adversely impacted by the
construction of the HS2 line and their expansion could help to sure a long term
benefit.
4) Maximising the potential contribution to addressing climate change – it
could highlight the importance of any new buildings (such as the HS2 element
of the station and the Rolling Stock Depot) being built to high standards of
energy efficiency. It could also support the provision of new Green Infrastructure
under and around the HS2 line, additional tree planting, and the provision of
flood alleviation and sustainable urban drainage measures.
5) Pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes – it could outline the importance of
supporting and enhancing permeability as part of HS2 by protecting and
enhancing existing public rights of ways and bridleways wherever possible, and
of ensuring that new pedestrian and cycle routes are created alongside (and
across) the rail corridor which connect to and complement the wider network.
6) Temporary ‘meanwhile’ uses – it could encourage temporary greening
measures or cultural, community and commercial uses of land within the HS2
construction boundary in periods where it is not actively required for
construction purposes, to help keep these areas attractive and vibrant during
the long construction phase.

12

Page 248

If the plans for the eastern leg of HS2 (which would connect Birmingham to Leeds) are
significantly altered or are not progressed by the Government this would have
implications for the scope of this policy. However, even in the absence of HS2, it is
considered that there could still be a role for a policy which focussed specifically on
guiding and shaping the development of Leeds Station, and any associated works
needed as part of delivering Northern Powerhouse Rail or any other rail network
investments.
Questions for consultation
1. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include a new policy on
Leeds Station and HS2?
2. If so, what are you views on the suggestion that this policy could focus
on Leeds Station, development opportunities, integration with the Green
Space network, climate change, pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes
and temporary uses?

Whilst we think this policy is important, and will help to strength our position in
steering development at Leeds Station and responding to the implications that HS2
will have for Leeds, it is important to recognise the limitations that this policy would
have.
As explained in the background section of this paper, HS2 is a project of central
government and is being delivered by HS2 Ltd. Permission for it will be sought
through Parliament, though the hybrid Bill process. As a result this, consultation is
focussed solely on the principle of creating a planning policy in Leeds which
focusses on the growth and development of Leeds Station, and the implications that
HS2 would have for the use of land under and surrounding the line. The consultation
does not provide an opportunity to debate the principle of creating HS2 in the first
place, the line of the route or the mitigation measures that HS2 Ltd are proposing (or
any details about the scheme itself). This lies out of the control of Leeds City
Council, and so such comments would need to be directed towards HS2 Ltd and the
government.

13

Page 249

Mass Transit
Background
The draft Leeds Transport Strategy sets out a vision for Leeds to be a city where you
don’t need a car and where everyone has an affordable zero carbon choice in how
they travel. It acknowledges that a significant number of new jobs are forecasted in
Leeds City Centre over the next 10-15 years, and that this will put extra pressure on
the already heavily congested transport system. If transport capacity is insufficient,
not everyone will be able to access the employment opportunities in the City, which
in turn could constrain city centre employment and development. There is also a vital
need to respond to the Climate Emergency declaration by reducing transport related
emissions across the city.
Investment in public transport infrastructure capacity can help address these issues.
The draft Leeds Transport Strategy sets a vision for a fully integrated low carbon
transport network. It aligns with the wider vision of the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority (WYCA) for a modern, integrated transport system for West Yorkshire. It is
proposed this will include improved walking, cycling, bus and rail networks alongside
a new ‘Mass Transit’ network. ‘Mass Transit’ is the term used to describe a largescale public transport system, which typically uses modern high capacity buses,
trams and tram-train vehicles (or a combination of these). The vision of the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) is that Mass Transit can fill the gap in public
transport provision between bus services and heavy rail, adding capacity to the key
corridors within the city region, making it easier for more people to access more jobs.
A city region mass transit solution will deliver the right blend of technology, priority
and capacity to move high volumes of people in the parts of our transport network
where demand is greatest. This is a crucial missing element of our transport
investment pipeline for corridors where heavy rail is not an option and the capacity of
bus network solutions is insufficient. It also has the potential to help support
regeneration, with the increased ease of movement helping to deliver wider benefits
to the areas on the route. As such, Mass Transit can support the region’s aims of
raising productivity, delivering inclusive growth, and addressing the climate
emergency through clean growth and a low carbon transport future, all of which are
underpinned by a 21st Century transport system.
Plans for Mass Transit are still at an early stage, but WYCA has made clear that it
will play a crucial role in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and improving air
quality for the region, primarily by being low emission and providing a sustainable
alternative to the private car. Construction is estimated to begin in the mid-2020s,
and will take place in phases, with a target completion date for all phases by 2040.
Further details on the scheme can be found in WYCA’s Connectivity Infrastructure
Plan and Mass Transit Vision 2040.
For clarity it is not for the Leeds Local Plan to approve Mass Transit in principle or its
detailed routes. It is not the purpose of this consultation to seek your views on that
principle or those detailed routes, as the Local Plan is not the mechanism for
deciding on those matters. However, for the reasons set out below it is considered
that there is merit in the Local Plan Update including a policy on Mass Transit.
14

Page 250

Current Policy Position
There are currently no policies on Mass Transit within the Leeds Local Plan. Whilst
the adopted Core Strategy makes reference to NGT (New Generation Transport), a
trolleybus scheme for Leeds, this proposal did not proceed. Mass Transit is a
different scheme, designed and promoted by the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority, at a regional level.

Rationale for Enhanced Policy Framework
Whilst Mass Transit is not a planning initiative it is considered important that up to
date local policy is in place to ensure that Mass Transit can be delivered effectively.
It will also be important that the other associated benefits it may present to places
along the route are capitalised on, including through its integration with the green
space network, future developments, and pedestrian and cycle routes.

Possible Policy Options
The Local Plan Update could contain a policy that sets out strategic support for the
scheme, and that also seeks to ensure that important aspects such as biodiversity,
greenspace, active travel and Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are integrated
into the scheme. It could identify key principles to support the realisation of wider
benefits of the route to the places along the line. One the detailed route of the Mass
Transit network has been determined by WYCA, there is also the potential for the
Local Plan Update to protect the detailed route of Mass Transit in Leeds from other
uses, as developments built on or next to the line could impede its delivery.

Questions for consultation
3. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include policy on Mass
Transit? If so, what elements of the scheme would you like to see new
planning policy focus on?

15

Page 251

Leeds Bradford Airport
Background
Leeds Bradford Airport (LBA) is located in north-west Leeds close to the settlements
of Horsforth, Yeadon and Rawdon.
As a regional airport, LBA provides a significant role to the Leeds City Region and the
City. It acts as an international gateway and forms a key part of our strategic and
economic infrastructure.
The Council’s current policy, adopted in 2014, encourages a well-connected and
accessible airport by sustainable forms of transport and surface access improvements
to manage development at the airport and address environmental impacts such as
carbon emissions arising from buildings and access to the airport. Whilst the airport
is within the Green Belt the current approach is to manage airport related development
within a defined Airport Operational Land Boundary.
Following the declaration of a Climate Emergency in 2019, the Council recognised4
that:





global emissions arising from aviation are significant and damaging to the
environment
planned increases to aviation in the national strategy over the next ten years
will see a rise in emissions that will not be addressed by improvements to fuel
efficiency or technology and that offsetting to compensate for the rise in
emissions will not be sufficient
aviation growth and meeting zero carbon targets are fundamentally
incompatible until such time as new technologies are developed

The Council also recognises the contribution that the local airport makes to the local
economy and the thousands of jobs, directly and indirectly, dependent on it along with
the benefits that international travel brings, both for business and the individual.


Leeds Bradford airport is the 15th busiest airport in the country. In 2016 all
airports in the UK contributed 37.3 million tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (mtCO2)
through domestic and international flights. LBA flights contributed to 0.2
mtCO2. This compares to Heathrow (19.5 mtCO2) and Manchester (3.2
mtCO2)

Most of the passengers from Leeds and the wider region currently choose to fly from
other airports, so managing carbon emissions from flights at Leeds Bradford Airport
alone will not control total aviation emissions generated by the city’s population.
Against this background we are mindful of the challenges of Leeds committing to an
airport strategy, in the absence of a national strategy that takes a holistic approach
covering all UK airports. Therefore the Council has asked Government to:



set an ambitious national aviation strategy that integrates aviation into the
national carbon roadmap;
create a level playing field for all national and regional airports;

4

At a report to Leeds Executive Board 7th January 2020
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s198403/Climate%20Emergency%20Cover%20Report%20191219.
pdf

16

Page 252



invest in rail to provide realistic alternatives to flying for domestic and European
flights (questions on planning for rail infrastructure are set out elsewhere in this
Topic Paper).

In light of this challenging national context, at this early stage of the Local Plan Update
we are seeking views from stakeholders on whether policies relating to the airport
should be within the scope of the Local Plan Update and what issues an updated policy
might address. In particular, we wish to explore whether our existing policies help to
support the airport’s role as a positive international gateway, striking the right balance
between principles of environmental, economic and social sustainability.
Within this review it will be important to be guided by current and emerging national
guidance on airport development.
As you may be aware, Leeds Bradford Airport have recently submitted a planning
application for a new terminal building and associated flight regimes, which the Council
moved to approve in principle on the 11th February 2021, subject to planning
conditions. This application was assessed against existing Local Plan policy and other
material considerations. However, this Local Plan Update process is a separate
planning process to the planning application, and will guide the long term future of the
airport not the current planning application. Consequently the focus of any response
ought not to be concerned with those matters detailed in the recent planning
application, but rather should focus on the future of the Airport post-completion of the
development already outlined.
Current Policy Position
The current Aviation Policy Framework (2013) sets out the Government’s objectives
and principles to guide plans and decisions at the local and regional level. The
Government’s objectives are that airports:




help achieve long-term economic growth, recognising that the aviation sector is
a major contributor to the economy.
need to balance the benefits of aviation and its costs, particularly its contribution
to climate change and noise
can grow so long as they address specific local impacts on a case by case basis

The Government’s approach to climate emissions from flights is for action at a global
level as the best means of securing reductions in carbon from flights. Indeed, the
Climate Change Act (2008) does not include international aviation emissions in the
carbon reduction target set by the act.
Government is in the process of replacing the Aviation Policy Framework (2013) and
the consultation document Aviation 2050: The Future of UK Aviation (Consultation
2018) considers emerging national policy. The consultation ended in April 2019. The
Government signals support for the growth of aviation and the benefits delivered,
provided the growth takes place in a sustainable way, with actions to mitigate the
environmental impacts. Regional growth and connectivity is supported and the
document says:
“The Government is supportive of airports beyond Heathrow making best use
of their existing runways, subject to proposals being assessed in light of
environmental and economic impacts.” (para.4.3).
17

Page 253

The Leeds Local Plan already contains a policy (SP12 of the Core Strategy) on the
airport which is supportive of growth to enable the airport to fulfil its local and regional
role, provided that a series of criteria would be met. These criteria address a need for
major public transport infrastructure, surface access improvements and a strategy to
guide this, environmental assessment and mitigation and management of local issues.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
In considering whether the policy should be within scope of the Local Plan Update and
what elements may be its focus the following issues are relevant:


Environmental impacts and mitigation
o noise impacts
o air quality
o landscape
o carbon emissions from surface access (mainly by cars driving to the
airport)



Public Transport Infrastructure
o surface access to and from the airport by sustainable travel options
o the prospective rail halt



Strategic Role
o the role of LBA in Leeds and the wider region.
o Connecting Leeds to a variety of international business and leisure
destinations.
o Inward investment and economic benefits derived through the airport



The local area
o the relationship of the airport with its nearest local communities

Consultation Questions
5. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should contain new or updated
policies for Leeds Bradford Airport? If so, do you have any views on what
new or updated policies should contain?
6. National policy refers to the importance of achieving sustainable development
in environmental, economic and social terms. Should changes be made to
airport policies within the Local Plan Update to improve the balance between
these three aspects of sustainability?

18

Page 254

Digital Connectivity
Background
The Council has articulated an ambition to deliver wider digital connectivity benefits
for the city as a whole with an ambition to have the best connectivity in the UK for all
across the district, to be able to access gigabit capable services. Access to reliable,
high-speed connectivity will allow people to work from home more easily and will give
homes fast and reliable connections. One in five new-build homes are still being built
without gigabit-speed connections nationwide. A range of evidence shows direct
benefits from improved digital connectivity, including large increases in download
speeds leading to more productive economic activity. Wider potential impacts are in
areas such as remote healthcare, education, travel and transport, and wellbeing,
including loneliness.
The provision of ‘Sustainable Infrastructure’ is an important Leeds Best City priority,
and this includes the provision of digital infrastructure and increasing digital inclusion.
This also aligns with the Council’s inclusive growth ambitions to bring a choice of
connectivity types and providers to residents in Leeds. The Covid-19 Pandemic has in
particular highlighted the essential need for digital infrastructure, with increasing
reliance on remote working, remote communication to include home schooling, online
shopping and other services. Digital Connectivity in terms of gigabit connection is now
seen as essential infrastructure to facilitate the services and facilities which are now
an integral part of our lives.
The Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy also identifies Leeds as a digital city in particular
promoting and growing the digital sector. The Strategy recognises that digital
connectivity is an essential part of the modern economy and increasingly people are
working in more flexible ways and that a smart digital city provides one solution to
congestion and other challenges. Greater digital infrastructure coverage also
increases social inclusion and equality by underpinning wider accessibility for all.
Current Policy Position
The National Infrastructure Strategy (NIS) (November 2020), sets out a plan for longterm investment in the UK’s infrastructure. The government is working with industry to
target a minimum of 85% gigabit capable coverage by 2025, but will seek to accelerate
roll-out further to get as close to 100% as possible, this proposed policy helps to
achieve that target.
National Planning Guidance is supportive of improving digital connectivity. Paragraphs
112 and 113 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) set out support for
improved connectivity. In particular the guidance sets out that (para 112) that
‘Advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is essential for
economic growth and social well-being’, and that ‘Planning policies and decisions
should support the expansion of electronic communications networks’. Also the NPPF
recognises that Policies should set out how high quality digital infrastructure, providing
access to services from a range of providers, is expected to be delivered and upgraded
over time; and should prioritise full fibre connections to existing and new
developments.’
On the 17th March 2020 the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport
announced that the government will legislate to make sure new-build homes come
19

Page 255

with gigabit-speed broadband fit for the future. The move will mean developers will be
legally required to install high-quality digital infrastructure from the outset, make it a
priority as part of the build, and ensure broadband companies are on board. It is
anticipated that the government will amend building regulations to support gigabit
broadband and housing developers to work with network operators. The details and
scope of this are awaited, it not yet known what level of provision may come out of this
announcement or when this would be applicable.
It is also important to recognise that existing permitted development rights largely for
mobile phone coverage, are wide ranging and it is likely these will be further widened
in the future.
The Leeds Core Strategy sets out local planning policies. The Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 8 (SP8): Economic Development Priorities provides general support for high
quality communications as below;
SP8(ix) Support the advancement of high quality communications infrastructure to
foster sustainable economic growth and to enhance business links subject to
landscape, townscape and amenity considerations
Policy SP8 is supportive of high quality communications infrastructure however a new
single complementary policy which sets out a requirement for new build housing for
new developments is required to ensure that digital infrastructure is considered,
designed and provided sympathetically and early as part of site development.
In addition Leeds City Council is committed to the provision of digital connectivity.
Executive Board in December 2019 agreed the Full Fibre Network Programme for
Leeds to go through a new procurement process for a partner to build and deliver full
fibre connectivity to ensure the provision of the greatest amount of coverage, coupled
with the opportunity to extend connectivity further with commercial investment within
LCC’s financial envelope. Development of a gigabit capable network provides the
Council with an opportunity to influence the digital infrastructure position of the city
which will have positive effects for businesses and residents across the district.
Rationale for enhancing the planning policy framework.
It is considered that there are benefits to introducing new policy for digital connectivity
to focus on providing digital connectivity for new sites and new developments only.
A new policy could provide a policy hook to ensure that developers are incentivised to
provide gigabit capable new housing. The benefits of this would be that; (i) we are
providing housing which is meeting the needs of our modern lives, (ii) new housing is
designed and built with good gigabit connectivity from the outset, (iii) new housing is
not retrofitted later with digital connectivity provision, (iv) to future proof new housing,
(v) to ensure that digital infrastructure is sympathetically designed as part of site
development as essential infrastructure, (iv) to reduce digital poverty, this would
ensure that digital connectivity is provided for all.
An approach which promotes access to all is supported. There is a disparity between
the connection quality of high value and lower value homes, where more expensive
homes are more likely to receive full fibre connections. The policy remit would not
include mobile data connectivity for 4G/5G coverage.

20

Page 256

Proposed policy options
There are two broad options for the approach to digital inclusion for new
developments. These are set out below;
Option (1) Do nothing. This option recognises that digital connectivity is high on the
Government’s agenda, and national guidance may override the need for a policy in
time. The Digital Secretary in March last year announced that ‘The government will
amend building regulations to guarantee that all new homes have the right
infrastructure to support gigabit broadband and housing developers must work with
network operators.’ The outcome of the announcement is awaited. On the 26th Jan
2021, the first house builder ‘Barratt Developments’ announced that they will work with
providers to ensure that “gigabit-capable” broadband infrastructure is “installed as
standard” across all of their new UK build developments. This has shown that the
industry is keen to develop digital infrastructure as an essential part of development,
for sites of 20+ properties (and reduced rates for smaller sites where developers make
a contribution towards the build). It is likely that other developers may follow in time.
Option (2) Introduce a new policy. The policy could set out a requirement for the
provision of digital connectivity for new housing developments. The planning system
can enable the delivery of new infrastructure by ensuring that all premises have
appropriate ducting and other provision built into their design to future proof new
developments. A connectivity strategy as part of a planning application could be
encouraged to avoid the need for retro-fitting to provide full fibre connectivity. In taking
this approach, it could be recognised that digital infrastructure is essential
infrastructure and should not be retrofitted. National guidance may override the need
for a policy, however, until the specification, details and timescales of this are known,
the outcome of this cannot be guaranteed. By introducing a policy the City is being
proactive in setting out a local policy direction which developers will be required to
follow.
Consultation Questions
The Local Plan update consultation is seeking your views on what you think are the
key issues for digital connectivity. In particular we would like to know;
8. Do you agree that digital connectivity is essential infrastructure for new
housing in Leeds?
9. Do you agree that a policy should be introduced on digital connectivity?
10. Should the policy focus on residential development only or commercial
development too?
11. Should a digital connectivity strategy be a requirement for all planning
applications?

21

Page 257

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 0113 3788661

Work Schedule
Date: 22 July 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions



All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable
issues that might occur from time to time.



The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas,
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.



Reflecting on the information in this report alongside information presented as part of other
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the
Board’s work schedule for this municipal year.



Specific attention is also drawn to Appendix 3 which sets out draft Terms of Reference for
the Board’s upcoming road Safety Inquiry.

Recommendations
Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
2021/22 municipal year and to provide comment on the Terms of Reference attached at Appendix
3.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. A draft work schedule for the Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board
is presented at Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion. Reflected in the work
schedule are known items of scrutiny activity, including performance and budget
monitoring, identified Budget and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking.
Page 259

2. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 23 June 2021 are also
attached as Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted.
3. The Board requested that draft Terms of Reference be brought to the July meeting for
consideration by members. The draft document is attached at Appendix 3.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐No

4. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year.
5. The draft work schedule is reflective of the views of the Infrastructure, Investment and
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
6. The Vision for Scrutiny states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny
officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member about available resources prior to
agreeing items of work.
7. The current work programme is reflective of that ongoing dialogue with elected members
and senior officers.
What are the resource implications?
8. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.
9. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.
10. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member
about available resources;
 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and
can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
What are the legal implications?
Page 260

11. This report has no specific legal implications.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
12. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

13. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking
Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
Appendices
14. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth
Scrutiny Board for the 2021/22 municipal year.
15. Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 23 June 2021.
16. Appendix 3 – Draft Terms of Reference for the Board’s upcoming Road Safety Inquiry.
Background papers
17. None.

Page 261

This page is intentionally left blank

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year

June

July

August

Agenda for Thursday 24 June 10.30 am.

Agenda for Thursday 22 July 10.00 am.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Performance report

Local Plan Update

Asset Based approach to Community
Development

Inclusive Growth agenda:

Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy – postpublic consultation update
Page 263

Update on Powered Two Wheel access to Bus
Lanes.

-

Skills/Employment
City and District Centres

Work programme to include ToR for KSI
inquiry
Annual reports:
Co-opted members

Annual reports:

-




Sources of Work
Terms of Reference

Working Group Meetings
Powered Two-Wheeler use of bus lanes – date
tbc
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year
September

October

November

Agenda for Wednesday 29 September 10.30am.

Agenda for Wednesday 27 October 10.30 am.

Agenda for Wednesday 24 November 10.30am

Road Safety Inquiry: Session 1

Road Safety Inquiry: Session 2

Advancing Bus Service Provision

Page 264
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year
December

January

February

No meetings Scheduled

Agenda for Wednesday 19 January 10.30 am.

Agenda for Thursday 17 February at 10.30am

Performance Monitoring

Inclusive Growth update

Financial Health Monitoring

Flood Risk Management

Initial Budget Proposals

Housing Mix Update

Inclusive Growth: Green Jobs/Economy
Page 265

Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme - Update

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year
March

April

Notes

No meetings scheduled

Agenda for Wednesday 6 April at 10.30am

Potential additional items:
Smart Cities Update
100% Digital
-

-

Best Council Plan (awaiting confirmation of
approach – Autumn)
Early Budget Consultation
ABCD briefing (deferred from June/July)

Page 266
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 23RD JUNE, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, D Coupar, S Golton,
J Pryor, M Rafique, F Venner, S Arif,
M Harland and H Hayden

Apologies

5

Councillor

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information
so designated as follows:(A) That appendix 3 to the report entitled, ‘White Rose Railway Station’,
referred to in Minute No. 20 be designated as being exempt from
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of
the Local Government Act 1972 and considered in private on the
grounds that the information contained within that appendix contains
information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular
person (including the Council). It is considered that the public interest
in maintaining the content of appendix 3 as exempt from publication
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, as doing so
would prejudice the Council’s commercial position and that of third
parties should it be disclosed at this stage;
(B) That appendices 3, 3b and 3c to the report entitled, ‘Acquisition of Land
for the A637 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner Junction Improvement
Scheme’, referred to in Minute No. 22 be designated as being exempt
from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule
12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered in private on
the grounds that the information contained within those appendices
contain information relating to the financial or business affairs of a
particular organisation and of the Council. This information is not
publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in
respect of certain companies and charities. It is considered that since
this information was obtained through one to one negotiations for the
proposed land exchange then it is not in the public interest to disclose
this information at this point in time. Also, it is considered that the
release of such information would, or would be likely to prejudice the
Council’s commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 267

in that prospective transacting parties for other similar sites would have
access to information about the nature and level of consideration which
may prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there
may be a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be
publicly available from the Land Registry following completion of this
transaction and consequently the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at
this point in time;

6

(C) That appendix 7 to the report entitled, ‘Adults and Health Service
Review 6: Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post Consultation
Recommendations Report’, referred to in Minute No. 25 be designated
as being exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3)
of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered
in private on the grounds that the information within that appendix
contains details regarding the combined value of the two care home
buildings, which has recently been estimated for residential use. The
estimated amount in question has been identified as exempt from
publication in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rule
10.4(3) because it is commercially sensitive, should an open market
disposal process be approved. Keeping the information confidential
avoids potentially prejudicing the Council’s commercial position and
that of third parties, should the estimated valuation amounts be
disclosed at this stage. It is deemed that the public interest in
maintaining the exemption regarding Appendix 7 outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.
Late Items
Agenda Item 14 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan’.

7

Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board.
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally
published on the 15th June 2021. (Minute No. 17 refers).
Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
In relation to Agenda Item 5, ‘arts@leeds’ – Year 5 Extension’, Cllr Pryor
declared an interest in this item, due to the fact that his partner was an
employee of Phoenix Dance Theatre, and as such, Councillor Pryor did not
participate in the consideration of that item, and left the meeting room for the
duration of that consideration. (Minute No. 9 refers).
With regard to Agenda Items 18, ‘Disposal of Land at Dawson’s Corner by the
Calverley Charity’ and 19, ‘Acquisition of Land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s
Corner Junction Improvement Scheme’, Councillor A Carter brought to the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 268

Board’s attention his position as a Trustee of the Calverly Charity, as
appointed to by the Outer West Community Committee and as registered
within the ‘Other Registerable Interests’ section of his Register of Interests,
and as such, declared an ‘Other Registerable Interest’ in those items.

8

9

As required by the Council’s ‘Councillor Code of Conduct’, where a Member
has declared an ‘Other Registerable interest’, in order to enable Councillor
Carter to remain in the room and speak on those items, Councillor Carter had
applied for and been granted a dispensation on the grounds that without the
dispensation, representation from his political group on the Executive Board
would not be possible and in granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor
Carter to speak in the interests of persons living in the authority’s area. In
doing so, Councillor Carter confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and
speaking on Agenda Items 18 and 19, he would not be voting upon them.
(Minute Nos. 21 and 22 refer).
Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meetings held on 21st April
2021 and 8th June 2021 respectively, be approved as correct records.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION
arts@leeds - Year 5 Extension
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to
extend the arts@leeds funding programme for a fifth year, with it being noted
that a fifth year would extend the current round of funding to 31 March 2023.
In considering the report, the Board received information regarding the
reasons for the proposal from the Chief Officer Culture and Economy.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board noted that the decision to
extend the funding programme did not have any implications for the Council’s
budget setting process.
With regard to an enquiry regarding this proposal and the separate proposals
relating to the provision of resource for ‘Leeds 2023’, a Member sought
assurance that there would be no ‘double counting’ across these two areas in
terms of grant funding provision. In response, it was undertaken that
clarification would be provided to the Member in question.
RESOLVED – That an ‘in principle’ extension of the arts@leeds programme
for a fifth year, to 31 March 2023, be approved.

10

(Further to the declaration of interest as detailed at Minute No. 7, Councillor
Pryor took no part in the consideration of this matter and left the meeting room
for the duration of this item)
Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at
Allerton High School from September 2022
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the
outcome of a consultation exercise undertaken regarding a proposal to
expand secondary school provision at Allerton High School and which sought
approval to the publication of a statutory notice on that proposal.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 269

In supporting the proposal, emphasis was placed upon the importance of
ensuring that the traffic regulation orders for the area were implemented.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the publication of a statutory notice on a proposal to permanently
expand secondary provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of
1100 to 1400 pupils by increasing the admission number in Year 7 from
220 to 280, with effect from September 2022, be approved;
(b) That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal detailed would
be subject to the response of the proposed statutory notice and on the
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report;
(c) That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for
places to be delivered for 2022;

11

(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for implementation of such
matters is the Head of Learning Systems.
Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at St
Edward's Catholic Primary School from September 2022
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the
outcomes from a consultation exercise undertaken regarding a proposal to
permanently increase learning places at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School
from September 2022, and which sought approval to the publication of a
Statutory Notice on that proposal.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, assurance was provided that a full traffic
assessment and transport statement would be produced, and that as far as
possible, recommendations from that would be implemented.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently
expand primary provision at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School and
increase the number of places offered at the school in Reception from
20 to 30, with effect from September 2022, be approved;
(b) That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal would be
subject to the outcome of the proposed statutory notice and on the
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report;
(c) That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for
places to be delivered for 2022;
(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.
PUBLIC HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 270

12

Covid-19 Memorial Woodland within New 48 Hectare Parkland at former
South Leeds Golf Course
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
that presented a proposal to create a new 48 hectare park incorporating a
Covid-19 memorial woodland on the site of the former South Leeds golf
course.
In welcoming the report, a Member suggested that other appropriate
proposals could potentially be considered in other areas of the city, with a
view to accessing external funding streams where appropriate.
A Member highlighted the significant resource implication being proposed in
an area with already considerable parkland facilities, and noted the proportion
of the memorial woodland when considering overall size of the proposed new
parkland.
Responding to an enquiry regarding public consultation, it was noted that the
local and wider community would be appropriately consulted in relation to the
proposals within this report.
The Board then discussed the current position with regard to the provision of
grass cutting along highways in the city.
RESOLVED – That the following be approved:(a) The establishment of a formal partnership agreement between the
Council and Leeds Hospitals Charity to create a Covid-19 memorial
woodland;
(b) The commencement of consultation on establishing up to 48 hectares
of new parkland incorporating a Covid-19 memorial woodland and
other recreational features, which will then form part of Middleton Park;
(c) The injection of £700k into the Capital Programme in order to enable
works to commence on establishing the Covid-19 memorial woodland,
with authority to spend approval for the full scheme being delegated to
the Director of Communities, Housing and Environment, and that the
£30k annual revenue budget provision required to maintain the new
parkland, be noted;
(d) That it be noted that the Chief Officer for Parks and Countryside will be
responsible for the implementation of the resolutions above, in line with
the timetable, as set out in paragraph 31 of the submitted report.
INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE

13

Transforming Cities Fund: Leeds City Centre Cycling Improvements
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval
for the design and delivery of a package of 6 schemes to provide safe,
segregated facilities for cycling and walking around the city centre, with it
being noted that these projects would link existing cycle routes together to
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 271

form a coherent network, facilitating active travel choices and reducing
dependency on the private car for short and medium length journeys.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the successful delivery of cycle infrastructure across Leeds as
part of Leeds City Council’s ambition to encourage active sustainable
transport and address the Climate Emergency, be noted;
(b) That the principle and general layout of the six Transforming Cities
Fund - Leeds City Centre Cycling projects, as detailed within the
submitted report, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that the costs of £7.06M to design and deliver the 6
projects detailed in the submitted report will be entirely funded from the
Transforming Cities Fund;
(d) That it be noted that the construction of the detailed projects is
expected to begin in early summer 2021 for completion in spring 2023;

14

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation)
will be responsible for the implementation of such matters, and will
receive further reports as necessary to facilitate these proposals and
will give authority to spend for the individual projects.
Leeds Local Plan Update – Public Consultation on the Scope of the Plan
The Director of City Development submitted a report that presented details
regarding the proposed scope for the Local Plan Update, namely a focus
upon new or revised planning policy to help further address the Climate
Emergency. On this basis, the report sought approval to commence
consultation on the proposed scope of the Local Plan Update, as detailed.
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring
that the comments which would be received as part of the proposed
consultation process were taken into consideration, as appropriate.
Emphasis was also placed upon the importance of ensuring that the methods
used to conduct the consultation made the process as accessible as possible.
In response, the Board was provided with details of the actions being taken
with the aim of maximising accessibility.
Reference was also specifically made to the continued importance of flood
prevention, and the need for due consideration to be given to this issue as
part of this process.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposed initial scope of the Local Plan Update, be agreed as
follows: Update and create new policies; make consequential changes, within
the Adopted Leeds Core Strategy (amended 2019), the Natural
Resources and Waste Local Plan (2013) and Unitary Development
Plan (2006) which focus on: carbon reduction, flood risk, green
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 272

infrastructure, place-making and sustainable infrastructure in order to
adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change and ensure the
delivery of sustainable development within the Leeds Metropolitan
District for a period of at least 16 years from Adoption;
(b) That the commencement of consultation on this scope for a period of
eight weeks using supporting topic papers (Appendices 1 and 2 within
the submitted report), be agreed;
(c) That the consultation documentation (Appendices 1 and 2 within the
submitted report) be referred to the Infrastructure, Investment and
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board for the purposes of consultation in
accordance with the requirements of the Council’s Budget and Policy
Framework;
(d) That the necessary authority be provided to the Chief Planning Officer,
to enable the Chief Planning Officer, in liaison with the Executive
Member for Infrastructure and Climate, to approve any amendments to
the consultation material in advance of public consultation;
(e) That it be noted that the Chief Planning Officer is responsible for the
implementation of the resolutions, as detailed above.

15

(The matters referred to within this minute, given that they were decisions
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not
extend to those decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and
Policy Framework Procedure Rules)
Redevelopment of City Square - Outcome of the Design Competition and
Appointment of the Preferred Designer
The Director of City Development submitted a report that presented the
outcome of the design competition for the redevelopment of City Square, and
which sought approval to the appointment of the preferred designer, who in
being appointed would work proactively with the Council and stakeholders to
redevelop City Square from the design concept submitted as part of the
design competition into an approved design.
In introducing the report and in providing assurance to Members, the
Executive Member highlighted that the design which had been submitted as
part of the associated competition was an indicative design and that the
preferred designer would work proactively with the Council and partners in
developing a final design.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry regarding the extent to which the design
competition format provided value for money, it was noted that the level of
cost was in line with what would be expected at this stage of design
development for a scheme of this scale.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 273

A Member’s suggestion regarding the potential for an appropriate Covid-19
memorial to form part of the design for City Square was noted, with an
undertaking that it would be taken into consideration.
In conclusion, the Board received further details regarding the competition
process, and the Executive Member emphasised the key importance of the
new design, given that City Square was a gateway to the city centre.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the appointment of the preferred designer, Re-form Landscape
Architecture, to develop the conceptual design proposals to the end of
the RIBA Concept Design Stage, be approved;
(b) That the Authority to Spend up to a maximum of £250k in order to
develop the conceptual design to the end of the RIBA Concept Design
Stage, be approved;

16

(c) That the entering into a Professional Service Short Subcontract with
Balfour Beatty Civil Engineering (BB) for the post-competition design
fees up to the end of the RIBA Concept Design Stage, be approved.
Parklife - Fullerton Park and Matthew Murray Update
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an
update regarding the Council’s Fullerton Park ‘Parklife’ scheme, together with
the outcome of recent discussions with Leeds United Football Club (LUFC)
around their preference to preserve the potential for a disposal of the former
Matthew Murray High School site to LUFC, as part of the club’s ambition to
relocate their training ground facilities closer to Elland Road and also as part
of proposals regarding the expansion of the Elland Road stadium.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update regarding
the timeframe for this proposal, with it being acknowledged that this was in
response to a request made by LUFC, as a result of the club’s updated
aspirations regarding stadium expansion.
With regard to an enquiry regarding the Woodhall Playing Fields site as part
of the Parklife submission process, Members received an update regarding
the current position, with it being undertaken that a further report regarding
the Parklife scheme would be submitted to the Board at the appropriate time.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the progress which has been made to date with regard to the
Fullerton Parklife scheme, be noted;
(b) That the principle of the relocation of the Fullerton Parklife scheme to
the former Matthew Murray High School site, in order to preserve the
ambitions of Leeds United Football Club to achieve a 55,000 seater
capacity stadium at Elland Road, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that the principle approval above is subject to LUFC
meeting Leeds City Council’s additional design costs that it will incur as
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 274

a consequence of this change, as outlined in paragraph 23 of the
Resources section of the submitted report;
(d) That it be noted that the relocation proposals will provide the
opportunity for an increased facility offer at Matthew Murray, including
4 full sized all-weather pitches and an increase space take up by the
NHS;
(e) That it be noted that the Football Foundation (the main grant funder for
Parklife) and the NHS are fully supportive of the relocation and the
positive impact that this will have on the Parklife business case;
(f) That it be noted that the impact of the relocation of the Fullerton
Parklife to Matthew Murray will result in a loss of the potential capital
receipt to be realised from LUFC, however, it be noted that this will in
part be offset from the realisation of a new capital receipt from Fullerton
Park for land required as part of the Stadium expansion;
(g) That it be agreed for Council officers to work in partnership with Leeds
United Football Club on a revised masterplan for the Elland Road
Stadium and Fullerton Park area, and that agreement be given for
those draft proposals to be submitted to a future Executive Board in
readiness for public consultation;
(h) That it be noted that the officer responsible for this project and the key
matters associated with it is the Head of Projects and Programmes in
Asset Management and Regeneration.
LEADER'S PORTFOLIO
17

Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 157, 21st April 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a
report providing an update on the work being undertaken as part of a multiagency partnership approach in response to, and as part of the recovery from
the Covid-19 pandemic. The Response and Recovery Plan, as the main
reporting tool for ongoing work across the seven service areas, was
appended to the submitted report at Annex A. The report and annexes set
out the broad range of activities being undertaken, including a summary plan
on a page for the rest of 2021, delivery via vital partnership arrangements,
and details of the continued proactive work to try and control the numbers of
cases across the city and increase testing, tracing, isolating and vaccination
uptake.
The Leader, together with the Executive Member for Public Health and Active
Lifestyles introduced the report, providing an update on the current position in
Leeds, with specific reference to the approach being taken towards
addressing the recent increase in infection rates.
RESOLVED –
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 275

(a) That the latest version of the Response & Recovery Plan, as presented
at Annex A to the submitted report, including a summary plan on page
and risks, be noted;
(b) That Annex B to the submitted report, which presented a summary of
national developments since the last meeting of Executive Board, be
noted, together with Annex C, which provided the monthly Coronavirus
Dashboard.
RESOURCES
18

Financial Performance - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2021
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the
Council’s final outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year in respect of both
the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account. The
report also sought approval regarding the creation of earmarked reserves, as
detailed.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member
in question with further detail on the overall amount of funding which had been
received from Government in the form of Covid-19 financial support during the
pandemic.
Responding to Members’ enquiries regarding whether, in light of the outturn
position, consideration would be given to reviewing staffing levels in some
front line services, or reconsidering some of the decisions taken as part of the
21/22 budget setting process, the Council’s continuing financial challenges
were highlighted, with it also being undertaken that comprehensive reviews
would also be undertaken as part of the budget setting process for next
financial year.
In conclusion, the Executive Member for Resources extended her thanks to all
employees for their continued efforts throughout this difficult time, including
those who had left the Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the Council’s outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year, as
presented in the submitted report, be noted;
(b) That the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed in paragraph 6.7
of the submitted report, be agreed, and that the necessary authority
be delegated to the Chief Officer Financial Services, to enable the
Chief Officer Financial Services to approve their release;

19

(c) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be
responsible for the implementation of the above resolutions
following the ‘call in’ period.
Treasury Management Outturn Report 2020/21
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the
Council’s Treasury Management Outturn position for the 2020/21 financial
year.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 276

In considering the report, Members discussed current costs with regard to
Minimum Revenue Provision, and in response to a specific enquiry, the Board
was provided with information on the actions being taken towards
safeguarding against potential interest rate rises, when considering the
Council’s borrowing costs.
In conclusion, the officers responsible for this area were thanked for the work
they continued to do to ensure that treasury activity remained within the
Treasury Management Strategy.

20

RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for the
2020/21 financial year, as presented within the submitted report, be noted,
with it also being noted that treasury activity has remained within the Treasury
Management Strategy and Policy Framework.
White Rose Railway Station
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining a proposal for
the Council to provide a loan facility to Munroe K, in compliance with
subsidiary control, to finance Munroe K’s maximum contribution towards the
scheme as presented, with the report also seeking the related necessary
approvals to help facilitate this proposal.
Following consideration of Appendix 3 to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a) That approval be given for the Director of City Development, in
consultation with the Chief Officer Financial Services and the Executive
Member for Resources, to develop and enter into a Loan facility
Agreement of up to £4.5m with Munroe K, as per the Heads of Terms
and principles detailed within exempt appendix 3 to the submitted
report;
(b) That approval be given to inject £4.5m into Capital Scheme Number
32774/WHI/000 in order to finance the loan facility; and that approval
be given for the necessary authority to be delegated to the Director of
City Development and the Chief Officer Financial Services to enable
the Director and Chief Officer to provide ‘authority to spend’ up to that
amount in order to provide the loan, subject to the completion of legal
agreements with Munroe K;

21

(c) That a future paper on the delivery of the economic masterplan and
emerging spatial masterplan at the White Rose Park be submitted to
the Board in due course.
Disposal of Land at Dawson's Corner by The Calverley Charity
The Chief Officer of Asset Management and Regeneration submitted a report
which sought approval of the terms of the sale of approximately seven acres
of land at Dawson’s Corner, Pudsey. The report noted that this land was
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 277

privately owned by The Calverley Charity and as such, the submitted report
was specifically for the purpose of Executive Board, on behalf of the Council
and in the Council’s capacity as sole trustee of the charity, to give appropriate
consideration to the proposal.
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of the
landscaping mitigation works which would need to be undertaken as part of
the proposals detailed within Agenda Item 18 to ensure that safe pedestrian
access was provided (Minute No. 22 refers), a matter on which the Member
had directly contacted the Highways department about.
In referencing the fact that in line with the Council’s ‘Councillor Code of
Conduct’ Councillor Carter was required to seek a dispensation to enable him
to speak on this matter, due to his ‘Other Registerable Interest’ he requested
that consideration be given to reviewing the Code in light of this issue. In
response, the Chair advised that if the Code is causing practical issues, then
he was agreeable for it to be reviewed on a cross party basis.
RESOLVED –
(a) That Executive Board, on behalf of the Council acting as sole trustee of
the Calverley Charity, approve the terms of the disposal of the Charity’s
land at Dawson’s Corner, and that approval be given to delegate the
approval of any variation to the final terms to the Chief Officer of Asset
Management and Regeneration in consultation with the Executive
Member for Resources, in so far as there is no conflict with regard to
the delegation and the respective interests of the parties;
(b) That it be noted that the officers responsible for this matter are the
relevant Senior Land & Property Officer, City Development directorate,
and Principal Legal Officer, Resources directorate, and upon approval
of the sale terms by Executive Board (in resolution (a)), the sale will be
progressed and completed in timescales to suit the Charity and the
purchasing Highway Authority (with the aim of completion by end of
2021).

22

(As detailed within Minute No. 7, Councillor Carter, having declared an ‘Other
Registerable Interest’ in this item, had applied for, and been granted a
dispensation on the grounds that without the dispensation, representation
from his political group on the Executive Board would not be possible and in
granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor Carter to speak in the interests
of persons living in the authority’s area. In doing so, Councillor Carter
confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and speaking on this item, he
would not be voting upon it).
Acquisition of Land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson's Corner Junction
Improvement Scheme
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to
acquire land from a third party to enable the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner
junction improvements to take place.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 278

Following consideration of Appendices 3, 3b and 3c to the submitted report
designated as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access
to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the
conclusion of the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a) That the principle of acquiring third party land to enable the A647 /
A6120 Dawson’s Corner junction improvements, be approved;
(b) That the terms agreed for parcel A, as detailed in appendix 2 to the
submitted report, and the terms for parcels B and C, as detailed in
exempt appendix 3 to the submitted report, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that should there be any changes to the agreed terms
for parcels A, B and C, then these are to be approved by the Director of
City Development under delegated powers;
(d) That the necessary authority be delegated to officers to negotiate
acquisition terms for parcel D, with agreement being given for those
terms to be approved by the Director of City Development under
delegated powers;
(e) That with regard to the associated implementation timescales, it be
noted that the intention is for third party land to be acquired by the end
of 2021 and, subject to funding, junction improvement works beginning
in either spring 2022 or spring 2023, with the construction period due to
last around 12-18 months.

23

(As detailed within Minute No. 7, Councillor Carter, having declared an ‘Other
Registerable Interest’ in this item, had applied for, and been granted a
dispensation on the grounds that without the dispensation, representation
from his political group on the Executive Board would not be possible and in
granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor Carter to speak in the interests
of persons living in the authority’s area. In doing so, Councillor Carter
confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and speaking on this item, he
would not be voting upon it).
Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance and Assurance Report
The Director of Resources submitted a report which provided an overview of
the Council’s performance regarding health, safety and wellbeing for the
period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. The report highlighted the
improvements which have been made and detailed the challenges ahead.
In presenting the report the Executive Member for Resources provided an
overview of the key information as presented, and extended her thanks to
those officers responsible for this area of work for their continued efforts
during a very challenging year.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, be noted, with the
Board recognising that a robust, yet proportionate approach towards risk
management within the Council continues to be applied.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 279

24

To consider Future Developments with regards to Addressing and
Reducing On-Street Sex Work in the City
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
presenting a proposal to cease with the ‘Managed Approach’ and replace it
with a revised approach, as outlined within the submitted report, in order to
tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city. The report noted that this
proposal was seeking Executive Board’s endorsement, given that the
proposal was subject to agreement by the Safer Leeds Community Safety
Partnership.
In presenting the report, the Executive Member for Resources highlighted that
she had written to all Members notifying them about the submission of this
report to Executive Board.
Members considered the proposals detailed within the report. In response to
some Members’ comments and concerns, specifically with regard to the time
taken to arrive at the current proposals, the Board was provided with further
information regarding the following: the initial aims of the Managed Approach
and how those initial aims and the overall Approach had continued to be
reviewed and evolved; the consideration of the outcomes arising from
processes such as the independent review which was presented to the Board
in July 2020 and the ‘Listening Well’ campaign; and the combination of factors
which had led to the current proposals being submitted to Executive Board for
endorsement and to the Safer Leeds Community Safety Partnership for
agreement.
In discussing the report, Members highlighted that, further to the information
provided at the meeting, they looked forward to receiving more detail on the
proposals moving forward and the package of multi-agency support which
would continue to be put in place for those affected.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposal to now cease with the Managed Approach and
replace it with the revised approach outlined within the submitted report
to tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city, be endorsed, with it
being noted that such proposals are subject to agreement by the Safer
Leeds Community Safety Partnership (LSP);
(b) That the significance of the operational developments leading to the
proposed revised approach, be acknowledged and noted;
(c) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and
Environment, and where appropriate, partner organisations and
representatives, will be responsible for the delivery of the revised
approach;
(d) That it be agreed that members of the Executive Board be kept
informed and updated on any key changes arising from the
implementation of the new approach.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 280

(At the conclusion of this item, the meeting was adjourned at 2.30pm for a
period of 30 minutes, prior to reconvening at 3.00pm)
ADULT AND CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS
25

Adults & Health Service Review 6 - Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post
Consultation Recommendations Report
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report that presented the
findings of the consultation exercise undertaken regarding the proposals to
close Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley. In
considering the information within the submitted report, the Board were
requested to determine the future of both care homes, with the recommended
option being to decommission those care homes for the reasons as set out.
In presenting the submitted report, the Executive Member for Adult and
Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships acknowledged the anxiety
caused by the proposals and highlighted that such a recommendation to close
the two homes had not been made lightly. However, the Executive Member
went on to undertake that, should the recommendations be approved, then
every effort would be made to support residents and their families, together
with affected staff throughout the proposed process.
In addition, details of the range of factors which had been taken into
consideration when coming to the conclusions within the report were
highlighted. These included: the decline in demand for care home provision;
the alternative provision which was available; the financial context and the
increased budgetary challenges faced across social care; the increased
demand levels in other areas of social care provision; the investment which
was being made in other areas of social care, including the future use of the
two sites in question.
In discussing the report, concerns regarding the following were raised and
responded to:
- The two homes’ occupancy levels referenced within the report and in
discussion;
- The levels of demand for care home provision generally, and the level
of the two homes’ use by those in the local community;
- The consultation process undertaken and the recommendations arising
from it;
- The discussions which had taken place with the NHS regarding the
proposal to close Richmond House;
- The timing of the proposals;
- The budgetary challenges which continued to be faced by the Council
and specifically with regard to social care provision, together with the
proportion of resource provided in terms of both adult and children’s
social care provision;
- The proposals for the 2 sites moving forward, with it being undertaken
that further detail would be provided to the Members in question
regarding the advice which had been received that the respective
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 281

footprints of the two sites were not large enough to provide extra care
housing.
Following consideration of Appendix 7 to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a) That the outcome of the full consultation reports with stakeholders,
(Appendix 3 to the submitted report), and the information contained
within exempt Appendix 7 to the submitted report (Estimated Land
Valuation), be noted;
(b) That the recommendation to decommission services at Home Lea
House Residential Long Stay Care Home, in Rothwell, be approved;
(c) That the recommendation to decommission services at Richmond
House Short Stay Residential Care Home, in Farsley, be approved;
(d) That the timescales for ceasing the services based on the timeline
attached in Appendix 9 to the submitted report, be agreed;
(e) That it be noted that there is a commitment in principle for the sites to
be used for the development of supported housing; general needs
housing at the Home Lea House site in Rothwell, and supported
housing for older people at the Richmond House site in Farsley;
(f) That it be noted that the lead officer responsible for such matters is the
Director Adults and Health.

26

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter
and S Golton both required it to be recorded that they respectively voted
against the decisions referred to within this minute)
Update on Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which provided an
overview of ‘Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds’, together with the
work being undertaken as part of the strategy, including details of the
response in this area during the pandemic.
The Executive Member presented the report highlighting the range of reasons
why children and young people were living in poverty, with details also being
provided on the impact of the pandemic upon such poverty levels.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry in respect of enabling educational
achievement and the impact of home schooling during the pandemic on such
matters, the Board was provided with details of the actions being taken to
progress specific priorities which had been identified in light of the pandemic,
and also further information specifically regarding the support provided to
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 282

parents and carers in helping their children progress in the area of educational
attainment.
The Board also discussed the nature of the update report provided and the
range of measurable outcomes within it, with a suggestion that as part of the
submission of the next scheduled update report, further detail could be
included regarding the progress being made with regard to supporting
children and their families in respect of educational attainment.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the strategic framework in place to mitigate the impact of child
poverty, and the work being undertaken by the Council and other
partners in the key areas of activity, as detailed within the submitted
report, be endorsed;
(b) That the need to promote the work of the ‘Thriving’ strategy across the
city and in particular in each respective Members’ portfolio in order to
highlight the impact of poverty on children and their families, be
acknowledged;
(c) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the strategy is the
Deputy Director Children and Families; working in partnership across
the Council directorates.
DATE OF PUBLICATION:
FRIDAY, 25TH JUNE 2021
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 2ND JULY 2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021

Page 283

This page is intentionally left blank

SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCUTRE, INVESTMENT AND INCLUSIVE
GROWTH)
IMPROVING ROAD SAFETY IN LEEDS
TERMS OF REFERENCE
1.0

Introduction

1.1

Typically, in recent years, the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive
Growth Scrutiny Board has explored the challenges of improving local
road safety on an annual basis, often alongside partners such as West
Yorkshire Police.

1.2

Such discussions have been framed within the context of performance
data detailing the number of people killed or seriously injured in road
traffic collisions. Areas of particular concern have included risks for
vulnerable road users and a perception that KSI data suggests a
disproportionate impact on young people.

1.3

Members recommended in 2020 that road safety should be an area for
a more detailed inquiry by the Board and that this work should include
an exploration of the Council’s ‘Vision Zero’ approach to road safety.

1.4

In light of challenges associated with the covid-19 pandemic, however,
members determined that the inquiry should be deferred until 2021/22.

1.5

Through this inquiry members are keen to explore how partners can
together:
 Improve the safety of road environments in local communities,
particularly for vulnerable road users and young people.
 Make best use of technology and policy development to manage
behaviours such as speeding.
 Identify further opportunities to influence behaviour change
through effective and/or targeted education/information
campaigns.
Performance Data During the Pandemic

1.6

The Board discussed KSI data most recently in June 2021 and it was
noted that in the period January - December 2020 Leeds recorded its
lowest ever annual KSI figure (231). Members welcomed a 47%
reduction in KSI figures for April and May 2020, as compared to the
same period in 2019. However, the Board recognised that during this
period in 2020 the country was experiencing its first full pandemicrelated ‘lockdown’ involving wide-ranging restrictions on travel.

1.7

The evidence from the last year suggests a direct correlation between
reduced traffic volumes and the number of those killed or seriously

Page 285

injured in road traffic collisions. Consequently, members of the
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board have
suggested that it is timely to explore how partners can together ensure
Leeds achieves a continued downward trend in KSI figures, despite the
anticipated increase in traffic volumes as pandemic-restrictions
continue to ease.
2.0

Scope of the inquiry

2.1

The purpose of the Inquiry is to make an assessment of and, where
appropriate, make recommendations in the following areas:
 Vision Zero approach to road safety.
 KSI Clusters and interventions delivered through the Casualty
Reduction Programme.
 The outcome of a 2020 assessment by West Yorkshire Casualty
Prevention Partnership of the criteria used to determine the
deployment of mobile, static and speed monitoring cameras – and
the potential local implications of that assessment.
 School Streets initiative
 Active Neighbourhoods
 Roll out of 20mph zones
 Operation SNAP
 Influencing Travel Behaviour Team

2.2

Board members have also been explicit in their desire to hear directly
from road safety campaigners about their views and experiences.
Session two in October 2021 will focus on contributions from
campaigners but they will also be invited to attend the first session
should they so wish.

3.0

Desired Outcomes and Measures of Success

3.1

It is important to consider how the Scrutiny Board will deem if their
inquiry has been successful in making a difference to local people.
Some measures of success may be obvious and others may become
apparent as the inquiry progresses and discussions take place.

3.2

However, the primary aim of this Inquiry is to deliver recommendations
which support the Council’s leadership in improving road safety, with
particular focus on improving outcomes for vulnerable road users and
young people.

4.0

Comments of the relevant Director and Executive Member

4.1

In line with Scrutiny Board Procedure Rule 32, where a Scrutiny Board
undertakes an Inquiry the Scrutiny Board shall consult with any
relevant Director and Executive Member on the terms of reference.

Page 286

5.0

Timetable for the inquiry

5.1

The Inquiry will take place over two sessions and it is anticipated that
the Scrutiny Board’s report will be produced by December 2021.

6.0

Submission of evidence

6.1

Session one – Scrutiny Board Meeting – September 2021
To consider evidence in relation to the following:
 Vision Zero approach to road safety.
 Understanding trends through KSI data from the last 5 years
 KSI Clusters and interventions delivered through the Casualty
Reduction Programme.
 WY Casualty Prevention Partnership – including the outcome of a
2020 assessment of criteria used to determine the deployment of
static, mobile and average speed cameras.
 Operation SNAP

6.2

Session two – Scrutiny Board Meeting – October 2021
To consider evidence in relation to the following:






Local road safety campaigners’ views and experiences
School Streets initiative
Active Neighbourhoods
Roll out of 20mph zones
Influencing Travel Behaviour Team

7.0

Witnesses

7.1

The following have been identified as possible contributors to the
inquiry, however others may be identified during the inquiry:







Executive Member for Infrastructure and Climate
Director of City Development
Chief officer Transportation and Highways
Transport Development Services Manager
Representation from the Influencing Travel Behaviour Team
West Yorkshire Police (to include reference to the WY Casualty
Prevention Partnership
 WYCA: Transport Committee Chair and Director of Transport
Services
 Representatives from local road safety campaigners

Page 287

8.0

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

8.1

The Equality Improvement Priorities have been developed to ensure
our legal duties are met under the Equality Act 2010. The priorities will
help the council to achieve its ambition to be the best City in the UK
and ensure that as a city work takes place to reduce disadvantage,
discrimination and inequalities of opportunity.

8.2

Equality and diversity will be a consideration throughout the Scrutiny
Inquiry and due regard will be given to equality through the use of
evidence, written and verbal, outcomes from consultation and
engagement activities.

8.3

The Scrutiny Board may engage and involve interested groups and
individuals (both internal and external to the council) to inform
recommendations.

8.4

Where an impact has been identified this will be reflected in the final
inquiry report, post inquiry. Where a Scrutiny Board recommendation is
agreed the individual, organisation or group responsible for
implementation or delivery should give due regard to equality and
diversity, conducting impact assessments where it is deemed
appropriate.

9.0

Post inquiry report monitoring arrangements

9.1

Following the completion of the Scrutiny inquiry and the publication of
the final inquiry report and recommendations, the implementation of the
agreed recommendations will be monitored.

9.2

The final inquiry report will include information on the detailed
arrangements for how the implementation of recommendations will be
monitored.

Page 288

